Smart Nanomaterials Technology

Amit Kumar Mandal Suvankar Ghorai Azamal Husen *Editors*

Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing



Smart Nanomaterials Technology

Series Editors

Azamal Husen[®], Wolaita Sodo University, Wolaita, Ethiopia Mohammad Jawaid, Laboratory of Biocomposite Technology, Universiti Putra Malaysia, INTROP, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia Nanotechnology is a rapidly growing scientific field and has attracted a great interest over the last few years because of its abundant applications in different fields like biology, physics and chemistry. This science deals with the production of minute particles called nanomaterials having dimensions between 1 and 100 nm which may serve as building blocks for various physical and biological systems. On the other hand, there is the class of smart materials where the material that can stimuli by external factors and results a new kind of functional properties. The combination of these two classes forms a new class of smart nanomaterials, which produces unique functional material properties and a great opportunity to larger span of application. Smart nanomaterials have been employed by researchers to use it effectively in agricultural production, soil improvement, disease management, energy and environment, medical science, pharmaceuticals, engineering, food, animal husbandry and forestry sectors.

This book series in Smart Nanomaterials Technology aims to comprehensively cover topics in the fabrication, synthesis and application of these materials for applications in the following fields:

- Energy Systems—Renewable energy, energy storage (supercapacitors and electrochemical cells), hydrogen storage, photocatalytic water splitting for hydrogen production
- Biomedical—controlled release of drugs, treatment of various diseases, biosensors,
- Agricultural—agricultural production, soil improvement, disease management, animal feed, egg, milk and meat production/processing,
- Forestry-wood preservation, protection, disease management
- Environment—wastewater treatment, separation of hazardous contaminants from wastewater, indoor air filters

Amit Kumar Mandal · Suvankar Ghorai · Azamal Husen Editors

Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing



Editors Amit Kumar Mandal Department of Sericulture Raiganj University Raiganj, West Bengal, India

Azamal Husen Wolaita Sodo University Wolaita, Ethiopia Suvankar Ghorai Department of Microbiology Raiganj University Raiganj, India

ISSN 3004-8273 ISSN 3004-8281 (electronic) Smart Nanomaterials Technology ISBN 978-981-99-5786-6 ISBN 978-981-99-5787-3 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Paper in this product is recyclable.

Preface

In recent era, nanomaterials are one of the most astonishing makings of human advancement due to their exceptional potential. The nanomaterials are well-known to possess superb thermal, optical, electrical, robust mechanical strength, and catalytic properties. Tools or smart point-of-care devices prepared using such nanoparticles are rummage-sale to identify detrimental substances or contaminants of the environment including their applications on human biomedical health. This book intends to provide the classifications and applications of smart nanomaterials and their modifications as biosensors provide an overview of the newest research on nanosized materials responding to various stimuli, including their up-to-date application in the biomedical field. Various chapters in this book focused on the overview of the current nanomaterials, their synthesis via both green and chemical routes, their properties, and their characterization. In other chapters, researchers made an attempt to comprehend nanoinformatics in the context of nanomedicine and the development of smart nanomaterials, its application in drug delivery, lateral flow assay, CRISPR point-ofcare testing devices, in developing diagnostic microdevices, magnetic-nanosensors, nanodevices for pathogens detection, detection of environmental contamination, therapeutics for neurological disorders and its detection, its application in cell and tissue fabrication, and so on. Accordingly, the book in hand is an effort made to meet knowledge necessities on such aspects. It comprises 13 chapters, and the wide coverage of diverse aspects of the subject reflects quite well in the table of contents. This book is primarily intended for undergraduates, postgrdauates, and researchers working in the field of nanosciences and smart materials. We express our sincere thanks to the contributors who have shared their ideas and contributed chapters to this book. We shall be happy to receive comments and criticism, if any, from subject experts and readers of this published book.

Raiganj, India Raiganj, India Wolaita, Ethiopia Amit Kumar Mandal Suvankar Ghorai Azamal Husen

About This Book

In recent era, nanomaterials are one of the most astonishing makings of human advancement due to their exceptional potential. The nanomaterials are well-known to possess superb thermal, optical, electrical, robust mechanical strength, and catalytic properties. Tools or smart point-of-care devices prepared using such nanoparticles are rummage-sale to identify detrimental substances or contaminants of the environment including their applications on human biomedical health. This book intends to provide the classifications and applications of smart nanomaterials and their modifications as biosensors provide an overview of the newest research on nanosized materials responding to various stimuli, including their up-to-date application in the biomedical field. Various chapters in this book focused on the overview of the current nanomaterials, their synthesis via both green and chemical routes, their properties, and their characterization. In other chapters, researchers made an attempt to comprehend nanoinformatics in the context of nanomedicine and the development of smart nanomaterials, its application in drug delivery, lateral flow assay, CRISPR point-ofcare testing devices, in developing diagnostic microdevices, magnetic-nanosensors, nanodevices for pathogens detection, detection of environmental contamination, therapeutics for neurological disorders and its detection, its application in cell and tissue fabrication, and so on.

Contents

Overview of the Current Nano-Materials, Synthesis, Properties	1
Zeynep Cimen, Esma Mutlutürk, Busra Cetin-Ersen, Tugba Gencoglu-Katmerlikaya, Sena Kardelen Dinc, Nalan Oya San Keskin, Esma Sari, Aydan Dag, and Gokcen Birlik Demirel	1
Nanoinformatics Applied to Smart Nanomaterials Lívia V. Luchi, Valentina Nieto Marín, Maria L. R. Macedo, Octávio L. Franco, and Marlon H. Cardoso	31
Nanomaterials in Lateral Flow Assay Arash Mohammadinejad, Ghazaleh Aleyaghoob, and Yavuz Nuri Ertas	49
Aptamer-Based Lateral Flow Assay as a Smart Point-of-Care	
Devices	83
CRISPR-Based Point-of-Care Testing (POCT) Devices for Detection of Opportunistic Pathogens Joydeep Chakraborty and Hironmoy Sarkar	97
Microfluidic Chips as Point-of-Care Testing for Develop Diagnostic	
Microdevices	115
Magnetic-Nanosensor-Based Diagnostic Chips: An Overview Zozan Guleken	129
Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing Arunima Lala, Hiranmoy Kotal, and Saikat Kumar Jana	139
Nanodevices for Food-Borne Pathogens and Toxin Detection	161

Contents

Nanomaterials for the Rapid Identification of Agriculturally Important Plant Pathogens Zehra Karaagac and Ismail Ocsoy	179
Emerging Role of Nanotechnology-Based Devices for Detection of Environmental Contaminants Deepyaman Das, Dipraj Chakraborty, and Suman Barman	199
Nanotechnology-Based Point-of-Care Diagnostics and Therapeutics for Neurological Disorders Debayan Banik and Rama Ranjan Bhattacharjee	211
Functional Biosensors in Cell and Tissue Fabrication for SmartLife-Sciences ApplicationsGuven Akcay, Cagla Celik, Nilay Ildız, and Ismail Ocsoy	235

About the Editors



Amit Kumar Mandal is the Assistant Professor of Sericulture Department and the Centre-In-Charge of Centre for Nanotechnology Sciences (CeNS), Raiganj University. Before joining this University, he was associated with Vidyasagar University and served their as an Assistant Professor of Microbiology under UGC-Innovative Programme. A Chemical Biologist by training, he has considerable editorial and publishing experience. He studied structural determination of extracellular polymeric substances from opportunistic bacterial pathogens and designing, synthesis of nanostructured materials at the OMICS laboratory of Biotechnology Department, University of North Bengal, India. He is passionate about mentorship, research integrity with open and impartial research practice. He is a life member of Royal Society of Chemistry, Indian Science Congress Association and Association of Microbiologist of India. He has published >65 research articles, 12 book chapters and has 3 patents in his name. His research interests includes biosensors, nano-biocomposite scaffolds for organogenesis and gut-microbiome dysbiosis with special emphasis on Bombyx mori L. Dr. Mandal has been on the Editorial board and panel of reviewers of several reputed journals of Nature portfolio, ACS, RSC, Elsevier, Frontiers Media SA, Biomed Central, ASM, Springer Nature, John Wiley & Sons and Taylor and Francis. He received grants from Science and Engineering Research Board, India.



Suvankar Ghorai obtained his Ph.D. from Indian Institute of Technology (IIT) Kharagpur, India and have been trained as postdoctoral fellow at the New Jersey Medical school and University of Washington at Seattle USA on different aspects of HCV, HIV and AIDS. He have been associated with National Center for Cell Science (NCCS) Pune, as Research Scientist. Before joining at the Raiganj University, he served as Research Assistant Professor at SRM University, Tamil Nadu, India, for more than three years. His area of research interest includes Infection Biology, especially viral infection, antiviral and low-cost point of care diagnostics. He received research funds from several funding agencies like, ICMR, DBT, UGC and MHRD.



Azamal Husen served as Professor & Head, Department of Biology, University of Gondar, Ethiopia and is a Foreign Delegate at Wolaita Sodo University, Wolaita, Ethiopia. Earlier, he was a Visiting Faculty of the Forest Research Institute, and the Doon College of Agriculture and Forest at Dehra Dun, India. His research and teaching experience of >20 years involves studies of biogenic nanomaterial fabrication and application, plant responses to environmental stresses and nanomaterials at the physiological, biochemical, and molecular levels, herbal medicine, and clonal propagation for improvement of tree species. He has conducted several research projects sponsored by various funding agencies, including the World Bank (FREEP), the National Agricultural Technology Project (NATP), the Indian Council of Agriculture Research (ICAR), the Indian Council of Forest Research Education (ICFRE); and the Japan Bank for International Cooperation (JBIC). He received four fellowships from India and a recognition award from the University of Gondar, Ethiopia, for excellent teaching, research, and community service. Husen has been on the Editorial board and the panel of reviewers of several reputed journals published by Elsevier, Frontiers Media, Taylor & Francis, Springer Nature, RSC, Oxford University Press, Sciendo, The Royal Society, CSIRO, PLOS, MDPI, John Wiley & Sons and UPM Journals. He is on the advisory board of Cambridge Scholars Publishing, UK. He is a Fellow of the Plantae group of the American Society of Plant Biologists, and a Member of the International Society

of Root Research, Asian Council of Science Editors, and INPST. To his credit are over 250 publications; and he is Editor-in-Chief of the *American Journal of Plant Physiology*. He is also working as Series Editor of *Exploring Medicinal Plants*', published by Taylor & Francis Group, USA; *Plant Biology, Sustainability, and Climate Change*', published by Elsevier, USA; and *Smart Nanomaterials Technology*', published by Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. Singapore.

Overview of the Current Nano-Materials, Synthesis, Properties and Characterization



Zeynep Cimen, Esma Mutlutürk, Busra Cetin-Ersen, Tugba Gencoglu-Katmerlikaya, Sena Kardelen Dinc, Nalan Oya San Keskin, Esma Sari, Aydan Dag, and Gokcen Birlik Demirel

Abstract Point of care testing (PoCT) systems, which enable diagnosis and treatment at or close to the care site, play a crucial role in the control of epidemics and other types of infectious diseases that are spread throughout the world due to their advantages such as short turnaround times, portability, reusability, efficiency, ease of use, and low cost. In particular, nanomaterial-based PoCT systems are widely used due to their excellent chemical and physical properties that allow high analytical performance and simplify the detection process. Therefore, recently, many different types of nanomaterials have been used to develop nanomaterial-based PoCT devices in various platforms. Various kinds of nanomaterials such as metal-based nanoparticles, quantum dots, nanoshells, nanotubes, metal–organic frameworks (MOFs) nanogels, nanofibers, and flexible hybrid composites are used to provide detection, signal generation, transduction, and amplification in PoCT devices. In this context,

Z. Cimen · E. Mutlutürk · B. Cetin-Ersen · G. B. Demirel (🖂)

Department of Chemistry, Polatlı Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Ankara Hacı Bayram Veli University, Ankara, Turkey

e-mail: gokcen.demirel@hbv.edu.tr

B. Cetin-Ersen Institute of Graduate Programs, Department of Chemistry, Ankara Hacı Bayram Veli University, Ankara, Turkey

T. Gencoglu-Katmerlikaya · S. K. Dinc

Department of Biotechnology, Institute of Health Sciences, Bezmialem Vakif University, Istanbul, Turkey

S. K. Dinc · N. O. S. Keskin Department of Biology, Polatlı Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Ankara Hacı Bayram Veli University, Ankara, Turkey

E. Sari

Medical Laboratory Techniques, Vocational School of Health Services, Yüksek İhtisas University, Ankara, Turkey

A. Dag

Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Faculty of Pharmacy, Bezmialem Vakif University, İstanbul, Turkey

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing*, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_1 the synthesis methods and controlled physical/chemical properties of these nanomaterials are crucial points to improve the performance of the PoCT devices. In this chapter, we will highlight the synthesis and development strategies of nanomaterials currently used in different PoCT devices, along with existing challenges and future prospects.

Keywords Metal NPs · Quantum dots · Nanofibers · Nanogels · Nanoshells · Nanotubes · Metal–organic frameworks (MOFs) · Flexible hybrid composites

1 Introduction

Point-of-care (PoC) devices provide fast, on-site, and cost-effective alternatives to traditional laboratory applications that require long analysis times and expensive equipment [113]. Over the last decade, PoC products have been developed as realtime diagnostic products for use outside the laboratory and in laboratories with limited resources. Therefore, PoC technologies are gaining increasing importance in preventing and controlling the spread of diseases [113]. In this context, the design and the detection type of the sensor platforms are very important. Various types of sensor platforms, which have different readout modalities are being developed, including piezoelectric, magnetic, thermal, electrochemical, optical, and colorimetric detection [80]. A sensor platform can be defined as an analytical device and be selectively produced against a particular disease. Practically, a sensor platform operates on the principle that a target analyte can be specifically detected by chemical reactions or biological recognition, resulting in a specific signal that can be measured by different methods. Recently, the use of various nanomaterials has come to the fore to obtain sensitive, reproducible, and precise signals from sensors [84]. This is because nanomaterials have excellent physical and chemical properties compared to their bulk form, such as biocompatibility, large surface area, and specific catalytic activity. These unique properties of nanomaterials make them excellent candidates for the development of detection probes [24, 84]. For this purpose, various nanomaterials such as gold, silver, and polymer nanoparticles, quantum dots, hybrid nanocomposites, and carbon-based nanomaterials with different sizes, shapes, and compositions have been used to develop a PoC testing platform.

In this chapter, the synthesis of different types of nanomaterials in PoC systems and their application in diagnostics will be reviewed.

2 Metal-Based Nanoparticles

Metal-based nanomaterials are an important milestone in the advancement of nanoscience, which is currently an advanced research area [99, 109]. The development of metal nanoparticles, which first started with the controlled synthesis of

gold nanoparticles, continued with the synthesis and efforts to elucidate the properties of other metal-based nanomaterials [44]. The unique physical, optical, and chemical properties and functionalities of metal nanostructures, which are largely dependent on sizes, shapes/facets, compositions, and architectures, have attracted the massive attention of researchers in science [32, 35, 90, 99]. Although research with metal-based nanowires and nanoclusters has recently been included in the literature, nanoparticles are still the most commonly used metal-based nanomaterials in pointof-care (PoC) systems [3, 84]. An impressive work involving AgNPs was reported by Yuan et al. [129]. They designed a Tyndall effect-inspired assay (TEA) to detect creatine in human urine by taking advantage of colloidal Cit-AgNPs. The citratecapped AgNPs with a weak Tyndall effect (TE) signal aggregated after being added to creatine and formed a hydrogen bonding network with creatine tautomers under alkaline conditions, resulting in a significant increase in TE signal that was generated and quantified using a smartphone and a portable laser pointer, respectively. The increase in TE signal that can be seen with the unaided eye is directly proportional to the creatinine concentration in the sample. Additionally, this portable quantitative detection platform may be employed by incorporating it into a smartphone. This metal nanomaterials-based point-of-care test system, which is performed without the use of any sophisticated equipment, has a detection limit of ~50 nM for creatinine that is at least 90 times lower than even the most sensitive conventional colorimetric methods.

Fu et al. designed a PoC test system that will perform simultaneous and visual detection of three different analytes with gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) integrated with three different aptamers, should be cited as an example of the application of these [35]. Aptamers prevent the aggregation of AuNPs in a high-salt environment. This is because aptamers interact with gold nanoparticles, and interfere with the interaction of high salt and AuNPs, thereby preventing their aggregation. Aptamers are stripped from the AuNPs when analytes are present because of the greater interaction between aptamers and the analytes. The color of the solution changed dramatically after AuNP aggregation in the high salt condition, allowing for analyte detection with the naked eye. Three analytes were determined simultaneously and visually at the detection limit of 53 nM, 130 nM, and 11 nM, respectively, with a single sensor using a multi-aptamer. This study resulted in the development of a simultaneous and visible multi-component detection platform, which was also successful with blood and urine samples. In another example proposed by Al-Kassawneh et al., the glucose level in human saliva was colorimetrically determined using a gold nanoparticles tablet (AuNPs-pTab) prepared by encapsulating AuNPs with pulluan, a natural, biodegradable ligand used as both a reducing agent and a capture agent, as a simple point-of-care (POC) test kit [6]. To detect glucose, a detection limit of (LoD) 28.7 µM was performed in buffer solution; however, in artificial and real human saliva samples, LoD values 38.2 and 163.04 μ M, respectively, were reached. These tablet sensors, developed by this study, which pioneered the use of the reactive encapsulation technique for glucose detection, will significantly contribute to the design of PoC devices that are ready to use and have the potential for OnSpot colorimetric testing for various diseases. In another study that should be mentioned in this

context, homometallic and heterometallic nanohybrids were synthesized by in situ fabrication of AuNPs, AgNPs, and their plasmonic hybrids using sericin protein as a reducing and capturing agent [15]. A surface plasmon-coupled emission (SPCE) application for mobile phones was used to accomplish attomolar level detection of mefenamic acid using the versatile, polarized, and enhanced fluorescent emission of these nanohybrids.

One of the most crucial points of this study is that it will shed light on the design of point-of-care diagnostic tools that can be developed with green nanotechnology without the need for the use of hazardous chemicals and solvents for different applications in the future.

3 Quantum Dots

In recent years, quantum dots (QDs) have received a lot of attention due to their unique optoelectronic properties such as strong absorption, size-dependent photoluminescent emission, high quantum yield (QY), and high optical stability [57, 91]. Different types of ODs have functional properties in a variety of fields, including sensing, optoelectronic devices, biomedicine, and point-of-care (PoC) systems [4, 17]. Although it is stated in many sources in the literature that it should have a size distribution below 10 nm, in fact, the sizes of ODs can reach up to about 30 nm [29, 104]. For a nanometer-sized crystal to be considered a QD, the quantum confinement effect rather than size must be observed. For this, the physical dimensions of nanometer-scale colloidal semiconductor crystals must be smaller than the Bohr radius exciton [104]. Dimensions of QDs generally vary depending on the material from which they are synthesized [4, 111]. The materials used for its preparation are also used to identify the types of QDs [115]. Conventional quantum dots were first prepared as core nanocrystals by combining the III-V, II-VI, and IV-VI groups of the periodic table [4, 111, 115]. Then, with the synthesis of QDs carried out in the form of core-shell nanocrystals, which prevents the leaching of metal ions in the core, the quantum efficiency was increased up to almost 75% [57]. In addition to the high quantum efficiency obtained in this way, it has become the best fluorophore candidate for many applications with its advantages such as extremely broad and intense absorption spectra allowing single wavelength excitation, narrow, symmetric, and size dependent fluorescence spectra, superior photostability and enabling flexibility in excitation [29, 104]. The features that overshadow all these excellent optoelectronic properties are harsh synthesis reaction conditions, complex surface passivation procedure, and especially cytotoxicity created by toxic precursors [17, 111]. Although traditional QDs can be prepared with many different combinations of III-V, II-VI, and IV-VI groups, cadmium-based QDs are the most preferred [115]. However, because of their capacity to attach to thiol groups on essential components in mitochondria and inflict sufficient stress and damage to result in appreciable cell death, cadmium ions were discovered to be the main cause of cytotoxicity of QDs [29]. Their sustained practical application is hampered by this toxicity [115]. For this

reason, researchers have searched for environmentally friendly, biocompatible QDs and have launched them as cadmium-free ODs [58]. Carbon ODs (CODs), which are obtained from the element carbon, which has been frequently used since the 19th century, were obtained in 2004 by preparative electrophoresis during the purification of single-walled carbon nanotubes [4]. Graphene quantum dots (GODs) were discovered shortly after the discovery of CODs, especially due to the combined use of carbon and graphene in electrochemistry applications. The low toxicities of both CQDs and GQDs, as well as the carboxylic acid moieties of GQDs, have allowed these structures to increase in water solubility and allow for biological modification, allowing them to show superiority among other QDs [58]. Another is the next generation Ag₂Se and Ag₂S QDs, which are designated as near infrared QDs class and have been used in biological imaging applications [57]. In addition, although it has only recently been discovered in zero-dimensional black phosphorus QDs synthesized by chemical methods, it has been used in bioimaging, fluorescence sensing, optoelectronic, and flexible devices [4, 111]. The most important features of these structures are small size, high brightness, quick radiation transition rate, good light stability, low biological toxicity and customizable emission spectrum, high quantum yield easily functionalized, and strong biocompatibility, respectively [111]. Finally, in this context, MXene dots should also be mentioned. These quantum dots, which are promising candidates in many fields such as bioimaging, biomedical, and biosensor, are striking with the advantage of a large number of functional groups on their surfaces [4]. The synthesis of ODs is shaped according to their classification [57]. Synthesis of traditional Cd-based QDs was first performed by pyrolysis of organometallic and chalcogen precursors, but since the hydrophobicity of QDs synthesized by this method significantly reduces both their water solubility and biocompatibility. further modification is needed after synthesis. Therefore, researchers focused on the synthesis of hydrophilic QDs. For this, applied to the use of stabilizers such as 3mercaptopropionic acid (MPA), 2-mercapto ethylamine acid (MA), thioglycolic acid (TGA), and L-cysteine in the aqueous synthetic procedure [57]. Also, microwaveassisted green synthesis, which relies on environmentally sensitive microwave irritation, is one of the popular methods of choice for the preparation of such QDs [48].

Two synthesis approaches have generally been proposed for Carbon QDs and GQDs, which are called natural-based QDs (NQDs). In these methods, which are launched as top-down and bottom-up, top-down is based on the decomposition or exfoliation of large carbon structures or large graphene sheets, while bottom-up is based on the creation of GQDs and carbon QDs from small precursors with solution chemistry methods. Top-down techniques include hydrothermal cutting, solvothermal cutting, electrochemical cutting, nanolithography, microwave-assisted cutting, nanotomy-assisted exfoliation, and ultrasonic shearing; bottom-up techniques like stepwise organic synthesis and cage opening of fullerenes fall under this category as well [48, 91]. There are only a few synthesis techniques recommended for other semiconducting quantum dots. This sort of QDs are often synthesized using several different techniques, including solution-phase-based methods,

microemulsion synthesis, thermally induced disproportionation of solid hydrogen silsesquioxane in a reducing atmosphere, and others [57].

In the characterization of QDs, parameters such as optical properties, size, and morphology are examined with advanced devices. While UV-VIS and photoluminescence spectroscopy are preferred for optical characterization, devices such as scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), dynamic light scattering (DLS), and X-ray diffraction (XRD) are used for size distribution. It has been reported that the tools used for morphological and structural characterization are X-ray photoemission spectroscopy (XPS), nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR), Rutherford backscattering spectrometry (RBS), atomic force microscopy (AFM), field emission scanning electron microscopy (FESEM), and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) [4, 29].

In recent years, the use of fluorescent probes in PoC testing systems has offered great advantages in terms of the accuracy of the detection system and the simplicity of the readout system. In addition, the use of fluorescent materials such as quantum dots in PoC systems is cheaper and easier to convert into disposable chips than other methods, so it is more suitable for real-time use in the field [21]. Therefore, as exemplified below, the use of QDs in PoC systems has become quite common in recent years. A study emphasizing the use of quantum dots in point-of-care applications has been reported by Zhang and Shi(Jingfei) [134]. The antibiotic tetracycline (TC), which is now a severe hazard to both public health and the environment, was used in this study to create a coordination complex with the ion Eu^{3+} , from which a faint luminescence was produced. Then, by transferring energy from MoS₂ QDs with a strong fluorescence property to the Eu-TC coordination molecule, the initial fluorescence intensity was significantly increased. In the study, TC between 10 nM and $60 \,\mu\text{M}$ was determined with a detection limit of 2 nM with MoS2 QDs used as both the indicator and enhancer of the ratiometric probe. Additionally, color recognition software was used to adapt this sensor to the smartphone-based portable platform, and visual quantitative detection was carried out sensitively, quickly, and in real time with a detection limit of $0.05 \,\mu$ M.

Another study, which has been reported to design even more efficient PoC testing systems with quantum dots, has been brought to the literature by Sun et al. [98]. Four metal ions were monitored within the scope of this study, on-site, user-friendly, real time, selective manner utilizing a paper-based analytical instrument constructed using S quantum dots. The research is based on the idea that S quantum dots provide a different visual signal with each ion, particularly green for Fe^{3+} , brown for Co^{2+} , bright yellow for Cd^{2+} , and precipitate for Pb^{2+} . This consists of three layers such as isolation, reaction, and base, and it has several spots where the assay will take place. The images obtained after interacting with metal ions were used for on-site and visual determination with the help of a smartphone-based platform and color recognition software. In this ion-responsive platform, a smart strategy was created by integrating multiresponsive blocks into S dots, allowing multiple logic operations (i.e., yes, not, and, inhibit, and nor) for determination. Finally, with this quadruple analyte responsive platform, Fe^{3+} , Co^{2+} , Cd^{2+} , and Pb^{2+} ions were not only determined at

the detection limit of 0.59, 0.47, 0.82, and 0.53 μ M, respectively, but also a point-ofcare testing (PoCT) system that could be created for various analytes was successfully introduced to the literature.

4 Metal–Organic Frameworks (MOFs)

MOFs are hybrid materials consisting of a large surface area, low density, and highly porous inorganic and organic units. In the last decade, different types of hybrid MOFs with a wide range of uses have been reported based on polymer, metal oxide, carbon, metal nanoparticle, and biomolecule [86]. In addition, MOF-PoC test platforms used in different sensor-based diagnostic and detection applications have been reported recently. The organic units that makeup MOFs are anions such as carboxylate, cyano compounds, imidazole derivative polyamines, phosphonate, sulfonate, and heterocyclic compounds. Metal ions or clusters called secondary structural units (SBUs) form the inorganic units of MOFs [86]. The solvo(hydro)thermal method is generally used for the synthesis of MOFs (Fig. 1). The synthesis is carried out using an autoclave at high temperatures and pressure above the boiling point of the solvent. Under solvothermal conditions, starting reagents can undergo unexpected chemical transformations that can lead to the formation of new ligands. Therefore, optimum reaction conditions must be provided [16]. In addition to these methods, other alternative synthetic methods such as diffusion, mechanochemical, electrochemical, microwave, and ultrasonication methods have been developed in recent years [10, 86].

In the diffusion method, solvent/solvent mixtures with a low boiling point are mostly preferred and the reacting species are transported slowly in the presence of the solvent. Thus, crystal growth and nucleation occur over time at the interface point [89]. Electrochemical synthesis of MOFs can occur in a maximum of 2 h at ambient temperature and pressure. The metal ion is added to the reaction mixture containing organic ligands and electrolytes by anodic dissolution. The method has advantages such as high efficiency, low energy consumption, and the absence of counter ions. In this way, it allows the controlled synthesis of MOFs. Many MOFs prepared by electrochemical methods such as ZIF-8, MOF-5, HKUST-1, MIL-100(Al), MIL-53(Al),



Fig. 1 Schematic presentation of the hydrothermal synthesis route of MOFs

and NH₂-MIL-53(Al) have been developed in the literature [7, 37]. Mechanochemical synthesis of MOFs occurs by solid-state organic reaction with less or no solvents. Furthermore, this method allows for large-scale production of MOFs in shorter reaction times and lower temperature conditions compared to diffusion and solvothermal methods [34]. MOF synthesis by ultrasonication is based on the chemical transformation of molecules under high-energy ultrasonic radiation (20 kHz-10 MHz). Compared with other techniques, it provides simple operating conditions, high efficiency, easy controllability, and short reaction time [10]. MOFs are characterized by several methods such as X-ray diffraction, single crystal X-ray diffraction, scanning electron microscopy (SEM), inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES), thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA), nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, and Brunauer–Emmett–Teller (BET) analysis [43]. Recent studies show that MOFs have been the focus of researchers for POC tests in many different usage areas with their superior properties [12]. Zhang et al. reported a fluorescent lanthanide-based MOF (L-MOF-enzyme) composition to detect glucose in serum and urine [135]. The composite was prepared by an immobilization between Eu³⁺@UMOF and glucose oxidase (GOx). Herein, glucose is oxidized by GOx and the H₂O₂ produced can quench the fluorescence of Eu³⁺@UMOF. The fluorescent intensity of Eu³⁺@UMOF corresponds to the glucose concentration (CGlu). In the system integrated with the detector, CGlu has three different concentration ranges (0.1–10 μ M, 10–10 mM, and >10 mM). Three different outputs; (L(low), M(medium), and H(high)) corresponding to these three concentrations can be determined with the naked eve. The prepared detector provides the detection of glucose levels in the urine with high selectivity and sensitivity. It allows on-site diagnosis without going to the hospital for complex examinations, especially for diabetics. Chen et al. reported a high-sensitivity PoC test fluorescent nanosensor for tetracycline [22]. Tetracycline is an antibiotic frequently used in medicine against bacterial infections. However, its misuse leads to tetracycline residues in animal foods and affects human health. The probe (FL:LZIF-8-Cit-Eu) was prepared by encapsulating fluorescein (FL) in 1-histidine modified ZIF-8 (LZIF-8) and chelating it with the citrate complex. When FL:LZIF-8-Cit-Eu is exposed to tetracycline, a characteristic Eu³⁺ sensitive fluorescence is formed as a result of the coordination between Eu^{3+} and tetracycline. The results demonstrate fast (<20 s), high selectivity, and high sensitivity (LOD = 5.99 nM) PoC detection of tetracycline. Yan et al., on the other hand, prepared a lanthanide-based MOF platform Eu(TATB) for the detection of Sulphamethazine (SMZ), which are another frequently used antibiotic in medicine [123]. Nanoscale Eu(TATB) is prepared by the microemulsion method and has a stable red luminescence in an aqueous solution. In addition, it was embedded in the prepared lanthanide-based MOF filter paper and integrated into the smartphone imaging system. Thus, a paper-based MOF-PoC test system was designed to monitor SMZ.

5 Carbon Nanotubes

Since they have excellent electrochemical properties, physical-chemical stability, mechanical strength, and a large surface area, carbon-based nanomaterials like carbon nanotubes (CNT) are highly in request when creating point-of-care diagnostic tools that can diagnose and treat illnesses quickly, sensitivity, and affordably. CNT are obtained by sp² hybridization of graphite in the form of hollow cylindrical tubes with a high surface-to-volume ratio. Based on the number of walls, CNT are classified into three groups such as single-walled nanotubes (SWNT), double-walled nanotubes (DWNT), and multiwalled nanotubes (MWNT). CNT are generally used for bioimaging endowing superior optical properties and assisting easy incorporation of contrast agents such as fluorescent probes, radionuclides, and organic/ inorganic nanomaterials with a high ratio for MRI (magnetic resonance imaging), CT (computed tomography), PET (positron emission tomography), and SPECT (singlephoton emission computed tomography), etc. CNT serve as an important option for health care platforms, but their hydrophobic nature is one of the major obstacles to the use of CNT in sensing applications, drug delivery, photothermal therapy, and other applications.

The structure and individual properties of CNT have been demonstrated to be precisely dependent on the synthesis methods [87]. Many different methods have been introduced with the studies on high purity production demand, synthesis at low temperatures, and increasing production capacity, and classification has been made as synthesis from solid carbon and gaseous carbon, inspired by the states of materials applied in production. In this part, most typical synthesis strategies are discussed in detail; all of which have been extensively studied. One of the first techniques for creating carbon nanotubes was the arc discharge method. The procedure involves creating a space between two graphite rods, one of which serves as the anode and the other as the cathode, causing an arc to form, and using a direct current to make nanotubes. In the arc discharge process, the nanotubes produced by bombarding a target made of pure graphite are multiwalled, but the nanotubes produced by bombarding a target made of catalysts like Co, Ni, Fe, or Y are single-walled. The anode particle's core contains the catalysts. MWCNT are produced by this method with high crystallinity. Transition metal catalysts must be used in this method for the formation and growth of SWCNT. In theory, the arc discharge approach and the laser evaporation method are comparable. This method uses a laser source rather than an electric discharge to generate a high temperature on a carbon target. Although the laser evaporation method is suitable for producing higher quality SWCNT with higher mechanical strength than the arc discharge method, it is not preferred because of its high cost and low production capacity. For the last two decades, carbon fibers and their filaments have been produced using the chemical vapor deposition method of hydrocarbons in combination with a metal catalyst. The chemical vapor deposition method has several advantages compared to previous synthesis methods. It is a simpler and more economical technique as production takes place at lower temperatures and pressures. The most common techniques for analyzing the general

morphology of CNT samples include electron microscopy, atomic force microscopy (AFM), nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR), electromagnetic spectroscopy, XRD diffraction, and light scattering techniques. In fact, IR, NMR, and Raman spectroscopy are used to confirm the presence of functional groups on CNTs. CNT offer attractive PoC biosensing applications due to having remarkable electro-chemical properties. The recognition process of CNTs principally relies on various enzymatic processes that produce electroactive species for the detection of metabolites, protein biomarkers, and ions [49, 138]. Additionally, recognition elements may be aptamers, antibodies, oligonucleotides (DNA or RNA), ligands, and whole cells. Many research articles have assessed the development of CNT-based biosensors for RNA detection identifying overexpressed microRNA (miRNA)-specific patterns in cancer diagnosis. For example, an electrochemical microRNA (miRNA) nanosensor, which uses CNT and electroactive polymer films, has a low detection limit of ca. 8 fM and has been used for the detection of human prostate metastatic cancer cells [101]. Similarly, Topkaya et al. reported early, label-free electrochemical detection of prostate cancer [77]. As seen in Fig. 2, another work SWCNT-based antibody conjugated optical nanobiosensor has been used for prostate cancer biomarker urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) detection via surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy (SERS) in whole serum, plasma, and blood [116].

For the sensitive detection of carcinoma antigen-125, zinc oxide-fabricated MWCNT nanowire immunosensors have been prepared by simple and low-cost electrospinning techniques [81]. Increased sensing performance has been found for BSA functionalized MWCNT-ZnO nanowire immunosensor with an excellent limit of detection (0.00113 U/mL) (Fig. 3).

In another study, a sensor was designed to detect hybridization processes of small DNA and RNA oligonucleotides in vivo with a label-free approach that converts carbon nanotube photoluminescence into spectral changes. The mechanism of action was determined by dielectric, electrostatic factors, and molecular dynamics simulations. They showed that the sensor facilitates multiple sensing using various nanotube chirality and monitoring concurrently of toehold-mediated DNA-strand displacement, which results in signal response reversal. It has also been demonstrated by in vivo optical experiments by implanting that the designed sensor is extremely resistant to non-specific interactions with biological molecules and allows direct detection from serum and urine [41].

SWCNT field-effect transistor biosensors are known for offering the highest level of sensitivity [8]. However, it also provides high selectivity and distinguishes the real signal from other signals in an uncontrolled environment. In a study, they demonstrated the successful integration of a new peptide aptamer with SWCNT field-effect transistors for the specific and sensitive recognition of Cathepsin E, one of the cancer biomarkers. SWCNT were prepared via the CVD method. It is then integrated into a SWCNT field-effect transistor device. The constructed sensors were found to exhibit high selectivity at low concentrations in not only phosphate-buffered saline (2.3 pM), but also human serum (0.23 nM). In conclusion, it has been shown that SWCNT FET sensors modified with peptide aptamer can be used as a remarkable platform for PoCT applications [102].



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the synthesis and characterization of Anti-uPA-DNA-SWCNT nanobiosensor. Adopted from Williams et al. [116]

6 Nanoshells

Nanoshells are defined as a class of nanoparticles with a dielectric core of 10–300 nm in size, covered with an ultrathin metal shell [47]. Nanoshells have great tunable optical properties and these optical properties can be tunable depending on their size and making them good candidates for PoCT. There are different methodologies to obtain nanoshells, which use dielectric cores as templates to grow metal shells on their surfaces. Also, several synthetic approaches can be used to fabricate hollow nanoshells.

Zhou et al. first synthesized metal nanoshells with an inner dielectric Au_2S core surrounded by a gold shell in 1994 [11]. A gold nanoshell refers to a filled or hollow core surrounded by a spherical layer of gold. According to the gold shell thickness and nanoparticle size, the optical characteristics of gold nanoshells can be tuned for biomedical applications. Different core types can be used to fabricate gold nanoshells. Silica is often used as a core material, because of its superior properties for the fabrication of gold nanoshells by several approaches including



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of the one-step biofunctionalization electrospun MWCNT nanowire immunosensor for the detection of carcinoma antigen-125. Adopted from Paul et al. [81]

surfactant-assisted method, deposition–precipitation method, sonochemical gold seeding method, sandwiched gold seeded shell synthesis, and one-pot synthesis method. Surfactant-assisted seeding method involves using surfactants such as 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane (APTES), which is a linker to provide NH_2 groups on silica nanoparticles. The amine-functionalized silica nanoparticles could link to gold when a gold colloidal mixture was added [114].

Deposition–precipitation (DP) is a method generally used to form directly gold seeds on a silica core (Fig. 4) [50]. Subsequently, the surface of the silica nanoparticles is decorated with APTES. These amine-functionalized silica nanoparticles are seeded with gold hydroxide nanoparticles. To synthesize gold nanoshells by the DP method, HAuCl₄ is hydrolyzed by adding NaOH to give a yellowish gold hydroxide solution. Silica nanoparticles were then added, and the orange-brown colored solution included Au(OH)₃ nanoparticles loaded onto silica nanoparticles. A basic gold hydroxide solution (K-gold) and sodium borohydride were added to Au(OH)₃ seeded silica nanoparticles to grow nanoshells by reduction of gold. The color of the solution can be red, purple, or green depending on the shell thickness [82].

Another most used core material of nanoshell systems is polymeric nanoparticles. There are several approaches to fabricating gold nanoshells on a polymer core including solvent-assisted method, combined swelling heteroaggregation method, gold colloid seeding method, and gold ion seeding method. In the solvent-assisted



Fig. 4 Synthesis of gold nanoshells on silica core by DP method. Created with BioRender

method, the polymer as a core material is immersed in a solvent that contains gold salt. When the polymer swells, gold ions can permeate into the polymer core to form a gold shell on the polymer core [133].

The gold colloid seeding method involves the formation of gold nanoshells that cover the polymer core by electrostatic interactions or covalent bonds when adding gold colloid solution which forms gold seeds on the surface [63]. By using low metal concentration and controlling reaction conditions, the reduction of gold ions led to the formation of nanoshells on an unfunctionalized polymer surface in the gold ion seeding method. Different reaction conditions such as pH, reducing agent concentration, and temperature affect the morphological characteristics of nanoparticles [13].

Hollow gold nanoshells can be fabricated by using a silica core to synthesize gold nanoshells as described and then using hydrogen fluoride (HF) to remove the silica core. Other methods including sacrificial template method, template galvanic replacement method, electrochemical synthesis method can be also used to prepare hollow gold nanoshells. The sacrificial template method requires two steps for the fabrication of hollow gold nanoshells. First, cobalt nanoparticles which act as a template for the gold nanosphere formed in the presence of sodium borohydride. Then sodium borohydride is removed before adding HAuCl₄ solution. After gold nanoshells are formed, air exposure causes oxidation of the residual cobalt, leading to the formation of a hollow gold nanoshell [2]. Also, silver nanoparticles act as a template for the fabrication of hollow gold nanoshells by using the template galvanic replacement method. Redox reaction between Au³⁺ and Ag⁽⁰⁾ induced gold shell formation and after the pitting process, hollow nanoshells are formed [62].

Nanoshells can be characterized by advanced devices in terms of parameters such as optical properties, size, morphology, and composition. UV-visible spectroscopy is commonly used to characterize superior optical properties of nanoshells [5]. The ratio of shell thickness and overall diameter of nanoparticles affects the optical characteristics of nanoshells. It is possible to determine the size of the nanoparticles with different characterization tools such as transmission electron microscopy (TEM), scanning electron microscopy (SEM) [69], dynamic light spectroscopy (DLS) [79], and X-ray diffraction (XRD) [9]. Moreover, SEM and TEM provide information about the morphology of nanoparticles such as crystallinity and lattice structure.

Also, the stability and aggregation of nanoparticles can be determined by DLS. XRD is used to determine not only the size and morphological characteristics but also the composition of the nanoparticle. X-ray photoemission spectroscopy (XPS) and energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX) are other methods to evaluate the composition of nanoshells [117]. Nanoshells with unique properties are import for PoCT in terms of having the capability to conjugate antibodies and other biological molecules in immunoassays. PoCT has several advantages such as simplicity, userfriendliness, time-saving, or low cost, and recent studies reveal that nanoshells have been the focus of researchers for PoCT in many areas with their unique properties. Several practical portable analytical platforms have been used for the detection and/or diagnosis via PoCT such as lateral flow assay (LFA). When samples flow through the strip, the analytes interact with recognition molecules and then signals are captured by another recognition molecule (Fig. 5). Commercial LFA platforms can be used for the PoCT of antigens, disease biomarkers, hormones, or microorganisms. For example, Huang et al. developed colloidal gold test strips with Pt nanoshells as a quantitative PoCT method. In their work, myoglobin which is an early biomarker of acute myocardial infarction was used as a model analyte and a pressure-based method was developed to measure potentially the number of various analytes. Colloidal gold combines with the Ag precursor and hydroquinone to generate an Ag shell on the surface. After that, a Pt precursor and ascorbic acid can coat the Ag shell with Pt. After Pt coated nanoshells produce catalytic gas from the decomposing H_2O_2 . The amount of Pt nanoshells on the test line correlates with increased pressure due to gas output [45].



Fig. 5 The schematic representation of LFA strip decorated with antibody-conjugated gold nanoshells. Created with BioRender

In another work, Srinivasan et al. showed how to use gold nanoshells as a tag for LFA with a remarkable increase in the signal without the need for any additional signal amplification steps for the detection of prostate-specific antigen (PSA). They fabricated the gold nanoshells conjugated with anti-PSA antibodies to target PSA obtained from blood serum samples. This work declares that the portable guantitative PSA screening test has the potential to guide patient care, minimize therapeutic turnaround times, and improve clinical care in areas without diagnostic labs or automated immunoassay systems [96]. Similarly, nanoshell-based PoCT has a great potential to recognize microorganisms with high sensitivity. A different example of gold nanoshells-based LFA was developed for the detection of Chagas disease. Chagas multiantigen conjugated to gold nanoshells recognize circulating human anti-Chagas antibodies with high sensitivity and specificity and it is comparable to commercial methods [70]. For the diagnosis of the tuberculosis, dot blot immunoassay was developed to identify tuberculosis-specific CFP-16 antigen from the clinical urine samples by using the formation of copper nanoshells on the gold nanoparticles' surfaces, which can be quickly observed with naked eye [85]. In a recent study, polyhedral nanoshells were developed as paper strips to detect bovine viral diarrhea virus observably with the naked eye by increasing the signal transmission. By using a new bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV) recognizing peptides and designing a copper polyhedral nanoshell on the surface of gold nanoparticles, a dot-blot technique for the rapid diagnosis of BVDV was developed. The copper polyhedral nanoshell served as the quantitative diagnostic of the virus and contributed to the distinctive performance of the peptide-based optical biosensor in detecting the target by enhancing the appearance of the pink dot [52]. The colorimetric assay platforms can be used as a reliable detection kit for point-of-care testing. Although the colorimetric test platforms for dissolved hydrogen sulfide were commonly used, they still have mostly low sensitivity. The creation of effective signal amplification techniques is one potential solution to this problem. Last, of all, nanoshells can benefits such as detection, signal generation, and amplification of signals to produce novel PoCT systems, which make possible diagnosis and treatment at the care-site.

7 Nanogels

Hydrogels have been investigated in many applications due to their flexibility, biocompatibility, softness, and high tensile strength [46]. Nanogels (NGs) are nanosized and three-dimensional hydrogels with a particle size between 20 and 200 nm. Physical or chemical cross-interaction between polymer networks leads to permanent nanogels. 3D-dimensional nanogels have features such as adjustable size, swelling ability, flexibility, and large surface area [67]. These properties of the nanogels are adjustable, thus allowing biomedical applications [36, 78]. Traditional laboratory methods used to diagnose pathologies have good selectivity and sensitivity, but they require more time, cost, and staff. The point-of-care testing provides faster and earlier detection of pathologies. Solution-based colorimetric nanosystems and surface plasmon resonance biosensing are the most commonly used for PoCT [71]. Nano or microgels are of great use in therapeutic and diagnostic applications due to their ability to swell in aqueous solution, ensuring non-specific cell or protein absorption [27, 83]. Nanogels can be defined as chemically or physically cross-linked nanosized polymer networks. Cross-linking of polymer chains ensures a three-dimensional network and high water absorption capacity without dissolution [95]. Generally, nanogels can be prepared in three different ways.

(i) Physical method

In this method, physical interactions are reached between polymer chains. These interactions occur between supramolecular contructs without covalent bonding. Compared to other methods, Van der Waals, ionic, hydrophobic–hydrophilic, hydrogen bonds are the driving force for the synthesis of cross-linked networks without additional cross-linking agents. Physical cross-linked nanogels are less stable than chemically cross-linked nanogels [68].

(ii) Polymerization of monomers

Polymerization of monomers is an appropriate way for the synthesis of nanogels. The polymerization method works through polymerization of monomer in the presence of initiator, catalyst, and cross-linking agent. Emulsion polymerization, controlled living radical polymerization, and click chemistry are widely used for polymerization of monomers [103]. The emulsion polymerization leads to polymerization of reactive monomer polymers in an aqueous suspension or water-nano emulsion phase [54]. Controlled living radical polymerization method affords the synthesize of well-defined nanogels with high polymer molecular weight, different compositions, and dimensions [68]. Nitroxide-mediated polymerization (NMP), atom transfer radical polymerization methods are known as SI-CRP methods [76]. Click chemistry is a simple and efficient method and includes copper-catalyzed reactions, copper-free click reactions, and pseudo-click reactions.

(iii) <u>Cross-linking of polymers</u>

Covalent cross-linking is widely used for coupling polymer chains to form a gel network [42, 53]. Click chemistry, disulphide-based cross-linking, and amino group-containing cross-linking are methods of cross-linking of polymers. It is possible to produce very different types of functional nanogels using this technique [75].

7.1 Classification of Nanogels

Nanogels can be classified on their behavior as non-responsive and stimuli-responsive nanogels. Stimuli-responsive nanogels change their structural properties in response to internal or exogenous stimuli, including light, pH, temperature, ultrasound, and magnetic field [33, 72]. These sensitive nanogels are often called "smart" materials. Stimuli-responsive nanogels mostly synthesize from cross-linking of desired monomers. For example, temperature-triggered nanogels tend to swell and deswell at a particular temperature [40, 106]. In this system, external heat ensures remote control and the thermoresponsive nanogels promise controlled and targeted drug delivery. The thermoresponsive polymers such as Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide), poly(amino carbonate), urethane, and polvinylcaprolactam utilized for preparation of stimuli responsive nanogels. pH-responsive nanogels are sensitive to acidic or basic conditions. Hyaluronic acid, alginate, chitosan are natural polymers used for the synthesis of pH-responsive nanogels [20]. Dinh et al. designed pH-responsive coiled-coil peptide-cross-linked hyaluronic acid nanogels (HA-cNGs) for cytochrome C (CC) protein delivery. The HA-cNGs loaded with CC showed a rapid release under mild acidic conditions [28]. In light-responsive systems, photoresponsive molecules are encapsulated in a nanogel. Azobenzenes and spiropbenzopyrans are commonly used in these nanogels' fabrication [1, 14].

The morphology of nanogels is the main point that gives information about the particle size, structure, and shape. Electron microscopes and optical microscopes are mainly used for morphological analysis. Electron microscopes ensure better resolution for imagining smaller nano and microgels. Scanning electron microscope (SEM) and transmission electron microscope (TEM) are widely used to observe the nanogel structure. Dynamic light scattering (DLS) is also the preferred method for measuring size distributions and average sizes in liquids. Charge on nanogels and the effect of cross-linker quantity can be determined by DLS analysis [94, 108]. Wu et al. reported the synthesis of carboxymethyl chitosan-nisin nanogels. TEM analysis was carried out for morphological properties determination. TEM images show that nanogels are spherical in shape and the average size is 45 ± 5.62 nm. Compared to the sizes observed by DLS, the TEM results are smaller because the nanogels are swollen in solution. The presence of functional group carboxymethyl chitosan was confirmed with FT-IR spectroscopy [118]. Determination of swelling properties is crucial for the characterization of nanogels. The swelling degree depends on the structure of the nanogel and the environmental parameters (pH, temperature, etc.) [75]. DLS measurement can be used to calculate the swelling ratio. For this aim, particles that swelled at different times, salinities, and temperatures are measured. The average diameter obtained from DLS substituted in different equations and swelling capacity can be calculated [108]. In addition, the swelling ratio can be determined based on the change in mass between dry particles and swollen particles by substituting the corresponding equation [56]. The monitoring of glucose concentration is very important for diabetes patients. The point-of-care tests promising painless, low-cost, and fast detection of glucose concentration [64, 105]. Li et al. reported glucose-sensitive poly (N-isopropylacrylamide)/poly (acrylic acid) (PNIPAM/PAA) (IPN-BAC) interpenetrating nanogels on colloidal photonic crystals (CPs). IPN-BAC nanogels cross-linked with N,N'-Bis(acryloyl)cystamine (BAC) and encapsulated by glucose-sensitive NIPAM/4-Vinylphenylboronic Acid (VPBA) copolymer shell [59]. The PNIPAM nanogels were synthesized by emulsion polymerization.

PNIPAM/PAA IPN nanogels were then synthesized in situ polymerization of acrylamide within the PNIPAM network. The particle sizes and chemical compositions of the nanogels were determined using DLS and X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy analvsis, respectively. The glucose-sensitive core-shell nanogel showed a color change from blue to green depending on glucose concentration [59]. Sharmila and Shankaran fabricated a hydrogel-based nanoplasmonic colorimetric food sensor probe for the detection of melamine (MA) with a detection limit of $\times 10^{-7}$ M. They showed colorimetric sensing of MA in plasmonic nanomaterials (AuNPs) in solution and hydrogel phases. The AuNPs incorporated plasmonic hydrogels were prepared by the chemical and physical cross-linking of cellulose acetate on citrate and β-cyclodextrin (BCD) stabilized on gold nanomaterials. Both AuNPs in solution and hydrogel phases show similar selectivity and sensitivity [93]. Another research group developed localized surface plasmon resonance (LSPR) based poly(N-isopropylacrylamideco-methacrylic acid) (PNM) on silica gold nanoshells (AuNS@PNM) biosensor [25]. The nanoshells have concentration-dependent red shifts in the LSPR wavelength of AuNS@PNM. PNM nanogels were synthesized on core-gold nanoshells (AuNSs) using the precipitation polymerization method. Nanogel-modified AuNSs were dialyzed at room temperature and centrifuged to remove unbond PNM nanogels. The TEM images of AuNS@PNM showed that a flower-like architecture had been achieved. In this design, PNM hydrogels can change their refractive index as a result of protein binding. The AuNS@PNM composite exhibits the detection of changes in the concentration of lysozyme and lactoferrin. Figure 6 shows that the shift is small at low protein concentrations. The concentration-dependent shift of the LSPR wavelength can be easily measured with a portable spectrometer [25].

8 Nanofibers

Nanofibers are ultra-fine webs of solid fibers with a small pore size, a small diameter, and a high surface area [61]. Lowering fiber diameters to the nanoscale can cause a significant increment of specific surface area to $1000 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$. Nanofiber that has a comparatively small volume can comprise plenty of dense nanofibers. The high surface area provides a remarkable ability to attach or release functional groups, adsorbed molecules, ions, and various types of nanometer-scale particles [61].

Electrospinning has attracted a lot of attention from scientists working in the area of creating ultrathin fibers among other technologies such as phase separation [38], template synthesis [74], chemical vapor deposition [97], and sol–gel method [66]. Electrospinning is a reproducible technique that provides flexible operation and, as a result of its simplicity mainly used. Nano-sized fibrous materials can easily made using electrospinning technology with high efficiency and flexibility in a short time [18]. It offers various chances for shape, chemical composition, structural, and function-based fiber customization. These controllability characteristics endow the nanofiber material with several outstanding attributes that can meet the demands of different industries [110]. A high-voltage power supply, a syringe-driven spinneret



Fig. 6 Schematic diagram of LSPR-based biosensor. Adapted from [25]

connected to a pump and a grounded collector are the main components of electrospinning systems (Fig. 7). The electrospinning process, which is based on the theory of electrostatics, is the use of electrostatic repulsion forces in a strong electric field to produce nanofibers. While the solution to be electrospun is in the syringe, a strong electric field is created between the syringe nozzle and the collector. Due to the potential difference between the nozzle and the collector, the solution droplet at the nozzle acquires a cone-shaped distortion as the solution is ejected. The polymer mixture is pulled into fibers under high pressure during the electrospinning process and then deposited on the collector to create a web of randomly or aligned fibers [19].

The potential use of nanofibers to develop biosensors has been investigated. Miniaturization of designed platforms can also be facilitated by nanofibers. Different physical surface modification methods (layer by layer, atomic deposition), chemical methods (oxidation, cross-linking, hydrolysis, grafting), and thermal methods (heat press, calcination) are utilized to improve nanofiber-based biosensors characteristics [92]. As a result of their interconnectivity properties and large surface area-to-volume ratio, electrospun nanofibers are excellent materials for immobilization. Strong electrophilic functional groups on the nanofiber are employed by indirect immobilization techniques which are generally straightforward. Between the nanofiber and the biomolecule, cross-linkers act as an intermediary. While some



Fig. 7 Electrospinning process for the production of nanofibers

cross-linkers can be found in the final product, others expedite the reactions. For this purpose, the electrospun nanofibers with excellent properties and diverse functions can be modified by physical/chemical methods. Thus, they are potential materials to be employed by point-of-care (POC) biosensors and microfluidic-based analytical systems. Nanofibers have been investigated as ultrasensitive biosensors for POC cancer diagnosis, circulating tumor cell detection in cancer patients, malaria diagnosis, urea, glucose, cholesterol, bacteria detection, etc. Because high surface area property gives nanofibers the ability of ultrasensitive detection by providing them with binding sites in large quantities. More bioreceptors could be located on the surface or the inside of nanofibrous, thus increasing sensitivity [61]. In colorimetric POC detection applications, enzymes should be immobilized on the nanofibrous mat frequently with an adsorption technique [112]. Then, the nanofiber mats were dried usually at 25 °C and used in colorimetric detection with the color gradient scale. In another example, an anti-CAP monoclonal antibody immobilized onto the surface of poly(vinyl-co-ethylene) nanofibers to establish chloramphenicol (CAP) and use for the colorimetric biosensor for CAP [136].

Dhawane et al. [26] fabricated a POC, visual detection kit using chitosan nanofibers via electrospinning for the detection of cholesterol. In this study, uniform chitosan nanofibers (60-90 nm diameter) free of beads, were obtained. Interaction between the enzymes and the chitosan nanofibrous mat was important for the enzyme loading. For this reason, the electrospinning was performed to produce three nanofibrous mats with different thicknesses (6, 12, and 18 h electrospinning time) to find maximum enzyme loading. After 6 h immobilization time, a higher enzyme-loaded (3.8 U/mL) nanofiber was obtained. The nanofibrous mat was, therefore, used for the detection of cholesterol. It was based on a colorimetric method. Results showed that a color scale was developed when nanofiber mats loaded with reacting enzyme contact different concentrations of cholesterol (50-300 mg/dL). As a result, a simple method can be incorporated into a POC strip for cholesterol detection. Li et al., [60] produced electrospun polyethylenimine/poly(vinyl alcohol) (PEI/PVA) nanofibrous films decorated with Au nanorods (NRs) are signal output elements for the multicolor visual POCT of PSA proteins. The proposed aptasensing strategy provided PSA quantifying and semiquantifying in Au-NRs colloidal solution. Au-NRs/PEI/

PVA electrospun nanofibrous films displayed good accuracy, low detection limit, broad linearity, POCT characteristic, and satisfactory reproducibility. Considerably, this method can demonstrate a clear semiquantitative visual effect near the 4.0 and 10.0 ng/mL PSA concentration cutoffs. This has been used as a measure of the incidence of prostate cancer. In one study, electrospun nanofibrous membranes with magnetic nanoparticles have been developed and optimized for rapid and sensitive electrochemical detection of the pathogen bacterium: *E. coli* O157:H7. The biosensor showed linear detection of five different cell concentrations from 10^1 to 10^4 CFU/mL in 8 min. Results of the study show that the application of the low-cost and rapid biosensor can be extended to other organisms in field tests [65]. Overall, the trend and prospects are indications of possibilities to promote the implementation of nanofiber-miniaturized system hybrid for the next generation of diagnostic platforms point-of-care testing.

9 Flexible Hybrid Composites

Flexible nanomaterials have received increased research interest with the development of science and technology [131]. Recently, scientists have demonstrated to flexibility and stretchability of various nanomaterials at both macro and micro scales and focused on novel techniques for the design and synthesis of flexible nanomaterials. Flexible nanomaterials are smart materials that can be deformable, bendable structures, and have the ability to return to their original shape. Especially, combination of flexible nanomaterials with polymers provides great flexibility [23]. The unique properties of flexible nanomaterials allow fabrication of new generations of flexible and wearable electronics. Flexible and wearable electronics can be attached to human skin and biological tissue to enable the monitoring of biological signals. Tracking biological signals generated by the human body provides health assessment and points of diagnosis diseases [120]. In order to collect accurate information from the human body, sensors as the main component of flexible and wearable electronics are required to be flexible and have ideal stretchability [132]. Currently, electronic sensors are generally constructed with rigid materials such as metal or semiconductor. The mechanical properties of these materials are not suitable for the human body as well their lack of flexibility and sensitivity are not appropriate for healthcare monitoring [130]. Recently, considerable efforts have been dedicated to the development of flexible and wearable electronics with good mechanical deformability, stretchability, sensitivity, and comfortable wear for healthcare monitoring [39]. In the field of flexible wearable electronics, sensors are composed of a substrate, a conductive filler, sensing elements, and encapsulation materials [31]. The selection of material and design strategy are important factors in the fabrication of flexible and stretchable sensors [88]. In a flexible and stretchable sensor, component materials need to be designed with good mechanical strength and electronic properties. The flexibility, stretchability, and conductivity properties of materials used in the flexible wearable sensor are the main important criteria to obtain high-performance sensing systems.

Moreover, flexible sensing systems are required to maintain their performance and mechanical stability under mechanical stress. The flexible wearable sensors generally fabricated by using flexible substrate and nanomaterials. Among the flexible substrates polymeric materials including polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS), ecoflex, polyimide (PI), polyethylene terephthalate (PET), polyurethane (PU), and rubber are generally used for the fabrication of flexible sensors due to their intrinsic flexible properties [51]. Flexible and wearable electronics can also be integrated papers, membranes, patches, and so on for point-of-care testing [100]. Flexible carbon-based nanomaterials (graphene, carbon nanotubes (CNTs), nanosheets, nanowires, and nanoparticles) are widely used in flexible sensor fabrication as conducting nanofillers [55].

There are two strategies to obtain flexible and stretchable sensors. The first one is to exploit intrinsically flexible/stretchable materials, and the other is to use a structural design strategy. To fabricate flexible and wearable sensors, a variety of nanomaterials have been utilized such as carbon-based nanomaterials and metallic nanomaterials. Intrinsic stretchability/flexibility in the sensor platform is achieved by integrating these conductive fillers into the flexible materials [126]. This stretchable and flexible sensor system can be developed by using different synthesis methods such as mixing elastomeric substrate with conductive fillers, surface coating, deposition, and printing processes [119]. These methods are conducted to the distribution of conductive fillers homogenously in the elastomeric materials. The ultimate goal is to obtain flexible and stretchable composite sensors in whole processes. Moreover, materials designed with appropriate geometries such as serpentine, percolating network, kirigami, and wave/wrinkle enable the transforming nonstretchable materials into the fabrication of stretchable structure materials [30, 137]. For example, the stretchable wavy structure can be obtained by depositing or transferring metallic materials [119, 127].

Evaluating the performance of the fabricated flexible sensor system is also important to obtaining reliable healthcare monitoring systems. In order to fabricate a flexible and wearable sensor system with high performance, some parameters such as sensitivity, linearity, hysteresis, response time, and stability should be taken into consideration. Electromechanical characterization is generally carried out to determine the suitability of these parameters for flexible and wearable sensors [51]. Different characterization methods such as transmission electron microscopy (TEM), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), X-ray diffraction (XRD) analysis, Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectrometer, and atomic force microscopy (AFM) are also exploited to display photographs of materials' nanostructure, structure sensing activity, and sensing mechanism [128]. In addition to the characterization and synthesis methods of the flexible and wearable sensors mentioned above, the fabrication of them depending on the application area is an important consideration.

Point-of-care testing which provides patient-centered diagnosis and real-time health monitoring has become a boasting desire recently [73]. At this point, flexible and wearable sensors stand out as a cornerstone for point-of-care testing. These flexible and wearable sensors that can be integrated into the human body enable realtime monitoring and recording of human physiological and biological vital signals for disease diagnosis and health status. These signals produced by the human body such as mechanical, electrical, and biological signals can be related to health indicators [107, 120]. Flexible and wearable sensors can be designed to measure at a variety of health indicators such as body motions, body temperature, pulse rate, electrocardiograms (ECGs), blood pressure, breathing rate, and so on [121].

Yang et al. [125] prepared a novel flexible Ag/CNTs-PDMS composite film for the early diagnosis of Parkinson's disease. This flexible sensor was prepared in three stages. Firstly, CNT film was transferred to the PDMS substrate and transformed the CNT into a wrinkled structure. Secondly, Ag film was deposited upon the wrinkled CNT film by ion sputtering method. Lastly, they assembled the flexible and wearable sensor. Yamamoto et al. [122] developed integrated simple flexible sensor systems sensitive to both electrocardiogram (ECG) signal and skin temperature to monitor health condition change based on ECG signal and dehydration and heat stroke applications. This flexible sensor was developed by using printing technology on a flexible PET film and CNT was used as a conductive filler. Breath sensors that can be attached to human skin are useful flexible materials for the diagnosis of diseases including breathlessness, bronchial asthma, and sleep apnea. Yan et al. [124] developed a flexible AgVO₃-nanowires breath sensor by merging the AgVO₃ NWs with Au-interdigitated electrode on a PI substrate. This sensor system highly sensitive to humidity air shows the resistance change when the human subject exhales and inhales. This flexible sensor system possesses consistency and repeatability to monitor human breath with different respiratory rates, flexible sensor system could offer opportunities early for diagnosing and treating breath related diseases. These potential development of flexible and wearable sensor systems in the fields of point care testing system may provide achieving personalized early diagnosis diseases in the near future.

10 Conclusion and Future Aspects

In this chapter, we have discussed the synthesis and characterization of current nanomaterials and their application in nanomaterial-based biosensors for point-of-care diagnostics. Nanomaterial-based POC test platforms have excellent and promising potential in current clinical diagnostics. However, there are still some obstacles that need to be overcomed, such as high cost, limitations in large-scale applications, relatively low reproducibility, and so forth. The direction of current studies is to develop nanomaterial-based POC testing platforms that overcome these obstacles and provide more effective, reproducible, accurate, and efficient results. We believe that in the very near future, various nanomaterial-based POCT devices will be developed and used in clinical trials.

References

- Abdolahinia ED, Barati G, Ranjbar-Navazi Z, Kadkhoda J, Islami M, Hashemzadeh N et al (2022) Application of nanogels as drug delivery systems in multicellular spheroid tumor model. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol 68:103109
- Adams S, Thai D, Mascona X, Schwartzberg AM, Zhang JZ (2014) Key factors affecting the reproducibility of synthesis and growth mechanism of near-infrared absorbing hollow gold nanospheres. Chem Mater 26(23):6805–6810
- Adil LR, Parui R, Khatun MN, Chanu MA, Li L, Wang S, Iyer PK (2022) Nanomaterials for sensors: synthesis and applications. In: Advanced nanomaterials for point of care diagnosis and therapy, Elsevier, pp 121–168
- Aftab S, Shah A, Erkmen C, Kurbanoglu S, Uslu B (2021) Quantum dots: synthesis and characterizations. In: Electroanalytical applications of quantum dot-based biosensors. Elsevier, pp 1–35
- AkbaráAshkarran A, MostafaáAkbari S, RezaáHormozi-Nezhad M (2015) Determination of nanoparticles using UV-Vis spectra. Nanoscale 7(12):5134–5139
- Al-Kassawneh M, Sadiq Z, Jahanshahi-Anbuhi S (2022) Pullulan-stabilized gold nanoparticles tablet as a nanozyme sensor for point-of-care applications. Sens. Bio-Sens. Res. 38:100526
- Al-Kutubi H, Dikhtiarenko A, Zafarani HR, Sudhölter EJ, Gascon J, Rassaei L (2015) Facile formation of ZIF-8 thin films on ZnO nanorods. CrystEngComm 17(29):5360–5364
- Alabsi SS, Ahmed AY, Dennis JO, Khir MM, Algamili A (2020) A review of carbon nanotubes field effect-based biosensors. IEEE Access 8:69509–69521
- 9. Amirthalingam T, Kalirajan J, Chockalingam A (2011) Use of silica-gold core shell structured nanoparticles for targeted drug delivery system. J Nanomed Nanotechnol 2(6)
- Annamalai J, Murugan P, Ganapathy D, Nallaswamy D, Atchudan R, Arya S et al (2022) Synthesis of various dimensional metal organic frameworks (MOFs) and their hybrid composites for emerging applications—A review. Chemosphere, 134184
- 11. Averitt R, Sarkar D, Halas N (1997) Plasmon resonance shifts of Au-coated Au₂S nanoshells: insight into multicomponent nanoparticle growth. Phys Rev Lett 78(22):4217
- Azhar MR, Abid HR, Tade MO, Periasamy V, Sun H, Wang S (2018) Cascade applications of robust MIL-96 metal organic frameworks in environmental remediation: proof of concept. Chem Eng J 341:262–271
- Bao H, Bihr T, Smith A-S, Taylor RNK (2014) Facile colloidal coating of polystyrene nanospheres with tunable gold dendritic patches. Nanoscale 6(8):3954–3966
- Bhaladhare S, Bhattacharjee S (2022) Chemical, physical, and biological stimuli-responsive nanogels for biomedical applications (mechanisms, concepts, and advancements): a review. Int J Biol Macromol
- Bhaskar S, Rai A, Ganesh KM, Reddy R, Reddy N, Ramamurthy SS (2022) Sericinbased bio-inspired nano-engineering of heterometallic AgAu nanocubes for attomolar mefenamic acid sensing in the mobile phone-based surface plasmon-coupled interface. Langmuir 38(39):12035–12049
- Biemmi E, Christian S, Stock N, Bein T (2009) High-throughput screening of synthesis parameters in the formation of the metal-organic frameworks MOF-5 and HKUST-1. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 117(1–2):111–117
- Biju V (2014) Chemical modifications and bioconjugate reactions of nanomaterials for sensing, imaging, drug delivery and therapy. Chem Soc Rev 43(3):744–764
- Cao X, Chen W, Zhao P, Yang Y, Yu D-G (2022) Electrospun porous nanofibers: poreforming mechanisms and applications for photocatalytic degradation of organic pollutants in wastewater. Polymers 14(19):3990
- Che H, Yuan J (2022) Recent advances in electrospinning supramolecular systems. J Mater Chem B 10(1):8–19
- Chen X, Li R, Wong SHD, Wei K, Cui M, Chen H et al (2019) Conformational manipulation of scale-up prepared single-chain polymeric nanogels for multiscale regulation of cells. Nat Commun 10(1):2705
- Chen X, Liu X, Zhang C, Meng H, Liu B, Wei X (2022) A rapid fluorescent aptasensor for point-of-care detection of C-reactive protein. Talanta 249:123661
- 22. Chen X, Xu J, Li Y, Zhang L, Bi N, Gou J et al (2023) A novel intelligently integrated MOF-based ratio fluorescence sensor for ultra-sensitive monitoring of TC in water and food samples. Food Chem 405:134899
- 23. Cheng Y, Li Z, Gao J, Yu H-D, Zhang G (2022) Introduction to flexible nanomaterials: microscopic mechanisms and macroscopic applications. Nanoscale Adv 4(7):1716–1717
- 24. Colombo M, Carregal-Romero S, Casula MF, Gutiérrez L, Morales MP, Böhm IB et al (2012) Biological applications of magnetic nanoparticles. Chem Soc Rev 41(11):4306–4334
- Culver HR, Wechsler ME, Peppas NA (2018) Label-free detection of tear biomarkers using hydrogel-coated gold nanoshells in a localized surface plasmon resonance-based biosensor. ACS Nano 12(9):9342–9354
- Dhawane M, Deshpande A, Jain R, Dandekar P (2019) Colorimetric point-of-care detection of cholesterol using chitosan nanofibers. Sens Actuators B Chem 281:72–79
- Din F, Choi JY, Kim DW, Mustapha O, Kim DS, Thapa RK et al (2017) Irinotecanencapsulated double-reverse thermosensitive nanocarrier system for rectal administration. Drug Delivery 24(1):502–510
- Ding L, Jiang Y, Zhang J, Klok H-A, Zhong Z (2018) pH-sensitive coiled-coil peptide-crosslinked hyaluronic acid nanogels: synthesis and targeted intracellular protein delivery to CD44 positive cancer cells. Biomacromolecules 19(2):555–562
- Drbohlavova J, Adam V, Kizek R, Hubalek J (2009) Quantum dots—Characterization, preparation and usage in biological systems. Int J Mol Sci 10(2):656–673
- 30. Duan L, D'hooge DR, Cardon L (2020) Recent progress on flexible and stretchable piezoresistive strain sensors: from design to application. Prog Mater Sci 114:100617
- Erdem Ö, Derin E, Zeibi Shirejini S, Sagdic K, Yilmaz EG, Yildiz S et al (2022) Carbon-based nanomaterials and sensing tools for wearable health monitoring devices. Adv Mater Technol 7(3):2100572
- Fan Z, Huang X, Tan C, Zhang H (2015) Thin metal nanostructures: synthesis, properties and applications. Chem Sci 6(1):95–111
- Fathi M, Abdolahinia ED, Barar J, Omidi Y (2020) Smart stimuli-responsive biopolymeric nanomedicines for targeted therapy of solid tumors. Nanomedicine 15(22):2171–2200
- Friščić T (2012) Supramolecular concepts and new techniques in mechanochemistry: cocrystals, cages, rotaxanes, open metal–organic frameworks. Chem Soc Rev 41(9):3493–3510
- Fu X, Gou M, Zhang Y, Su H, Zhao H, Liu C, Han J (2022) Simultaneous and visual detection of multiple dopes by an aptamer/AuNPs sensor. New J Chem 46(38):18128–18132
- Gu Z, Biswas A, Joo K-I, Hu B, Wang P, Tang Y (2010) Probing protease activity by singlefluorescent-protein nanocapsules. Chem Commun 46(35):6467–6469
- Guerrero VV, Yoo Y, McCarthy MC, Jeong H-K (2010) HKUST-1 membranes on porous supports using secondary growth. J Mater Chem 20(19):3938–3943
- Guillen GR, Pan Y, Li M, Hoek EM (2011) Preparation and characterization of membranes formed by nonsolvent induced phase separation: a review. Ind Eng Chem Res 50(7):3798– 3817
- Ha M, Lim S, Ko H (2018) Wearable and flexible sensors for user-interactive healthmonitoring devices. J Mater Chem B 6(24):4043–4064
- Hajebi S, Abdollahi A, Roghani-Mamaqani H, Salami-Kalajahi M (2019) Hybrid and hollow poly (N, N-dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate) nanogels as stimuli-responsive carriers for controlled release of doxorubicin. Polymer 180:121716
- 41. Harvey JD, Jena PV, Baker HA, Zerze GH, Williams RM, Galassi TV et al (2017) A carbon nanotube reporter of microRNA hybridization events in vivo. Nat Biomed Eng 1(4):0041
- Hennink WE, van Nostrum CF (2012) Novel crosslinking methods to design hydrogels. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:223–236

- Howarth AJ, Peters AW, Vermeulen NA, Wang TC, Hupp JT, Farha OK (2017) Best practices for the synthesis, activation, and characterization of metal–organic frameworks. Chem Mater 29(1):26–39
- 44. Hu X, Dong S (2008) Metal nanomaterials and carbon nanotubes—Synthesis, functionalization and potential applications towards electrochemistry. J Mater Chem 18(12):1279–1295
- 45. Huang D, Lin B, Song Y, Guan Z, Cheng J, Zhu Z, Yang C (2018) Staining traditional colloidal gold test strips with Pt nanoshell enables quantitative point-of-care testing with simple and portable pressure meter readout. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 11(2):1800–1806
- 46. Jhawat V, Gulia M, Maddiboyina B, Dutt R, Gupta S (2020) Fate and applications of superporous hydrogel systems: a review. Curr Nanomed (Former: Recent Patents Nanomed) 10(4):326–341
- Jin Y (2014) Multifunctional compact hybrid Au nanoshells: a new generation of nanoplasmonic probes for biosensing, imaging, and controlled release. Acc Chem Res 47(1):138–148
- Jouyandeh M, Khadem SSM, Habibzadeh S, Esmaeili A, Abida O, Vatanpour V et al (2021) Quantum dots for photocatalysis: synthesis and environmental applications. Green Chem 23(14):4931–4954
- Justino C, Silva L, Duarte K, Freitas A, Rocha-Santos T, Duarte A (2012) Determination of volatile organic compounds in human breath by optical fiber sensing. Int J Environ Ecol Eng 6(8):541–544
- 50. Kah JC, Phonthammachai N, Wan RC, Song J, White T, Mhaisalkar S et al (2008) Synthesis of gold nanoshells based on the depositionprecipitation process. Gold Bull 41:23–36
- Khalid MAU, Chang SH (2022) Flexible strain sensors for wearable applications fabricated using novel functional nanocomposites: a review. Compos Struct 284:115214
- 52. Kim MW, Park H-J, Park CY, Kim JH, Cho CH, Park JP et al (2020) Fabrication of a paper strip for facile and rapid detection of bovine viral diarrhea virus via signal enhancement by copper polyhedral nanoshells. RSC Adv 10(50):29759–29764
- 53. Kishimura A, Koide A, Osada K, Yamasaki Y, Kataoka K (2007) Encapsulation of myoglobin in PEGylated polyion complex vesicles made from a pair of oppositely charged block ionomers: a physiologically available oxygen carrier. Angew Chem Int Ed 46(32):6085–6088
- 54. Kousalová J, Etrych T (2018) Polymeric nanogels as drug delivery systems. Physiol Res 67
- 55. Lee G, Zarei M, Wei Q, Zhu Y, Lee SG (2022) Surface wrinkling for flexible and stretchable sensors. Small 18(42):2203491
- Lei W, Xie C, Wu T, Wu X, Wang M (2019) Transport mechanism of deformable microgel particle through micropores with mechanical properties characterized by AFM. Sci Rep 9(1):1453
- Li J, Zhu J-J (2013) Quantum dots for fluorescent biosensing and bio-imaging applications. Analyst 138(9):2506–2515
- Li Q, Liu L, Liu J-W, Jiang J-H, Yu R-Q, Chu X (2014) Nanomaterial-based fluorescent probes for live-cell imaging. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 58:130–144
- Li X, Li X, Shi X, Peng M, Lu X (2019) PNIPAM-based colloidal photonic crystals above phase transition temperature and its application in naked-eye glucose-detection. Eur Polymer J 120:109230
- 60. Li ZY, Han L, Meng S, Hu R, Yang YH, Yang T (2022) Target-induced tripedal Gquadruplex DNAzyme for multicolor visual point-of-care testing of biomarkers using Au nanorods-decorated electrospun nanofibrous films. Sens Actuators B Chem 371:132510
- 61. Lim CT (2017) Nanofiber technology: current status and emerging developments. Prog Polym Sci 70:1–17
- 62. Lin AY, Young JK, Nixon AV, Drezek RA (2014) Encapsulated Fe3O4/Ag complexed cores in hollow gold nanoshells for enhanced theranostic magnetic resonance imaging and photothermal therapy. Small 10(16):3246–3251
- Liu S, Su W, Ding X (2016) A review on microfluidic paper-based analytical devices for glucose detection. Sensors 16(12):2086
- 64. Liu X, Gao C, Gu J, Jiang Y, Yang X, Li S et al (2016) Hyaluronic acid stabilized iodinecontaining nanoparticles with Au nanoshell coating for X-ray CT imaging and photothermal therapy of tumors. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 8(41):27622–27631

- Luo Y, Nartker S, Wiederoder M, Miller H, Hochhalter D, Drzal LT, Alocilja EC (2011) Novel biosensor based on electrospun nanofiber and magnetic nanoparticles for the detection of E. coli O157: H7. IEEE Trans Nanotechnol 11(4):676–681
- 66. Ma W, Zhang S, Xie C, Wan X, Li X, Chen K, Zhao G (2022) Preparation of high mechanical strength chitosan nanofiber/nanoSiO2/PVA composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering using sol-gel method. Polymers 14(10):2083
- 67. Maddiboyina B, Desu PK, Vasam M, Challa VT, Surendra AV, Rao RS et al (2022) An insight of nanogels as novel drug delivery system with potential hybrid nanogel applications. J Biomater Sci Polym Edn 33(2):262–278
- Mauri E, Giannitelli SM, Trombetta M, Rainer A (2021) Synthesis of nanogels: current trends and future outlook. Gels 7(2):36
- Mayle KM, Dern KR, Wong VK, Sung S, Ding K, Rodriguez AR et al (2017) Polypeptidebased gold nanoshells for photothermal therapy. SLAS TECHNOLOGY: Transl Life Sci Innov 22(1):18–25
- Medina-Rivera M, Cárdenas WB, Erickson D, Mehta S (2022) Gold nanoshells-based lateral flow assay for the detection of chagas disease at the point-of-care. Am J Trop Med Hygiene, tpmd211119–tpmd211119
- Misra SK, Dighe K, Schwartz-Duval AS, Shang Z, Labriola LT, Pan D (2018) In situ plasmonic generation in functional ionic-gold-nanogel scaffold for rapid quantitative bio-sensing. Biosens Bioelectron 120:77–84
- 72. Molina M, Asadian-Birjand M, Balach J, Bergueiro J, Miceli E, Calderón M (2015) Stimuliresponsive nanogel composites and their application in nanomedicine. Chem Soc Rev 44(17):6161–6186
- Mondal S, Zehra N, Choudhury A, Iyer PK (2020) Wearable sensing devices for point of care diagnostics. ACS Appl Bio Mater 4(1):47–70
- 74. Munir MM, Widiyandari H, Iskandar F, Okuyama K (2008) Patterned indium tin oxide nanofiber films and their electrical and optical performance. Nanotechnology 19(37):375601
- 75. Noreen S, Pervaiz F, Shoukat H, Ijaz S (2021) An updated review of novel nanogels as versatile
- 76. Nothling MD, Fu Q, Reyhani A, Allison-Logan S, Jung K, Zhu J et al (2020) Progress and perspectives beyond traditional RAFT polymerization. Adv Sci 7(20):2001656
- 77. Nur Topkaya S, Ozkan-Ariksoysal D (2016) Prostate cancer biomarker detection with carbon nanotubes modified screen printed electrodes. Electroanalysis 28(5):1077–1084
- Oishi M, Nagasaki Y (2010) Stimuli-responsive smart nanogels for cancer diagnostics and therapy. Nanomedicine 5(3):451–468
- Park HH, Srisombat L-O, Jamison AC, Liu T, Marquez MD, Park H et al (2018) Temperatureresponsive hydrogel-coated gold nanoshells. Gels 4(2):28
- Pashchenko O, Shelby T, Banerjee T, Santra S (2018) A comparison of optical, electrochemical, magnetic, and colorimetric point-of-care biosensors for infectious disease diagnosis. ACS Infect Dis 4(8):1162–1178
- Paul KB, Singh V, Vanjari SRK, Singh SG (2017) One step biofunctionalized electrospun multiwalled carbon nanotubes embedded zinc oxide nanowire interface for highly sensitive detection of carcinoma antigen-125. Biosens Bioelectron 88:144–152
- Phonthammachai N, Kah JC, Jun G, Sheppard CJ, Olivo MC, Mhaisalkar SG, White TJ (2008) Synthesis of contiguous silica–gold core–shell structures: critical parameters and processes. Langmuir 24(9):5109–5112
- Pinelli F, Saadati M, Zare EN, Makvandi P, Masi M, Sacchetti A, Rossi F (2022) A perspective on the applications of functionalized nanogels: promises and challenges. Int Mater Rev, 1–25
- Quesada-González D, Merkoçi A (2018) Nanomaterial-based devices for point-of-care diagnostic applications. Chem Soc Rev 47(13):4697–4709
- Rafique R, Baek SH, Nguyen TP, Park KY, Kim EB, Kim JG et al (2018) Gold-copper nanoshell dot-blot immunoassay for naked-eye sensitive detection of tuberculosis specific CFP-10 antigen. Biosens Bioelectron 121:111–117
- Raptopoulou CP (2021) Metal-organic frameworks: synthetic methods and potential applications. Materials 14(2):310

- Rathinavel S, Priyadharshini K, Panda D (2021) A review on carbon nanotube: an overview of synthesis, properties, functionalization, characterization, and the application. Mater Sci Eng B 268:115095
- Ren Z, Qi D, Sonar P, Wei Z (2020) Flexible sensors based on hybrid materials. J Semiconduct 41(4):040402-040402-040402
- 89. Rodenas T, Luz I, Prieto G, Seoane B, Miro H, Corma A et al (2015) Metal–organic framework nanosheets in polymer composite materials for gas separation. Nat Mater 14(1):48–55
- Saleh TA (2020) Nanomaterials: classification, properties, and environmental toxicities. Environ Technol Innov 20:101067
- 91. Sari E (2022) Synthesis and characterization of high quantum yield graphene quantum dots via pyrolysis of glutamic acid and aspartic acid. J Nanopart Res 24(2):37
- 92. Schneider R, Facure MH, Chagas PA, Andre RS, dos Santos DM, Correa DS (2021) Tailoring the surface properties of micro/nanofibers using 0d, 1d, 2d, and 3d nanostructures: a review on post-modification methods. Adv Mater Interfaces 8(13):2100430
- Sharmila S, Shankaran DR (2022) Plasmonic nanogels for naked-eye sensing of food adulterants. Anal Methods 14(45):4703–4712
- Sindhu RK, Gupta R, Wadhera G, Kumar P (2022) Modern herbal nanogels: formulation, delivery methods, and applications. Gels 8(2):97
- 95. Soni KS, Desale SS, Bronich TK (2016) Nanogels: an overview of properties, biomedical applications and obstacles to clinical translation. J Control Release 240:109–126
- 96. Srinivasan B, Nanus DM, Erickson D, Mehta S (2021) Highly portable quantitative screening test for prostate-specific antigen at point of care. Curr Res Biotechnol 3:288–299
- Stassen I, Styles M, Grenci G, Gorp HV, Vanderlinden W, Feyter SD et al (2016) Chemical vapour deposition of zeolitic imidazolate framework thin films. Nat Mater 15(3):304–310
- Sun Z, Qing M, Fan YZ, Yan H, Li NB, Luo HQ (2022) Quadruple analyte responsive platform: point-of-care testing and multi-coding logic computation based on metal ions recognition and selective response. J Hazard Mater 437:129331
- Syedmoradi L, Daneshpour M, Alvandipour M, Gomez FA, Hajghassem H, Omidfar K (2017) Point of care testing: the impact of nanotechnology. Biosens Bioelectron 87:373–387
- Takaloo S, Zand MM (2021) Wearable electrochemical flexible biosensors: With the focus on affinity biosensors. Sens Bio-Sens Res 32:100403
- 101. Tran H, Piro B, Reisberg S, Tran L, Duc H, Pham M (2013) Label-free and reagentless electrochemical detection of microRNAs using a conducting polymer nanostructured by carbon nanotubes: Application to prostate cancer biomarker miR-141. Biosens Bioelectron 49:164–169
- 102. Tung NT, Tue PT, Thi Ngoc Lien T, Ohno Y, Maehashi K, Matsumoto K et al (2017) Peptide aptamer-modified single-walled carbon nanotube-based transistors for high-performance biosensors. Sci Rep 7(1):17881
- 103. Ullah A, Lim SI (2022) Nanogels: update on the methods of synthesis and applications for cardiovascular and neurological complications. J Drug Deliv Sci Technol 103879
- 104. Valizadeh A, Mikaeili H, Samiei M, Farkhani SM, Zarghami N, Kouhi M et al (2012) Quantum dots: synthesis, bioapplications, and toxicity. Nanoscale Res Lett 7:1–14
- 105. Van Enter BJ, Von Hauff E (2018) Challenges and perspectives in continuous glucose monitoring. Chem Commun 54(40):5032–5045
- 106. Wang C, Xu H, Liang C, Liu Y, Li Z, Yang G et al (2013) Iron oxide@ polypyrrole nanoparticles as a multifunctional drug carrier for remotely controlled cancer therapy with synergistic antitumor effect. ACS Nano 7(8):6782–6795
- 107. Wang H, Li S, Lu H, Zhu M, Liang H, Wu X, Zhang Y (2023) Carbon-based flexible devices for comprehensive health monitoring. Small Methods, 2201340
- Wang H, Lin M, Chen D, Dong Z, Yang Z, Zhang J (2018) Research on the rheological properties of cross-linked polymer microspheres with different microstructures. Powder Technol 331:310–321
- 109. Wang H, Sugiarto S, Li T, Ang WH, Lee C, Pastorin G (2016) Advances in nanomaterials and their applications in point of care (POC) devices for the diagnosis of infectious diseases. Biotechnol Adv 34(8):1275–1288

- 110. Wang J, Zhang S, Cao H, Ma J, Huang L, Yu S et al (2022) Water purification and environmental remediation applications of carbonaceous nanofiber-based materials. J Clean Prod 331:130023
- 111. Wang L, Xu D, Gao J, Chen X, Duo Y, Zhang H (2020) Semiconducting quantum dots: modification and applications in biomedical science. Sci China Mater 63(9):1631–1650
- 112. Wang S-G, Jiang X, Chen P-C, Yu A-G, Huang X-J (2012) Preparation of coaxial-electrospun poly [bis (p-methylphenoxy)] phosphazene nanofiber membrane for enzyme immobilization. Int J Mol Sci 13(11):14136–14148
- 113. Wang X, Li F, Guo Y (2020) Recent trends in nanomaterial-based biosensors for point-of-care testing. Front Chem 8:586702
- 114. Wang Y, Qian W, Tan Y, Ding S, Zhang H (2007) Direct electrochemistry and electroanalysis of hemoglobin adsorbed in self-assembled films of gold nanoshells. Talanta 72(3):1134–1140
- 115. Wegner KD, Hildebrandt N (2015) Quantum dots: bright and versatile in vitro and in vivo fluorescence imaging biosensors. Chem Soc Rev 44(14):4792–4834
- 116. Williams RM, Lee C, Heller DA (2018) A fluorescent carbon nanotube sensor detects the metastatic prostate cancer biomarker uPA. ACS Sens 3(9):1838–1845
- 117. Wu C, Yu C, Chu M (2011) A gold nanoshell with a silica inner shell synthesized using liposome templates for doxorubicin loading and near-infrared photothermal therapy. Int J Nanomed 807–813
- 118. Wu C, Zhi Z, Duan M, Sun J, Jiang H, Pang J (2023) Insights into the formation of carboxymethyl chitosan-nisin nanogels for sustainable antibacterial activity. Food Chem 402:134260
- Wu S, Peng S, Yu Y, Wang CH (2020) Strategies for designing stretchable strain sensors and conductors. Adv Mater Technol 5(2):1900908
- Xiang L, Zeng X, Xia F, Jin W, Liu Y, Hu Y (2020) Recent advances in flexible and stretchable sensing systems: from the perspective of system integration. ACS Nano 14(6):6449–6469
- Xu K, Lu Y, Takei K (2021) Flexible hybrid sensor systems with feedback functions. Adv Func Mater 31(39):2007436
- 122. Yamamoto Y, Yamamoto D, Takada M, Naito H, Arie T, Akita S, Takei K (2017) Efficient skin temperature sensor and stable gel-less sticky ECG sensor for a wearable flexible healthcare patch. Adv Healthcare Mater 6(17):1700495
- 123. Yan J, Zhang J, Zhang M, Shi G (2022) Lanthanide metal-organic framework as a paper strip sensor for visual detection of sulfonamide with smartphone-based point-of-care platform. Talanta 237:122920
- 124. Yan Z, Zhang S, Gao M, Zhu Z, Li J, Huang Z et al (2023) Ultrasensitive and wide-rangedetectable flexible breath sensor based on silver vanadate nanowires. ACS Appl Electron Mater
- 125. Yang Y, Luo C, Jia J, Sun Y, Fu Q, Pan C (2019) A wrinkled Ag/CNTs-PDMS composite film for a high-performance flexible sensor and its applications in human-body single monitoring. Nanomaterials 9(6):850
- 126. Yao S, Ren P, Song R, Liu Y, Huang Q, Dong J et al (2020) Nanomaterial-enabled flexible and stretchable sensing systems: processing, integration, and applications. Adv Mater 32(15):1902343
- 127. Yao S, Zhu Y (2015) Nanomaterial-enabled stretchable conductors: strategies, materials and devices. Adv Mater 27(9):1480–1511
- 128. Yoon Y, Truong PL, Lee D, Ko SH (2021) Metal-oxide nanomaterials synthesis and applications in flexible and wearable sensors. ACS Nanosci Au 2(2):64–92
- 129. Yuan F, Xia Y, Lu Q, Xu Q, Shu Y, Hu X (2022) Recent advances in inorganic functional nanomaterials based flexible electrochemical sensors. Talanta, 123419
- 130. Yuan K, Sun Y, Liang F, Pan F, Hu M, Hua F et al (2022) Tyndall-effect-based colorimetric assay with colloidal silver nanoparticles for quantitative point-of-care detection of creatinine using a laser pointer pen and a smartphone. RSC Adv 12(36):23379–23386
- 131. Yuan Z, Han S-T, Gao W, Pan C (2021) Flexible and stretchable strategies for electronic skins: materials, structure, and integration. ACS Appl Electron Mater 4(1):1–26

- 132. Zazoum B, Batoo KM, Khan MAA (2022) Recent advances in flexible sensors and their applications. Sensors 22(12):4653
- 133. Zhang J, Liu J, Wang S, Zhan P, Wang Z, Ming N (2004) Facile methods to coat polystyrene and silica colloids with metal. Adv Func Mater 14(11):1089–1096
- 134. Zhang J, Shi G (2022) Rational design of MoS2 QDs and Eu³⁺ as a ratiometric fluorescent probe for point-of-care visual quantitative detection of tetracycline via smartphone-based portable platform. Anal Chim Acta 1198:339572
- Zhang Y, Yan B (2019) A point-of-care diagnostics logic detector based on glucose oxidase immobilized lanthanide functionalized metal–organic frameworks. Nanoscale 11(47):22946– 22953
- 136. Zhao C, Si Y, Pan B, Taha AY, Pan T, Sun G (2020) Design and fabrication of a highly sensitive and naked-eye distinguishable colorimetric biosensor for chloramphenicol detection by using ELISA on nanofibrous membranes. Talanta 217:121054
- 137. Zhao S, Li J, Cao D, Zhang G, Li J, Li K et al (2017) Recent advancements in flexible and stretchable electrodes for electromechanical sensors: strategies, materials, and features. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces9(14):12147–12164
- 138. Zhu Z (2017) An overview of carbon nanotubes and graphene for biosensing applications. Nano-Micro Lett 9(3):25

Nanoinformatics Applied to Smart Nanomaterials



Lívia V. Luchi, Valentina Nieto Marín, Maria L. R. Macedo, Octávio L. Franco, and Marlon H. Cardoso

Abstract Nanotechnology advances have enabled the development of many nanomaterials. Nevertheless, these nano-sized particles may present some limitations related to their therapeutic properties. To overcome these obstacles, the study and development of smart nanomaterials have grown exponentially. Smart nanomaterials can respond to environmental stimuli and, therefore, could be applied as biosensors, antimicrobials, bioimaging, and drug delivery. Above all, drug delivery systems have shown promising results when it comes to transporting one or more therapeutic agents to their target sites. Considering nanomaterials' importance in the biomedical field, a new research area, called nanoinformatics, has emerged. Nanoinformatics is defined as an artificial intelligence applied to nanomedicine, representing a very promising biotechnological strategy to fine-tune smart nanomaterials. Additionally, nanoinformatics uses the available computational tools to build new approaches for the design of safer and more efficient smart nanomaterials for the successful delivery of diverse classes of therapeutics. In this chapter, we will discuss how nanoinformatics has been applied to smart nanomaterials development.

Keywords Nanoinformatics · Smart nanomaterials · Stimuli · Drug delivery

L. V. Luchi · V. N. Marín · O. L. Franco · M. H. Cardoso (🖂)

Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biotecnologia, S-Inova Biotech, Universidade Católica Dom Bosco, Campo Grande, MS, Brazil e-mail: marlonhenrique6@gmail.com

M. L. R. Macedo · M. H. Cardoso

O. L. Franco · M. H. Cardoso

Laboratório de Purificação de Proteínas e Suas Funções Biológicas, Universidade Federal de Mato Grosso do Sul, Campo Grande, MS, Brazil

Centro de Análises Proteômicas e Bioquímicas, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Genômicas e Biotecnologia, Universidade Católica de Brasília, Brasília, DF, Brazil

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing*, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_2

1 Introduction

Nanotechnology is defined as atomically precise technology, applied at nanometric scales, which range from 1 to 100 nm. It can utilize functional single atoms to submicrometer molecules to form chemical, physical, and biological systems that provide a specific performance. Thus, through controlled and careful manipulation, it is possible to produce functional nanoscale materials with unique properties [66]. These nanoproperties occur due to the quantum effect of the atoms and molecules that constitute a nanoscale system, generating physical and electrical reactions that are controlled by phenomena that also occur in nanometric dimensions. In this context, scientists and engineers have worked together to understand and design nanometric structures to obtain and control desired properties [93].

Due to its many interesting features, nanotechnology has a wide application in different areas, including industry, environmental safety, health, and agriculture by using nanoparticles, nanocapsules, nanotubes, nanospheres, nanochips, and other devices [36–41, 74]. However, nanotechnology operations stand out in the medical field, being used in genetic material sequencing, biosensors, bioimaging, diagnosis, and drug delivery for point-of-care treatments [83]. Thus, nanomedicine has emerged as the specific concept of nanotechnology application for biomedical purposes, aiming to treat or prevent human diseases. Moreover, the nanomedicine research area has led to the development of nanotherapeutics and nanomaterials that exhibit great advantages in clinical results when compared to conventional small drugs, due to their low toxicity, higher bioavailability, and improved pharmacokinetics and therapeutic effect [105].

The nanomaterial's properties mainly depend on its size, shape, and composition. Therefore, it is possible to control its properties by manipulating these features during nanomaterial synthesis, which can be performed with biological, physical, or chemical approaches [49]. To be considered a nanomaterial, at least one of the dimensions must be smaller than 100 nm, which leads to a dimensional classification [9]. Zero-dimensional nanomaterials have all their dimensions at the nanoscale, such as quantum dots and spherical or cubic nanomaterials. One-dimensional nanomaterials have only one non-nanoscale dimension, including metallic filaments, nanotubes, and nanofibers. Two-dimensional nanomaterials have two non-nanoscale dimensions, including nanoplates, thin films, and nanocoating. Finally, three-dimensional materials have various dimensions higher than 100 nm, such as fibers, polycrystals, and nanotubes [79]. Additionally, nanomaterials can also be categorized based on their chemical composition, being classified mainly as carbonaceous, metallic, dendrimers, and composites [44].

Among the applications of nanomaterials in nanomedicine, their use for drug delivery stands out, aiming to release a drug at the target site for a specific treatment. To improve this method, it is possible that the nanoparticles only release the drug at the target site when they receive some stimulus from the environment, which can be physicochemical, biological, thermal, or electrical stimuli [49]. This responsiveness seems to be very important, since both conventional drugs and common

nanotherapeutics, when administered to the human body, can fail in the balance between protecting healthy cells and eliminating pathological cells. Thus, the ability to respond to endogenous or exogenous stimuli classifies these therapeutics as smart nanomaterials, which can perform more accurate and effective treatments with less nonspecific toxicity [105].

Smart nanomaterials are nanoparticulate systems that exhibit shape, color, texture, density, stiffness, and toughness variations in response to specific stimuli, such as changes in temperature, pressure, electric and magnetic fields, chemical concentration, moisture, ionic strength, pH, and stress [82]. Their selective action on specific tissues enables greater therapeutic potential and higher immunological tolerance, reducing side effects in treatments for infectious diseases or cancer [88]. Therefore, smart nanomaterials have been properly used for numerous nanomedical applications, including drug delivery, imaging, tissue engineering, and disease diagnostics [3, 84], as shown in Table 1. Their high performance in nanomedicine research, diagnosis, and therapy has driven large investments in this nanotechnology field. Accordingly, different types of smart nanomaterials (Fig. 1) have been synthesized, presenting wide variations in their material compositions, formats, and physicochemical properties that make each one suitable for specific applications [67].

It is worth noting that, when administered to biological systems, even small variations in smart nanomaterials' properties can induce drastic modifications in their primary biomedical function, in addition to creating toxicity profiles for the organism. Therefore, before the clinical use of smart nanomaterials, it is crucial to ensure they are safe enough and maintain their expected functions and properties throughout their life cycle in the human body [100]. With this purpose, the nanoinformatics research field has emerged, for understanding the interaction mechanisms between smart nanomaterials and the biological system more profoundly, integrating the use of computational tools for the management of data intrinsic to the nanomaterial, including its structure and properties, along with system data [90]. Nanoinformatics is applied not only for simulating interactions but is also widely used for structural, chemical, and behavioral prediction of nanomaterials, managing raw data collected

Smart nanomaterial type	Properties/functionalities	Application	References
Metallic nanomaterial	Magnetic hyperthermia, kinetic magnetic activation	Antimicrobial, drug delivery, bioimaging	[22] [4]
Liposomes	Encapsulate the drug	Drug delivery	[3]
Dendrimers	Well-defined structure, high surface area	Drug delivery	[46]
Quantum dots	Optical and electronic properties, high loading capacity	Bioimaging, diagnostics, drug delivery	[91] [45]
Carbon nanotubes	Strong structure, high surface area	Tissue engineering, drug delivery	[107] [84]

Table 1 An overview of smart nanomaterials and their nanomedicine applications



Fig. 1 Illustrative representation of the smart nanomaterials mentioned in the main text and some of the stimuli they can be responsive to

about them, and analyzing their biomedical application data. Thus, the use of nanoinformatics accelerates the research and design of new smart nanomaterials, enabling their faster inclusion in clinical practice [21].

In this context, this chapter presents the computational tools used in nanoinformatics and examines how they can be applied in the context of developing smart nanomaterials, aiming at the design of increasingly technological and safe nanomedical approaches.

2 An Overview of Nanoinformatics in the Context of Nanomedicine and the Development of Smart Nanomaterials

The advent of smart nanomaterials was achieved due to advances in nanotechnology, a growing field of study that is receiving increasing attention and investment. It is mainly based on the research and application of extremely small structures, in nanometric dimensions. Although nanotechnologies can be applied in several areas of knowledge, their use in human health, called nanomedicine, stands out for its promising results [14]. The nanomedicine field operates by implementing products capable of overcoming the barriers of conventional medicine, enabling higher treatment specificity, and avoiding adverse effects. Among the advantages of nanomedicine, there is the production of drugs based on a generic platform, from

which their functional requirements can be modeled, improved, or replaced. This means that it is not necessary to completely reconsider the medical structure every time one of its functions needs to be changed to achieve a better performance [32].

Associated with this medical improvement, the development of computational methods, among other technological advances, has led to the generation of extremely important data for application in the field of science and health. Thus, several informatics methods can be adapted to bioinformatics and used, for example, to discover new drugs and understand the behavior of cell receptors and protein interactions, besides other nanomedicine approaches [14]. The dynamic nature of smart nanomaterials, due to their responsiveness to external stimuli, emphasizes the need to predict a behavior accurately. Therefore, to ensure their safe administration, it is imperative to obtain a detailed description of the possible biological system's stimuli and the response mechanism performed by the nanomaterials [33].

Aiming for that, with nanoinformatics computational analysis, it is possible to obtain and model physical, chemical, and mathematical parameters that guide the formulation of these nanomaterials [96]. Furthermore, this growing field of computational research uses and adapts the available in silico tools and methods, based on artificial intelligence, to predict the behavior and trajectory in vivo of smart nanomaterials, after being administered for therapeutic purposes [2]. Based on these analyzes, new strategies can be proposed to improve the current nanomaterial performance, increasing application properties such as biocompatibility and therapeutic efficacy [65].

More specifically, to design smart nanomaterials for drug delivery, nanoinformatics is applied to evaluate the complex chemical interactions formed between the nanomaterial and the medicine that will be carried through the human body. Subsequently, the release interactions between the drug and the nanomaterial must also be evaluated, as well as the morphology modifications that may occur in the nanomaterial structure. Additionally, the adsorption between the nanomaterial with membranes and surfaces must be modulated to ensure that the nanomaterial trajectory will not be interrupted by biological barriers and that the drug will be delivered to the target [28].

Among the computational tools applied to accurate smart nanomaterials design, there is machine learning. This approach consists of a broad set of algorithms and mathematical models capable of making specific predictions. It is based on empirical data previously supplied to the computer, which begins to identify patterns in the analyzed information [95]. Machine learning is widely used in nanoinformatics for the description, characterization, and risk assessment of smart nanomaterials. Among machine learning techniques, supervised learning is used to correlate the characteristics of nanomaterials with their respective biological responses. Unsupervised learning, by contrast, identifies data patterns that have not yet been classified, based on its acquired knowledge [81].

In general, to design a specific new smart nanomaterial, with the required properties, another nanomaterial already characterized and available in databases is used as a parameter. Thus, the initial model must be a raw nanomaterial, with fixed parameters, such as structural, mechanical, chemical, electric, magnetic, and thermal properties [95]. These features are used as input into the system to train the computer's knowledge. Aiming at some specific application, the function of nanoinformatics is to predict the new properties of a nanomaterial related to possible changes in its structure or composition [98].

Machine learning operates in the prediction of new nanomaterials for drug delivery mainly through algorithms for the evaluation of different models to identify the one that presents the best performance. First, it is necessary to train the system with a set of raw experimental data already obtained and available in databases. After being trained, it can be used to predict the nanomaterial candidates' properties of interest, performing statistical correlations to define the most appropriate one for a specific application. Furthermore, by knowing the atoms or structures most relevant for the nanomaterial properties, it is possible to modulate specific parameters to improve the model [12].

Additionally, with increasing computational advances, deep learning has emerged as a more advanced prediction method (Fig. 2). It uses a mathematical model called an artificial neural network, which consists of a set of complex nonlinear functions that have structural and functional similarities with the brain neuron network [12]. This algorithm is composed of many interconnected nodes, like artificial neurons, which are organized in many layers. The nodes of the first layer contain the input data about a given problem, such as already obtained properties of a nanomaterial. This information passes through the entire system of nodes, through the hidden layers, until the last layer of nodes has the desired output data [16]. Therefore, using deep learning, a system of artificial neural networks can, for instance, also be used to predict the bioactivity and the release pattern of a smart nanomaterial into a specific environment [96].

3 The Application of Smart Nanomaterials for Drug Delivery

Currently, one of the major focuses of research in the pharmaceutical area is the improvement of drug delivery [50]. This is due to multiple factors, including toxicity problems, instability, and low bioavailability of the currently available drugs [6, 35, 47, 61, 86]. Some examples are the drugs used for chemotherapy or antibiotics. Chemotherapeutics are some of the most cytotoxic drugs, which present multiple side effects once administered. However, these drugs are highly effective in counteracting the growth of cancer cells, making their use very important in the treatment of cancer. Because of this, it is vital to develop vehicles that encapsulate these drugs, so that they can be transported specifically to the desired tissues, avoiding their early degradation and their side effects on other healthy tissues in the body [104].



Fig. 2 Prediction of smart nanomaterials' properties using deep and machine learning. By using the machine learning prediction method, the raw data input goes first through the feature extraction and then through the classification algorithm, to generate the final output. In contrast, using the deep learning prediction method, the feature extraction and the classification algorithm are condensed into just one step, performed by the artificial neural network

Besides, antibiotics present another major challenge, due to two aspects. First, there is great concern about the development of antibiotic resistance due to its misuse, leading to a constant and urgent search for new molecules with antimicrobial properties. Second, as in the case of chemotherapeutics, antimicrobials are highly cytotoxic molecules too, but they are also often highly sensitive to degradation, which rapidly decreases their bioavailability [101]. Therefore, the development of nanocarriers is a critical aspect to improve the smart delivery of antimicrobials, avoiding their degradation, and improving their specificity, thus preventing damage to healthy tissues.

However, although it seems like a simple idea, the development of nano-vehicles for drug delivery enhancement presents major challenges. Among them is the design of such vehicles, which must be thought of as molecules with high area/volume ratios, to increase the reactivity and free energy of their surfaces, as well as their ability to adsorb drugs [56]. To achieve this, the vehicles must be very small in size, to increase the Van der Waals forces of attraction, as well as being made of porous materials (in the case of synthetic particles), which also increases their contact surface [57, 59]. However, these vehicles must also be designed in such a way as to avoid attraction between them, thus preventing their agglomeration and improving their circulation and absorption.

Another feature of utmost importance in the design of such nanocarriers is their chemical stability. This is because a critical point must be found at which the vehicle is stable enough to reach the tissues of interest before degrading, but also capable of controlled release of the drugs it carries to improve drug dosing. This last characteristic is very important for the delivery of chemotherapeutics, for example, since due to their high cytotoxicity, the dosage must be done in a controlled manner. Another major challenge posed by the development of these nano-formulations is the design of particles that, contrary to the drugs they carry, should have low cytotoxicity. This is because the aim is to mitigate the adverse effects of the drugs once they are administered. Therefore, the material from which the particles are made plays a key role in this aspect, as normally non-natural structures that are used as raw material tend to exhibit high cytotoxicity [62].

In summary, the vehicles to improve drug delivery should be (i) small particles that are easily absorbed by the cells, with (ii) high surface/volume ratio, (iii) low reactivity among themselves, but with (iv) high drug absorption capacity, with (v) good stability that allows the tissue of interest to be reached and with (vi) high specificity and that also have (vii) high capacity to release the drugs in a controlled manner and that once the effect is finished, and (viii) present high biodegradability. Finally, the use of nanoinformatics strategies can enhance all these features, as discussed in detail in the next topic.

4 Design of Smart Nanomaterials for Drug Delivery Using Nanoinformatics

Artificial intelligence fields can be applied to nanoinformatics specifically for the safe development of smart nanomaterials for drug delivery. These approaches include molecular dynamics, molecular docking, quantitative structure–activity relationship (QSAR), quantitative structure–property relationship (QSPR), and quantitative structure–toxicity relationship (QSTR) [89].

Molecular dynamics is a computational method used in nanoinformatics to analyze, in a given time interval, the behavior and structural changes of smart nanomaterials when exposed to different conditions and environments [63]. To prepare and run a molecular dynamics simulation, the GROMACS software package is used, which also has analysis tools implemented to evaluate the molecular interactions at the end of the dynamics and to examine the biological relevance of the obtained results [43]. The simulation can predict the behavior and trajectory of each atom in the molecular system during a defined period of time, based on the interatomic interactions that occur between them [70]. Therefore, molecular dynamics simulations can characterize relevant aspects for drug delivery, such as the nanomaterial's behavior and stability in contact with biological tissues, the interactions that occur between the drug during its loading, and the binding affinity to the target cells in the release moment [18].

Molecular docking is another nanoinformatics approach used for developing smart nanomaterials [29]. Among the types of software used for docking simulations, AutoDock Vina stands out for applying a knowledge-based scoring function

with Monte Carlo computational algorithms, obtaining higher prediction accuracy. Also, this type of software adopts the Broyden–Fletcher–Goldfarb–Shanno (BFGS) method, an algorithm used for model nonlinear optimization [69]. In the drug delivery context, this approach is applied to simulate the interactions between the nanomaterial, the carried drug, and the target cell. To evaluate these binding affinities, several energy values are obtained during the docking simulation, including electrostatic energy, free binding energy, intramolecular energy, desolvation energy, inhibition constant, and interactive surface [29]. Knowing these predicted energy values, it is possible, for instance, to make specific adjustments to obtain lower free energy at the binding site between the nanomaterial and the drug, aiming at greater stability and efficiency during loading [92].

Also applied in nanoinformatics, QSAR aims to predict the biological and toxicological effects of nanomaterials before their synthesis [90]. Considering the relationship between the structural conformation of a nanomaterial and its functional performance, QSAR uses the available structural information of nanomaterials already synthesized to predict the new nanomaterial bioactivity. Thus, it is possible to design nanomaterials ensuring their expected behavior for a successful application for drug delivery [77]. In the same context, QSPR performs the prediction of the physical, chemical, and biological properties of smart nanomaterials. For instance, QSPR can be used to predict drug solubility, an important parameter for drug release, based on some nanomaterial structural features such as molar refractivity, topological surface area, and McGowan volume [23]. Finally, QSTR is capable of computationally predicting the ecotoxicity and cytotoxicity of nanomaterials under different experimental biological conditions [26]. This toxicity evaluation is one of the most important steps to ensure the nanomaterial can be safely administered for drug delivery in a nanomedical treatment, without causing any adverse effects to the organism [48].

5 The Existing Smart Nanomaterials for Drug Delivery

Due to the nanoinformatics approaches mentioned above, a wide and varied number of smart nanomaterials could be safely developed to act in drug delivery, bringing great progress to the nanomedicine field. To date, drug carriers can be classified into several types according to different characteristics. Some characteristics used for classification are size, shape, and physicochemical properties, among others. The type of material from which the particles are made is one of the most important aspects of particle classification. Thus, roughly speaking, we can say that there are two large groups, "organic" and "inorganic" nanoparticles [17]. This characterization is important when classifying vehicles, since the material they are made of is key to understanding the type of drugs they can carry, as well as the type of treatment for which they might be most effective (Table 2).

Within the large group of organic nanoparticles are those made of lipids such as liposomes, or extracellular vesicles. As mentioned above, liposomes are spherical vesicles composed of a lipid bilayer with water-soluble and lipid-soluble regions, with

e 11 e	6 11		
Drug type	Nanoparticle	Application	References
Vancomycin—glycopeptide	Poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid	Bone transplantation	[103]
	Polycaprolactone	Antifungal therapeutic Bone implantation	[25] [53]
	Apoptotic bodies (Evs)	Intracellular macrophages infection	[15]
	Liposomes	Biodistribution	[102]
L9—AMP	Silver	Antibiotic and synergism	[24]
Polymyxin—cyclic	Silver		[51]
nonribosomal polypeptide	Liposomes	Permeation	[5]
P13—AMP	Silver	Antibiotic	[31]
Synthetic peptides	Poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid		[58]
	Liposomes		[52]
LL-37—AMP	Carbon nanotubes	Antibiotic	[73]
Doxorubicin	Poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid	Cancer	[20]
	Liposomes		
	Polymeric	Alzheimer's inducer	
Simvastatin	Poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid	Atherosclerosis treatment	[42]
Docetaxel	Chitosan	Cancer	[94]
Epirubicin	Poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid	Cancer	[27]
Daptomycin— lipopeptide	Gold	Antibiotic	[108]
ННС36—АМР	Carbon nanotubes	Cellular differentiation	[99]
PEP—AMP	Gold	Tissue regeneration, signaling	[72]
Indolicidin—AMP	Silver	Toxicity reduction	[30]
Esc(1-21)—AMP	Gold	Antibiofilm	[19]

 Table 2
 An overview of the most representative examples of organic and inorganic nanoparticles containing various types of drugs for different biological applications

an aqueous solution core. Further, extracellular vesicles (EVs) could be considered liposomes, but unlike these, which can be synthetic, EVs are released naturally by cells. Therefore, EVs tend to be more complex structures because they contain a greater diversity of membrane lipids and proteins, as well as molecules from the cell of origin. These types of vehicles have the advantage of greater biocompatibility with tissues, which is very attractive when very small molecules or molecules sensitive to degradation and with high cytotoxicity are to be transported [56]. One of the most famous treatments developed so far for the treatment of cancer is doxorubicin (Doxil), a chemotherapeutic nano-encapsulated in liposomes, created by Johnson & Johnson's Ben Venue laboratories [13]. This drug is an antibiotic that, when encapsulated in liposomes, drastically decreases its cardiotoxicity and increases its specificity. This is also very successful in treating ovarian cancer, myeloma, and HIV-related tumors such as Kaposi's sarcoma.

Other types of organic vesicles are those made of synthetic and natural polymers, such as poly (lactic-co-glycolic) acid (PLGA) and elastin-like polypeptides, respectively [60, 64]. These are highly biocompatible materials, but also very stable and compatible with different types of drugs. Some diseases such as Alzheimer's disease are an important focus for the application of improved drug delivery systems because the blood–brain barrier (BBB) is an additional obstacle that prevents the passage of molecules into the brain. The use of both polymeric and lipidic nanoparticles has been shown to have the capability to overtake BBB endothelial cells to deliver drugs directly into the central nervous system [34]. The number and variety of drugs that have been encapsulated in vehicles to test their ability to overcome the BBB are very large, such as Doxil, Dalagrin, Amitriptyline, Kyotorphin, and Tubocurarine, among others [78]. Many of the drugs used today as chemotherapeutics are hydrophobic, which makes vehicles made from hydrophobic polymers such as PLGA a good choice for use as encapsulating particles.

Regarding the encapsulation of water-soluble drugs, some studies have found low-loading effectiveness in vehicles with hydrophilic lipid cores, such as liposomes or EVs [76]. By contrast, other studies have found high percentages of encapsulation (40–60%) of this same type of water-soluble drug in EVs [15]. Examples of water-soluble drugs are antimicrobial drugs such as vancomycin for the treatment of infections by gram-positive bacteria, and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), which are generally amphipathic molecules. Both types of antimicrobials have been successfully loaded onto different types of organic nanoparticles, from liposomes and EVs to PLGA-based vehicles [1, 8, 11, 54, 75, 80, 85, 87, 97].

Another important aspect when designing smart nanomaterials is the shape they adopt in solution. It has been seen that the shape of the nanocarriers is a determinant of the correct circulation once they are administered. For example, rod-shaped particles tend to have a better orientation [62]. Therefore, depending on the target tissue or cells for treatment, it may be more or less advantageous to design particles with different shapes. One of the biggest hurdles in designing smart particles is how to avoid elimination by phagocytes, especially macrophages of the immune system. It has been seen that most nanoparticles end up in the spleen and liver after they

are administered, due to recognition and elimination by macrophages found in these organs [10, 55].

Typically, the aim is to prevent the particles from being recognized by the immune system so that the charged particles can successfully reach the target site and thus release the drug. For this, it is important to modify the size and shape of these vehicles, because their nanoscale sizes and more elongated shapes prevent recognition by macrophages. Other options are the design of more complex particles, which are recognized by the immune system as its own, by integrating CD47 molecules on their surface or by encapsulating both drugs and complete vehicles in red blood cells [7, 68, 106]. However, in the case of the treatment of intracellular macrophage infections, the objective is the opposite of most treatments. In these cases, the aim is to increase the rate of recognition and phagocytosis of the immune system cells, which is why the design of spherical particles is more advantageous.

The other group is inorganic nanoparticles, which can be magnetic particles of nickel, cobalt, iron, magnetite, and FePt alloys or those made of metals such as silver and gold [71]. One of the major advantages of this type of particle over organic particles is their greater stability and high cellular uptake rate, which makes them very attractive as drug delivery systems. Some of the most common inorganic vehicles used for drug encapsulation are carbon nanotubes and nanospheres, which have hydrophilic properties. However, the use of inorganic nanoparticles for drug delivery enhancement is not as advanced compared to organic vehicles. Even so, given all the smart nanomaterials for drug delivery mentioned above, it is notable that this area of study has received research investments, which should continue, considering the potential application in several diseases that still affect people in modern times.

6 Conclusion

Advances in the nanomedical field have been very important in obtaining nanotherapeutics with increasingly better clinical results, achieving higher therapeutic potential and fewer side effects to the body. This technological progress in nanomedical treatments has mainly been made possible with nanoinformatics, which implemented computational tools in the nanomedicine field. Thus, based on artificial intelligence, the various nanoinformatic approaches have enabled the development of stimulusresponsive nanotherapeutics, called smart nanomaterials, which can be applied in increasingly specialized treatments. Among them, we can highlight smart nanomaterials designed for targeted drug delivery, which carry medicines to specific body tissues more accurately. With in silico approaches, it is possible to make an accurate prediction of the nanomaterial's properties and to understand the mechanism of action it will have in the organism, ensuring a safer and more effective treatment. Thus, research in the nanoinformatics area should be greatly encouraged, due to its high potential for developing and improving nanomedical procedures.

References

- Abed N, Saïd-Hassane F, Zouhiri F, Mougin J, Nicolas V, Desmaële D, Gref R, Couvreur P (2015) An efficient system for intracellular delivery of beta-lactam antibiotics to overcome bacterial resistance. Sci Rep 5(1):13500
- Afantitis A (2020) Nanoinformatics: artificial intelligence and nanotechnology in the new decade. Comb Chem High Throughput Screen 23(1):4–5
- Ahlawat J, Narayan M (2020) Introduction to active, smart, and intelligent nanomaterials for biomedical application. In Intelligent nanomaterials for drug delivery applications, pp 1–16
- Alcantara D, Lopez S, García-Martin ML, Pozo D (2016) Iron oxide nanoparticles as magnetic relaxation switching (MRSw) sensors: current applications in nanomedicine. Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med 12(5):1253–1262
- Alipour M, Halwani M, Omri A, Suntres ZE (2008) Antimicrobial effectiveness of liposomal polymyxin b against resistant gram-negative bacterial strains. Int J Pharm 355(1–2):293–298
- Allen TM, Cullis PR (2004) Drug delivery systems: entering the mainstream. Science 303(5665):1818–1822
- Antonelli A, Sfara C, Mosca L, Manuali E, Magnani M (2008) New biomimetic constructs for improved in vivo circulation of superparamagnetic nanoparticles. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 8(5):2270–2278
- Aparna V, Melge AR, Rajan VK, Biswas, R, Jayakumar R, Mohan CG (2018) Carboxymethylated l-carrageenan conjugated amphotericin B loaded gelatin nanoparticles for treating intracellular candida glabrata infections. Int J Biol Macromol 110:140–149
- Asha AB, Narain R (2020) Nanomaterials properties. In: Polymer science and nanotechnology: fundamentals and applications, pp 343–359
- Ayyagari AL, Zhang X, Ghaghada KB, Annapragada A, Hu X, Bellamkonda RV (2006) Long-circulating liposomal contrast agents for magnetic resonance imaging. Magn Reson Med 55(5):1023–1029
- Baek G, Choi H, Kim Y, Lee H-C, Choi C (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles as therapeutics and as a drug delivery platform. Stem Cells Transl Med 8(9):880–886
- Bannigan P, Aldeghi M, Bao Z, Häse F, Aspuru-Guzik A, Allen C (2021) Machine learning directed drug formulation development. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 175:113806
- 13. Barenholz YC (2012) Doxil[®]—The first FDA-approved nano-drug: lessons learned. J Controll Release 160(2):117–134
- Bayda S, Adeel M, Tuccinardi T, Cordani M, Rizzolio F (2020) The history of nanoscience and nanotechnology: from chemical-physical applications to nanomedicine. Molecules 25(1):112
- Bose RJC, Tharmalingam N, Garcia FJ, Marques UK, Sukumar AN, Zeng Y, Robinson E, Bermudez A, Chang E, Habte F, Pitteri SJ, McCarthy JR, Gambhir SS, Massoud TF, Mylonakis E, Paulmurugan R (2020) Reconstructed apoptotic bodies as targeted 'nano decoys' to treat intracellular bacterial infections within macrophages and cancer cells. ACS Nano 14(5):5818–5835
- 16. Boso DP, di Mascolo D, Santagiuliana R, Decuzzi P, Schrefler BA (2020) Drug delivery: experiments, mathematical modeling, and machine learning. Comput Biol Med 123
- Bukhari B, Naveed M, Makhdoom SI, Jabeen K, Asif MF, Batool H, Ahmed N, Chan YY (2021) A comparison between organic and inorganic nanoparticles: prime nanoparticles for tumor curation. Nano 16(13):2130011
- Bunker A, Róg T (2020) Mechanistic understanding from molecular dynamics simulation in pharmaceutical research 1: drug delivery. Front Mol Biosci 7:371
- Casciaro B, Moros M, Rivera-Fernandez S, Bellelli A, de la Fuente JM, Mangoni ML (2017) Gold-nanoparticles coated with the antimicrobial peptide esculentin-1a (1-21) NH2 as a reliable strategy for antipseudomonal drugs. Acta Biomater 47:170–181
- 20. Chai Z, Hu X, Wei X, Zhan C, Lu L, Jiang K, Su B, Ruan H, Ran D, Fang RH, Zhang L (2017) A facile approach to functionalizing cell membrane-coated nanoparticles with neurotoxinderived peptide for brain-targeted drug delivery. J Controll Release 264:102–111

- Checker VG, Sharma B, Kathpalia R (2022) Nanoinformatics—A newly introduced tool for research. Indian J Biochem Biophys (IJBB) 59(4):431–439
- Cheeseman S, Christofferson AJ, Kariuki R, Cozzolino D, Daeneke T, Crawford RJ, Truong VK, Chapman J, Elbourne A (2020) Antimicrobial metal nanomaterials: from passive to stimuli-activated applications. Adv Sci (Weinheim, Baden-Wurttemberg, Germany) 7(10)
- Chinta S, Rengaswamy R (2019) Machine learning derived quantitative structure property relationship (QSPR) to predict drug solubility in binary solvent systems. Ind Eng Chem Res 58(8):3082–3092
- 24. D'Souza A, Yoon JH, Beaman H, Gosavi P, Lengyel-Zhand Z, Sternisha A, Centola G, Marshall LR, Wehrman MD, Schultz KM (2020) Nine-residue peptide self-assembles in the presence of silver to produce a self-healing, cytocompatible, antimicrobial hydrogel. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 12(14):17091–17099
- 25. de Abreu LC, Todaro V, Sathler PC, da Silva LC, do Carmo FA, Costa CM, Toma HK, Castro HC, Rodrigues CR, de Sousa VP (2016) Development and characterization of nisin nanoparticles as potential alternative for the recurrent vaginal candidiasis treatment. Aaps Pharmscitech 17(6):1421–1427
- 26. De P, Kar S, Roy K, Leszczynski J (2018) Second generation periodic table-based descriptors to encode toxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles to multiple species: QSTR modeling for exploration of toxicity mechanisms. Environ Sci Nano 5(11):2742–2760
- Di-Wen S, Pan G-Z, Hao L, Zhang J, Xue Q-Z, Wang P, Yuan Q-Z (2016) Improved antitumor activity of epirubicin-loaded CXCR4-targeted polymeric nanoparticles in liver cancers. Int J Pharm 500(1–2):54–61
- Duarte Y, Márquez-Miranda V, Miossec MJ, González-Nilo F (2019) Integration of target discovery, drug discovery, and drug delivery: a review on computational strategies. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 11(4)
- El-Bindary AA, Toson EA, Shoueir KR, Aljohani HA, Abo-Ser MM (2020) Metal–organic frameworks as efficient materials for drug delivery: synthesis, characterization, antioxidant, anticancer, antibacterial and molecular docking investigation. Appl Organomet Chem 34(11):e5905
- 30. Falanga A, Siciliano A, Vitiello M, Franci G, Del Genio V, Galdiero S, Guida M, Carraturo F, Fahmi A, Galdiero E (2020) Ecotoxicity evaluation of pristine and indolicidin-coated silver nanoparticles in aquatic and terrestrial ecosystem. Int J Nanomed 15:8097
- 31. Gao J, Na H, Zhong R, Yuan M, Guo J, Zhao L, Wang Y, Wang L, Zhang F (2020) One step synthesis of antimicrobial peptide protected silver nanoparticles: the core-shell mutual enhancement of antibacterial activity. Colloids Surf B: Biointerfaces 186:110704
- Germain M, Caputo F, Metcalfe S, Tosi G, Spring K, Åslund AKO, Pottier A, Schiffelers R, Ceccaldi A, Schmid R (2020) Delivering the power of nanomedicine to patients today. J Control Release 326:164–171
- 33. Gottardo S, Mech A, Drbohlavová J, Małyska A, Bøwadt S, Riego Sintes J, Rauscher H (2021) Towards safe and sustainable innovation in nanotechnology: state-of-play for smart nanomaterials. NanoImpact 21
- Gutman RL, Peacock G, Robert Lu D (2000) Targeted drug delivery for brain cancer treatment. J Control Release 65(1–2):31–41
- 35. Hossen S, Khalid Hossain M, Basher MK, Mia MNH, Rahman MT, Jalal Uddin M (2019) Smart nanocarrier-based drug delivery systems for cancer therapy and toxicity studies: a review. J Adv Res 15:1–18
- Husen A (2022) Engineered nanomaterials for sustainable agricultural production, soil improvement and stress management. Elsevier Inc., 50 Hampshire St., 5th Floor, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA
- Husen A, Bachheti RK, Bachheti A (2023) Nanomaterials for environmental and agricultural sectors. Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd., 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore
- Husen A (2023a) Secondary metabolites based green synthesis of nanomaterials and their applications. Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd., 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

- Husen A (2023b) Nanomaterials and nanocomposites exposures to plants (*Response, Interaction, Phytotoxicity and Defense Mechanisms*). Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd., 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore
- Husen A (2023c) Nanomaterials from agricultural and horticultural products. Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd., 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore
- Husen A, Siddiqi KS (2023) Advances in smart nanomaterials and their applications. Elsevier Inc., 50 Hampshire St., 5th Floor, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA
- 42. Imanparast F, Faramarzi MA, Vatannejad A, Paknejad M, Deiham B, Kobarfard F, Amani A, Doosti M (2017) MZD7349 peptide-conjugated PLGA nanoparticles directed against VCAM-1 for targeted delivery of simvastatin to restore dysfunctional HUVECs. Microvasc Res 112:14–19
- 43. Justino GC, Nascimento CP, Justino MC (2021) Molecular dynamics simulations and analysis for bioinformatics undergraduate students. Biochem Mol Biol Educ 49(4):570–582
- Kabir E, Kumar V, Kim KH, Yip ACK, Sohn JR (2018) Environmental impacts of nanomaterials. J Environ Manag 225:261–271
- Kamila S, McEwan C, Costley D, Atchison J, Sheng Y, Hamilton GRC, Fowley C, Callan JF (2016) Diagnostic and therapeutic applications of quantum dots in nanomedicine. Top Curr Chem 370:203–224
- Kannan RM, Nance E, Kannan S, Tomalia DA (2014) Emerging concepts in dendrimer-based nanomedicine: from design principles to clinical applications. J Internal Med 276(6):579–617
- 47. Kawasaki ES, Player A (2005) Nanotechnology, nanomedicine, and the development of new, effective therapies for cancer. Nanomed: Nanotechnol Biol Med 1(2):101–109
- Kleandrova V, Luan F, Speck-Planche A, Cordeiro M (2015) In silico assessment of the acute toxicity of chemicals: recent advances and new model for multitasking prediction of toxic effect. Mini Rev Med Chem 15(8):677–686
- 49. Kolahalam LA, Kasi Viswanath IV, Diwakar BS, Govindh B, Reddy V, Murthy YLN (2019) Review on nanomaterials: synthesis and applications. Mater Today: Proc 18:2182–2190
- Laffleur F, Keckeis V (2020) Advances in drug delivery systems: work in progress still needed? Int J Pharmaceut: X 2:100050
- 51. Lambadi PR, Sharma TK, Kumar P, Vasnani P, Thalluri SM, Bisht N, Pathania R, Navani NK (2015) Facile biofunctionalization of silver nanoparticles for enhanced antibacterial properties, endotoxin removal, and biofilm control. Int J Nanomed 10:2155
- Lange CF, Hancock REW, Samuel J, Finlay WH (2001) In vitro aerosol delivery and regional airway surface liquid concentration of a liposomal cationic peptide. J Pharm Sci 90(10):1647– 1657
- 53. Le Ray AM, Chiffoleau S, Iooss P, Grimandi G, Gouyette A, Daculsi G, Merle C (2003) Vancomycin encapsulation in biodegradable poly (ε-Caprolactone) microparticles for bone implantation. influence of the formulation process on size, drug loading, in vitro release and cytocompatibility. Biomaterials 24(3):443–449
- 54. Lehar SM, Pillow T, Xu M, Staben L, Kajihara KK, Vandlen R, DePalatis L, Raab H, Hazenbos WL, Hiroshi Morisaki J, Kim J, Park S, Darwish M, Lee B-C, Hernandez H, Loyet KM, Lupardus P, Fong R, Yan D, Chalouni C, Luis E, Khalfin Y, Plise E, Cheong J, Lyssikatos JP, Strandh M, Koefoed K, Andersen PS, Flygare JA, Tan, Eric MW, Brown J, Mariathasan S (2015) Novel antibiody-antibiotic conjugate eliminates intracellular S. aureus. Nature 527(7578):323–328
- 55. Liu Z, Davis C, Cai W, He L, Chen X, Dai H (2008) Circulation and long-term fate of functionalized, biocompatible single-walled carbon nanotubes in mice probed by Raman spectroscopy. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105(5):1410–1415
- Lombardo D, Kiselev MA, Caccamo MT (2019) Smart nanoparticles for drug delivery application: development of versatile nanocarrier platforms in biotechnology and nanomedicine. Fratoddi I (ed) J Nanomater 2019:3702518
- Lombardo D, Kiselev MA, Magazù S, Calandra P (2015) Amphiphiles self-assembly: basic concepts and future perspectives of supramolecular approaches. Adv Condens Matter Phys 2015

- Ma W, Chen M, Kaushal S, McElroy M, Zhang Y, Ozkan C, Bouvet M, Kruse C, Grotjahn D, Ichim T (2012) PLGA nanoparticle-mediated delivery of tumor antigenic peptides elicits effective immune responses. Int J Nanomed 7:1475
- Ma X, Zhao Y (2015) Biomedical applications of supramolecular systems based on host-guest interactions. Chem Rev 115(15):7794–7839
- MacEwan SR, Chilkoti A (2012) Digital switching of local arginine density in a genetically encoded self-assembled polypeptide nanoparticle controls cellular uptake. Nano Lett 12(6):3322–3328
- 61. Mahalingaiah PK, Ciurlionis R, Durbin KR, Yeager RL, Philip BK, Bawa B, Mantena SR, Enright BP, Liguori MJ, Van Vleet TR (2019) Potential mechanisms of target-independent uptake and toxicity of antibody-drug conjugates. Pharmacol Ther 200:110–125
- Mitragotri S, Stayton P (2014) Organic nanoparticles for drug delivery and imaging. MRS Bull 39(3):219–223
- Mollazadeh S, Sahebkar A, Shahlaei M, Moradi S (2021) Nano drug delivery systems: molecular dynamic simulation. J Mol Liq 332:115823
- Muthu MS, Rawat MK, Mishra A, Singh S (2009) PLGA nanoparticle formulations of risperidone: preparation and neuropharmacological evaluation. Nanomed: Nanotechnol Biol Med 5(3):323–333
- 65. Nadikattu RR (2020) The emerging role of nano-informatics in America. SSRN Electron J
- Nasrollahzadeh M, Sajadi SM, Sajjadi M, Issaabadi Z (2019) An introduction to nanotechnology. Interface Sci Technol 28:1–27
- Nienhaus K, Wang H, Nienhaus GU (2020) Nanoparticles for biomedical applications: exploring and exploiting molecular interactions at the nano-bio interface. Mater Today Adv 5:100036
- Oldenborg P-A, Zheleznyak A, Fang Y-F, Lagenaur CF, Gresham HD, Lindberg FP (2000) Role of CD47 as a marker of self on red blood cells. Science 288(5473):2051–2054
- Pagadala NS, Syed K, Tuszynski J (2017) Software for molecular docking: a review. Biophys Rev 9(2):91–102
- Panwar A, Kumar A (2021) In-silico analysis and molecular dynamics simulations of lysozyme by GROMACS 2020.2. Ann Roman Soc Cell Biol 25(6):9679–9685
- Paul W, Sharma CP (2020) Inorganic nanoparticles for targeted drug delivery. Biointegration Med Implant Mater 333–373
- 72. Peng L-H, Huang Y-F, Zhang C-Z, Niu J, Chen Y, Chu Y, Jiang Z-H, Gao J-Q, Mao Z-W (2016) Integration of antimicrobial peptides with gold nanoparticles as unique non-viral vectors for gene delivery to mesenchymal stem cells with antibacterial activity. Biomaterials 103:137–149
- Pradhan B, Guha D, Murmu KC, Sur A, Ray P, Das D, Aich P (2017) Comparative efficacy analysis of anti-microbial peptides, LL-37 and Indolicidin upon conjugation with CNT, in human monocytes. J Nanobiotechnol 15(1):1–16
- 74. Pramanik PKD, Solanki A, Debnath A, Nayyar A, El-Sappagh S, Kwak KS (2020) Advancing modern healthcare with nanotechnology, nanobiosensors, and internet of nano things: taxonomies, applications, architecture, and challenges. IEEE Access 8:65230–65266
- Pujol-Autonell I, Serracant-Prat A, Cano-Sarabia M, Ampudia RM, Rodriguez-Fernandez S, Sanchez A, Izquierdo C, Stratmann T, Puig-Domingo M, Maspoch D, Verdaguer J, Vives-Pi M (2015) Use of autoantigen-loaded phosphatidylserine-liposomes to arrest autoimmunity in type 1 diabetes. Plos One 10(6):e0127057
- Pumerantz A, Muppidi K, Agnihotri S, Guerra C, Venketaraman V, Wang J, Betageri G (2011) Preparation of liposomal vancomycin and intracellular killing of meticillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). Int J Antimicrob Agents 37(2):140–144
- 77. Qi R, Pan Y, Cao J, Jia Z, Jiang J (2020) The cytotoxicity of nanomaterials: modeling multiple human cells uptake of functionalized magneto-fluorescent nanoparticles via nano-QSAR. Chemosphere 249:126175
- Roney C, Kulkarni P, Arora V, Antich P, Bonte F, Wu A, Mallikarjuana NN, Manohar S, Liang H-F, Kulkarni AR, Sung H-W, Sairam M, Aminabhavi TM (2005) Targeted nanoparticles for

drug delivery through the blood-brain barrier for Alzheimer's disease. J Controll Release 108(2):193-214

- Saleh TA (2020) Nanomaterials: classification, properties, and environmental toxicities. Environ Technol Innov 20:101067
- Sanches BC, Pecoraro CA, Rocha JG, Bedoya M, Luiz V, da Silva P, da Silva B, Fusco-Almeida AM, Chorilli M, Contiero J, Crusca E, Marchetto R (2021) Rhamnolipid-based liposomes as promising nano-carriers for enhancing the antibacterial activity of peptides derived from bacterial toxin-antitoxin systems. Int J Nanomed 16:925–939
- Scott-Fordsmand JJ, Amorim MJB (2023) Using machine learning to make nanomaterials sustainable. Sci Total Environ 859:160303
- Shah RA, Frazar EM, Hilt JZ (2020) Recent developments in stimuli-responsive nanomaterials and their bionanotechnology applications. Curr Opin Chem Eng 30:103–111
- Sharma PK, Dorlikar S, Rawat P, Malik V, Vats N, Sharma M, Rhyee JS, Kaushik AK (2021) Nanotechnology and its application: a review. Nanotechnol Cancer Manag 1–33
- 84. Singh AK, Yadav TP, Pandey B, Gupta V, Singh SP (2019) Engineering nanomaterials for smart drug release: recent advances and challenges. In: Applications of targeted nano drugs and delivery systems: nanoscience and nanotechnology in drug delivery, pp 411–449
- Sousa MGC, Rezende TMB, Franco OL (2021) Nanofibers as drug-delivery systems for antimicrobial peptides. Drug Discov Today 26(8):2064–2074
- Sowjanya M, Rao CV, Srinivasa Babu P, Pallavi K (2017) Osmotic drug delivery systems: a review. Res Gate
- Teixeira MC, Carbone C, Sousa MC, Espina M, Garcia ML, Sanchez-Lopez E, Souto EB (2020) Nanomedicines for the delivery of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). Nanomaterials 10(3)
- Thangudu S (2020) Next generation nanomaterials: smart nanomaterials, significance, and biomedical applications. Appl Nanomater Hum Health 287–312
- Tsukanov AA, Turk B, Vasiljeva O, Psakhie SG (2022) Computational indicator approach for assessment of nanotoxicity of two-dimensional nanomaterials. Nanomaterials 12(4):650
- Varsou DD, Afantitis A, Tsoumanis A, Melagraki G, Sarimveis H, Valsami-Jones E, Lynch I (2019) A safe-by-design tool for functionalized nanomaterials through the Enalos Nanoinformatics Cloud platform. Nanoscale Adv 1(2):706–718
- Volkov Y (2015) Quantum dots in nanomedicine: recent trends, advances and unresolved issues. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 468(3):419–427
- Wang C, Yu Y, Irfan M, Xu B, Li J, Zhang L, Qin Z, Yu C, Liu H, Su X (2020) Rational design of DNA framework-based hybrid nanomaterials for anticancer drug delivery. Small 16(44):2002578
- 93. Wang G (2018) Nanotechnology: the new features
- Wang H, She Y, Chu C, Liu H, Jiang S, Sun M, Jiang S (2015) Preparation, antimicrobial and release behaviors of nisin-poly (Vinyl Alcohol)/wheat gluten/ZrO2 nanofibrous membranes. J Mater Sci 50(14):5068–5078
- 95. Wang M, Wang T, Cai P, Chen X (2019) Nanomaterials discovery and design through machine learning. Small Methods 3(5):1900025
- Wang W, Ye Z, Gao H, Ouyang D (2021) Computational pharmaceutics—A new paradigm of drug delivery. J Control Release 338:119–136
- Were LM, Bruce BD, Michael Davidson P, Weiss J (2003) Size, stability, and entrapment efficiency of phospholipid nanocapsules containing polypeptide antimicrobials. J Agric Food Chem 51(27):8073–8079
- Winkler DA (2020) Role of artificial intelligence and machine learning in nanosafety. Small 16(36):2001883
- 99. Xu M, Li Q, Fang Z, Jin M, Zeng Q, Huang G, Jia Y-G, Wang L, Chen Y (2020) Conductive and antimicrobial macroporous nanocomposite hydrogels generated from air-in-water pickering emulsions for neural stem cell differentiation and skin wound healing. Biomater Sci 8(24):6957–6968

- Yan L, Zhao F, Wang J, Zu Y, Gu Z, Zhao Y (2019) A safe-by-design strategy towards safer nanomaterials in nanomedicines. Adv Mater 31(45):1805391
- 101. Yang, Z, He S, Wu H, Yin T, Wang L, Shan A (2021) Nanostructured antimicrobial peptides: crucial steps of overcoming the bottleneck for clinics. Front Microbiol 12
- 102. Yang Z, Liu J, Gao J, Chen S, Huang G (2015) Chitosan coated vancomycin hydrochloride liposomes: characterizations and evaluation. Int J Pharm 495(1):508–515
- 103. Yousry C, Elkheshen SA, El-Laithy HM, Essam T, Fahmy RH (2017) Studying the influence of formulation and process variables on vancomycin-loaded polymeric nanoparticles as potential carrier for enhanced ophthalmic delivery. Eur J Pharm Sci 100:142–154
- 104. Yu X, Ian T, Muqing R, Kayla D, Xing G, Chen Z (2016) Design of nanoparticle-based carriers for targeted drug delivery. J Nanomater 2016
- 105. Zhang C, Yan L, Wang X, Zhu S, Chen C, Gu Z, Zhao Y (2020) Progress, challenges, and future of nanomedicine. Nano Today 35:101008
- 106. Zhang X, Angsantikul P, Ying M, Zhuang J, Zhang Q, Wei X, Jiang Y, Zhang Y, Dehaini D, Chen M, Chen Y, Gao W, Fang RH, Zhang L (2017) Remote loading of small-molecule therapeutics into cholesterol-enriched cell-membrane-derived vesicles. Angew Chem Int Ed 56(45):14075–14079
- 107. Zhang Y, Petibone D, Xu Y, Mahmood M, Karmakar A, Casciano D, Ali S, Biris AS (2014) Toxicity and efficacy of carbon nanotubes and graphene: the utility of carbon-based nanoparticles in nanomedicine 46(2):232–246
- Zheng Y, Liu W, Chen Y, Li C, Jiang H, Wang X (2019) Conjugating gold nanoclusters and antimicrobial peptides: from aggregation-induced emission to antibacterial synergy. J Colloid Interface Sci 546:1–10

Nanomaterials in Lateral Flow Assay



Arash Mohammadinejad, Ghazaleh Aleyaghoob, and Yavuz Nuri Ertas

Abstract Point-of-care devices have garnered the interest of scientists in recent years due to their capacity for on-site, bedside, and in-home surveillance in many fields of the medical, biological, pharmaceutical, and food sciences and industries. These devices can be categorized primarily as either portable or stationary. Due to their simple downsizing, mobility, low cost, and low power consumption, portable devices have attracted a great deal of interest. Recently, lateral flow assays have gained popularity as a portable platform due to the simplicity of strip design and the ability to detect with the naked eye. As inseparable components of lateral flow assay, nanomaterials have played a prominent role in enhancing sensitivity due to their large surface area, ease of functionalization, and tunable physical and chemical characteristics based on size, shape, and composition. The conventional lateral flow approach is an immunoassay in which gold nanoparticles with a unique plasmonic surface property show a red color on the test and control lines to enable qualified detection. This approach, with its quantitative limitations and limited sensitivity, is essential for the introduction of novel nanoparticles. Numerous nanoparticles, including quantum dots, carbon nanotubes, magnetic nanoparticles, nanoenzymes, surface-enhanced Raman scattering nanotags, upconversion nanoparticles, and timeresolved fluorescence nanoparticles, have been utilized in the design of lateral flow assays to date. This chapter focuses mostly on the characteristics of various nanoparticles combined with lateral flow assay and associated transduction method for readout of signals produced by nanoparticles, as well as a critical analysis of the resulting approaches.

e-mail: yavuznuri@gmail.com

A. Mohammadinejad · G. Aleyaghoob

Y. N. Ertas

Department of Biomedical Engineering, Erciyes University, Kayseri 38039, Türkiye

A. Mohammadinejad · Y. N. Ertas (⊠)

ERNAM—Nanotechnology Research and Application Center, Erciyes University, Kayseri 38039, Türkiye

Department of Medical Biotechnology and Nanotechnology, School of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing*, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_3

Keywords Point-of-care · Lateral flow assay · Nanomaterial · Biosensor · Immunoassay

1 Introduction

Point-of-care (POC) devices have attracted unprecedented attention in recent years due to their exceptional significance in the self-testing of biological, food, and pharmaceutical samples, among others, with the benefits of high speed, low cost, sensitivity, on-site, and user-friendly detection. The majority of the success of point-of-care (POC) devices may be attributed to the limitations of established procedures such as liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS), real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) [1]. These approaches mostly suffer from the disadvantages of a lengthy procedure, a necessity for a high level of skill, and costly equipment, which might limit their use [2]. Therefore, scientists have a significant interest in the development and introduction of rapid reactions, simple procedures, inexpensive and individual-centered detection technologies.

Lateral flow assay (LFA), a paper-based approach, may significantly assist the objectives of POC technology for the advancement of home testing. This method enables the qualitative and quantitative detection of a wide range of targets, including proteins, antibodies, nucleic acids, whole cells, toxicants, drugs, etc., on a simple, low-cost platform with a negligible sample volume [3]. The standard structure of the LFA strip (4–6 mm \times 6–7 cm) includes a sample pad, conjugate pad, detection pad (nitrocellulose membrane), adsorbent pad, and backing pad. These components are composed of cellulose, glass fiber, nitrocellulose membrane, cellulose, and polystyrene, respectively [4]. Following the assembly of the sample pad, conjugate pad, detection pad, and adsorbent pad on the backing pad, an appropriate amount of reporter particle-conjugated bioreceptor (antibody, aptamer, or DNA) can be deposited on the conjugated pad for the subsequent operation. The loading of sample onto the sample pad results in the formation of a complex between the target and reporter particle-conjugated bioreceptor, followed by the target's movement toward the adsorbent pad. During the passage of nitrocellulose membrane, the target complex interacts with the detection zone on the membrane including the test line (T-line) and control line (C-line) formed by dispensing bioreceptor of the target (antibody, aptamer, and DNA) and anti-immunoglubin (or complementary nucleic acid strand) on the nitrocellulose membrane, respectively [1]. Depending on the nature of the reporter particle, in the presence and absence of the target, characteristic lines can appear on the T-line or C-line that can be recognized with the naked eve or an instrument.

Despite the numerous advantages of LFA, its application may be limited by several drawbacks. Possibility of nonspecific interactions with the sample matrix in the nitrocellulose pores and saturation of detection zones (T-line and C-line) at high concentrations of analyte, leading to false responses, are downsides of LFA. The

solution to these issues is sample dilution, which may result in decreased sensitivity. Thus, there has been a need for signal amplification, which may be accomplished by combining nanotechnology with LFA technology [5].

Nanomaterials with high surface area, stability, conductivity, and simple functionalization can enhance the detection systems' sensitivity, specificity, reproducibility, repeatability, accuracy, and dependability [6]. The expanding use of nanomaterials in biosensor production has led to the development of portable, miniaturized transduction platforms [7]. Biosensors based on nanomaterials offer ultrasensitive, fast, and concurrent multiple detection of targets, early stage disease diagnosis and on-time therapy, and little sample consumption [8–10]. The development of nanotechnology can facilitate the construction of POC devices, such as LFA or microfluidic devices, that offer tailored molecular detection in several domains, such as food safety monitoring, diagnostic medicine, etc. Due to the significant dependence of LFA development on nanotechnology, this chapter focuses on the nanomaterials used in the design of LFAs. In addition to describing characteristics and critical topics, detection methods and transduction systems are classified based on the nanomaterials' application.

2 Nanomaterials

In recent years, nanomaterials, particularly metallic nanoparticles (NPs), have been widely used in the design of biosensors and POC devices due to their impressive properties, which include a higher surface area to volume ratio (> 10^7 :1) with small size (1-100 nm) compared to macro-sized particles, and inimitable chemical, physical, optical, magnetic, and electrical properties that enable the integration of different transducers with the LFA method [11, 12]. Due to the enhancement of LFA's potential for both quantification and qualification purposes, it has become necessary to use nanoparticles as labels with LFA. In addition to increasing the required sensitivity for quantification detections, this technology can provide signals that can be read by a variety of transducer systems. As depicted in Fig. 1, numerous nanoparticles have been utilized in the implementation of LFA platforms, including gold nanoparticles (AuNPs), which are widely used as label nanoparticles in colorimetry, quantum dots (QDs), carbon nanotubes (CNTs), magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs), nanoenzymes, surface-enhanced Raman scattering (SERS)-nanotags, upconversion nanoparticles (UCNPs), etc. [4, 13]. Table 1 offers an overview of the different nanoparticles and related transduction processes used for LFA signal reading.

2.1 AuNPs

AuNPs have several benefits that increase their applicability in a broad range of disciplines, including healthcare, engineering, the sciences, etc. Scientists are interested



Fig. 1 Application nanoparticles in LFA and possible transduction systems

in the possibility of AuNPs being used in the design of biosensors for diagnosis and therapy, among other uses. These advantages include high safety, redox capability, catalytic behavior, substantial biocompatibility, great conductivity, a high surface-to-volume ratio, surface plasmon resonance (SPR), simple detection of its red color with the naked eye, and simple bioconjugation by antibodies, oligonucleotides, and proteins [51]. Due to the aforementioned characteristics, AuNPs have been predominantly utilized as colorimetric markers for LFAs. In addition, additional approaches, such as electrochemical, SPR, etc., can be combined with LFAs due to the physical and chemical characteristics of AuNPs.

Optical biosensors capable of visual detection of targets with an inexpensive and simple transducer that generates a signal proportional to the concentration of the target. This signal can represent quantifiable changes in the properties of light, such as its intensity, refraction index, and resonance frequency. Nanomaterials can generate light or its variations by transferring electrons between energy levels, resulting in diverse ways such as fluorescence, absorption, colorimetric, luminescence, refractometry, and SPR [52]. Due to the great sensitivity and ease of transduction of signals, which can be conducted with the naked eye, optical detection of LFA signals has been the most often used method in the literature [53]. Due to the straightforward appearance of color on the T-line or C-line, the colorimetric readout has garnered a great deal of attention for inclusion with LFAs, resulting in greater compatibility with the goals of POC devices. Due to the special characteristics of SPR, the application of AuNPs in LFAs has been extensively documented.

Na	nom	aterials	s in Latera	l Flow As	say				
	Transduction	Colorimetric	Colorimetric	Colorimetric	Colorimetric (GLFT) & chemiluminescence (C-mode GLFT)	Colorimetric	Colorimetric	Electrochemical	(continued)
	Detection process	Binding of AuNP (40 nm) to AuNP (10 nm)-antibody	Automatic sensitivity enhancement using KAuCl ₄ and NH ₂ OH · HCl in the presence of AuNP-antibody	Aggregation of oligonucleotide-conjugated AuNPs on the AuNP-antibody	Catalytic activity of horseradish peroxidase (HRP) on the AuNP-antibody for luminol and H ₂ O ₂	Deposition of silver on the AuNP-antibody using hydroquinone	Oxidative polymerization of dopamine on the AuNPs	Conjugation of ferrocene-antibody on AuNPs-labeled antibody	
ssigned LFA based on various NPs	Target	Troponin I	C-reactive protein (CRP)	Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) target nucleic acid	Embryonic antigen (CEA) as tumor biomarker Procalcitonin, (PCT) as bacterial infection biomarker	Ochratoxin A	Zearalenone (ZEN)	Dengue NS1 Protein	
Table 1 Summarized data of studies de	NPs	AuNPs	AuNPs	AuNPs	AuNPs	AuNPs	AuNPs	AuNPs	

le 1 (continued)	T	Detrotion merone	Torrection
	Target	Detection process	Transduction
å	8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG)	1-Evaluation of color of AuNPs-antibody on the T-line (8-OHdG-antibody/antigen) 2-Evaluation of current reduction by capturing free AuNPs-antibody or AuNPs-antibody/8-OHdG on C-line (8-OHdG-antibody)	Colorimetric & electrochemical
Ps	Hepatitis B virus (HBV) DNA	Automatic assay by migration of Au ³⁺ and binding DNA hybridization on T-line resulted in AuNPs formation	Electrochemical
Ps	C-reactive protein (CRP)	Oxidation of Ru(bpy) ₃ ²⁺ -labeled AuNPs and tripropylamine (TPA)	Electrochemiluminescent
°s'	Methamphetamine (MET)	MWCNTs-labeled antibody/antigen on the T-line	Colorimetric
S	Squamous cell carcinoma antigen (SCCA)	Cotton thread immunochromatographic using CNTs@ AuNPs-antibody	Colorimetric
vrphous carbon nanoparticles VPs)	<i>Fusarium</i> mycotoxins (Zearalenone, T-2 Toxin, Deoxynivale)	ACNPs-labeled antibody/antigen captured on T-line	Colorimetric
on dots (CDs)	Zearalenone (ZEN)	Quenching the CD-ovalbumin by AgNPs-antibody	Fluorimetric
			(continued)

Table 1 (continued)				Na
NPs	Target	Detection process	Transduction	nom
CNTs	Chlorpyrifos oxon (CPO)	Difference between activation of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) and CPO-AChE on CNT-modified Screen-Printed Electrode (SPE) T-line on	Electrochemical	aterials in Later
Graphite-like carbon nitride (g-C3N4)	17β-estradiol (E2)	g-C ₃ N ₄ @ AuNPs—antibody/antigen on the T-line	Colorimetric	al Flov
CdTe quantum dots (QDs)	HIV-DNA	Displacement amplification technology between hairpin H1-strand, H2-CdTe QDs, and HIV-DNA	Fluorimetric	v Assay
Core/shell CdSe/ZnS QDs	Fumonisin mycotoxins	Quenching the QDs@antigen by AgNPs or AuNPs-labeled antibody	Fluorimetric	
ZnSe/CdSe core capped with CdS/ $Cd_xZn_{1-x}S/ZnS$ multishell	Human hepatitis B surface Antigen	QD-labeled antibody/antigen captured on the T-line	Fluorimetric	
CuInZn _x S _{2+x} ($x = 1$) capped by ZnS// ZnS	CRP	QD-labeled antibody/antigen captured on the T-line	Fluorimetric	
Silica particles porous loaded CdSe/ CdS/ZnS QDs	CRP	QD-labeled antibody/antigen captured on the T-line	Fluorimetric	
Quantum dot nanobead (QB)	Aflatoxin B ₁ (AFB ₁) and zearalenone (ZEN)	QB-labeled antibody/antigen captured on the T-line	Fluorimetric	
Fe ₂ O ₃ -AuNPs Magnetic nanoparticles (MnGMs)	Aflatoxin B2 (AFB2)	MnGMs-labeled antibody/antigen captured on the C-line	Colorimetric	
$Fe_2O_3-SiO_2$	Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg)	Fe ₂ O ₃ @SiO ₂ -labeled antibody/ antigen captured on the T-line	Magnetometric	
			(continued)	

Table 1 (continued)			
NPs	Target	Detection process	Transduction
Streptavidin-modified magnetic nanoparticles (MNP-SA)	L. monocytogenes cells	Magnetically enrichment of <i>L. monocytogenes</i> through streptavidin and biotin interaction followed by extraction of DNA and detection by AuNP-probe	Colorimetric
Magnetic beads-protein G	Troponin I (cTnI)	Magnetic beads@protein G@antibody/antigen captured on the T-line	Magnetometric
Magnetic beads-COOH	Neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA)	Magnetic beads- antibody/antigen captured on the T-line	Magnetometric
AuNPs@ platinum	Human prostate-specific antigen (PSA)	AuNPs@platinum-antibody/antigen captured on the T-line followed by addition TMB/H ₂ O ₂	Colorimetric
AuNPs@ platinum nanowire	Rabbit IgG	AuNPs@ platinum-antibody/antigen captured on the T-line followed by addition of 3-amino-9-ethyl-carbazole (AEC)/ H ₂ O ₂	Colorimetric
AuNPs@ platinum nanowire	p24 (biomarker of HIV)	AuNPs@ platinum@antibody/ antigen captured on the T-line followed by addition 4-Chloro-I-naphthol/ 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine, tetrahydrochloride (CN/DAB) /H ₂ O ₂	Colorimetric
			(continued)

Table 1 (continued)			
NPs	Target	Detection process	Transduction
Palladium-platinum (Pd–Pt) nanoparticles	Escherichia coli 0157:H7	Pd–Pt-labeled anibody/antigen captured on the T-line followed by addition TMB/H ₂ O ₂	Colorimetric
NaYF4:Yb, Tm@ NaYF4 @Ca ²⁺ upconversion nanoparticles (UPC	Avian influenza virus (AIV)	NaYF4:Yb, Tm@ NaYF4 @ Ca^{2+} -labeled antibody/antigen captured on the T-line	Fluorimetric
Europium-chelate	Phospholipase A2 receptor (anti-PLA2R-IgG)	Europium-chelate-antibody/antigen captured on the capture antibody on the surface of well	Fluorimetric
Reporter-labeled hollow gold nanospheres (HGNs)	Staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB)	HGNs-labeled antibody/antigen captured on the T-line	SERS
Flower-like gold-silver core-shell bimetallic nanoparticles (AuNF@Ag)	β-adrenergic agonist brombuterol (BB)	AuNF@ Ag-labeled antibody/antigen captured on the C-line	SERS
Au@Ag NPs @ two layers of Raman dye 5,5'-dithiobis-(2-nitrobenzoic acid) (Au@DTNB@Ag@DTNB)	Human IgM	Au@DTNB@Ag@DTNB-antibody/ antigen captured on the T-line	SERS
Au nanorod (AuNR)@Raman tags@Au	cThI	Au nanorod (AuNR)@Raman tags@Au-antibody/antigen captured on the T-line	SERS
			(continued)

Table 1 (continued)					
NPs	Linear range	LOD	Real sample	Time (min)	References
AuNPs	0.10–14.27 ng/mL	0.01 ng/mL	Serum samples of patients with myocardial infarction	10	[14]
AuNPs	$0.1-5 \ \mu g/mL$	0.001 µg/mL	Human serum samples	15	[15]
AuNPs	0.1–25 nM	0.1 nM	N.M	20	[16]
AuNPs	GLFT:CEA 10–200 ng/ mL	GLFT:CEA 0.17 ng/mL PCT 10 pg/mL	Whole blood	GLFT: 15 C-mode	[17]
	PCT 10–10 ³ pg/mL C-mode GLFT:CEA	C-mode GLFT:CEA 0.0017 ng/mL		GLFT:30	
	5-200 ng/mL PCT 10-10 ⁴ pg/mL	PCT 0.05 pg/mL			
AuNPs	1-20 μg/L	0.9 µg/L	Wines and grape must samples	20	[18]
AuNPs	0.01-50 ng/mL	7.4 pg/mL	Maize	30	[19]
AuNPs	1–25 ng/mL	0.5 ng/mL	N.M	15	[20]
AuNPs	1–200 ng/mL	Colorimetric: 5.76 ng/mL Electrochemical: 8.85 ng/ mL	Urine	10	[21]
AuNPs	10 pM-2 μM	7.23 pM	Human serum sample	7	[22]
AuNPs	0.01-1000 ng/mL	4.6 pg/mL	Serum	15	[23]
CNTs	62.5–1500 ng/mL	N.M	Human serum, urine, and saliva	30	[24]
CNTs	5-500 ng/mL	3.03 ng/mL	Human serum	20	[25]
					(continued)

A. Mohammadinejad et al.

Table 1 (continued)					
NPs	Linear range	LOD	Real sample	Time (min)	References
Amorphous carbon nanoparticles (ACNPs)	Deoxynivalenol 18.75–600 μg/kg T-2 Toxin 9.375–300 μg/ kg Zearalenone 0.938–30 μg/kg	Deoxynivalenol 20 μg/kg T-2 Toxin 13 μg/kg Zearalenone 1 μg/kg	Maize	×	[26]
Carbon dots (CDs)	N.M	1–2.5 μg/kg	Cereal samples and their products	S	[27]
CNTs	1.0-200 nM	N.M	Human red blood cells (RBCs) sample	5	[28]
Graphite-like carbon nitride (g-C3N4)	0.25–10 ng/mL	0.5 ng/mL	Food samples including fish, prawn, pork, and chicken	10	[29]
CdTe quantum dots (QDs)	1 pM-10 nM	0.76 pM	Human serum	15	[30]
Core/shell CdSe/ZnS QDs	N.M	62.5 µg/kg	Maize flour samples	15	[31]
ZnSe/CdSe core capped with CdS/Cd _x Zn _{1-x} S/ZnS multishell	M.M	0.05 ng/mL	N.M	20	[32]
CuInZn _x S _{2+x} ($x = 1$) capped by ZnS//ZnS	0-800 ng/mL	5.8 ng/mL	N.M	3	[33]
Silica particles porous loaded CdSe/CdS/ZnS QDs	0-6.25 ng/mL	0.036 mg/L	Blood samples	15	[34]
Quantum dot nanobead (QB)	2–300 pg/mL	AFB ₁ 1.65 pg/ mL ZEN 59.15 pg/ mL	Maize extracts	15	[35]
					(continued)

Nanomaterials in Lateral Flow Assay

Table 1 (continued)					
NPs	Linear range	LOD	Real sample	Time (min)	References
Fe ₂ O ₃ -AuNPs Magnetic nanoparticles (MnGMs)	N.M	lm/gn 0.0	Peanut, hazelnut, pistacia, and almond	15	[36]
Fe ₂ O ₃ -SiO ₂	N.M	0.1 pg/mL	Clinical sera specimens	N.M	[37]
Streptavidin-modified magnetic nanoparticles (MNP-SA)	N.M	$3.5 \times 10^4 \text{ CFU/g}$	Lettuce samples	1	[38]
Magnetic beads-protein G	0.01–12.5 ng/mL	0.01 ng/mL	N.M	N.M	[39]
Magnetic beads-COOH	0-100 ng/mL	NSE ng/mL 0.094 CEA 0.045 ng/mL	Serum sample	30	[40]
AuNPs@ platinum	10-200 pg/mL	3.1 pg/mL	Plasma	5	[41]
AuNPs@ platinum nanowire	0.05-10 ng/mL	5 pg/mL	Plasma	5	[42]
AuNPs@ platinum nanowire	0.2-10 ng/mL	0.8 pg/mL	Plasma	20	[43]
Palladium-platinum (Pd–Pt) nanoparticles	$1 \times 10^3 - 1 \times 10^6$ cfu/mL	1×10^3 cfu/mL	Milk	25	[44]
NaYF4:Yb, Tm@ NaYF4 @Ca ²⁺ upconversion nanoparticles (UPC)	LPAI H5N2 10 ^{0.5} to 10 ⁴ EID ₅₀ (50% egg infective dose)/mL HPAI H5N6 10 ^{2.5} -10 ⁵ EID ₅₀ /mL	LPAI H5N2 10 ² EID ₅₀ /mL HPAI H5N6 10 ^{3.5} EID ₅₀ / mL	Oropharyngeal and cloacal swabs	20	[45]
Europium-chelate	0.03-340 mg/L	0.03 mg/L	Human serum	5	[46]
					(continued)

A. Mohammadinejad et al.
Table 1 (continued)					
NPs	Linear range	LOD	Real sample	Time (min)	References
Reporter-labeled hollow gold nanospheres (HGNs)	0.1 pg/mL-1,000 ng/mL	0.001 ng/mL	N.M	6	[47]
Flower-like gold-silver core-shell bimetallic nanoparticles (AuNF@Ag)	N.M	0.5 pg/mL	Swine meat and urine samples	15	[48]
Au@Ag NPs @ two layers of Raman dye 5,5'-dithiobis-(2-nitrobenzoic acid) (Au@DTNB@Ag@DTNB)	0.1 ng/mL-10 µ g/mL	0.1 ng/mL	<i>Mycoplasma</i> <i>pneumoniae</i> (MP)-specific IgM serum	N.M	[49]
Au nanorod (AuNR)@Raman tags@Au	0.1–100 ng/mL	0.1 ng/mL	Serum	10	[50]

N.M.: Not mentioned

Nanomaterials in Lateral Flow Assay

In a straightforward and basic design of LFAs, antibody-conjugated AuNPs were utilized as the detection agent, resulting in sandwich immunocomplex formation and naked-eye detection by capturing antibody-immobilized sites on the nitrocellulose membrane [54]. In addition, colorimetric signals may be measured by using a strip analyzer or intensity image analyzer software. In this simple LFA design, the sensitivity may be enhanced by optimizing the size distribution of the AuNPs. A number of studies have revealed that the diameter of AuNPs significantly affects the sensitivity of AuNPs-based lateral flow immunoassays (LFIA) [14, 55]. In an enhanced design of LFA strips, two conjugation pads containing two distinct sizes of antibody-conjugated AuNPs have been implanted in order to increase sensitivity. The larger AuNPs can be attached to bovine serum albumin (BSA)-antibody, whereas the smaller antibody-conjugated AuNPs are inhibited by BSA [14]. The formation of a complex via BSA-antibody interaction on the T-line leads to the improvement of color and sensitivity by AuNPs with a greater size. Nylated ssDNA can also be used as a connection between AuNPs-streptavidin and AuNPs-labeled antibodies on the T-line or C-line [56]. The in situ increase of AuNPs size (Au deposition) on the Tline or C-line is an additional technique for sensitivity amplification. In the presence of hydroxylamine hydrochloride, the catalytic effect of AuNPs on the reduction of Au^{3+} ions (KAuCl₄) to bulk metal resulted in an increase in the size and sensitivity of AuNPs (Fig. 2) [15, 57, 58].

Additionally, size increase can occur through the formation of aggregation. Bioconjugation of AuNPs with complementary oligonucleotide chains results in the formation of AuNP aggregates [16, 59]. In this design, one set of AuNPs is associated with the amplification probe, while another group is associated with the complementing and detecting probes. Amplification and complementary probes hybridize to generate AuNP aggregates that are caught on the T-line and C-line.



Fig. 2 Automatic sensitivity enhancement using KAuCl₄ and NH₂OH · HCl. Reprinted from [15], with permission from Elsevier

Incorporation of chemiluminescence with colorimetric method is another strategy for enhancement of sensitivity which is done by modification of AuNPs with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) and antibody which enable chemiluminescence and colorimetric by reaction of luminol [17] and chromogenic agents including TMB (3,3,5,5tetramethylbenzidine), AEC (3-amino-9-ethylcarbazole) [60, 61]. Moreover, some nanoparticles such as platinum (Pt) nanowires on AuNPs, can successfully replicate the enzymatic actions on the chromogenic agents, leading to an increase in sensitivity and color on the T-line and C-line [42]. In another strategy, after the formation of red color on the T-line and C-line, silver deposition on the gold nanoparticles lead to the formation of black color resulting in enhancement of sensitivity [18]. In a similar manner, polymeric materials such as polydopamine (PDA) can be polymerized onto the AuNPs, which has the benefits of high color intensity and sensitivity, rapid strip detection, and biocompatibility [19]. In order to improve the sensitivity, the decoration of nanosheets or nanoparticles with AuNPs such as graphite-like carbon nitride (g-C₃N₄) with high surface area, was also performed [29, 62].

Integration of strips with a screen-printed electrode (SPE) covered with bioreceptors on the working electrode portion permits LFA with electrochemical readout. In this configuration, AuNPs may transport redox markers such as ferrocene [20]. Occasionally, simple electrochemical LFA strips may be constructed without the addition of redox-active spices. Current may be lowered in this design by trapping AuNPs-antibody conjugates on the detecting zone, which is the working electrode [21]. In another design, Srisomwat et al. synergically used the advantage of automation, delaying architecture, and electrochemical-based LFA [22]. In this design, following the migration of hepatitis B virus (HBV) DNA down to the T-line and capture by the DNA strand on the T-line, Au³⁺ ions are delivered through a baffle barrier with a delayed rate and captured on the hybridized DNA strands via electrostatic and coordination interactions with the phosphate backbone. Subsequently, an anodic stripping voltammetry (ASWV) test was conducted, and the synthesis of AuNPs resulted in the development of a signal owing to the decrease of Au⁰.

In addition to some advantages of AuNPs such as excellent electrochemical behavior, high surface area, and considerable biocompatibility, due to their small size and faster migration, single-step electrochemiluminescence (ECL) procedure with mixing tripropylamine as the ECL coreactant with the sample solution can be performed. Benefiting from this, labeling AuNPs with $Ru(bpy)_3^{2+}$ enables the formation of sandwich immunocomplexes at the T-line, which generates an ECL signal in the presence of a $Ru(bpy)_3^{2+}$ /tripropylamine (TPA) system (Fig. 3) [23].

2.1.1 Critical Note

Although LFIA strips with naked eye readout have been developed most frequently as the most popular POC device in the diagnosis process, their application may be limited by disadvantages such as qualitative detection, low sensitivity, instability of antibodies, and possible aggregation of AuNPs in serum matrices. Some improvements have been made to improve the sensitivity in an effort to resolve the issues.



Fig. 3 Application $\operatorname{Ru}(\operatorname{bpy})_3^{2+}$ -AuNP-Ab for ECL-based LFA: **a** LFA strips structure; **b** assembling the ECL equipment on LFA strip; **c** mechanism of signal producing. Reprinted from [23], with permission from The American Chemical Society

Several amplification strategies, such as deposition of Au, application of two different sizes of AuNPs, and application of AuNPs aggregates, may appear more complicated than the conventional simple LFA method, but they can be executed in a single stage with greater sensitivity than the conventional method.

Another proposed amplification technique involves surrounding AuNPs with HRP in order to perform a chemiluminescence readout. Despite its high sensitivity, this technique may be limited by a time-consuming procedure, the need for a specific reaction temperature (37 °C), and the instability of enzymes. Therefore, alternatives to enzymes such as Pt nanoparticles are advantageous [63]. Although other techniques that increase the color and visibility of T-line and C-line using silver deposition [18] and polymeric materials [19] can be a valuable alternative to the time-consuming enzymatic technique, LFA production can be made affordable by reducing the number of antibodies required. Distribution of AuNPs on a large surface area increases the signal and sensitivity, but the formation of a large nanocomposite reduces the flow rate along the strip and lengthens the testing time, which may limit the performance of this strategy and the use of membranes with small pore sizes that increase sensitivity.

The incorporation of electrochemical approach with LFA has biocompatibility, affordability, compactness, and downsizing capabilities that are more suitable for POC objectives than optical techniques. This idea is implementable on a miniaturized platform containing a small potentiostat, allowing for quick and on-site detection. Due to their exceptional electrochemical properties, AuNPs may be useful in the development of LFAs based on the electrochemical method. However, certain designs, such as ECL-based LFA, can separate LFA technology from POC objectives. Although this technology combines the benefits of AuNPs with ECL in a synergistic

manner, the installation of certain equipment, such as a charge-coupled device (CCD) camera, may raise the cost of the system and restrict its applicability. In addition, for one-step performance and automation of the detection method on the strip, a wax-printing technique is used to create a baffle or zigzag delayed channel. In this method, merging in the non-delayed flow adjusts the transmission of an enhancement reagent such as Au^{3+} to the detecting zone via delayed and non-delayed channels [15, 22]. This design has a high sensitivity and a low LOD, but its complexity and the oxidation of the Au ions may restrict its use.

2.2 Carbon-Based Nanomaterials

Recently, carbon-based nanoparticles such as carbon nanotubes (CNTs), graphene oxide (GO), and carbon dots (CDs) have been widely used in the design of LFA strips due to their high contrast and dark color, low cost, high safety, simple functionalization, portability, and excellent optical and electrochemical properties. The aforementioned benefits are in accordance with the fabrication of POC systems that aim for immediate, inexpensive, and on-site detection of biological targets such as viruses, proteins, DNA, etc., on a compact and portable platform [64]. Compared to AuNPs, CNTs have a greater surface area with high binding sites that are easily functionalized by bioreceptors, resulting in an increased sensitivity. In addition, because of the high contrast between black and white of CTNs, semi-quantification detection may be performed with the naked eye or quantification detection can be conducted during image processing using gray pixels [24]. In a research using CNTs-labeled antibodies for methamphetamine detection, the sensitivity was determined to be 10 times higher than AuNPs-labeled antibodies [24]. CNTs can also be adorned with AuNPs for the immobilization of antibodies, which combines the benefits of both materials [25]. G-C3N4, a two-dimensional (2D) nanomaterial with chemical inertness, a large surface area, and an inexpensive manufacturing technique, is a strong choice for transporting AuNPs (Fig. 4) [29]. Amorphous carbon nanoparticles (ANPs) are unusual nanomaterials with a size greater than 100 nm and a variety of single- and multi-walled CNTs (MWCNTs). ANPs have benefits such as greater sensitivity creation in comparison to AuNPs, non-toxicity, exceptional stability, simple functioning and conjugation, and excellent contrast in comparison to bright backdrops due to their deep black color. The aforementioned characteristics render ANPs appropriate for use as label antibodies in the manufacture of LFA strips [26]. CDs, as carbon-based nanomaterials, are zero-dimensional nanoparticles that possess biocompatibility, low toxicity, inertness, and photostability. These functions employ CDs commonly in drug delivery [65], imaging [66], biosensor [67], and photocatalyst [68]. Thus, the application of CDs as labels of antibodies may be utilized for LFA technique [69]. In this way, hybridization of CDs with other nanoparticles such as SiO₂ might be a useful label for LFA, since it results in great sensitivity for the LFA approach due to its high stability and considerable fluorescence intensity [69].



Fig. 4 Application of $g-C_3N_4$ in LFA: a synthesis protocol; b detection procedure; c enhancement of signal. Reprinted from [29], with permission from Elsevier

Benefiting from the FRET effect of CDs fluorescence intensity with certain quencher nanoparticles, such as silver nanoparticles (AgNPs), substantial absorption at the CDs fluorescence emission wavelength may occur. Li et al. constructed a strip in this manner by immobilizing a combination of zearalenone-ovalbumin and CD-ovalbumin on the T-line and zearalenone-ovalbumin on the C-line. In this configuration, AgNPs-anti-zearalenone served as the acceptor (quencher) while CDovalbumin served as the donor [27]. In addition to enhancing the optical characteristics of CNTs, their high conductivity also allows them to be employed as the working electrode. Zue et al. developed a concept for LFA employing CNT paper on the C-line and Ag/AgCl ink-painted copper paper as the reference/counter electrode, followed by lamination of the strip. In this approach, BSA-8-hydroxyguanosine on the T-line collected AuNP-anti-8-hydroxyguanosine conjugates. The AuNP-anti-8hydroxyguanosine/8-hydroxyguanosine complexes then moved across the T-line and were caught by anti-Mouse IgG on the C-line, resulting in the detection of the antigen [21]. CNT-modified screen-printed carbon electrode (SPE) that is mounted under the T-line using a magnet is a second design option [28]. This structure was designed to

evaluate the enzymatic activity of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) for acetylthiocholine (ATCh) by comparing deactivated AChE to active AChE trapped by anti-AChE on the T-line.

2.2.1 Critical Note

Due to the insolubility of CNT in sample buffers and the slow migration of CNT in the pores of nitrocellulose, some pre-treatment such as oxidation or surfactant binding must be performed before CNTs may be linked to multiple bioreceptors [24]. In addition, CNT modification of the electrode is heavily dependent on organic solvents for effective dispersion. For LFA strips, the suggested nanoparticles with high solubility, such as CDs, and the benefits of easy functionalization, simple synthesis, high safety, low cost, and high quantum yield in solid and aqueous phases are viable candidates. Some developments, such as the inclusion of CDs with other nanoparticles such as SiO₂, result in the non-uniformity of this kind of nanoparticles due to the co-hydrolysis of CDs and tetraethyl orthosilicate (TEOS) [69]. Although designing FRET-based LFA strips enables on-site screening of targets in complex matrices, such as zearalenone in cereal samples and relevant products, the qualitative, semi-quantitative, and probable interferences of matrices may limit the scope of this method's use [27].

2.3 Quantum Dots (QDs)

QDs as semiconductor nanoparticles are typically a mix of elemental groups III-V and II-VI. Due to the quantum confinement of electrons and holes in these nanoparticles, continuous molecular band energy is converted to discrete energy levels, resulting in the potential emission of fluorescence upon excitation and electronhole recombination. QDs with advantages of controllable size-depended emission, high specific surface area, high fluorescence intensity, long lifetime, high binding sites, wide absorption region, low photodegradation, and photo-bleaching, have been widely used for designing biosensors in comparison with other organic commercial dyes [70]. Due to the aforementioned characteristics, QDs have attracted considerable interest for the creation of LFA strips to detect proteins [71], viruses [72], pharmaceutical materials [73], and nucleic acid [74]. Although QDs indicate a high level of sensitivity to the LFA system, it is possible to process some technologies to increase sensitivity. Due to the formation of hydrophilic QDs in the presence of thiolated acids, an abundance of carboxylic acids can coat the surface, facilitating the immobilization of amino-terminated aptamers and DNAs. Thus, CdTe ODs were combined with strand displacement amplification method for HIV-DNA detection. This approach conducted by hybridization of hairpin H1-strand as a trigger, with HIV-DNA leading to unraveling the hairpin structure of H1. Thus, the remaining H1 strand can hybridize with the CdTe hairpin H2 strand that has been tagged with



Fig. 5 Strand displacement amplification-based LFA for detection of HIV-DNA. Reprinted from [30], with permission from Elsevier

QDs, followed by the release of HIV-DNA. As seen in Fig. 5, this circle may be repeated and an amplification sample can be deposited onto the sample pad. Finally, H1–H2-CdTe QDs hybridization was captured on the T-line by the unhybridized H2 strand sequence [30].

The employment of core/shell QDs is advised for enhancing the sensitivity of QDs-based LAF techniques. So, CdSe/ZnS QDs are extensively employed in the creation of biosensors, particularly, LFA strips [31]. In this method, core/shell QDs may be constructed via multishell strategy to increase the quantum yield and sensitivity of LFA technology. By preventing exciton leakage, the surrounding ZnSe/CdSe core with a CdS/Cd_xZn_{1-x}S/ZnS multishell may significantly increase the quantum yield to 70% [32]. CuInZn_xS_{2+x} (x = 1) as a cadmium-free core is capped by ZnS/ZnS as a thick shell, which is synthesized during two independent shell growth processes for the purpose of multishell development in LFA. This structure can provide a 77% quantum yield [33]. In order to generate cadmium-free and environmentally acceptable QDs, InP/ZnS core/shell QDs were encased in a silica shell for LFA design [75]. QD/SiO₂ nanoparticles including dendritic and porous silica particles with densely loaded CdSe/CdS/ZnS QDs were proposed for creating LFA strips [34]. Compared to typical sandwich-type nanospheres, in which a layer of fluorophores surrounding the silica core, this shape significantly increases the surface area for adsorption of QDs and makes homogenous dispersion of QDs throughout the silicon sphere practical. The accumulation of QDs in each unity led to outstanding optical properties, colloidal stability, and simple biofunctionalization of the suggested nanoparticle. The inclusion of beforementioned properties with LFA strips led to the establishment of a powerful platform for the detection of C-reaction protein (CRP) in complicated biological samples [34]. For enhancement of the sensitivity, adsorption of QDs on the surface of biocompatible nanobeads with large surface area is another approach.

Shao et al. produced nanobeads (Fig. 6) using sodium dodecyl sulfonate (SDS) and poly (maleicanhydride-alt-1-octadecene) (PMAO) for this purpose, which were subsequently coated with CdSe/ZnS QDs [35].

The readout signals from QDs-based LFA can be performed by UV light followed by an assessment of intensities using ImageJ application or by fluorescence strip reader. Signaling from QDs-based LFA can be accomplished by directly emitted fluorescence intensity of QDs-labeled bioreceptors or measurement of QDs intensity quenching. LFA strips can be produced by quenching emitting antigen-linked QDs on the T-line with antibody-linked AgNPs or AuNPs utilizing an inner filter and fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET), respectively [31]. Also, a nanocomposite of quantum dots (Biotin-QDs) and MnO₂ nanosheets, which results in the



Fig. 6 Application quantum dot nanobeads (QBs) for multiplexed-LFA detection of aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) and zearalenone (ZEN); **a** synthesis protocol; **b** detection process. Reprinted from Analytica Chimica Acta, Vol. 1025, Shao et al., Quantum dot nanobead-based multiplexed immunochromatographic assay for simultaneous detection of aflatoxin B1 and zearalenone, Pages 163–171, Copyright 2018, with permission from Elsevier [35]

quenching of QDs, can be used as a decoration for QDs. MnO₂ nanosheets are degraded in the presence of glutathione (GSH), allowing Biotin-QDs to be collected on a streptavidin-containing T-line [76].

2.3.1 Critical Note

Compared to typical AuNPs, QDs have a greater specific surface area, acceptable biocompatibility, increased sensitivity, quicker strip migration, and simple storage conditions. Furthermore, the simple binding of QDs to nucleic acid strands enables the performance of displacement amplification technology, which introduced a potent method that, in comparison to conventional methods such as loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP), recombinase polymerase amplification (RPA), and polymerase chain reaction (PCR), is easier to operate, does not require expensive biological material, and does not necessitate expert knowledge [30]. Due to the application of the synthesis technique in an organic phase, the stability and quantum yield of core/shell QDs might be diminished after transfer to a biological aqueous environment, hence affecting the sensitivity of the LFA system [33]. In addition, QDs-based LFAs are hampered by issues such as high toxicity of heavy metal elements, limited stability, aggregation in biological samples, and a quenching effect in the presence of biomolecules.

2.4 Magnetic Nanoparticles (MNPs)

Typically, these nanoparticles are produced using iron oxide nanoparticles (Fe_3O_4 , γ -Fe₂O₃) as a foundation core, which is then coated with additional nanoparticles and bioreceptors are immobilized. This property enables the construction of core/shell structures for the application of LFA, such as Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles containing gold [36], SiO₂ [37], streptavidin [38], and protein G [39]. In addition, because of their large surface area and simple carboxyl group functionalization, Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles can be directly linked to antibodies [40] or other bioreceptors. The primary flaw of conventional MNPs is aggregation during migration along strips, which slows down the detection process and reduces sensitivity owing to weaker antigen-antibody interactions. Super-paramagnetic nanoparticles (SPMNPs) with a larger surface area and no hysteresis have been shown to be an effective solution to this issue. SPMNPs are ascribed to MNPs less than 20 nm in size. Furthermore, MNPs having a size between 30 and 100 nm are paramagnetic [1]. Wang et al. demonstrated the size of SPMNPs has a substantial impact on the detection time [77]. Different magnetometers, such as resonant coil [78], magnetoresistance [79], and planar coils [80], can read the signal of MNPs. Magnetometers are installed above the detecting zone of the strips for this purpose, as the existence of an external magnetic field is crucial for the emergence of the magnetization effect of MNPs [81]. Due to the obvious brown color of Fe_2O_3 or their coating by AuNPs, T-line and C-line can be read with the naked eye (Fig. 7) [36,



Fig. 7 Application of Fe_2O_3 -AuNPs-antibody for detection of aflatoxin B₂. Reprinted from [36], with permission from Elsevier

39]. Incorporation of Fe_2O_3 nanoparticles with LFA can be allocated to the sample preparation prior to its placement on the sample pad, extending their use beyond signal creation. Li et al. implemented magnetic enrichment of *L. monocytogenes* cells from lettuce by streptavidin-biotin interaction, DNA extraction, and detection by AuNP-probe on LFA strip [38].

2.4.1 Critical Note

In comparison to fluorophore nanoparticles, MNPs have the benefits of reduced background, the need for inexpensive, compact, and compact magnetometers, and make on-site and downsized POC detection possible. Furthermore, movement along the strips is navigable utilizing an external magnetic field. Due to limited solubility

and dispersion in water, the use of these nanoparticles may be challenging despite the fact that these characteristics might provide the MNPs-based LFA more credit than other types of LFAs that need expensive and large equipment. In addition, sizedependent issues can be attributed to aggregation and positive errors caused by MNPs of greater sizes, or to poor magnetic signal and low sensitivity caused by MNPs of lower sizes [77]. Another difficulty is the two-step growth of the output signal with time, which may be regulated by the kinetics of immunoreaction [82].

2.5 Nanoenzymes

As a result of the incorporation of natural enzymes with LFA, the signal strength of the redox reaction of chromogenic substrates- H_2O_2 system on the detecting zone may have increased, resulting in visible color. In addition to colorimetry, LFA can also contain chemiluminescence owing to the benefits of nanoenzymes. This technique is typically carried out by trapping horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-labeled antibody on the T-line or C-line, followed by the addition of chromogenic substrates such as TMB (3,30,5,50-tetramethylbenzidine) and ABTS (20-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazole-6sulfonic acid) [52, 83]. Additionally, G-quadruplexe-hemin DNAzyme has enzymatic effects, but it has been utilized less frequently for LFA. This process often has a number of drawbacks, including particular requirements such as temperature (37 °C), buffer, and expense. Recently, nanoenzymes have attracted the interest of scientists for the creation of LFAs due to their remarkable properties, which include enzyme function mimicry, low cost, ease of manufacture, and increased stability [84]. In this manner, nanoenzymes having peroxidase activity, such as nanoparticles based on platinum (Pt), have been widely utilized in the construction of LFAs. The regular inclusion of nanoenzymes with LFAs has advanced based on the coating of AuNPs with Pt layer [41] or Pt nanowires [42], porous Pt layer [43], which boosts the plasmonic color of AuNPs by adding chromogenic substrate to the detecting zone (Fig. 8). In certain instances, palladium-platinum (Pd-Pt) nanoparticles were produced for LFA design [44].

2.5.1 Critical Note

Application of nanoenzymes in LFA has benefits such as low cost, high stability, and simple preparation, but detection requires the addition of chromogenic substrate to the detecting zone to generate a readable signal, which makes the procedure tedious and time-consuming. Although certain innovations, such as automating the technique by coating and drying the strips with chromogenic substrate, can speed up the detection, constructing the strips with additional channels for the separate migration of chromogenic substrate in the sample solution might complicate the LFA procedure [85].



Fig. 8 Catalytic effect of Au@Pt-antibody for TMB/H₂O₂ and enhancement of sensitivity. The sign of (*) shows LOD. Reprinted from [41], with permission from The American Chemical Society

2.6 Other Nanoparticles

Nanoparticles have been widely utilized in the structuring of LFA strips. However, there have been other key nanoparticles that have been less integrated with LFA and have synergistically shared their properties with LFA to permit the high sensitivity and accuracy necessary for POC techniques. These nanoparticles are mentioned and briefly described in the next section. Upconversion nanoparticles (UCNPs) capable of photon upconversion are created by doping transition metals with actinides and lanthanides derived from rare earths. UCNPs are able to absorb a large number of photons from the low-energy near-infrared (NIR) region and convert them into a single photon from the high-energy ultraviolet-visible range (UV-Vis). Scientists are more interested in the application of UCNPs in nanomedicine, biosensors, and in vivo imaging than QDs due to their narrow and high-intensity emission, reduced toxicity, anti-Stokes shifts, high cellular uptake, low background, and strong optical penetration in tissue [86]. NaYF₄ double-doped with Yb and Er has been the most often included UCNPs with LFA (NaYF4: Yb, Er). In this system, the matrix with the lowest phonon energy is NaYF₄. Also, Yb^{3+} is able to absorb an infrared photon in the host lattice, which is then transmitted to the non-radiative form of Er³⁺, which transforms it into visible emission [87]. Moreover, in order to enhance the intensity and sensitivity of NaYF₄ UCNPs, several modifications might be made [45]. Doping

the Ca^{2+} ions in the shell of NaYF₄:Yb, Tm@NaYF₄ core/shell UCNPs in this manner can enhance the NIR emission via excitation in the NIR region. This event can occur as a result of lattice destruction followed by the formation of an asymmetric structure driven by the displacement of Y³⁺ with Ca²⁺, resulting in a highly sensitive electron transition (Fig. 9).

Time-resolved fluorescence nanoparticles (TRFNPs) are fluorescent lanthanide (mostly Europium (III)) chelates nanoparticles with a hydrophobic shell that must be modified with biofunctional groups [88]. With their extended lifetime, chemical stability, large Stokes shift, and broad excitation spectrum, these nanoparticles



Fig. 9 NIR-to-NIR NaYF₄:Yb, Tm@NaYF₄@ Ca²⁺ UCNPs: **a** schematic illustration of synthesis; **b** enhancement of fluorescence intensity by NaYF₄ shell and Ca²⁺ dopant; **c** elemental mapping; **d** XRD spectra; **e** effect of different amount of Ca²⁺ dopant on the fluorescence intensity. Reprinted from [45], with permission from Elsevier

significantly minimize interferences in biological and complex matrices with transient background. Therefore, TRFNPs may be suitable for integration with LFA [46]. Surface-enhanced Raman scattering (SERS) nanotags are plasmonic metal nanostructures, such as gold and silver, that enable the detection of targets adsorbed on their

tructures, such as gold and silver, that enable the detection of targets adsorbed on their surface via Raman signal enhancement resulting from electromagnetic field amplification via localized surface plasmon resonance (LSPR) by hot spot effect [89]. This occurrence can be attributed to the increase of the electromagnetic field caused by plasmonic phenomena (Stock, Rayleigh, Anti-Stocks) that lead to SERS in nanoscale gaps between nanostructures [52]. Increased Raman intensity at a constant Raman shift is used for detection (cm^{-1}) . In this method, He–Ne laser (365 nm) or Raman (diode) laser (785 nm) is often utilized as the excitation source, and a holographic notch filter is employed to remove the Rayleigh line from the Raman data [47, 50]. Several nanoparticles, including hollow gold nanospheres [47], Au nanoflower @ Ag core/shell [48], Au@Ag nanoparticles [49], Au nanorod (AuNR)@ Au core/ shell, have been combined with LFA in this manner [50]. Raman molecules such as malachite green isothiocyanate (MGITC) [47], 4-mercaptobenzoic acid (MBA) [48], 1,4-nitrobenzenthiole (NBT) [50] and 5,5'-dithiobis-(2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB) [49] have been embedded or adsorbed in nanoparticles in order to produce Raman intensity. The fabrication of Au@Ag nanoparticles with dual-layer DTNB is depicted in Fig. 10.



Fig. 10 Preparation and application of Au@DTNB@Ag@DTNB in LFA. Adapted from [49], in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Unported Licence (CC BY)

2.6.1 Critical Note

The aforementioned nanoparticles serve an indisputable effect in reducing interferences from the background. The UCPs and SERS-nanotags with anti-Stokes or Stokes shifts induced by NIR excitation and UV-Vis or NIR emission significantly reduce the autofluorescence of UV-Vis region-absorbent biomolecules. Also, TRFNPs with extended lifetime fluorescence relative to interferences' short-lived fluorescence may be combined with LFA. Despite these advantages, their applicability may be limited by some downsides. The creation of UCNPs necessitated the use of inert gas (N_2, Ar) or vacuum, which are costly conditions that are available in all laboratories. Due to the poor solubility of UCNPs, migration along strips may also be challenging. Therefore, alteration and surface functionalization are essential. For capturing the signal of TRFNPs over their lifetime, time-resolving techniques, which are not standard on all spectrometers and are costly, are required. Despite the fact that SERS-nanotags improve the limited sensitivity caused by weak signals in the NIR window [90], this technology requires the use of costly commercial Raman molecules in nanoparticles. In contrast, even though the SERS approach attempts to minimize interferences by the use of NIR lasers and stock spectra, some background signal interferences from nanotags may still be present. In order to further limit interferences, the synthesis of very homogeneous nanoparticles may thereby complicate the synthesis technique.

3 Conclusion

The primary objective of point-of-care (POC) devices is to provide rapid, costeffective, and accurate diagnosis of targets in a variety of domains, including medical, criminal, clinical, and industrial, in order to avoid and forecast potential issues and aid in prompt treatment. One of the most intriguing elements of POC devices is the development of in-home, patient-centered screening and healthcare diagnostics. As an accessible and simple-to-prepare POC gadget, LFA has become a popular diagnostic tool. Nanomaterials, which are an integral part of the LFA methodology, have played a crucial role in the effective design and execution of this method to increase its sensitivity. Nanomaterials have unique benefits, such as adjustable physical and chemical properties based on size, shape, and composition and simple functionalization using bioreceptors combined with LFA. According to the findings given in Table 1, production, modification, and bioconjugation of nanoparticles well-incorporated with LFA strips for the detection of diverse targets include biomarkers, viruses, microorganisms, DNA, mycotoxins, etc. As demonstrated in Table 1, the detection of targets has occurred in less than 30 min, suggesting an adequate rate of diagnosis due to the absence of aggregation, the rapid migration through membrane pores, and the successful interpretation of the signal created by nanoparticles. AuNPs have been the most prevalent and popular nanoparticles that enable naked-eye detection of T-line or C-line. Unfortunately, the typical LFA based on naked-eye qualifying detection has a limited detection. In addition, certain image analysis software is essential for quantifying data, which makes the measurement challenging. So, to increase sensitivity, the integration of alternative transduction systems with LFA using other nanoparticles has been encouraged. In this context, CNTs with vibrant colors and a strong black-onwhite contrast may be suitable for inclusion with LFA. Due to the poor dispersity and hydrophilicity of the migration buffer, however, CNTs are not commonly included with commercially available LFA. In addition, the use of carbon-based nanoparticles for electrochemically-based LFA is in great demand for SPE, making this technology extremely costly. On the other hand, despite the fact that the use of other nanoparticles benefits from the high sensitivity of QDs, the miniaturized magnetometer for MNPs, and the significant reduction of interference by UCNPs and SERS-nanotags, the readout of signals requires the integration of costly equipment with LFA. This issue prohibits personalized detection and in-home use of LFA, which contradicts the objectives of the POC approach. The catalytic impact of nanoenzymes on substrates, accompanied by an increase in sensitivity and a reduction in LOD (10^3 times) [41], can be a valuable alternative to the usual LFA approach for detection with the naked eve. In addition, the design of delayed canals for the automation of LFA may be suitable for commercialization [15].

Acknowledgements A. M. and G. A. gratefully acknowledge Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Iran for supporting this study. Y.N.E. acknowledges funding support from the 2232 International Fellowship for Outstanding Researchers Program of TÜBİTAK (Project No: 118C346).

References

- 1. Mohammadinejad A et al (2022) Development of lateral flow assays for rapid detection of troponin I: a review. Crit Rev Anal Chem 1–15
- 2. Khandan-Nasab N et al (2021) Biosensors, microfluidics systems and lateral flow assays for circulating microRNA detection: a review. Anal Biochem 633:114406
- Napione L (2021) Integrated nanomaterials and nanotechnologies in lateral flow tests for personalized medicine applications. Nanomaterials 11(9):2362
- Quesada-González D, Merkoçi A (2015) Nanoparticle-based lateral flow biosensors. Biosens Bioelectron 73:47–63
- 5. de Puig H et al (2017) Challenges of the nano-bio interface in lateral flow and dipstick immunoassays. Trends Biotechnol 35(12):1169–1180
- 6. Holzinger M, Le Goff A, Cosnier S (2014) Nanomaterials for biosensing applications: a review. Front Chem 2:63
- 7. SadAbadi H et al (2013) Integration of gold nanoparticles in PDMS microfluidics for lab-ona-chip plasmonic biosensing of growth hormones. Biosens Bioelectron 44:77–84
- Hibbard T et al (2013) Point of care monitoring of hemodialysis patients with a breath ammonia measurement device based on printed polyaniline nanoparticle sensors. Anal Chem 85(24):12158–12165
- 9. Wang S et al (2013) Point-of-care assays for tuberculosis: role of nanotechnology/microfluidics. Biotechnol Adv 31(4):438–449
- Janegitz BC, Cancino J, Zucolotto V (2014) Disposable biosensors for clinical diagnosis. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 14(1):378–389

- Medina-Sánchez M, Miserere S, Merkoçi A (2012) Nanomaterials and lab-on-a-chip technologies. Lab Chip 12(11):1932–1943
- 12. de la Escosura-Muñiz A, Merkoçi A (2010) Electrochemical detection of proteins using nanoparticles: applications to diagnostics. Expert Opin Med Diagn 4(1):21–37
- Mahmood A, Khan SU-D, Rehman F (2015) Assessing the quantum mechanical level of theory for prediction of UV/Visible absorption spectra of some aminoazobenzene dyes. J Saudi Chem Soc 19(4):436–441
- 14. Choi DH et al (2010) A dual gold nanoparticle conjugate-based lateral flow assay (LFA) method for the analysis of troponin I. Biosens Bioelectron 25(8):1999–2002
- 15. Panraksa Y et al (2021) A facile one-step gold nanoparticles enhancement based on sequential patterned lateral flow immunoassay device for C-reactive protein detection. Sens Actuators B Chem 329:129241
- Hu J et al (2013) Oligonucleotide-linked gold nanoparticle aggregates for enhanced sensitivity in lateral flow assays. Lab Chip 13(22):4352–4357
- 17. Chen Y et al (2016) A dual-readout chemiluminescent-gold lateral flow test for multiplex and ultrasensitive detection of disease biomarkers in real samples. Nanoscale 8(33):15205–15212
- 18. Anfossi L et al (2013) Increased sensitivity of lateral flow immunoassay for ochratoxin A through silver enhancement. Anal Bioanal Chem 405(30):9859–9867
- Xu S et al (2019) Lateral flow immunoassay based on polydopamine-coated gold nanoparticles for the sensitive detection of zearalenone in maize. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 11(34):31283– 31290
- 20. Sinawang PD et al (2016) Electrochemical lateral flow immunosensor for detection and quantification of dengue NS1 protein. Biosens Bioelectron 77:400–408
- Zhu X et al (2014) A paper electrode integrated lateral flow immunosensor for quantitative analysis of oxidative stress induced DNA damage. Analyst 139(11):2850–2857
- 22. Srisomwat C et al (2020) Amplification-free DNA sensor for the one-step detection of the hepatitis B virus using an automated paper-based lateral flow electrochemical device. Anal Chem 93(5):2879–2887
- Hong D et al (2021) Electrochemiluminescence-incorporated lateral flow immunosensors using Ru (bpy) 32+-labeled gold nanoparticles for the full-range detection of physiological C-reactive protein levels. Anal Chem 93(22):7925–7932
- 24. Sun W et al (2017) A novel multi-walled carbon nanotube-based antibody conjugate for quantitative and semi-quantitative lateral flow assays. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 81(10):1874–1882
- 25. Liu Y et al (2017) Gold nanoparticles decorated carbon nanotube probe based immunochromatographic assay on cotton thread. Sens Actuators B Chem 251:1112–1118
- 26. Zhang X et al (2017) Multiplex lateral flow immunoassays based on amorphous carbon nanoparticles for detecting three fusarium mycotoxins in maize. J Agric Food Chem 65(36):8063–8071
- 27. Li S et al (2018) Fluorometric lateral flow immunochromatographic zearalenone assay by exploiting a quencher system composed of carbon dots and silver nanoparticles. Microchim Acta 185(8):1–9
- Du D et al (2012) Integrated lateral flow test strip with electrochemical sensor for quantification of phosphorylated cholinesterase: biomarker of exposure to organophosphorus agents. Anal Chem 84(3):1380–1385
- Yao X et al (2021) Graphite-like carbon nitride-laden gold nanoparticles as signal amplification label for highly sensitive lateral flow immunoassay of 17β-estradiol. Food Chem 347:129001
- 30. Deng X et al (2018) Applying strand displacement amplification to quantum dots-based fluorescent lateral flow assay strips for HIV-DNA detection. Biosens Bioelectron 105:211–217
- 31. Anfossi L et al (2018) A lateral flow immunoassay for straightforward determination of fumonisin mycotoxins based on the quenching of the fluorescence of CdSe/ZnS quantum dots by gold and silver nanoparticles. Microchim Acta 185:1–10
- 32. Shen H et al (2011) Phosphine-free synthesis of high-quality reverse type-I ZnSe/CdSe core with CdS/CdxZn1-xS/ZnS multishell nanocrystals and their application for detection of human hepatitis B surface antigen. Nanotechnology 22(37):375602

- 33. Wu R et al (2018) Synthesis of highly stable CuInZnS//ZnS//ZnS quantum dots with thick shell and its application to quantitative immunoassay. Chem Eng J 348:447–454
- 34. Huang L et al (2018) Brilliant pitaya-type silica colloids with central-radial and high-density quantum dots incorporation for ultrasensitive fluorescence immunoassays. Adv Func Mater 28(4):1705380
- 35. Shao Y et al (2018) Quantum dot nanobead-based multiplexed immunochromatographic assay for simultaneous detection of aflatoxin B1 and zearalenone. Anal Chim Acta 1025:163–171
- Tang D et al (2009) Magnetic nanogold microspheres-based lateral-flow immunodipstick for rapid detection of aflatoxin B2 in food. Biosens Bioelectron 25(2):514–518
- Zhang X et al (2011) A silicon dioxide modified magnetic nanoparticles–labeled lateral flow strips for HBs antigen. J Biomed Nanotechnol 7(6):776–781
- Li F et al (2018) Biotin-exposure-based immunomagnetic separation coupled with nucleic acid lateral flow biosensor for visibly detecting viable Listeria monocytogenes. Anal Chim Acta 1017:48–56
- 39. Ryu Y et al (2011) Increase in the detection sensitivity of a lateral flow assay for a cardiac marker by oriented immobilization of antibody. BioChip J 5:193–198
- 40. Lu W et al (2017) Dual immunomagnetic nanobeads-based lateral flow test strip for simultaneous quantitative detection of carcinoembryonic antigen and neuron specific enolase. Sci Rep 7(1):1–10
- 41. Gao Z et al (2017) Platinum-decorated gold nanoparticles with dual functionalities for ultrasensitive colorimetric in vitro diagnostics. Nano Lett 17(9):5572–5579
- 42. Zhang J et al (2019) Gold-platinum nanoflowers as a label and as an enzyme mimic for use in highly sensitive lateral flow immunoassays: application to detection of rabbit IgG. Microchim Acta 186:1–9
- 43. Loynachan CN et al (2018) Platinum nanocatalyst amplification: redefining the gold standard for lateral flow immunoassays with ultrabroad dynamic range. ACS Nano 12(1):279–288
- Han J et al (2018) Nanozyme-based lateral flow assay for the sensitive detection of Escherichia coli O157: H7 in milk. J Dairy Sci 101(7):5770–5779
- 45. Kim J et al (2018) Rapid and background-free detection of avian influenza virus in opaque sample using NIR-to-NIR upconversion nanoparticle-based lateral flow immunoassay platform. Biosens Bioelectron 112:209–215
- 46. Huang B et al (2017) A novel time-resolved fluoroimmunoassay for the quantitative detection of antibodies against the phospholipase A2 receptor. Sci Rep 7(1):1–8
- Hwang J, Lee S, Choo J (2016) Application of a SERS-based lateral flow immunoassay strip for the rapid and sensitive detection of staphylococcal enterotoxin B. Nanoscale 8(22):11418– 11425
- 48. Fu X et al (2017) Ultrasensitive detection of the β-adrenergic agonist brombuterol by a SERSbased lateral flow immunochromatographic assay using flower-like gold-silver core-shell nanoparticles. Microchim Acta 184:1711–1719
- 49. Jia X et al (2018) Dual dye-loaded Au@ Ag coupled to a lateral flow immunoassay for the accurate and sensitive detection of Mycoplasma pneumoniae infection. RSC Adv 8(38):21243– 21251
- 50. Khlebtsov BN et al (2019) SERS-based lateral flow immunoassay of troponin I by using gap-enhanced Raman tags. Nano Res 12:413–420
- 51. Nooranian S et al (2022) Biosensors based on aptamer-conjugated gold nanoparticles: a review. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 69(4):1517–1534
- 52. Mohammadinejad A et al (2020) Development of biosensors for detection of alpha-fetoprotein: as a major biomarker for hepatocellular carcinoma. TrAC, Trends Anal Chem 130:115961
- Soler M, Huertas CS, Lechuga LM (2019) Label-free plasmonic biosensors for point-of-care diagnostics: a review. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 19(1):71–81
- 54. Kim DS et al (2016) Development of lateral flow assay based on size-controlled gold nanoparticles for detection of hepatitis B surface antigen. Sensors 16(12):2154
- 55. Lou S et al (2012) A gold nanoparticle-based immunochromatographic assay: the influence of nanoparticulate size. Analyst 137(5):1174–1181

- 56. Zhu J et al (2011) Simultaneous detection of high-sensitivity cardiac troponin I and myoglobin by modified sandwich lateral flow immunoassay: proof of principle. Clin Chem 57(12):1732– 1738
- 57. Kim W, Lee S, Jeon S (2018) Enhanced sensitivity of lateral flow immunoassays by using watersoluble nanofibers and silver-enhancement reactions. Sens Actuators B Chem 273:1323–1327
- áEric Aston D, áLarry Branen A (2012) DNA detection on lateral flow test strips: enhanced signal sensitivity using LNA-conjugated gold nanoparticles. Chem Commun 48(62):7714– 7716
- 59. Ge C et al (2013) An enhanced strip biosensor for rapid and sensitive detection of histone methylation. Anal Chem 85(19):9343–9349
- 60. Parolo C, de la Escosura-Muñiz A, Merkoçi A (2013) Enhanced lateral flow immunoassay using gold nanoparticles loaded with enzymes. Biosens Bioelectron 40(1):412–416
- 61. He Y et al (2011) Ultrasensitive nucleic acid biosensor based on enzyme–gold nanoparticle dual label and lateral flow strip biosensor. Biosens Bioelectron 26(5):2018–2024
- 62. Xu H et al (2014) Gold-nanoparticle-decorated silica nanorods for sensitive visual detection of proteins. Anal Chem 86(15):7351–7359
- 63. Zhang J et al (2019) Gold-platinum nanoflowers as a label and as an enzyme mimic for use in highly sensitive lateral flow immunoassays: application to detection of rabbit IgG. Microchim Acta 186(6):1–9
- Justino CI, Rocha-Santos TA, Duarte AC (2013) Advances in point-of-care technologies with biosensors based on carbon nanotubes. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 45:24–36
- 65. Tang J et al (2013) Carbon nanodots featuring efficient FRET for real-time monitoring of drug delivery and two-photon imaging. Adv Mater 25(45):6569–6574
- Liu H et al (2019) Lysosome-targeted carbon dots for ratiometric imaging of formaldehyde in living cells. Nanoscale 11(17):8458–8463
- 67. Mohammadinejad A et al (2023) Application of green-synthesized carbon dots for imaging of cancerous cell lines and detection of anthraquinone drugs using silica-coated CdTe quantum dots-based ratiometric fluorescence sensor. Spectrochim Acta Part A Mol Biomol Spectrosc 288:122200
- Li H et al (2010) Water-soluble fluorescent carbon quantum dots and photocatalyst design. Angew Chem Int Ed 49(26):4430–4434
- 69. Xu L-D et al (2019) Ultrasensitive detection of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus based on immunofluorescent carbon dots/SiO2 nanosphere-based lateral flow assay. ACS Omega 4(25):21431–21438
- Mohammadinejad A et al (2017) Tandem determination of mitoxantrone and ribonucleic acid using mercaptosuccinic acid-capped CdTe quantum dots. J Lumin 190:254–260
- 71. Berlina AN et al (2013) Quantum-dot-based immunochromatographic assay for total IgE in human serum. Plos One 8(10):e77485
- 72. Li X et al (2012) A fast and sensitive immunoassay of avian influenza virus based on label-free quantum dot probe and lateral flow test strip. Talanta 100:1–6
- 73. Sheng W et al (2017) Visual and rapid lateral flow immunochromatographic assay for enrofloxacin using dyed polymer microspheres and quantum dots. Microchim Acta 184:4313– 4321
- 74. Sapountzi EA et al (2015) Lateral flow devices for nucleic acid analysis exploiting quantum dots as reporters. Anal Chim Acta 864:48–54
- 75. Beloglazova NV et al (2017) Fluorescently labelled multiplex lateral flow immunoassay based on cadmium-free quantum dots. Methods 116:141–148
- 76. Chen J et al (2018) A facile fluorescence lateral flow biosensor for glutathione detection based on quantum dots-MnO2 nanocomposites. Sens Actuators B Chem 260:770–777
- 77. Wang Y et al (2009) Study of superparamagnetic nanoparticles as labels in the quantitative lateral flow immunoassay. Mater Sci Eng C 29(3):714–718
- 78. Eveness J et al (2009) Evaluation of paramagnetic particles for use in a resonant coil magnetometer based magneto-immunoassay. Sens Actuators B Chem 139(2):538–542

- 79. Marquina C et al (2012) GMR sensors and magnetic nanoparticles for immunochromatographic assays. J Magn Magn Mater 324(21):3495–3498
- Makiranta JJ, Lekkala JO (2006) Modeling and simulation of magnetic nanoparticle sensor. In: 2005 IEEE engineering in medicine and biology 27th annual conference 2006. IEEE
- Lago-Cachón D et al (2017) High frequency lateral flow affinity assay using superparamagnetic nanoparticles. J Magn Magn Mater 423:436–440
- Oh S et al (2011) Analytes kinetics in lateral flow membrane analyzed by cTnI monitoring using magnetic method. Sens Actuators B Chem 160(1):747–752
- Yang B et al (2019) Advances in optical assays for detecting telomerase activity. Luminescence 34(2):136–152
- Jiang D et al (2019) Nanozyme: new horizons for responsive biomedical applications. Chem Soc Rev 48(14):3683–3704
- Calabria D et al (2021) Recent advancements in enzyme-based lateral flow immunoassays. Sensors 21(10):3358
- 86. Tang Y et al (2015) Upconversion particles coated with molecularly imprinted polymers as fluorescence probe for detection of clenbuterol. Biosens Bioelectron 71:44–50
- Zhao P et al (2014) Upconversion fluorescent strip sensor for rapid determination of vibrio anguillarum. Nanoscale 6(7):3804–3809
- Kokko L, Lövgren T, Soukka T (2007) Europium (III)-chelates embedded in nanoparticles are protected from interfering compounds present in assay media. Anal Chim Acta 585(1):17–23
- Sharma B et al (2013) High-performance SERS substrates: advances and challenges. MRS Bull 38(8):615–624
- 90. Li X et al (2017) A SERS nano-tag-based fiber-optic strategy for in situ immunoassay in unprocessed whole blood. Biosens Bioelectron 92:517–522

Aptamer-Based Lateral Flow Assay as a Smart Point-of-Care Devices



Melis Canbay, Ahmet Turan Keskintas, and Sevde Altuntas

Abstract Point-of-care (POC) devices have become more crucial in recent years. POC provides easy, quick, and low-cost on-site diagnostics and detection without the need of any complex tool or well-trained person. One of the common POC devices is lateral flow assay (LFA). LFA is a paper-based technique that contains different compartments that can detect the target of interest in a sample rapidly. Aptamer-based LFA is currently developing further due to its advantages compared to other types of LFA. For instance, it has the potential to replace antibody-based LFA because of its disadvantages. Moreover, two different major formats of Aptamer-based LFA are sandwich and competitive. The result that they give is interpreted in a different way. Herein, we will discuss aptamer-based LFA as smart POC devices, its difference between antibody-based LFA, development of aptamers for it, its different compartments and formats, interpretation of its results, and lastly its applications in diagnostics and other application areas.

M. Canbay e-mail: melis.canbay@bahcesehir.edu.tr

A. T. Keskintas e-mail: ahmet.keskintas@live.acibadem.edu.tr

M. Canbay

Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Faculty of Engineering and Natural Sciences, Bahcesehir University, Istanbul 34353, Turkey

A. T. Keskintas

S. Altuntas

M. Canbay · A. T. Keskintas · S. Altuntas (🖂)

Experimental Medicine Research and Application Center, Validebag Research Park, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul 34668, Turkey e-mail: sevde.altuntas@sbu.edu.tr

Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics, Faculty of Engineering and Natural Sciences, Acibadem Mehmet Ali Aydinlar University, Istanbul 34752, Turkey

Department of Tissue Engineering, Hamidiye Institute of Health Sciences, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Istanbul 34668, Turkey

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing*, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_4

Keywords Aptamers \cdot Lateral flow assay \cdot Aptamer-based LFA \cdot Point-of-care devices

1 Introduction

In recent years with the increasing number of populations, the importance of smart point-of-care (POC) devices has increased. Developing POC devices provides faster, cheaper, and easy-to-use on-site detection by the important improvements in biosensor technologies [38]. POC devices give opportunities to do POC diagnostics with no need of special laboratory equipment or a trained professional [9, 21]. Lateral flow assay (LFA) is one of the POC techniques, which is paper-based that can identify the targeted substances found in a sample and provide the results in a very short amount of time.

The sensitivity and selectivity of the LFA assays are determined by recognition elements, which are essential parts of an LFA, and antibodies were preferred ligands for years as a recognition element [33]. As a result, the most used type of LFA is antibody-based LFA in general; however, antibodies have several drawbacks. Antibodies have limitations because of their synthesis through the in vivo approach [10]. For instance, they have high batch-to-batch variations, cross-reactivity, limited shelf life, and severe immunogenicity [10]. Also, small molecules are still difficult for antibodies to detect. Additionally, because of their protein origin, antibodies display several drawbacks like irreversible denaturation, which is induced by temperature and the problematic introductions of modifications [33]. Therefore, scientists defined the aptamer in 1990 due to challenges caused by antibodies [33].

Aptamers are single-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (ssDNA) or ribonucleic acid (RNA), which are synthetic oligonucleotide molecules that have ability to bind different types of molecules with ranging sizes by high affinity and specificity [9, 13, 15, 25, 42, 44]. For example, they can bind small molecules, viruses, proteins to even an entire cell. Moreover, its high affinity and specificity is a result of its single-stranded structure, which allows it to fold into exclusive conformations like secondary or tertiary [13]. Similarly, higher sensitivity and specificity of aptamers came from their higher resistance to rough chemicals, extreme ionizing environments, pH, and organic solvents [11]. Aptamers are highly stable and unlike antibodies in case of denaturation they can recover to their original conformation which makes them satisfactorily flexible for adapting to various assay formats [9].

Differently from antibody production, aptamers are developed in vitro using a process known as "systematic evolution of ligands by exponential enrichment" (SELEX) (Fig. 1), which aims to the finding DNA or RNA aptamer sequences from a randomized oligonucleotide library that is capable of recognizing the target of interest [5, 15, 44]. Consequently, aptamers can be produced for any target with such a wide variety [10, 44]. Another significant fact is that production of antibodies, which can bind low molecular weight compounds is not favorable but the development of aptamers that have the ability to bind low molecular weight compounds

is possible with the aid of the SELEX process [44]. Lastly, a comparison between features of antibody and aptamer in the perspective of LFA can be seen in Table 1.

The Aptamer-based LFA has two separate major formats: sandwich and competitive, which will be discussed further in the text. Besides, there are some aptamerantibody-hybrid LFA too, which are called hybrid LFA [34]. Also, the analysis and interpretation of their result varies and will be explained separately. Moreover, aptamer-based LFAs have several different application areas from diagnostics to detections from chemicals to biomarkers which will be also explained later.

There are three elements in a standard LFA which are the recognition, reaction and signal transduction elements which are built in a paper strip containing five components [44]. The sample pad, conjugate pad, membrane, absorbent pad, and backing plate are the five standard components of the LFA [9, 44]. Basic demonstration of



Fig. 1 SELEX process. SELEX is the method that enables finding specific aptamer sequences (ssDNA and RNA) from random oligonucleotide library, which can bind the target of interest. First, the target and oligonucleotide library are put in the same place in vitro which is incubated. The target and aptamer binding occur in this part. Later, it is washed to eliminate the unbound sequences. Then, the target is eluted from the mixture. So, only selected aptamer sequences will go under the amplification process. Amplification process is performed by RT-PCR technique. After that, sequencing is done for the identification of that specific different aptamer sequences

Features	Antibody	Aptamer
Development	In vivo Contamination is possible	In vitro Contamination is not a problem
Production time	Tedious (Weeks to months)	Effective through chemical synthesis (Days to weeks)
Cost	High	Low
Target	Limited	No limitation
Shelf life	Short Needs cold storage	Long Does not need any special storage state
Stability	Low Susceptible to changes in pH and temperature Aggregation is very likely	High Tolerance to changes in pH and temperature No or little aggregation
Modification	Challenging High-cost	Easy Low-cost
Batch-to-batch variation	High Varied	Low (Negligible) Uniform
Reusability	Poor	Good
Reproducibility	Low	High
Immobilization	Challenging	Easy

Table 1 A comparison between features of antibody and aptamer in the perspective of LFA. Adapted from [5, 9, 23, 29, 33, 51]

standard components of the LFA can be seen in Fig. 2. On the backing plate, all other compartments are assembled in place with proper overlapping.

While performing LFA, a sample is added to the sample pad, and it is directed to the conjugate pad [4]. It contains a recognition agent conjugated reporter molecules



Fig. 2 Standard compartments of lateral flow assay (LFA). LFA consists of a sample pad, conjugate pad, membrane, absorbent pad, and backing plate which are shown in the figure. Additionally, the T-line (test line) and the C-line (control line) are specified

which are capable of hydrating quickly and discharge recognition agent [44]. If there is a target in the sample, a new complex is formed which includes a target, recognition agent, and reporter that will go toward the test and a control line found in the membrane [44]. For aptamer-based LFA, the control line contains a control aptamer. Besides, the test line contains detection aptamer or nothing which will differ in distinct formats of aptamer-based LFA [10]. Also, the absorbent pad makes sure the flow is from the sample pad to the membrane with no sample backflow [10].

Hence, we will cover different formats of aptamer-based LFA, the various interpretation of results, and its applications in diagnostic and other applications areas in this chapter.

2 Aptamers in Developing LFA

As mentioned in the introduction, aptamers can recognize several different substances with different sizes. In developing LFA devices, the use of aptamers is increasing as a recognition agent. Furthermore, aptamers are more advantageous when compared to antibodies for LFA and they can be used for substances that antibodies cannot be developed. For example, because no antibody could be found for the fungicide malachite green, its detection was dependent on expensive HPLC and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC–MS) assays. However, the development of a malachite green aptamer in 1999 enabled the introduction of an aptamer-based LFA for simplified malachite green residue detection [37].

Similarly, aptamer-based LFAs have been developed for the detection of nonimmunogenic targets such as different substances like apple stem pitting virus (ASPV) and other compounds like organophosphorus pesticides. The broad application of aptamers makes them particularly valuable compared to antibodies [43].

3 Flexible LFA Design

The flexible LFA design is a testing method that can detect various target molecules by using materials of different shapes and sizes [44]. Aptamers that specifically bind to the target molecule are used in LFA tests and combined with a marker to identify the molecule's presence as it moves along the strip [31]. This adaptable design can be modified to suit various testing situations, and its portability enables rapid results.

To illustrate, the flexible LFA design used for COVID-19 diagnosis uses an aptamer that specifically binds to the Spike protein on the COVID-19 virus's surface [30]. During testing, a sample (like saliva or nasal discharge) is placed at one end of the LFA strip, and a section marked with the COVID-19 aptamer is present at the strip's beginning [30]. As the aptamer moves along the strip, it binds to Spike proteins

in the sample, and a marker substance indicates the presence of the protein-aptamer complex, resulting in a visible line at the strip's end [30]. This design enables quick and precise COVID-19 testing.

4 Multiplex LFA

The simultaneous evaluation of numerous analytes must be done to ensure efficient and accurate recognition of targets in a short amount of time. Simultaneous and rapid detection of different targets can be achieved at the same time with multiplex FLA.

There are three main types of multiplex LFAs: those that detect many targets on a single strip, those that detect several targets on different strips, and, more recently, those that combine a microarray and an LFA in a single device [29]. Moreover, in comparison to uniplex, multiplexing provides several advantages, such as faster evaluation due to the ability to identify many targets at once, identification of co-infections in the case of infectious diseases, higher sensitivity, and lower test costs [29].

5 Different Formats of Aptamer-Based LFA

Prior to the invention of aptamers, antibody-based LFA was already in use in clinical practice. Given the similarity between aptamers and antibodies in recognizing targets based on tertiary structure, the information obtained from designing antibody-based biosensors could be beneficial in developing aptamer-based LFA [44]. Over the past few decades, several approaches to aptamer-based LFA have been introduced, such as sandwich formats, competitive formats, and other novel techniques that rely on the structural and functional properties of aptamers, as outlined in the following section [32].

5.1 Sandwich Aptamer-Based LFA

5.1.1 Sandwich Aptamer-Based LFA Using Dual Aptamer

The dual-aptamer sandwich aptamer-based LFA provides more precise and selective results than the single-aptamer methods [28, 48]. Initially, the target molecule is trapped by a capture aptamer, and then a second aptamer binds to another area of the target molecule, resulting in a sandwich-like structure [41]. The specific binding between the two aptamers, which bind to distinct regions of the target molecule, helps eliminate false positive results and generate more precise results [44]. This technique is advantageous for identifying low-molecular-weight analytes.

5.1.2 Sandwich Aptamer-Based LFA Using a Combination of Aptamer and Antibody

The aptamer-antibody sandwich LFA method, which utilizes both antibodies and aptamers, offers several advantages over traditional sandwich LFAs that use only one type of molecule [42]. The technique involves capturing the target molecule using a primary capture antibody, which is immobilized on the conjugate pad [42]. Then, a detection aptamer specific to a different region of the target molecule is added to form a sandwich structure, and a reporter molecule conjugated with the detection aptamer generates a signal upon binding to the target molecule [32]. The sandwich complex is then captured by a secondary detection antibody on the test line, resulting in a color change.

Compared to conventional sandwich LFAs, the aptamer-antibody sandwich LFA method provides higher sensitivity and specificity due to aptamers' higher specificity and affinity to target molecules and antibodies' better stability and longer shelf life [44]. The method has been successfully applied to the detection of HIV-1 p24 antigen, where HIV-1 p24 antigens are loaded onto the sample pad, and a primary capture antibody with high specificity is immobilized on the conjugate pad. This method is widely used in clinical settings for the detection of HIV-1 p24 antigen, offering high sensitivity, specificity, and long shelf life [24].

5.1.3 Sandwich Aptamer-Based LFA Using Split Aptamers

The sandwich aptamer-based LFA is a diagnostic test that utilizes aptamers as recognition elements to detect specific molecules in a sample. In this assay, two different aptamers bind to different regions of the target molecule, with one serving as the capture aptamer and the other as the detection aptamer [15]. To enhance the sensitivity and specificity of the assay, split aptamers have been developed. Split aptamers are short DNA or RNA sequences that bind to specific regions of the target molecule but only form a complete aptamer upon hybridization [15]. In sandwich aptamerbased LFA using split aptamers, both the capture and detection aptamers are split into two fragments, and each fragment is attached to different locations on the lateral flow strip [32]. When the target molecule is present in the sample, it binds to the split aptamers, bringing the two halves of the capture aptamer together and forming a complete aptamer that can capture the detection aptamer [41]. This results in a sandwich complex and a signal at the test line.

The use of split aptamers in sandwich aptamer-based LFA has several advantages. Split aptamers allow for better control over the orientation and spacing of the aptamers on the lateral flow strip, which can improve the efficiency of target molecule capture [44]. Split aptamers also reduce the chance of non-specific binding by requiring both halves to bind to the target molecule before forming a complete aptamer [41]. Additionally, split aptamers can be easily modified to target different regions of the target molecule, enabling the development of highly specific and sensitive assays.

Sandwich aptamer-based LFA using split aptamers is a promising approach for the development of highly sensitive and specific diagnostic tests for various targets, such as small molecules, proteins, and even whole cells [8, 45]. The use of split aptamers provides an efficient and reliable method for target detection, making it a valuable tool for various diagnostic applications.

A smart point-of-care device that employs sandwich aptamer-based LFA with split aptamers for detecting the influenza virus has been developed [35]. This device, called the smart flu chip, integrates microfluidics, microheaters, and a smartphone app for quick and accurate diagnosis [35]. The split aptamers-based Sandwich Aptamerbased LFA was employed to detect two strains of influenza virus, H1N1 and H3N2, with high sensitivity and specificity [35]. The capture aptamers were divided into two fragments and were attached to separate locations on the lateral flow strip. Similarly, the detection aptamers were also split into two fragments and labeled with gold nanoparticles. When the target virus was present in the sample, it bound to the split aptamers, joining the two halves of the capture aptamer and creating a complete aptamer that could capture the gold-labeled detection aptamer [35]. This resulted in a sandwich complex and a signal at the test line, which was detected by a smartphone camera. The device also contains microheaters to regulate the reaction temperature, increasing the accuracy and effectiveness of the assay. The smartphone app analyzes the test results and provides real-time data on the existence and concentration of the target virus. This method provides a quick and precise technique for influenza virus detection, making it a valuable tool for point-of-care diagnosis and disease surveillance.

5.2 Competitive Aptamer-Based LFA

The competitive aptamer-based LFA is a diagnostic test that uses aptamers to detect specific molecules in a sample. In this test, a labeled aptamer competes with the sample analyte for binding to a limited amount of immobilized capture aptamer on a lateral flow strip [12]. The strip has a detection zone coated with capture molecules, and when the labeled aptamer binds to the capture aptamer on the strip, it generates a signal that can be read visually or with a portable reader [21]. The signal detected is inversely proportional to the concentration of the analyte in the sample, allowing the presence and amount of the target analyte in the sample to be determined by comparing the signal obtained from the sample with a known concentration of the analyte. Aptamer-based LFAs offer several advantages over traditional antibody-based assays, such as stability, low cost, and ease of development, and have been successfully used for detecting a variety of targets in various sample types [21, 44].

The competition between the target molecule and the complementary sequence for aptamer recognition is a dynamic process that depends on multiple factors and can be finely tuned to achieve optimal sensitivity and selectivity in a competitive assay [31]. Competitive aptamer-based LFA is a type of diagnostic test that uses aptamers as the recognition element to detect specific molecules in a sample. In a competitive aptamer-based LFA, a labeled aptamer competes with the sample analyte for binding to a limited amount of immobilized capture aptamer on a lateral flow strip [31]. The strip contains a detection zone coated with capture molecules, and when the labeled aptamer binds to the capture aptamer on the strip, it generates a signal that can be read visually or with a portable reader [21]. The level of signal detected is inversely proportional to the concentration of analyte in the sample. Thus, by comparing the signal obtained from the sample with the signal obtained from a known concentration of analyte, the presence and amount of the target analyte in the sample can be determined [44]. Aptamer-based LFAs have several advantages over traditional antibody-based assays, such as stability, low cost, and ease of development. They have been used for the detection of a wide range of targets, including small molecules, proteins, and even whole cells, in various sample types, such as blood, urine, and saliva [8].

6 Interpretation of the Results

The interpretation of the results varies for sandwich aptamer-based LFA and competitive aptamer-based LFA. If both lines (Test and Control lines) can be seen on sandwich aptamer-based LFA, the test result is positive confirming that the target of interest is present in the sample. Also, if only the C line is visible, the target of interest is not found in the sample in sandwich aptamer-based LFA which gives a negative test result. However, differently than sandwich aptamer-based LFA, the presence of both lines implies a negative test result in competitive aptamer-based LFA indicating that the target of interest is not present in the sample. In addition, if only the C line can be seen in competitive aptamer-based LFA, it gives a positive test result indicating that the target of interest is present in the sample. Besides, not having any lines or only having the T-line makes the test invalid. The basic demonstration of the aptamer-based LFA results for sandwich aptamer-based LFA, competitive aptamer-based LFA, and invalid test can be found in Fig. 3.

7 Applications of Aptamer-Based LFA

As previously mentioned in the text, numerous advantages of aptamer-based LFA enable its usage on a very broad range of different substances.

Aptamers can be effectively used in both diagnostic and therapeutic applications for microorganisms. For instance, label-free aptamer-based LFA is developed for detection of *Listeria monocytogenes* [40]. Also, another bacteria *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 can be identified in a sample [47]. Moreover, nervous necrosis virus [19] and avian influenza H5N2 whole virus particles can be detected by using aptamer-based LFA [14, 19].



Fig. 3 Basic demonstration of aptamer-based LFA results. **a** Positive and negative results of sandwich aptamer-based LFA. **b** Positive and negative results of competitive aptamer-based LFA. **c** Invalid results of aptamer-based LFA

Most highlighted feature of aptamer is being able to detect small molecules that antibodies cannot do. For example, by using CRISPR/Cas12a-mediated aptamer lateral flow assay, detection of ATP can be done [17]. Also, ampicillin is another small molecule, and label-free ampicillin detection is possible by applying cross-recognition with aptamer and C-reactive protein [12].

Aptamer-based LFA can be developed for several chemicals. There are various examples for the detection of toxic molecules in a sample by aptamer-based LFAs. For instance, acetamiprid [22], patulin [39], zearalenone [46] and paraquat residue [20] are some of them. Furthermore, anticoagulant drug dabigatran etexilate, which is a chemical can be identified in the blood sample by aptamer-based LFA [1]. In addition, antibiotics in different samples can also be detected through aptamer-based LFA. Detection of kanamycin [18] and oxytetracycline [3] antibiotics are the two recent examples of it.

Some hormones also can be identified by aptamer-based LFA. For example, cortisol in sweat [7] and salivary [6] can be detected in the sample. Progesterone hormone is another example that can be identified through aptamer-based LFA [2].

Several protein biomarkers can be detected by aptamer-based LFA. Rapid and easy detection of biomarkers is very crucial. For example, in breast cancers, overexpression of HER2 is observed, and it can be detected by aptamer-based LFA [27]. With hybrid LFA, CXCL9 can be detected as a biomarker for antibody-mediated rejection (AMR) after kidney transplantation [34]. Additionally, antibody-free detection of biomarkers of SARS-CoV-2 with aptamer-based LFA is possible [50]. For multiplexed rapid detection of SARS-CoV-2 wild-type and SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant is done using aptamer-based LFA [49]. An acute inflammatory protein called C-reactive protein (CRP) is produced up to 1,000 times more often in infected or inflamed areas [36]. An aptamer-based LFA is developed for the detection of CRP [26]. For early diagnosis of periodontal disease, ODAM detection can be done by aptamer-based LFA [16].

Finally, the aptamer-based LFA can be used in many different areas from diagnostic to detection and can detect a variety of substances from proteins to cells.

8 Conclusion

As smart POC devices, LFAs are becoming increasingly more important and widespread due to increasing population and developing world. The need for easy, rapid, and low-cost diagnostic and detection methods growth. For instance, POC devices such as LFA, which were commercially available, are used for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 in the COVID-19 pandemic instead of PCR. Even though PCR is a gold standard, it requires well-trained people and special laboratory equipment.

In LFA, there are different recognition elements which are mentioned previously in the text. Usually, antibodies are frequently used for it. However, because of the drawbacks of antibodies, aptamer-based LFA are developed. Although antibodies are preferred more in general, using aptamers in LFA is more advantageous. For example, aptamers can be utilized for LFA with no target limitation, long shelf life, lowcost production, in vitro and rapid development, high stability, high reproducibility, and negligible batch-to-batch variations. With the benefits of aptamers in LFA, its detection range for different substances is very broad.

Antibody-based LFAs are commercially available, however, aptamer-based LFAs are still not, besides all studies done. Thus, with all those advantages, it needs to be commercialized and utilized as a smart POC device. To conclude, the aptamer-based LFA can be further developed and combined with new breakthrough technologies and methods for better diagnostic and detection.

References

- Alnajrani MN, Aljohani MM, Chinnappan R, Zourob M, Alsager OA (2022) Highly sensitive and selective lateral flow aptasensor for anti-coagulant dabigatran etexilate determination in blood. Talanta 236:8
- 2. Alnajrani MN, Alsager OA (2019) Lateral flow aptasensor for progesterone: competitive target recognition and displacement of short complementary sequences. Anal Biochem 587:7
- Birader K, Kumar P, Tammineni Y, Barla JA, Reddy S, Suman P (2021) Colorimetric aptasensor for on-site detection of oxytetracycline antibiotic in milk. Food Chem 356:9
- Boehringer HR, O'farrell BJ (2022) Lateral flow assays in infectious disease diagnosis. Clin Chem 68:52–58
- Chen AL, Yang SM (2015) Replacing antibodies with aptamers in lateral flow immunoassay. Biosens Bioelectron 71:230–242
- Dalirirad S, Han D, Steckl AJ (2020) Aptamer-based lateral flow biosensor for rapid detection of salivary cortisol. ACS Omega 5:32890–32898
- Dalirirad S, Steckl AJ (2019) Aptamer-based lateral flow assay for point of care cortisol detection in sweat. Sens Actuators B-Chem 283:79–86
- Geiger A, Burgstaller P, Vondereltz H, Roeder A, Famulok M (1996) RNA aptamers that bind L-arginine with sub-micromolar dissociation constants and high enantioselectivity. Nucl Acids Res 24:1029–1036
- 9. Huang L, Tian SL, Zhao WH, Liu K, Ma X, Guo JH (2021) Aptamer-based lateral flow assay on-site biosensors. Biosens Bioelectron 186:13
- Jaisankar A, Krishnan S, Rangasamy L (2022) Recent developments of aptamer-based lateral flow assays for point-of-care (POC) diagnostics. Anal Biochem 655:22

- 11. Jeyaraj SVV, Loy MJ, Goh KW, Lean YL, Chan SY, Ming LC (2022) Aflatoxin tests in herbal products and its quantification: latest updates. Front Nutr 9:8
- Kaiser L, Weisser J, Kohl M, Deigner HP (2018) Small molecule detection with aptamer based lateral flow assays: applying aptamer-C-reactive protein cross-recognition for ampicillin detection. Sci Rep 8:10
- Kim SH, Choi JW, Kim AR, Lee SC, Yoon MY (2020) Development of ssDNA aptamers for diagnosis and inhibition of the highly pathogenic avian influenza virus subtype H5N1. Biomolecules 10:12
- Kim SH, Lee J, Lee BH, Song CS, Gu MB (2019) Specific detection of avian influenza H5N2 whole virus particles on lateral flow strips using a pair of sandwich-type aptamers. Biosens Bioelectron 134:123–129
- 15. Kong HY, Byun J (2013) Nucleic acid aptamers: new methods for selection, stabilization, and application in biomedical science. Biomol Therapeutics 21:423–434
- Lee BH, Kim SH, Ko Y, Park JC, Ji S, Gu MB (2019) The sensitive detection of ODAM by using sandwich-type biosensors with a cognate pair of aptamers for the early diagnosis of periodontal disease. Biosens Bioelectron 126:122–128
- 17. Li XP, Chen XJ, Mao MX, Peng CF, Wang ZP (2022a) Accelerated CRISPR/Cas12a-based small molecule detection using bivalent aptamer. Biosens Bioelectron 217:8
- Li XP, Qian ZJ, Chang R, Peng CF, Xie ZJ, Wang ZP (2022b) Non-thiolated nucleic acid functionalized gold nanoparticle-based aptamer lateral flow assay for rapid detection of kanamycin. Microchim Acta 189:8
- Liu JX, Qin QW, Zhang XY, Li C, Yu YP, Huang XH, Mukama O, Zeng LW, Wang SW (2020) Development of a novel lateral flow biosensor combined with aptamer-based isolation: application for rapid detection of grouper nervous necrosis virus. Front Microbiol 11:10
- 20. Liu YY, Liu BY, Xia L, Yu HY, Wang QD, Wu YE (2022) Cationic polyelectrolyte as powerful capture molecule in aptamer-based chromatographic strip for rapid visual detection of paraquat residue in agricultural products. Sens Actuators B-Chem 368:9
- 21. Manessis G, Gelasakis AI, Bossis I (2022) Point-of-care diagnostics for farm animal diseases: from biosensors to integrated lab-on-chip devices. Biosens-Basel 12:36
- 22. Mao MX, Xie ZJ, Ma PF, Peng CF, Wang ZP, Wei XL, Liu GD (2022) Design and optimizing gold nanoparticle-cDNA nanoprobes for aptamer-based lateral flow assay: application to rapid detection of acetamiprid. Biosens Bioelectron 207:7
- 23. Martin DR, Sibuyi NR, Dube P, Fadaka AO, Cloete R, Onani M, Madiehe AM, Meyer M (2021) Aptamer-based diagnostic systems for the rapid screening of TB at the point-of-care. Diagnostics 11:24
- Martiskainen I, Juntunen E, Salminen T, Vuorenpaa K, Bayoumy S, Vuorinen T, Khanna N, Pettersson K, Batra G, Talha SM (2021) Double-antigen lateral flow immunoassay for the detection of anti-HIV-1 and-2 antibodies using upconverting nanoparticle reporters. Sensors 21:17
- Nimjee SM, White RR, Becker RC, Sullenger BA (2017) Aptamers as therapeutics. In: Insel PA (ed) Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology, vol 57. Palo Alto, Annual Reviews
- 26. Phung NL, Walter JG, Jonczyk R, Seiler LK, Scheper T, Blume C (2020) Development of an aptamer-based lateral flow assay for the detection of C-reactive protein using microarray technology as a prescreening platform. ACS Comb Sci 22:617–629
- Ranganathan V, Srinivasan S, Singh A, Derosa MC (2020) An aptamer-based colorimetric lateral flow assay for the detection of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2). Anal Biochem 588:10
- Raston NHA, Nguyen VT, Gu MB (2017) A new lateral flow strip assay (LFSA) using a pair of aptamers for the detection of Vaspin. Biosens Bioelectron 93:21–25
- 29. Reid R, Chatterjee B, Das SJ, Ghosh S, Sharma TK (2020) Application of aptamers as molecular recognition elements in lateral flow assays. Anal Biochem 593:15
- Rhouati A, Teniou A, Badea M, Marty JL (2021) Analysis of recent bio-/nanotechnologies for coronavirus diagnosis and therapy. Sensors 21:16

- Sajid M, Kawde AN, Daud M (2015) Designs, formats and applications of lateral flow assay: a literature review. J Saudi Chem Soc 19:689–705
- 32. Sanchez-Bascones E, Parra F, Lobo-Castanon MJ (2021) Aptamers against viruses: selection strategies and bioanalytical applications. Trac-Trends Anal Chem 143:22
- Schuling T, Eilers A, Scheper T, Walter J (2018) Aptamer-based lateral flow assays. aims. Bioengineering 5:78–102
- 34. Seiler LK, Phung NL, Nikolin C, Immenschuh S, Erck C, Kaufeld J, Haller H, Falk CS, Jonczyk R, Lindner P, Thoms S, Siegl J, Mayer G, Feederle R, Blume CA (2022) An antibody-aptamerhybrid lateral flow assay for detection of CXCL9 in antibody-mediated rejection after kidney transplantation. Diagnostics 12:17
- 35. Son SU, Seo SB, Jane S, Choi J, Lim JW, Lee DK, Kim H, Seo S, Kang T, Jung J, Lim EK (2019) Naked-eye detection of pandemic influenza a (pH1N1) virus by polydiacetylene (PDA)-based paper sensor as a point-of-care diagnostic platform. Sens Actuators B-Chem 291:257–265
- Sproston NR, Ashworth JJ (2018) Role of C-reactive protein at sites of inflammation and infection. Front Immunol 9:11
- 37. Stead SL, Ashwin H, Johnston B, Tarbin JA, Sharman M, Kay J, Keely BJ (2010) An RNAaptamer-based assay for the detection and analysis of malachite green and Leucomalachite green residues in fish tissue. Anal Chem 82:2652–2660
- Syedmoradi L, Norton ML, Omidfar K (2021) Point-of-care cancer diagnostic devices: from academic research to clinical translation. Talanta 225:24
- Tang XQ, Zhang Q, Pividori MI, Zhang ZW, Marty JL, Catanante G (2022) A sensitive aptasensor using biotin-streptavidin system for patulin detection in apple juice. Biosens-Basel 12:12
- 40. Tasbasi BB, Guner BC, Sudagidan M, Ucak S, Kavruk M, Ozalp VC (2019) Label-free lateral flow assay for Listeria monocytogenes by aptamer-gated release of signal molecules. Anal Biochem 587:5
- Thiviyanathan V, Gorenstein DG (2012) Aptamers and the next generation of diagnostic reagents. Proteomics Clin Appl 6:563–573
- 42. Wang KF, Wang ML, Ma T, Li WY, Zhang HY (2023) Review on the selection of aptamers and application in paper-based sensors. Biosens-Basel 13:22
- Wang L, Liu XJ, Zhang Q, Zhang CZ, Liu Y, Tu K, Tu J (2012) Selection of DNA aptamers that bind to four organophosphorus pesticides. Biotech Lett 34:869–874
- 44. Wang T, Chen LM, Chikkanna A, Chen SX, Brusius I, Sbuh N, Veedu RN (2021) Development of nucleic acid aptamer-based lateral flow assays: a robust platform for cost-effective point-ofcare diagnosis. Theranostics 11:5174–5196
- 45. Wilson DS, Szostak JW (1999) In vitro selection of functional nucleic acids. Annu Rev Biochem 68:611–647
- 46. Wu SJ, Liu LH, Duan N, Li Q, Zhou Y, Wang ZP (2018) Aptamer-based lateral flow test strip for rapid detection of Zearalenone in corn samples. J Agric Food Chem 66:1949–1954
- 47. Wu W, Zhao SM, Mao YP, Fang ZY, Lu XW, Zeng LW (2015) A sensitive lateral flow biosensor for Escherichia coli O157:H7 detection based on aptamer mediated strand displacement amplification. Anal Chim Acta 861:62–68
- Xu H, Mao X, Zeng QX, Wang SF, Kawde AN, Liu GD (2009) Aptamer-functionalized gold nanoparticles as probes in a dry-reagent strip biosensor for protein analysis. Anal Chem 81:669– 675
- Yang LF, Kacherovsky N, Liang JY, Salipante SJ, Pun SH (2022a) SCORe: SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant RBD-binding DNA aptamer for multiplexed rapid detection and pseudovirus neutralization. Anal Chem 94:12683–12690
- Yang LF, Kacherovsky N, Panpradist N, Wan RX, Liang J, Zhang B, Salipante SJ, Lutz BR, Pun SH (2022b) Aptamer sandwich lateral flow assay (AptaFlow) for antibody-free SARS-CoV-2 detection. Anal Chem 94:7278–7285
- Yu HX, Alkhamis O, Canoura J, Liu YZ, Xiao Y (2021) Advances and challenges in smallmolecule DNA aptamer isolation, characterization, and sensor development. Angew Chem-Int Edn 60:16800–16823

CRISPR-Based Point-of-Care Testing (POCT) Devices for Detection of Opportunistic Pathogens



97

Joydeep Chakraborty and Hironmoy Sarkar

Abstract Pathogens are microorganisms that can cause disease in humans or animals. There are many microorganisms that in general do not infect or act as commensals, but in a situation of compromised immunity of the host, these microorganisms cause diseases. These types of pathogens are called opportunistic pathogens; they are mainly bacteria or fungi, but sometimes, protozoa and viruses can also behave like opportunistic ones. Many times routine detection methods even with PCR or isothermal techniques are time-intensive and require sophisticated instruments, and highly proficient personnel, which makes this type of method not very useful in point-of-care treatment (POCT). A new emerging technology based on Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)-associated nuclease (Cas) sensing (CRISPR-Cas) system is a powerful tool for anything from genome editing to disease-causing pathogen identification. This specific and sensitive system has a high potential to become one of the leading detection systems for POCT. This chapter summarizes the various methods of detection based on CRISPR-Cas system on different opportunistic pathogens.

Keywords CRISPR-Cas based detection system • Detection of opportunistic pathogens: bacteria • Protozoa • Fungus • Virus • Point-of-care testing (POCT) devices

1 Introduction

An opportunistic infection arises when pathogens like bacteria, fungi, protozoa, or viruses take advantage of unavailable previous opportunities. Numerous circumstances, including a compromised immune system, cancer treatment, altered microbiome, or violated integumentary barriers like penetrating trauma [63] might lead to

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials*

for Point-of-Care Testing, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_5

J. Chakraborty · H. Sarkar (🖂)

Cell biology and bacteriology laboratory, Department of Microbiology, Raiganj University, Raiganj, West Bengal 733134, India e-mail: h.sarkar@raiganjuniversity.ac.in

these opportunities. In healthy hosts with a robust immune system, the majority of these opportunistic infections do not always cause sickness, but in certain situations, may function as commensals until the immune system's homeostasis is broken [64]. Commensal bacteria like S. epidermidis, S. pneumoniae Corvnebacterium spp. are among the most prevalent opportunistic pathogens [27]. Furthermore, there are a few opportunistic infections that cause mild to moderate disease in healthy individuals and can cause severe diseases in those with compromised immune systems [30]. Infectious illnesses account for approximately 22% of all human fatalities, causing widespread public anguish and significant economic loss [39]. The quick identification and surveillance of infectious diseases now depend heavily on fast molecular detection. This can be useful to prevent further transmission and better management of treatment [6]. Point-of-care testing (POCT) will help in making decisions more rapidly, improving service effectiveness, and cutting costs in areas with scarce resources [46]. A wide range of tests for identifying signature regions of nucleic acid from pathogens has arisen [29], including methods based on PCR/qPCR, isothermal amplification, and next-generation sequencing [42, 54, 79]. However, these procedures are time-consuming, expensive, limited specificity, and need specialized, large, and expensive equipment with high-level technical competence making them incompatible with fast point-of-care testing thus prohibiting their widespread usage at POCT [67]. Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)associated nuclease (Cas) sensing (CRISPR-Cas) is potentially a new nucleic acid detection technology [11]. Cas as an effector protein is employed in this approach and has extremely specific target sequence-recognition elements that are paired with a variety of ways for read-out (Fig. 1) for on-site POCT [66].

Bacteria and archaea naturally possess CRISPR-Cas systems, which serve as an adaptive defense mechanism for them against invasive foreign nucleic acids. [2, 23]. Bacterial CRISPR-Cas detects and destroys foreign genomic material mostly from viruses, which can be harmful to them [57]. These systems are typically directed by guide RNA (gRNA) which can also be termed CRISPR RNA (crRNA), that identifies the target and leads the effector proteins (Cas proteins) to identify and break foreign DNA sequence [24]. This mechanism functions in three stages: adaptation or spacer acquisition, crRNA processing, and interference [8]. The spacer acquisition step involves excising a very short segment of the DNA or RNA, called a protospacer, from the foreign nucleic acid during the first invasion. The protospacer is situated just a short distance upstream of a sequence called protospacer adjacent motif or PAM. Then the protospacer gets inserted into the CRISPR array or bacterial genome as a new spacer (Fig. 2) of the bacterial genomic region [18, 43]. crRNA biogenesis is the second step, which involves transcribing pre-CRISPR RNA (pre-crRNA) from the CRISPR array and cleaving it into small mature crRNAs using specific endoribonucleases [47]. Each crRNA has a complementary region of a spacer sequence from the CRISPR array. In the third phase, interference entails cleaving foreign DNA or RNA (in the subsequent invasion) that has a protospacer that has complementary base pairs with the spacer sequence in the crRNA [13]. crRNAs identify and bind with the protospacer region of foreign DNA or RNA to make a complex. That results in the cleavage of the complex by Cas nuclease [38].


Fig. 1 Isolation and detection of opportunistic pathogens by CRISPR-Cas system. After the opportunistic pathogen was isolated from the patients, a specific target gene was isolated and amplified. The CRISPR-Cas system was then employed to detect different target genes by means of a variety of detection techniques, including fluorescence, lateral flow strips, luminescence, electrochemical signal, and colorimetry

Beyond the biological impact of these reprogrammable enzymatic technologies, CRISPR-Cas has sparked interest among scientists in several research fields where selectivity or specificity is essential to the operation, such as genome editing and the critical creation of innovative biosensing devices [77]. CRISPR-Cas systems have therefore been swiftly adapted for the construction of biosensors and biosensing systems including POCT devices for the detection of various pathogens. A POCT device based on CRISPR-Cas for opportunistic pathogens, which is neglected for many a time, will be an immense help for managing the disease and diagnostics to already overburdened health care system. This review will summarize the detection of different opportunistic pathogens like bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and viruses by CRISPR-based point-of-care testing (POCT) devices.



Fig. 2 The bacterial CRISPR-Cas system is composed of short repeats separated by spacers and surrounded by Cas genes. After the entry of a phage genome into the bacterial cell (First exposure), a protospacer, adjacent to PAM, is introduced as a new spacer in the bacterial CRISPR array. PrecrRNAs are produced by transcription, and processed to produce mature crRNAs. Cas proteins and crRNAs made the effector complexes which act as guides (antisense) searching for the phage DNA, allowing the phage genome (Second exposure) to be degraded by the CRISPR-Cas system

2 CRISPR-Based POCT Detection on Opportunistic Bacteria

Opportunistic bacterial infection involves a large spectrum of microorganisms that can induce an extensive range of diseases. Multiple CRISPR-Cas POC systems are being developed for the majority of well-known opportunistic bacterial pathogens, including *M. tuberculosis, S. aureus, P. aeruginosa, S. enteritidis, S. typhimurium, and S. pyogenes* [8, 55, 62] (Table 1). The majority of targets are bacterial nucleic acid sequences [1, 28], while others utilized non-nucleic acid targets based on aptamers [58] and antibodies [7]. Nucleic acid detections mainly happen through PCR or isothermal methods of amplification. The amplification approach is not only time intensive but also risks airborne interference, therefore amplification-free techniques are becoming more prevalent nowadays. To increase sensitivity, the CRISPR-Cas systems are paired with target amplification systems [26]. To maximize the detection signal, most bacterial studies relied on the trans-cleavage capabilities of Cas enzymes to cleave reporter probes non-specifically [10]. Cas enzymes, Cas12a, Cas13a, and Cas9 are used for bacterial detection. Among the different detection methods, fluorescence sensing is the most widely used detection method. It has

advantages like specific background-free detection, which significantly reduces the background noise when contrasted to other optical technologies [37]. Electrochemical biosensors, lateral flow biosensors, and others such as gel electrophoresis, and colorimetric assays were found to be less regularly used in our study. Turnaround times were observed to range from 30 min [21] to 4 h [72, 73, 80]. The amplification-free techniques employing the dCas9 enzyme were credited with the quick turnaround time. CRISPR-depended DNA-FISH technology for Methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) can be detected with the quickest turnaround time of 30 min [21]. The limit of detection (LoD) of the CRISPR-Cas assays was assessed using three distinct concentrations: CFU per mL [1], copies per mL [53] and molarity [28]. Meanwhile, the vast majority of the research provided the limit of detection (LoD) in the form of CFU/mL, with eight studies reporting an LoD of 1 CFU/mL (Table 1).

3 Detection of Opportunistic Protozoa by CRISPR-Based POCT

A prominent intestinal protozoan parasite of zoonotic origin is Cryptosporidium parvum [51] and it is also a well-known opportunistic pathogen [14] that may induce cryptosporidiosis in animals and humans globally. It has been established that, after *Rotavirus*, cryptosporidiosis is the second leading cause of child fatalities [52, 61]. Prolonged cryptosporidiosis is seen in immuno-compromised people, though the illness is often self-limiting [50]. One of the most common varieties of *C. parvum* is the IId subtype family (SF) [68]. Some systems based on CRISPR-Cas were created with great reprogrammability, responsiveness, and precision. Integrated recombinase polymerase amplification (RPA) based Cas12a trans-cleavage system (termed ReCTC) was developed by researchers [76]. This technique may detect as low as a single copy of a cloned 60-kDa glycoprotein (GP60) gene of a C. parvum in a clinical fecal sample. For the detection of the output signals, it is possible to use a lateral flow strip (LFS) and the unaided eye to detect fluorescence under blue light for on-site identification. This ReCTC-based diagnostic method has demonstrated no cross-reaction with the other subtype families of C. parvum or any other prevalent intestinal protozoa [76]. This work developed a new and novel technique for the detection of C. parvum without the use of experienced personnel or costly instruments.

The researchers described an extremely sensitive CRISPR-Cas12a-powered immune-sensing technique for *Cryptosporidium* detection that combines antibody-based identification with CRISPR-Cas12a-based fluorescence signal amplification via an antibody-DNA conjugate [32]. This method detects complete *C. parvum* oocysts with a detection scale of a minimum of 6.25 to a maximum of 1600 oocysts/ mL and the highest responsiveness of one oocyst per sample. This study demonstrates the use of a novel CRISPR-Cas-based biosensing technology for significant assessment of water potability and detecting entire pathogens.

Tab	le 1 List of (CRISPR-Cas syste	area for the	e detection	of different	t opportunistic pa	athogens like	bacteria, fungi	, protozoa,	and vii	sn	
ů	CRISPR-Cas	Methods	Bacteria	Trans	Reporter	Amplification	Detection	Required	Targets	Assay	LOD/detection	References
	enzymes			cutung activity	propes		memods	Instruments		(min)	range	
-	Cas12a	CRISPR-MTB	M. tuberculosis H37Ra	`	ssDNA	RPA	Ц	qPCR machine	IS6110	90	50 CFU/mL	Ξ
6	AacCas12b	TB-QUICK	M. tuberculosis H37Ra	>	ssDNA	LAMP	Н	Real-time PCR	IS6111	120	1.3 copy/µl	[53]
ŝ	LbCas12a	NR	M. tuberculosis	>	ssDNA	RPA	F	Real-time PCR	IS1081	240	4.48 fmol/L	[74]
4	LbaCas12a	NR	M. tuberculosis H37Rv	`	ssDNA	RPA	Gel electrophoresis	No	IS6110	40	1 copy/μL	[32]
ŝ	FnCas12a	NR	M. abscessus	`	ssDNA	PCR	ц	Thermal cycler & fluorescence reader	rpoB & erm (41)	~ 240	NR	[72]
9	dCas9	NR	S. aureus, A. baumannii & K. pneumoniae	×	Raman reporter: MB	ON	SERS	Spectrometer	spa, pgi & uge	60	14.1 fM, 9.7 fM & 8.1 fM	[28]
7	LbCas12a	NR	S. aureus	\$	ssDNA	PCR	Elementary OR AND INHIBIT logic gates	Microplate reader	femA	120	10 ³ CFU/mL	[49]
×	Cas12a	E-Si CRISPR	S. aureus (MRSA)	`	ssDNA	No	EB	SPGE & impedance analyzer	mecA	90	3.5 fM	[62]
6	dCas9	DNA-FISH	S. aureus (MRSA)	×	SYBR Green I	No	Ч	Fluorescence spectrophotometer	mecA	30	10 CFU/mL	[21]
												(continued)

102

aureus activity strive transcription S. aureus * ssRNA PCR & teverse F S. aureus * ssDNA PCR & teverse F S. aureus * ssDNA PCR & teverse F S. aureus * ssDNA PCR & teverse F B. aureus * ssDNA PCR & teverse F B. aureus * ssDNA PCR & teverse F B. aureus * * ssDNA PCR & teverse F B. coli & S. * * ssDNA PCR & teverse F B. coli & S. * * ssDNA PCR & teverse F B. coli L. * * ssDNA RPA F B. aureus & V. * * ssDNA F P. aeruginosu * * ssDNA LMP B. aeruginosu S. * * ssDNA F
B detection

Tab	ole 1 (continu	(pən										
No	CRISPR-Cas enzymes	Methods	Bacteria	Trans cutting activity	Reporter probes	Amplification	Detection methods	Required instruments	Targets	Assay time (min)	LOD/detection range	References
17	LbaCas12a	BCA-RPA-Cas12a	S. typhimurium	>	ssDNA	RPA	Ľ	Blue light	Antibodies for S. typhimurium	90	1 CFU/mL	E
18	Cas12a	NR	S. typhimurium	``	ssDNA	LAMP	ц	Milk warmer & UV lamp	gDNA	09	800 CFU/mL	[11]
19	Cas9 Cis (dsDNA)	Cas9nAR	S. typhimurium	×	SYBR Green I	Cas9nAR	н	Fluorescence reader	imA	60	1 copy/10μL	[69]
20	LbCas12a	NR	Salmonella spp.	TMB-H ₂ O ₂ reaction (Blue to yellow color change)	Gquadruplex hemin (DNAzyme)	RPA	Colorimetric analysis	Smartphone (Color Picker APP)	imA	180	1 CFU/mL	[75]
21	Cas9 Cis (dsDNA)	NR	S. typhimurium & E. coli	×	ssDNA	Cas9nAR	LFB	Test strip reader	UidA & invA	180	100 CFU/mL	[04]
22	LwCas13a	PCF detection	Salmonella spp.	`	ssRNA	PCR & reverse transcription	Ц	Fluorescence reader & Thermal cycler	imA	120	10 CFU/mL	[17]
23	LbCas12a	NR	Salmonella spp.	`	ssDNA	PCR	ц	NIR irradiator & colorimeter	imA	90	1 CFU/mL	[40]
												(continued)

104

Tab	ole 1 (continu	ed)										
No	CRISPR-Cas enzymes	Methods	Bacteria	Trans cutting activity	Reporter probes	Amplification	Detection methods	Required instruments	Targets	Assay time (min)	LOD/detection range	References
24	Cas14a1	CMP	S. pyogenes & E. typhi	`	ssDNA	Reverse-transcription & APCR	щ	Fluorescence plate reader	16S rRNA gene V3 hypervariable region	NR	10 ³ & 10 ⁴ CFU/ mL	[19]
25	FnCas12a	ReCTC	C. parvum IId SF	>	ssDNA	Nested PCR	щ	LFS	GP60	~60	10 oocysts per gram (OPG)	[76]
26	CRISPR-Cas12a	NR	C. parvum	>	ssDNA	No	ц	Fluorescence plate reader	Whole cell	~150	6.25–1600 oocysts/mL	[34]
27	LbCas12a	RPA-CRISPR-Cas12a	T. gondii	>	ssDNA	RPA	ц	Fluorometer or lateral-flow strip	B1	~60	3.3 copies/µL	[31]
28	Cas12a	RAA-Cas12a-Tg	Toxoplasma gondii	>	dsDNA	RAA	ц	Fluorescence reader	529 bp-RE	~60	1 fM	[41]
29	LwCas13a	RAA-Cas13a-LFD	T. gondii	>	ssRNA	RAA	ц	LFD (Naked eye/ F)	530 bp-RE	120	$1 \times 10^{-6} \text{ ng/}\mu\text{L}$	[78]
30	LwCas13a	NR	A. fumigatus	`	ssRNA	RPA	ц	Fluorescence detector	Internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region	NR	3 copies/L	[35]
												(continued)

Tab	he 1 (continu	ied)										
No	CRISPR-Cas enzymes	Methods	Bacteria	Trans cutting activity	Reporter probes	Amplification	Detection methods	Required instruments	Targets	Assay time (min)	LOD/detection range	References
31	Cas12a	μReaCH-PAD	Candida or Aspergillus	`	ssDNA	RAA	Microfluidic chip (paper based)	Visual readout	18 s rRNA fragments	110	10 CFU/ mL (Visual),4.90 and 4.13 CFU/mL (Calculated)	[22]
32	LwaCas13a	CRISPR-Cas13 SHERLOCK	CMV	`	ssRNA	RPA	Ц	Fluorescence reader	Conserved region in the CMV UL54 gene	60	0.6 aM	[25]

A common opportunistic illness brought on by *Toxoplasma gondii* puts human health in peril and has a significant negative economic impact on the animal industry. *T. gondii* is an obligate intracellular parasitic protozoan that infects a variety of vertebrate hosts, including humans. *T. gondii*, an Apicomplexa phylum member, causes toxoplasmosis, an opportunistic infection in humans with compromised immune systems [16], as well as congenital illness in infected babies [20]. Researchers used RPA and a CRISPR-Cas12a system to create a compact one-tube detection of *T. gondii* [31]. *T. gondii* may be effectively extracted from low-concentration samples using a microfiber filter device made of glass. The designed RPA-CRISPR-Cas12a system is highly selective for the *T. gondii* B1 gene. A fluorometer or lateral-flow strip can be used to analyze the visual signal. The detection limit was reported to be 3.3 copies/L. This technique may be used to quickly detect *T. gondii* in extremely contaminated landfill leachate.

In another work, a novel technique called RAA-Cas12a-Tg was designed by the combined employment of recombinase-aided amplification (RAA) with CRISPR-Cas12a [40]. The 529 bp repeat element was considered as the target element for this system in order to identify *T. gondii* oocysts. A portable fluorescence reader may be used to detect signal output. This system's sensitivity was reported to be as low as 1 fM with good specificity. This system effectively detected *T. gondii* in less than one hour while being more responsive than the conventional PCR system-based technologies.

To identify the *T. gondii* 529 bp repeat element, researchers created a quick visual detection technique that combined recombinase-aided amplification (RAA) followed by a lateral flow dipstick (LFD) device with CRISPR-Cas13a fluorescence (RAA-Cas13a-LFD) [78]. The RAACas13a-LFD test was carried out within 2 h in an incubation block at 37 °C, and the result may be observed with the naked eye using LFD. The limit of detection of the RAA-Cas13a-LFD was 1×10^{-6} ng/µL and there was no observed cross-reactivity seen with human blood DNA or other significant parasites. All of the aforementioned systems listed above demonstrated rapidity, sturdiness, and on-site capabilities for detecting nucleic acids, making them viable tools for potential deployments in far-off places (Table 1).

4 Detection by CRISPR-Based POCT on Opportunistic Fungus

Invasive fungus (IF) is now a major concern for human health [5]. *Aspergillus fumigatus* represents the most prevalent *Aspergillus* species isolated in people, and it is associated with Invasive Aspergillosis (IA) [12]. In immunocompromised individuals, it is also an opportunistic human pathogen that can cause potentially fatal invasive infections and is linked to severe asthma and sinusitis [48]. Culture-based diagnostic tests of invasive fungus, which is among the most generally used medical screening approach, has drawbacks such as lengthy and complex operation, and the requirement for experienced employees, which can postpone the detection of the concerned infection. The sensitivity of the lower respiratory tract fungal cultures in diagnosing invasive pulmonary aspergillosis (IPA) is likewise relatively poor [60]. As a result, the adoption of CRISPR-Cas-based technology as an efficient and accurate diagnostic tool for infectious illnesses shows considerable potential. However, there isn't a lot of pertinent information available right now on the diagnostic strategy of an *A. fumigatus* infection using CRISPR-Cas technology.

Zhengtu Li devised an extremely sensitive and specific approach for the consistent and quick recognition of *A. fumigatus* utilizing the CRISPR-Cas13a system [35]. A conserved internal transcribed spacer region or ITS of *A. fumigatus* was employed in this work to develop crRNA and a specific RPA primer sequence conjugated with T7 promoter for the CRISPR assay. The CRISPR assay included an RPA step followed by a Cas13a detection phase. During the detection phase, the final reaction was continuously kept at 37 °C in order to observe for an increased fluorescence signal. This technique's sensitivity was reported to be 3 copies/L.

In another work, Di Huang et al. described the development of a microfluidic rulerreadout and CRISPR Cas12a-re-joined hydrogel-integrated paper-based analytical device (ReaCH-PAD) for visual and quantifiable point-of-care detection of invasive fungus (IF) [22]. As a target, conserved 18 s rRNA fragments from *Candida* or *Aspergillus* were integrated with PAM sites for Cas12a recognition. This device used a CRISPR Cas12a employed target identification system, a DNA hydrogel coupled to an enzymatic cascade for the amplification of the detection signal, and microfluidic chips (paper-based) for visual output. *Aspergillus* and *Candida* can be detected visually by unassisted eyes using ReaCH-PAD at concentrations as low as 10 CFU/mL. The calculated limit of detection for 1 mL samples was 4.90 and 4.13 CFU/mL, respectively. When compared to qRT-PCR, quantitative detection values on a scale of $10-10^4$ CFU/mL may be achieved with excellent selectivity and precision (Table 1).

5 Detection of Virus by CRISPR-Based POCT

A major global cause of morbidity and a serious threat to humanity today is viral infections. Although numerous viral diagnostic techniques and antiviral treatments have been created over time, certain viral illnesses are still difficult to treat [65]. CRISPR-based diagnostic techniques have attracted the most interest in the field of viral infection [3]. There have been several reports on field deployable CRISPR-based diagnostic platforms for viruses, including SHERLOCK, which can detect Zika virus (ZIKV) and dengue virus (DENV) [45], DETECTR, which has been used to identify different HPV strains [9], and HOLMES, which can detect viruses (DNA and RNA) and also has great power of strain differentiation with tremendous sensitivity [33] but there are very few reports regarding the detection of opportunistic viral infections. The most prevalent viral opportunistic infections in people with acquired immunodeficiency virus syndrome (AIDS) are caused by Cytomegalovirus

(CMV) and BK polyomavirus (BKV). Clinical CMV illness has been identified in up to 40% of people with advanced HIV infection [15, 56]. These are two prevalent opportunistic viruses that are extremely important for kidney transplant recipients and other immunologically compromised individuals. Michael M. Kaminski created a CRISPR-based diagnostic method for Cytomegalovirus (CMV) and BK polyomavirus (BKV) [25]. They obtained DNA from the infected patients to screen for active infections of BKV and CMV. Following that, a modified SHERLOCK methodology was used to identify BKV and CMV. Highly conserved sections of the BKV and CMV genome (conserved area in the UL54 gene) were amplified utilizing isothermal recombinase polymerase amplification (RPA). Then LwaCas13a was directed to the target sequence using a crRNA corresponding to 28 nucleotides of the RPA amplified product. When the target was detected, Cas13 was activated, resulting in the collateral cleavage of an oligonucleotide. Fluorescence signals can then be detected, which is directly correlated with the initial load of the concerned target pathogen (Table 1).

6 Conclusion

Nowadays, opportunistic infections are a major concern for human health. They are caused by a diverse spectrum of pathogens and can result in a wide variety of diseases. Both extensive public distress and considerable economic loss are being brought on by it. Fast molecular detection has become essential for locating and tracking these diseases, as well as providing up-to-date disease information to speed up treatment. In the current developing landscape of opportunistic infections, the CRISPR-Cas-based pathogen recognition technologies are a very potent and sophisticated approach with high precision and responsiveness and could be of significant importance in early diagnosis. In this study, we discovered several methods for detecting opportunistic infections caused by bacteria, fungi, parasites, or viruses that were established based on CRISPR-Cas-mediated systems. The devices demonstrated a high level of specificity and sensitivity. They are portable and produce visible results in a very short period, making them suitable for use in potentially field-deployable POCT devices.

References

- Ai J-W, Zhou X, Xu T, Yang M, Chen Y, He G-Q, Pan N, Cai Y, Li Y, Wang X, Su H, Wang T, Zeng W, Zhang W-H (2019) CRISPR-based rapid and ultra-sensitive diagnostic test for Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Emerg Microbes Infect 8:1361–1369. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 22221751.2019.1664939
- Barrangou R, Fremaux C, Deveau H, Richards M, Boyaval P, Moineau S, Romero DA, Horvath P (2007) CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. Science (80-) 315:1709–1712. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1138140

- Bhattacharyya RP, Thakku SG, Hung DT (2018) Harnessing CRISPR effectors for infectious disease diagnostics. ACS Infect. Dis. 4:1278–1282. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsinfecdis.8b0 0170
- Bonini A, Poma N, Vivaldi F, Biagini D, Bottai D, Tavanti A, Di Francesco F (2021) A label-free impedance biosensing assay based on CRISPR/Cas12a collateral activity for bacterial DNA detection. J Pharm Biomed Anal 204:114268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2021.114268
- Bretagne S, Sitbon K, Desnos-Ollivier M, Garcia-Hermoso D, Letscher-Bru V, Cassaing S, Millon L, Morio F, Gangneux J-P, Hasseine L, Favennec L, Cateau E, Bailly E et al, French Mycoses Study Group, 2022. active surveillance program to increase awareness on invasive fungal diseases: the French RESSIF network (2012–2018). MBio 13:e0092022. https://doi. org/10.1128/mbio.00920-22
- Broadhurst MJ, Brooks TJG, Pollock NR (2016) Diagnosis of ebola virus disease: past, present, and future. Clin Microbiol Rev 29:773–793. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00003-16
- Cai Q, Wang R, Qiao Z, Yang W (2021) Single-digit Salmonella detection with the naked eye using bio-barcode immunoassay coupled with recombinase polymerase amplification and a CRISPR-Cas12a system. Analyst 146:5271–5279. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1AN00717C
- Chakraborty J, Chaudhary AA, Khan SUD, Rudayni HA, Rahaman SM, Sarkar H (2022) CRISPR/Cas-based biosensor as a new age detection method for pathogenic bacteria. ACS Omega 7:39562–39573. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSOMEGA.2C04513
- Chen JS, Ma E, Harrington LB, Da Costa M, Tian X, Palefsky JM, Doudna JA (2018) CRISPR-Cas12a target binding unleashes indiscriminate single-stranded DNase activity. Science 360:436–439. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aar6245
- Chen K, Shen Z, Wang G, Gu W, Zhao S, Lin Z, Liu W, Cai Y, Mushtaq G, Jia J, Wan C, Yan T (2022) Research progress of CRISPR-based biosensors and bioassays for molecular diagnosis. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2022.986233
- Choi JH, Shin M, Yang L, Conley B, Yoon J, Lee SN, Lee KB, Choi JW (2021) Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats-mediated amplification-free detection of viral DNAs using surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy-active nanoarray. ACS Nano 15:13475–13485. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACSNANO.1C03975/SUPPL_FILE/NN1C03975_SI_001.PDF
- 12. Dagenais TRT, Keller NP (2009) Pathogenesis of Aspergillus fumigatus in Invasive Aspergillosis. Clin Microbiol Rev 22:447–465. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00055-08
- Deveau H, Garneau JE, Moineau S (2010) CRISPR/Cas system and its role in phage-bacteria interactions. Annu Rev Microbiol 64:475–493. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.112408. 134123
- Feng X, Rich SM, Tzipori S, Widmer G (2002) Experimental evidence for genetic recombination in the opportunistic pathogen Cryptosporidium parvum. Mol Biochem Parasitol 119:55–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-6851(01)00393-0
- Fishman JA (2017) Infection in organ transplantation. Am J Transplant 17:856–879. https:// doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14208
- Fox BA, Rommereim LM, Guevara RB, Falla A, Hortua Triana MA, Sun Y, Bzik DJ (2016) The toxoplasma gondii Rhoptry Kinome is essential for chronic infection. MBio 7:193–209. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00193-16
- 17. Gao S, Liu J, Li Z, Ma Y, Wang J (2021) Sensitive detection of foodborne pathogens based on CRISPR-Cas13a. J Food Sci 86:2615–2625. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.15745
- Garneau JE, Dupuis MÈ, Villion M, Romero DA, Barrangou R, Boyaval P, Fremaux C, Horvath P, Magadán AH, Moineau S (2010) The CRISPR/cas bacterial immune system cleaves bacteriophage and plasmid DNA. Nature 468:67–71. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09523
- Ge X, Meng T, Tan X, Wei Y, Tao Z, Yang Z, Song F, Wang P, Wan Y (2021) Cas14a1-mediated nucleic acid detectifon platform for pathogens. Biosens Bioelectron 189:113350. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bios.2021.113350
- Guerina NG, Hsu HW, Meissner HC, Maguire JH, Lynfield R, Stechenberg B, Abroms I, Pasternack MS, Hoff R, Eaton RB (1994) Neonatal serologic screening and early treatment for congenital toxoplasma Gondii infection. The New England Regional toxoplasma working group. N Engl J Med 330:1858–1863. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199406303302604

- Guk K, Keem JO, Hwang SG, Kim H, Kang T, Lim EK, Jung J (2017) A facile, rapid and sensitive detection of MRSA using a CRISPR-mediated DNA FISH method, antibody-like dCas9/sgRNA complex. Biosens Bioelectron 95:67–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2017. 04.016
- Huang D, Ni D, Fang M, Shi Z, Xu Z (2021) Microfluidic ruler-readout and CRISPR Cas12aresponded hydrogel-integrated paper-based analytical devices (μReaCH-PAD) for visible quantitative point-of-care testing of invasive Fungi. Anal Chem 93:16965–16973. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.analchem.1c04649
- Jinek M, Chylinski K, Fonfara I, Hauer M, Doudna JA, Charpentier E (2012) A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science (80-) 337:816– 821. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1225829
- Jinek M, Jiang F, Taylor DW, Sternberg SH, Kaya E, Ma E, Anders C, Hauer M, Zhou K, Lin S, Kaplan M, Iavarone AT, Charpentier E, Nogales E, Doudna JA (2014) Structures of Cas9 endonucleases reveal RNA-mediated conformational activation. Science (80-) 343. https://doi. org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1247997
- Kaminski MM, Alcantar MA, Lape IT, Greensmith R, Huske AC, Valeri JA, Marty FM, Klämbt V, Azzi J, Akalin E, Riella LV, Collins JJ (2020) A CRISPR-based assay for the detection of opportunistic infections post-transplantation and for the monitoring of transplant rejection. Nat Biomed Eng 4:601–609. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41551-020-0546-5
- Kang T, Lu J, Yu T, Long Y, Liu G (2022) Advances in nucleic acid amplification techniques (NAATs): COVID-19 point-of-care diagnostics as an example. Biosens Bioelectron 206:114109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2022.114109
- Khan R, Petersen FC, Shekhar S (2019) Commensal bacteria: an emerging player in defense against respiratory pathogens. Front Immunol 10:1203. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2019. 01203
- Kim H, Lee S, Seo HW, Kang B, Moon J, Lee KG, Yong D, Kang H, Jung J, Lim E-K, Jeong J, Park HG, Ryu C-M, Kang T (2020) Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeatsmediated surface-enhanced raman scattering assay for multidrug-resistant bacteria. ACS Nano 14:17241–17253. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.0c07264
- Kosack CS, Page AL, Klatser PR (2017) A guide to aid the selection of diagnostic tests. Bull World Health Organ 95:639. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.16.187468
- Lawley TD, Clare S, Walker AW, Goulding D, Stabler RA, Croucher N, Mastroeni P, Scott P, Raisen C, Mottram L, Fairweather NF, Wren BW, Parkhill J, Dougan G (2009) Antibiotic treatment of Clostridium difficile carrier mice triggers a supershedder state, spore-mediated transmission, and severe disease in immunocompromised hosts. Infect Immun 77:3661–3669. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00558-09
- Lei R, Li L, Wu P, Fei X, Zhang Y, Wang J, Zhang D, Zhang Q, Yang N, Wang X (2022) RPA/ CRISPR/Cas12a-based on-site and rapid nucleic acid detection of toxoplasma Gondii in the environment. ACS Synth Biol 11:1772–1781. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssynbio.1c00620
- 32. Li H, Cui X, Sun L, Deng X, Liu S, Zou X, Li B, Wang C, Wang Y, Liu Y, Lu B, Cao B (2021) High concentration of Cas12a effector tolerates more mismatches on ssDNA. FASEB J 35:e21153. https://doi.org/10.1096/FJ.202001475R
- 33. Li S-Y, Cheng Q-X, Wang J-M, Li X-Y, Zhang Z-L, Gao S, Cao R-B, Zhao G-P, Wang J (2018) CRISPR-Cas12a-assisted nucleic acid detection. Cell Discov 4:20. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41 421-018-0028-z
- 34. Li Y, Deng F, Hall T, Vesey G, Goldys EM (2021) CRISPR/Cas12a-powered immunosensor suitable for ultra-sensitive whole Cryptosporidium oocyst detection from water samples using a plate reader. Water Res 203:117553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117553
- 35. Li Z, Wang M, Xu T, Zhan Y, Chen F, Lin Y, Li S, Cheng J, Ye F (2022) Development and clinical implications of a novel CRISPR-based diagnostic test for pulmonary Aspergillus fumigatus infection. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 55:749–756. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmii.2021.11.008
- 36. Liu H, Wang J, Zeng H, Liu X, Jiang W, Wang Y, Ouyang W, Tang X (2021) RPA-Cas12a-FS: a frontline nucleic acid rapid detection system for food safety based on CRISPR-Cas12a combined with recombinase polymerase amplification. Food Chem 334:127608. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.127608

- Liu S, Xie T, Huang Z, Pei X, Li S, He Y, Tong Y, Liu G (2022) Systematically investigating the fluorescent signal readout of CRISPR-Cas12a for highly sensitive SARS-CoV-2 detection. Sens Actuators B Chem 373:132746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2022.132746
- Liu TY, Doudna JA (2020) Chemistry of class 1 CRISPR-Cas effectors: binding, editing, and regulation. J Biol Chem 295:14473–14487. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.REV120.007034
- 39. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, Abraham J, Adair T, Aggarwal R, Ahn SY, AlMazroa MA, Alvarado M, Anderson HR, Anderson LM et al (2012) Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2010. Lancet 380:2095–2128. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0
- 40. Ma L, Peng L, Yin L, Liu G, Man S (2021) CRISPR-Cas12a-powered dual-mode biosensor for ultrasensitive and cross-validating detection of pathogenic bacteria. ACS Sens 6:2920–2927. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssensors.1c00686
- 41. Ma Q-N, Wang M, Zheng L-B, Lin Z-Q, Ehsan M, Xiao X-X, Zhu X-Q (2021) RAA-Cas12a-Tg: a nucleic acid detection system for toxoplasma gondii based on CRISPR-Cas12a combined with recombinase-aided amplification (RAA). Microorganisms 9:1644. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9081644
- Matthijs G, Souche E, Alders M, Corveleyn A, Eck S, Feenstra I, Race V, Sistermans E, Sturm M, Weiss M, Yntema H, Bakker E, Scheffer H, Bauer P (2016) Guidelines for diagnostic next-generation sequencing. Eur J Hum Genet 24:2–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2015.226
- McGinn J, Marraffini LA (2019) Molecular mechanisms of CRISPR—Cas spacer acquisition. Nat Rev Microbiol 17:7–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0071-7
- 44. Mukama O, Wu J, Li Z, Liang Q, Yi Z, Lu X, Liu Y, Liu Y, Hussain M, Makafe GG, Liu J, Xu N, Zeng L (2020) An ultrasensitive and specific point-of-care CRISPR/Cas12 based lateral flow biosensor for the rapid detection of nucleic acids. Biosens Bioelectron 159:112143. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112143
- Myhrvold C, Freije CA, Gootenberg JS, Abudayyeh OO, Metsky HC, Durbin AF, Kellner MJ, Tan AL, Paul LM, Parham LA, Garcia KF, Barnes KG, Chak B, Mondini A et al (2018) Fielddeployable viral diagnostics using CRISPR-Cas13. Science 360:444–448. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.aas8836
- 46. Nayak S, Blumenfeld NR, Laksanasopin T, Sia SK (2017) Point-of-care diagnostics: recent developments in a connected age. Anal Chem 89:102–123. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ANA LCHEM.6B04630/ASSET/IMAGES/ACS.ANALCHEM.6B04630.SOCIAL.JPEG_V03
- Newsom S, Parameshwaran HP, Martin L, Rajan R (2021) The CRISPR-Cas mechanism for adaptive immunity and alternate bacterial functions fuels diverse biotechnologies. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 10:1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.619763
- O'Gorman CM, Fuller HT, Dyer PS (2009) Discovery of a sexual cycle in the opportunistic fungal pathogen Aspergillus fumigatus. Nature 457:471–474. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature 07528
- Peng L, Zhou J, Yin L, Man S, Ma L (2020) Integration of logic gates to CRISPR/Cas12a system for rapid and sensitive detection of pathogenic bacterial genes. Anal Chim Acta 1125:162–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2020.05.017
- 50. Petry F, Jakobi V, Tessema TS (2010) Host immune response to cryptosporidium parvum infection. Exp Parasitol 126:304–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exppara.2010.05.022
- Pumipuntu N, Piratae S (2018) Cryptosporidiosis: a zoonotic disease concern. Vet World 11:681–686. https://doi.org/10.14202/vetworld.2018.681-686
- 52. Ryan U, Hijjawi N (2015) New developments in cryptosporidium research. Int J Parasitol 45:367–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2015.01.009
- Sam IK, Chen Y-Y, Ma J, Li S-Y, Ying R-Y, Li L-X, Ji P, Wang S-J, Xu J, Bao Y-J, Zhao G-P, Zheng H-J, Wang J, Sha W, Wang Y (2021) TB-QUICK: CRISPR-Cas12b-assisted rapid and sensitive detection of mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Infect 83:54–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jinf.2021.04.032
- Scheler O, Glynn B, Kurg A (2014) Nucleic acid detection technologies and marker molecules in bacterial diagnostics. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 14:489–500. https://doi.org/10.1586/14737159. 2014.908710

- Selvam K, Najib MA, Khalid M, Ozsoz M, Diagnostics IA (2022) CRISPR-cas systems-based bacterial detection: a scoping review. mdpi.com. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics12061335
- Sepkowitz KA (2002) Opportunistic infections in patients with and patients without acquired Immunodeficiency syndrome. Clin Infect Dis 34:1098–1107. https://doi.org/10.1086/339548
- 57. Shabbir MAB, Shabbir MZ, Wu Q, Mahmood S, Sajid A, Maan MK, Ahmed S, Naveed U, Hao H, Yuan Z (2019) CRISPR-cas system: biological function in microbes and its use to treat antimicrobial resistant pathogens. Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/ S12941-019-0317-X
- Shen J, Zhou X, Shan Y, Yue H, Huang R, Hu J, Xing D (2020) Sensitive detection of a bacterial pathogen using allosteric probe-initiated catalysis and CRISPR-Cas13a amplification reaction. Nat Commun 11:267. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-14135-9
- 59. Song F, Wei Y, Wang P, Ge X, Li C, Wang A, Yang Z, Wan Y, Li J (2021) Combining tag-specific primer extension and magneto-DNA system for Cas14a-based universal bacterial diagnostic platform. Biosens Bioelectron 185:113262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2021.113262
- Soubani AO, Khanchandani G, Ahmed HP (2004) Clinical significance of lower respiratory tract Aspergillus culture in elderly hospitalized patients. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 23:491– 494. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-004-1137-1
- 61. Striepen B (2013) Parasitic infections: time to tackle cryptosporidiosis. Nature 503:189–191. https://doi.org/10.1038/503189a
- Suea-Ngam A, Howes PD, Demello AJ (2021) An amplification-free ultra-sensitive electrochemical CRISPR/Cas biosensor for drug-resistant bacteria detection. Chem Sci 12:12733– 12743. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1sc02197d
- Szwetkowski KJ, Falkinham JO (2020) Methylobacterium spp. as emerging opportunistic premise plumbing pathogens. Pathog 2020, vol 9, p 149. https://doi.org/10.3390/PATHOG ENS9020149
- 64. Tlaskalová-Hogenová H, Štěpánková R, Hudcovic T, Tučková L, Cukrowska B, Lodinová-Žádníková R, Kozáková H, Rossmann P, Bártová J, Sokol D, Funda DP, Borovská D et al (2004) Commensal bacteria (normal microflora), mucosal immunity and chronic inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Immuno. Lett 93:97–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMLET.2004.02.005
- 65. Tripathi S, Khatri P, Fatima Z, Pandey RP, Hameed S (2022) A landscape of CRISPR/cas technique for emerging viral disease diagnostics and therapeutics: progress and prospects. Pathog 2023, vol 12, p 56. https://doi.org/10.3390/PATHOGENS12010056
- van Dongen JE, Berendsen JTW, Steenbergen RDM, Wolthuis RMF, Eijkel JCT, Segerink LI (2020) Point-of-care CRISPR/Cas nucleic acid detection: recent advances, challenges and opportunities. Biosens Bioelectron 166:112445. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOS.2020.112445
- Wang L, Shen X, Wang T, Chen P, Qi N, Yin B-C, Ye B-C (2020) A lateral flow strip combined with Cas9 nickase-triggered amplification reaction for dual food-borne pathogen detection. Biosens Bioelectron 165:112364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112364
- Wang R, Zhang L, Axén C, Bjorkman C, Jian F, Amer S, Liu A, Feng Y, Li G, Lv C, Zhao Z, Qi M, Dong H, Wang H, Sun Y, Ning C, Xiao L (2014) Cryptosporidium parvum IId family: clonal population and dispersal from Western Asia to other geographical regions. Sci Rep 4:4208. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep04208
- Wang T, Liu Y, Sun H-H, Yin B-C, Ye B-C (2019) An RNA-guided Cas9 nickase-based method for universal isothermal DNA amplification. Angew. Chemie 131:5436–5440. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ange.201901292
- Wang X, Shang X, Huang X (2020) Next-generation pathogen diagnosis with CRISPR/Casbased detection methods. Emerg Microb Infect 1682–1691. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751. 2020.1793689
- Wu H, Chen Y, Shi Y, Wang L, Zhang M, Wu J, Chen H (2021) Carrying out pseudo dual nucleic acid detection from sample to visual result in a polypropylene bag with CRISPR/ Cas12a. Biosens Bioelectron 178:113001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2021.113001
- 72. Xiao G, Zhang S, Liang Z, Li G, Fang M, Liu Y, Zhang J, Ou M, He X, Zhang T, Zeng C, Liu L, Zhang G (2020) Identification of Mycobacterium abscessus species and subspecies using the Cas12a/sgRNA-based nucleic acid detection platform. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 39:551–558. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03757-y

- 73. Xu H, Zhang X, Cai Z, Dong X, Chen G, Li Z, Qiu L, He L, Liang B, Liu X, Liu J (2020) An isothermal method for sensitive detection of mycobacterium tuberculosis complex using clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats/Cas12a Cis and Trans Cleavage. J Mol Diagn 22:1020–1029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2020.04.212
- Xu L, Dai Q, Shi Z, Liu X, Gao L, Wang Z, Zhu X, Li Z (2020) Accurate MRSA identification through dual-functional aptamer and CRISPR-Cas12a assisted rolling circle amplification. J Microbiol Methods 173:105917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2020.105917
- Yin L, Duan N, Chen S, Yao Y, Liu J, Ma L (2021) Ultrasensitive pathogenic bacteria detection by a smartphone-read G-quadruplex-based CRISPR-Cas12a bioassay. Sens Actuators B Chem 347:130586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2021.130586
- Yu F, Zhang K, Wang Y, Li D, Cui Z, Huang J, Zhang S, Li X, Zhang L (2021) CRISPR/ Cas12a-based on-site diagnostics of Cryptosporidium parvum IId-subtype-family from human and cattle fecal samples. Parasit Vectors 14:208. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-021-04709-2
- Zhang F (2019) Development of CRISPR-Cas systems for genome editing and beyond. Q Rev Biophys 52:e6. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033583519000052
- Zhao J, Li Y, Xue Q, Zhu Z, Zou M, Fang F (2022) A novel rapid visual detection assay for Toxoplasma gondii combining recombinase-aided amplification and lateral flow dipstick coupled with CRISPR-Cas13a fluorescence (RAA-Cas13a-LFD). Parasite 29:21. https://doi. org/10.1051/parasite/2022021
- Zhao Y, Chen F, Li Q, Wang L, Fan C (2015) Isothermal amplification of nucleic acids. Chem Rev 115:12491–12545. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.CHEMREV.5B00428/ASSET/ IMAGES/MEDIUM/CR-2015-00428H_0034.GIF
- Zhou J, Yin L, Dong Y, Peng L, Liu G, Man S, Ma L (2020) CRISPR-Cas13a based bacterial detection platform: sensing pathogen Staphylococcus aureus in food samples. Anal Chim Acta 1127:225–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2020.06.041

Microfluidic Chips as Point-of-Care Testing for Develop Diagnostic Microdevices



Cagla Celik, Guven Akcay, Nilay Ildız, and Ismail Ocsoy

Abstract Rapid, specific, and reliable diagnostic tests in portable, easy-to-apply systems are of great importance for medical diagnosis, especially in emergencies such as pandemic outbreaks or in environments where resources are scarce. Pointof-care testing platforms are ideal for these purposes, providing fast and timely accurate results. Interest in laboratory-on-a-chip devices has grown rapidly in recent years. Innovative microfluidic devices that have gone through the technology development process have demonstrated the potential to perform unimaginable analyzes using traditional techniques. Advances in the microfluidics chip field have sparked innovative upheavals in various biomedical fields, such as single-cell detection, diagnostic methods, and micro- and nano-size-product manufacturing. Microfluidic chips currently play an important role in multiple biological technologies. Microfluidics have been shown to offer a number of benefits over existing conventional methods, thanks to improved controllability and precision. In this chapter, the authors discussed how point-of-care tests, developed by the integration of numerous nanomaterials into microfluidic chips, play an active role in the diagnosis and diagnosis of many diseases and their potential biomedical applications.

Keywords Microfluidic chips · Point-of-care tests · Diagnosis · Nanomaterials

C. Celik

Pharmacy Services Program, Vocational School of Health Services, Hitit University, Corum 19000, Turkey

G. Akcay

Department of Biophysics, Faculty of Medicine, Hitit University, 19000 Corum, Turkey

N. Ildız

I. Ocsoy (⊠) Department of Analytical Chemistry, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erciyes University, Kayseri 38039, Turkey e-mail: ismailocsoy66@gmail.com

Medical Imaging Department, Vocational School of Health Services, Bandırma Onyedi Eylul University, 10200 Bandirma, Turkey

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 115 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing*, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_6

1 Introduction

Early detection of infectious diseases plays a critical role in the correct and effective treatment of diseases. The COVID-19 pandemic has shown that it is very important to detect the infectious agent early at the beginning of the infection in order to quickly control the spread of the disease. Early diagnosis and timely treatment are critical not only for infection but also for other types of cancer and serious diseases. Early diagnosis can increase response rates to treatment and reduce treatment costs. Among the tests performed for this purpose, serology, virology, and imaging techniques are among the most preferred medical diagnostic techniques [66].

Serological methods are based on the detection of changes in protein biomarkers related to diseases in the human body. Virological methods consist of techniques for detecting viruses that infect the body, while imaging methods are used to test for structural changes in organs, tissues, and structures in the human body. Expensive test devices used for analysis are available in research laboratories in clinics and require expert personnel due to the complexity of the analysis stages of these methods. Because of the highly costly, long-lasting, labor-intensive nature of detection methods, they may not be sufficiently applicable techniques for the early diagnosis of diseases [75].

Lack of adequate medical facilities delays disease detection, especially for people in underdeveloped countries. Routine medical tests are also not possible for patients living in this region In developing countries such as South-East Asia and Africa, medical facilities such as hospitals, which should be widespread, are very inadequate. Therefore, it is very difficult for countries with inadequate medical resources and health systems to combat bacterial or viral diseases [34]. If a pathogent is present and spread in these regions, the infectious agent may not be detected and isolated in time. In such cases, the infection carries the risk of spreading epidemically. The COVID-19 pandemic is a good example of this issue. The infection agent in a single region has shown a serious spread that can affect all countries of the world as a result of international travel [14].

In countries with inadequate health systems, there are no techniques that enable sensitive rapid detection of diseases in the clinic. Even in rural areas of developed countries, disease prevention services and health screening can be very inadequate [60]. Therefore, it is of great importance to produce inexpensive, portable diagnostic equipment for home self-testing or field testing. When such devices are developed, the workload of existing health systems in underdeveloped regions can be reduced, early diagnosis can be made, and overuse of medical resources can be reduced. Microfluidic technologies have been developed and fabricated in recent years to solve these problems and offer innovative perspectives. The chips developed within microfluidic technologies are small in size, require few reagents, and easy to carry to diagnose the disease. The biggest advantage of microfluidic chips is that they perform detection in a short time compared to conventional detection devices and kits. For this reason, microfluidic chips are technological innovations that can provide fast and effective results in situations where the health system and medical resources are

insufficient, such as in underdeveloped regions. Microfluidic technologies are used in the fields of laboratory tests [57, 65], medical diagnosis [3], and cell analysis due to their small size, short process requirements and portability. The development of microfluidic chips has also contributed significantly to the advancement of pointof-care (POC) test technologies. POC test (POCT) is an analytical test that offers medical diagnosis to patients even in limited and under-resourced healthcare systems [54]. The development and application of POCTs are promising for countries in developing regions in need of medical diagnostic tests [44].

This book chapter includes studies on the necessity and development of technologies for the rapid diagnosis of diseases at an early stage that can be offered to the service of underdeveloped countries. Firstly, we will describe microfluidic chip technologies and introduce their types and advantages. Then, we will then introduce microfluidic POC tests for the early detection of various diseases and describe their current applications.

2 Microfluidic Tests

2.1 Introduction

Microfluidic device is a portable, analyte capture and identification system that can perform sample detection steps. In these innovative systems, reagents and samples are used in very low quantities. In addition, the efficiency and analysis speed of the system is very high. Furthermore, the analysis process can be automated to eliminate human error. Devices developed with microfluidic technology are frequently preferred in physics, biology, chemistry, biomedical sciences, and engineering. Devices manufactured with microfluidic technology are known as portable devices. Because the analytic process is carried out in small-sized devices that are completely portable [64]. The use of small amounts of reagents for analysis in microfluidic devices offers advantages for under-resourced regions in harsh conditions. The small size and small amount of reagent consumption significantly reduces the cost of the analysis [25]. POCTs are portable devices that enable analysis and detection in various regions and for various purposes outside of clinical laboratories [55].

POCT technology can be used not only for humans but also for the detection of animal diseases. In a study, Pascual-Garrigos and coworkers developed the loopmediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) assay. The purpose of the test is early stage diagnosis of respiratory system diseases [56].

Microfluidic technology has made a significant contribution to the application of POC tests in disease diagnostic systems. Microfluidic devices provide fast results and high sensitivity. Therefore, microfluidic devices integrated with POC tests are the cheapest and easily portable devices that can be preferred to provide rapid and sensitive detection [62].

2.2 Benefits of Microfluidic Tests in Clinic Laboratory

Identifying biomarkers plays a critical role in disease diagnosis. The most preferred method for diagnosis is the ELISA test. The ELISA assay produces measurable signals in the presence of a sufficient amount of analyte. ELISA test uses different enzymes such as horseradish oxidase, alkaline enzyme, and β -galactosidase. Substrates are used to react with the enzymes and produce colorimetric results [20]. ELISA is the most preferred technique for detecting protein-based molecules. Because it is very sensitive in detecting the presence of protein. Detect proteins as well as many pathogens, including viruses and bacteria [70]. ELISA has been used to identify and quantify many viruses such as coronavirus [1, 6], Zika virus [52], dengue virus [49], influenza virus [59]. Conventional ELISA needs to be improved to provide the high sensitivity required for protein identification and quantification [29].

Mass spectrometry (MS) can detect different biomarkers such as proteins [2]. Integration of microfluidic chips into the MS (μ chip-MS) has the potential to meet the needs of clinicians. Thus, new methods may be revealed in monitoring stages of diseases other than infectious diseases including cancer, diabetes, and other chronic diseases [26, 50, 58]. The combination of MS and a microfluidic chip platform offers an innovative perspective for microfluidic chips. Compared to conventional immunoassay tests and techniques, μ chip-MS has been shown to have a higher specificity and sensitivity in analysis, and also provides faster results with less labour. Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) is another optical detection method. SPR detection method is used in virus detection and detection of cancer biomarkers due to its many reasons for preference such as high accuracy, low production cost, and sensitivity [5, 47]. Liu et al. used microfluidic technologies and nanoparticles together to detect the target protein by the SPR technique. Since the results were better than the method with SPR alone [40], it shows that combining microfluidic technologies with existing technologies will lead to advantageous results.

Many traditional methods have started to be integrated with microfluidic POC devices. Especially for patients in underdeveloped countries, these integrated devices can detect proteins in the serum and provide excellent analysis results [38, 39].

2.3 Equipment Varieties for Microfluidic Tests

The basic components of the first microfluidic system developed were chemical etching technology and photolithography [68]. Subsequently, microfluidic devices made of polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) materials were also developed and today, most of the microfluidic chips are made of PDMS polymer [46].

In recent years, paper-based technologies and three-dimensional (3D) printing methods has been used to reduce production cost [9, 77]. These materials can be used for POC analysis, especially in undeveloped regions. One of the best examples of combining POC technologies with microfluidics is mobile sensors where microfluidic systems are integrated into smartphone applications [79].

2.3.1 Microfluidic Devices Produced by 3D Printing Techniques

The development of 3D printers has directly influenced the advancement of microfluidics [7]. These devices work automatically and are not dependent on a person, thus eliminating the need for human resources required to produce PDMS-based microfluidics [8]. Moreover, 3D printing techniques provide serious high potential and prototypes can be developed with this technique. Rapid production can increase the efficiency and frequency of experiments and thus, accelerate the commercialization of experimental methods [15, 71].

Microfluidic POCT chips produced with 3D printers have been used in experimental studies. Song and coworkers develop a new approach for sensitive detection of viruses in the platform developed with microfluidic technology. The box prepared for detection was produced by 3D printing technology and only a saliva sample was used to detect the Zika virus [63]. Furthermore, Kadimisetty and coworkers designed a low-cost microfluidic POC test based on the nucleic acid amplification method for the diagnosis of infection [32].

Thanks to three-dimensional printing technology, the commercialization of microfluidic POCT techniques has gained great speed. With 3D printing technology, it has become very easy to rapidly manufacture and produce microfluidic equipment. Therefore, 3D-printed microfluidic POC tests offer a serious advantage for use in undeveloped countries.

2.3.2 Analyzing Microfluidic Chips with Smartphones

Since the early 21st century, the continuous development of microelectronics has resulted in the production of smartphones. Smartphones have the potential to be an alternative to computers for data collection and processing in underdeveloped countries [24, 74, 76]. As a result of these developments, a new generation of mobile sensing techniques has emerged by combining smartphones with microfluidic devices. Combinations of microfluidic devices and smartphones are very useful for regions with inadequate and weak healthcare systems.

Researchers have developed a paper-based microfluidic test to detect Zika virus through reverse transcription cycle-mediated isothermal amplification (RT-LAMP) technique. In this study, ZIKV RNA triggers a color change in the microfluidic system and the results can be obtained within minutes and can be analysis with a smartphone [31]. In another study, Jalal and coworkers fabricated a microfluidic chip consisting of polycarbonate (PC) plastic material and reagent paper to detect chemical molecules in human urine. Using a smartphone, the resulting colorimetric results are recorded with the phone camera [30]. The systems in which microfluidic chip and smartphones are integrated are easy to use. It gives reliable results without requiring specialized personnel. These integrated systems are a promising technology.

3 Microfluidic Tests for POC Diagnosis of Infectious Diseases

3.1 Introduction

Coronavirus diseases affects countries all over the world, causing widespread deaths and straining national economies [35]. Early diagnosis of COVID-19 and timely and correct treatment of patients is one of the most important measures to be taken. Accurate and rapid detection is critical in the fight against infection. In this direction, ELISA, RT-PCR, colloidal gold immunochromatographic assay are among serological methods [16]. However, ELISA and RT-PCR may limit their use in less developed countries. Consequently, POCTs offer an innovative approach in the production of inexpensive and rapid tests for respiratory system diseases.

Compared to conventional tests, microfluidic devices can measure biomarkers and antibodies accurately and sensitively. Microfluidic technologies can be integrated with other conventional methods used to provide efficient test results. Microfluidic chips therefore have promising potential for the detection of SARS-CoV-2.

3.2 Applications for Diagnosis of Infectious Diseases

Immunoglobulin G (IgG) and immunoglobulin M (IgM) antibodies are revealed and play an active role in the defense against viral disease agents. Therefore, the progression and treatment of infectious diseases are determined by the detection of antibodies. In a study, Lin and colleagues developed a diagnostic kit for COVID-19 diagnosis by integrating a diagnostic microchip and a POC test that can detect IgM, IgG, and other biomarkers with portable fluorescent detectors [39].

However, microfluidic devices have shortcomings in diagnosis of COVID-19, such as requiring a long incubation time, and further development is needed for rapid detection of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies [67].

Although nasopharyngeal specimens are often preferred for diagnosis of COVID-19, human saliva can also be usable as a test sample [69]. Patients have the advantage of being able to collect their own samples and there are studies showing that saliva samples are also suitable for detection. Wang and coworkers developed a POC test using RT-LAMP technique for diagnosis of COVID-19 in human saliva. This test provides colorimetric results, although the assay only requires a heat source. Due to this feature, it can be used in countries with limited healthcare [73].

4 Microfluidic Tests for POC Diagnosis of CVDs

4.1 Introduction

As reported by the World Health Organization, CVDs cause 17.9 million deaths worldwide each year [28]. High CVD rates also show that health services in developing regions are very inadequate compared to developed regions [4].

CVD, also known as cardiovascular system-related diseases including hypo- and hypertension, coronary heart disease, and cerebrovascular disease (stroke) [19]. In recent studies, various biomarkers have been used for the detection of CVDs. Early stage diagnosis of CVD is the main factor that reduces treatment costs and mortality. POC tests have the potential to detect CVD biomarkers rapidly and sensitively [13].

4.2 Applications for Diagnosis of CVDs

There are risks that using a single biomarker to diagnose CVD may lead to misdiagnosis as it may be associated with other diseases. Therefore, it is critical to detect multiple CVD biomarkers at the same time for accurate and sensitive diagnosis. Thus, more reliable, high-specificity results can be obtained. In addition, these techniques reduce the cost and time of analysis [27]. Various platforms have been designed that can detect multiple CVD biomarkers simultaneously [53]. Clinicians advocate the use of these techniques because simultaneous analysis of multiple biomarkers provides more comprehensive and accurate results [18]. Most microfluidic POC tests capable of detecting multiple biomarkers are currently in use [43].

AMI is the most of dangerous diseases. For accurate and timely detection of AMI, multiple biomarkers need to be detected simultaneously [23, 78]. In a study, Li and coworkers developed a 3D printing paper-based microfluidic test (μ PAD) that detects numerous biomarkers with three sensing zones. The μ PAD can simultaneously measure cTnI, H-FABP, and copeptin using chemiluminescence (CL) emissions. The device has the potential to greatly facilitate early stage AMI diagnosis. Figure 1 shows the design of a 3D μ PAD [36].

In another study, Boonkaew and coworkers developed a POC test for the detection of three different CVD biomarkers simultaneously, procalcitonin marker, cTnI, and C-reactive protein. This microfluidic device contains multiple working electrodes and multiple detection sites that can detect different CVD biomarkers in a single human sample [10].



Fig. 1 Schematically illustration for the fabrication of the 3D μ PAD for multiplexed CL immunoassay of H-FABP, cTnI and copeptin. Reprinted with permission from [36]. Copyright 2020 Elsevier

5 Microfluidic Tests for POC Diagnosis of Tumors

5.1 Introduction

Cancer diseases are caused by cells that multiply uncontrollably. Cancer disease that is difficult to diagnose, treatment, and follow-up [41]. Cancer is becoming increasingly common and mortality rates are increasing day by day. Cancers of the breast, lung, stomach, and prostate are among the most common varieties of cancer [12]. Symptoms of cancer in the early stage may not be recognized. However, early stage detection of cancer is critical for effective treatment [72]. Current conventional diagnostic techniques for cancer diagnosis such as magnetic resonance imaging, ultrasound tomography are not suitable for routine examinations due to reasons such as cost and radiation exposure. Among the cancer diagnostic methods used in clinics, haematology tests are typically used. Cancer screening with markers found in human serum is widely used to detect cancer at an early stage, reducing patient harm and medical costs [17]. In addition, protein measurements are crucial biomarkers for early stage cancer diagnosis and monitoring disease progression and treatment [48].

5.2 Applications for Diagnosis of Cancer

Research has been made on the effective use of microfluidic devices for cancer detection. Wang and coworkers developed a microfluidic system capable of DNA methylation analysis. The test time takes 3 h including all stages and this technique allows early diagnosis of cancer [72]. CA-125, another cancer biomarker, provides information about the progression of cancer at varying concentrations. Nunna and coworkers developed a POC testing system that combines a biochip with a microfluidic system aiming to measure CA-125 concentration in human serum obtained from a finger prick, similar to glucose measurement in diabetes [51].

Lung cancer (LC) is the leading deaths due to its high mortality rate and significant spread in all over the world [42]. Exosomes have been used as a novel biomarker for early detection and treatment of lung cancer. Yang and coworkers developed a microfluidic device with adjustable membrane pore size to identify biomarkers in human urine samples. This technique is a promising study for the detection of patients with early lung cancer [80]. Microfluidic POC assays can detect different biomarkers in various cancer-related diseases. Prostate cancer (PCa) is one of the most common cancers in men and its diagnosis is very important [21]. Prostatespecific antigen (PSA) is the biomarker of preference in the analysis [22]. In serum samples taken from healthy men, PSA concentration is in the degree of 0-4 ng/ mL. People with PSA concentration higher than 4 ng/mL, which is critical in cancer detection. For this reason, if a developed test can detect PSA levels lower than 4 ng/ mL in a cost-effective and rapid manner, it will make a significant contribution to the diagnosis of prostate cancer patients [11]. Mandal and coworkers developed a system combination of graphene FETs, dielectrophoresis (DEP), and a microfluidic chip for early detection of prostate cancer [45].

Since cervical cancer is one of the most common cancers in women, early diagnosis is much more important than other cancers [61]. Because cervical cancer that can be detected at an early stage can be completely healed. Karakaya and coworkers developed a microfluidic test that enables early stage diagnosis of cervical cancer by testing the presence of HPV 16 and HPV 18 in less than 40 min [33]. In another study, Lim and coworkers designed a system that integrates exosomatic mRNA sensors and 3D-nanostructured hydrogels into a microfluidic chip. Thanks to this system, exosomal ERBB2 in breast cancer-associated blood can be further detected and the validity of the system in breast cancer diagnosis can be proved [37].

6 Conclusions and Prospects

Medical diagnosis is very difficult in regions with weak health systems and inadequate health infrastructure. Microfluidic POC tests developed for medical diagnostics that can provide a solution to this problem give fast results, are easy to use, and are very low cost.

Microfluidic devices are mostly produced by utilizing paper, PDMS, or 3D printing technology. Integrating smartphones into microfluidic systems is a highly effective solution for POC applications. Although there are microfluidic POC test equipment with different characteristics, low-cost ones are mostly preferred as the main purpose is to be applicable in harsh environments. For this reason, microfluidic POC test components are small in weight and volume and are suitable for fast results.

In clinical laboratories, one of the most important steps in disease detection is the analysis of disease-related biomarkers. Microfluidics technologies can meet the requirements of medical tests in clinical laboratories because they are sensitive, inexpensive, and portable. Microfluidic POC tests have been used effectively in many fields such as CVD detection, detection of infectious diseases, tumor detection. Microfluidic devices can be integrated into many optical and serological techniques. They can detect biomarkers with high sensitivity and accuracy, which are the most critical parameters in disease diagnosis. Integration of existing technologies into microfluidic devices has provided features such as very low detection limit and high specificity.

With microfluidic POC tests, specialized personnel are not required for disease diagnosis and results can be obtained quickly. However, several disadvantages need to be overcome before POCT systems can be used as standard clinical tests. Microfluidic technology does not comply with industrial standards and guidelines. This lack of industry standards can be considered as a barrier to the commercialization of microfluidic devices. After standardization, application to industry can become easier. Thus, the cost and time of the production procedure can be reduced. Finally, for the integration of microfluidic technologies into the industry, investments in biomedical applications should be increased and microfluidic devices should be used more in clinical laboratories.

References

- Adams ER, Ainsworth M, Anand R, Andersson MI, Auckland K, Baillie JK et al (2020) Antibody testing for COVID-19: a report from the National COVID scientific advisory panel. Wellcome Open Res 5:139. https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15927.1
- Aebersold R, Mann M (2003) Mass spectrometry-based proteomics. Nature 422(6928):198– 207. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01511
- Aimi F, Procopio MG, Alvarez Flores MT, Brouland JP, Piazzon N, Brajkovic S et al (2019) Microfluidic-based immunohistochemistry for breast cancer diagnosis: a comparative clinical study. Virchows Arch 475(3):313–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00428-019-02616-7
- Arnett DK, Blumenthal RS, Albert MA, Buroker AB, Goldberger ZD, Hahn EJ et al (2019) 2019 ACC/AHA guideline on the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on clinical practice guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 74(10):1376–1414. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jacc.2019.03.009
- Azzouz A, Hejji L, Kim KH, Kukkar D, Souhail B, Bhardwaj N et al (2022) Advances in surface plasmon resonance-based biosensor technologies for cancer biomarker detection. Biosens Bioelectron 197:113767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2021.113767

- Beavis KG, Matushek SM, Abeleda APF, Bethel C, Hunt C, Gillen S et al (2020) Evaluation of the EUROIMMUN Anti-SARS-CoV-2 ELISA Assay for detection of IgA and IgG antibodies. J Clin Virol 129:104468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104468
- Becker H (2009) Hype, hope and hubris: the quest for the killer application in microfluidics. Lab Chip 9(15):2119–2122. https://doi.org/10.1039/b911553f
- Bhattacharjee N, Urrios A, Kang S, Folch A (2016) The upcoming 3D-printing revolution in microfluidics. Lab Chip 16(10):1720–1742. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6lc00163g
- Bircsak KM, DeBiasio R, Miedel M, Alsebahi A, Reddinger R, Saleh A et al (2021) A 3D microfluidic liver model for high throughput compound toxicity screening in the OrganoPlate®. Toxicology 450:152667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2020.152667
- Boonkaew S, Jang I, Noviana E, Siangproh W, Chailapakul O, Henry CS (2021) Electrochemical paper-based analytical device for multiplexed, point-of-care detection of cardiovascular disease biomarkers. Sens Actuators B Chem, 330
- Brawer MK, Beatie J, Wener MH, Vessella RL, Preston SD, Lange PH (1993) Screening for prostatic carcinoma with prostate specific antigen: results of the second year. J Urol 150(1):106– 109. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-5347(17)35409-5
- 12. Cai Z, Liu Q (2021) Understanding the Global Cancer Statistics 2018: implications for cancer control. Sci China Life Sci 64(6):1017–1020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11427-019-9816-1
- Celermajer DS, Chow CK, Marijon E, Anstey NM, Woo KS (2012) Cardiovascular disease in the developing world: prevalences, patterns, and the potential of early disease detection. J Am Coll Cardiol 60(14):1207–1216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2012.03.074
- Chakraborty I, Maity P (2020) COVID-19 outbreak: Migration, effects on society, global environment and prevention. Sci Total Environ 728:138882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitot env.2020.138882
- Chan HN, Tan MJA, Wu H (2017) Point-of-care testing: applications of 3D printing. Lab Chip 17(16):2713–2739. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7lc00397h
- Chen Q, He Z, Mao F, Pei H, Cao H, Liu X (2020) Diagnostic technologies for COVID-19: a review. RSC Adv 10(58):35257–35264. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0ra06445a
- Cohen JD, Li L, Wang Y, Thoburn C, Afsari B, Danilova L et al (2018) Detection and localization of surgically resectable cancers with a multi-analyte blood test. Science 359(6378):926–930. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aar3247
- Deng H, Zhou X, Liu Q, Li B, Liu H, Huang R, Xing D (2017) Paperfluidic chip device for small RNA extraction, amplification, and multiplexed analysis. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9(47):41151–41158. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b12637
- Ellulu MS, Patimah I, Khaza'ai H, Rahmat A, Abed Y, Ali F (2016) Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: a review of initiators and protective factors. Inflammopharmacology 24(1):1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10787-015-0255-y
- Engvall E, Perlmann P (1971) Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Quantitative assay of immunoglobulin G. Immunochemistry 8(9):871–874. https://doi.org/10.1016/0019-2791(71)90454-x
- Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Dyba T, Randi G, Bettio M et al (2018) Cancer incidence and mortality patterns in Europe: estimates for 40 countries and 25 major cancers in 2018. Eur J Cancer 103:356–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2018.07.005
- Filella X, Albaladejo MD, Allué JA, Castaño MA, Morell-Garcia D, Ruiz M et al (2019) Prostate cancer screening: guidelines review and laboratory issues. Clin Chem Lab Med 57(10):1474– 1487. https://doi.org/10.1515/cclm-2018-1252
- 23. Fu X, Wang Y, Liu Y, Liu H, Fu L, Wen J et al (2019) A graphene oxide/gold nanoparticle-based amplification method for SERS immunoassay of cardiac troponin I. Analyst 144(5):1582–1589. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8an02022a
- Gallegos D, Long KD, Yu H, Clark PP, Lin Y, George S et al (2013) Label-free biodetection using a smartphone. Lab Chip 13(11):2124–2132. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3LC40991K
- Ghasemi A, Amiri H, Zare H, Masroor M, Hasanzadeh A, Beyzavi A et al (2017) Carbon nanotubes in microfluidic lab-on-a-chip technology: current trends and future perspectives. Microfluid Nanofluid 21(9). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10404-017-1989-1

- 26. Hanash S (2003) Disease proteomics. Nature 422(6928):226–232. https://doi.org/10.1038/nat ure01514
- Huang L, Tian S, Zhao W, Liu K, Ma X, Guo J (2020) Multiplexed detection of biomarkers in lateral-flow immunoassays. Analyst 145(8):2828–2840. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9an02485a
- Huang X, Li Y, Chen J, Liu J, Wang R, Xu X et al (2019) Smartphone-based blood lipid data acquisition for cardiovascular disease management in internet of medical things. IEEE Access 7:75276–75283
- Iha K, Inada M, Kawada N, Nakaishi K, Watabe S, Tan YH et al (2019) Ultrasensitive ELISA developed for diagnosis. Diagnostics (Basel) 9(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics9030078
- Jalal UM, Jin GJ, Shim JS (2017) Paper-plastic hybrid microfluidic device for smartphonebased colorimetric analysis of urine. Anal Chem 89(24):13160–13166. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acs.analchem.7b02612
- Kaarj K, Akarapipad P, Yoon JY (2018) Simpler, faster, and sensitive Zika Virus assay using smartphone detection of loop-mediated isothermal amplification on paper microfluidic chips. Sci Rep 8(1):12438. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-30797-9
- Kadimisetty K, Song J, Doto AM, Hwang Y, Peng J, Mauk MG et al (2018) Fully 3D printed integrated reactor array for point-of-care molecular diagnostics. Biosens Bioelectron 109:156– 163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2018.03.009
- Karakaya M (2018) Analytical molecular diagnosis of cervical cancer via paper microfluidic chip. Proceedings 2:1556. https://doi.org/10.3390/proceedings2251556
- 34. Koirala J, Acharya S, Rijal N (2021) Impact of healthy life, education and living standard on spread of COVID-19 in developed and underdeveloped countries. Social Science Research Network
- Lamb LE, Bartolone SN, Ward E, Chancellor MB (2020) Rapid detection of novel coronavirus/ severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) by reverse transcription-loopmediated isothermal amplification. Plos One 15(6):e0234682. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0234682
- 36. Li F, Guo L, Hu Y, Li Z, Liu J, He J, Cui H (2020) Multiplexed chemiluminescence determination of three acute myocardial infarction biomarkers based on microfluidic paper-based immunodevice dual amplified by multifunctionalized gold nanoparticles. Talanta 207:120346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2019.120346
- 37. Lim J, Kang B, Son HY, Mun B, Huh YM, Rho HW et al (2022) Microfluidic device for onestep detection of breast cancer-derived exosomal mRNA in blood using signal-amplifiable 3D nanostructure. Biosens Bioelectron 197:113753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2021.113753
- Lim WY, Thevarajah TM, Goh BT, Khor SM (2019) Paper microfluidic device for early diagnosis and prognosis of acute myocardial infarction via quantitative multiplex cardiac biomarker detection. Biosens Bioelectron 128:176–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2018.12.049
- 39. Lin Q, Wen D, Wu J, Liu L, Wu W, Fang X, Kong J (2020) Microfluidic immunoassays for sensitive and simultaneous detection of IgG/IgM/antigen of SARS-CoV-2 within 15 min. Anal Chem 92(14):9454–9458. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.0c01635
- 40. Liu C, Xue N, Cai H, Sun J, Qi Z, Zhao P et al (2020) Nanoparticles enhanced self-driven microfludic biosensor. Micromachines (Basel) 11(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/mi11040350
- Liu SH, Chen PS, Huang CC, Hung YT, Lee MY, Lin WH et al (2020) Unlocking the mystery of the therapeutic effects of Chinese medicine on cancer. Front Pharmacol 11:601785. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.601785
- Liu Y, Ao X, Yu W, Zhang Y, Wang J (2022) Biogenesis, functions, and clinical implications of circular RNAs in non-small cell lung cancer. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 27:50–72. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.omtn.2021.11.013
- Ma Q, Ma H, Xu F, Wang X, Sun W (2021) Microfluidics in cardiovascular disease research: state of the art and future outlook. Microsyst Nanoeng 7:19. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41378-021-00245-2
- Mabey D, Peeling RW, Ustianowski A, Perkins MD (2004) Diagnostics for the developing world. Nat Rev Microbiol 2(3):231–240. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro841

- 45. Mandal N, Pakira V, Samanta N, Das N, Chakraborty S, Pramanick B, RoyChaudhuri C (2021) PSA detection using label free graphene FET with coplanar electrodes based microfluidic point of care diagnostic device. Talanta 222:121581. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2020.121581
- McDonald JC, Duffy DC, Anderson JR, Chiu DT, Wu H, Schueller OJ, Whitesides GM (2000) Fabrication of microfluidic systems in poly(dimethylsiloxane). Electrophoresis 21(1):27–40. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1522-2683(20000101)21:1%3c27::aid-elps27%3e3.0.co;2-c
- Moznuzzaman M, Khan I, Islam MR (2021) Nano-layered surface plasmon resonance-based highly sensitive biosensor for virus detection: a theoretical approach to detect SARS-CoV-2. AIP Adv 11(6):065023. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0046574
- Munge BS, Stracensky T, Gamez K, DiBiase D, Rusling JF (2016) Multiplex immunosensor arrays for electrochemical detection of cancer biomarker proteins. Electroanalysis 28(11):2644–2658. https://doi.org/10.1002/elan.201600183
- Nascimento EJM, George JK, Velasco M, Bonaparte MI, Zheng L, DiazGranados CA et al (2018) Development of an anti-dengue NS1 IgG ELISA to evaluate exposure to dengue virus. J Virol Methods 257:48–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2018.03.007
- Nilsson T, Mann M, Aebersold R, Yates JR 3rd, Bairoch A, Bergeron JJ (2010) Mass spectrometry in high-throughput proteomics: ready for the big time. Nat Methods 7(9):681–685. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth0910-681
- Nunna BB, Mandal D, Zhuang S, Lee ES (2017) A standalone micro biochip to monitor the cancer progression by measuring cancer antigens as a point-of-care (POC) device for enhanced cancer management. In: 2017 IEEE healthcare innovations and point of care technologies (HI-POCT), pp 212–215
- Nurtop E, Villarroel PMS, Pastorino B, Ninove L, Drexler JF, Roca Y et al (2019) Correction to: combination of ELISA screening and seroneutralisation tests to expedite Zika virus seroprevalence studies. Virol J 16(1):12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-019-1118-8
- Ouyang M, Tu D, Tong L, Sarwar M, Bhimaraj A, Li C et al (2021) A review of biosensor technologies for blood biomarkers toward monitoring cardiovascular diseases at the point-ofcare. Biosens Bioelectron 171:112621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112621
- Park J, Han DH, Park JK (2020) Towards practical sample preparation in point-of-care testing: user-friendly microfluidic devices. Lab Chip 20(7):1191–1203. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0lc00 047g
- Park S, Zhang Y, Lin S, Wang TH, Yang S (2011) Advances in microfluidic PCR for point-ofcare infectious disease diagnostics. Biotechnol Adv 29(6):830–839. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biotechadv.2011.06.017
- 56. Pascual-Garrigos A, Maruthamuthu MK, Ault A, Davidson JL, Rudakov G, Pillai D et al (2021) On-farm colorimetric detection of Pasteurella multocida, Mannheimia haemolytica, and Histophilus somni in crude bovine nasal samples. Vet Res 52(1):126. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13567-021-00997-9
- Pedde RD, Li H, Borchers CH, Akbari M (2017) Microfluidic-mass spectrometry interfaces for translational proteomics. Trends Biotechnol 35(10):954–970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tib tech.2017.06.006
- Percy AJ, Byrns S, Pennington SR, Holmes DT, Anderson NL, Agreste TM, Duffy MA (2016) Clinical translation of MS-based, quantitative plasma proteomics: status, challenges, requirements, and potential. Expert Rev Proteomics 13(7):673–684. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14789450.2016.1205950
- Rajendran M, Nachbagauer R, Ermler ME, Bunduc P, Amanat F, Izikson R et al (2017) Analysis of anti-influenza virus neuraminidase antibodies in children, adults, and the elderly by ELISA and enzyme inhibition: evidence for original antigenic sin. mBio 8(2). https://doi.org/10.1128/ mBio.02281-16
- Raju SP, Chu X (2018) Rapid low-cost microfluidic detection in point of care diagnostics. J Med Syst 42(10):184. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-018-1043-1
- 61. Rezqalla J, Alshatti M, Ibraheem A, Omar D, Houda AF, AlHaqqan S et al (2021) Human papillomavirus (HPV): unawareness of the causal role of HPV infection in cervical cancer, HPV vaccine availability, and HPV vaccine uptake among female schoolteachers in a middle Eastern country. J Infect Public Health 14(5):661–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2021.01.015

- Salehipour Masooleh H, Ghavami Lahiji M, Ciancio A, Tayebi L (2020) Microfluidic technologies using oral factors: saliva based studies. Applications of biomedical engineering in dentistry. Springer, Cham, Switzerland, pp 339–358
- Song J, Mauk MG, Hackett BA, Cherry S, Bau HH, Liu C (2016) Instrument-free point-of-care molecular detection of Zika virus. Anal Chem 88(14):7289–7294. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. analchem.6b01632
- Squires TM, Quake SR (2005) Microfluidics: fluid physics at the nanoliter scale. Rev Mod Phys 77(3):977–1026. https://doi.org/10.1103/RevModPhys.77.977
- 65. Su W, Li H, Chen W, Qin J (2019) Microfluidic strategies for label-free exosomes isolation and analysis. TrAC Trends Anal Chem
- 66. Tan AS, Nerurkar SN, Tan WCC, Goh D, Lai CPT, Poh Sheng Yeong J (2020) The virological, immunological, and imaging approaches for COVID-19 diagnosis and research. SLAS Technol 25(6):522–544. https://doi.org/10.1177/2472630320950248
- Tayyab M, Sami MA, Raji H, Mushnoori S, Javanmard M (2021) Potential microfluidic devices for COVID-19 antibody detection at point-of-care (POC): a review. IEEE Sens J 21:4007–4017
- Terry SC, Jerman JH, Angell JB (1979) A gas chromatographic air analyzer fabricated on a silicon wafer. IEEE Trans Electron Dev 26:1880–1885. https://doi.org/10.1109/t-ed.1979. 19791
- To KK, Tsang OT, Yip CC, Chan KH, Wu TC, Chan JM et al (2020) Consistent detection of 2019 novel coronavirus in saliva. Clin Infect Dis 71(15):841–843. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ ciaa149
- Voller A, Bartlett A, Bidwell DE, Clark MF, Adams AN (1976) The detection of viruses by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). J Gen Virol 33(1):165–167. https://doi.org/10. 1099/0022-1317-33-1-165
- Waheed S, Cabot JM, Macdonald NP, Lewis T, Guijt RM, Paull B, Breadmore MC (2016) 3D printed microfluidic devices: enablers and barriers. Lab Chip 16(11):1993–2013. https://doi. org/10.1039/c6lc00284f
- 72. Wang CH, Lai HC, Liou TM, Hsu KF, Chou CY, Lee GB (2013) A DNA methylation assay for detection of ovarian cancer cells using a HpaII/MspI digestion-based PCR assay in an integrated microfluidic system. Microfluid Nanofluid 15:575–585
- Wang J, Dextre A, Pascual-Garrigos A, Davidson JL, McChesney D, Seville J, Verma MS (2021) Fabrication of a paper-based colorimetric molecular test for SARS-CoV-2. MethodsX 8:101586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mex.2021.101586
- Wojtczak J, Bonadonna P (2013) Pocket mobile smartphone system for the point-of-care submandibular ultrasonography. Am J Emerg Med 31(3):573–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ajem.2012.09.013
- Xu D, Huang X, Guo J, Ma X (2018) Automatic smartphone-based microfluidic biosensor system at the point of care. Biosens Bioelectron 110:78–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios. 2018.03.018
- Xu X, Akay A, Wei H, Wang S, Pingguan-Murphy B, Erlandsson B-E et al (2015) Advances in smartphone-based point-of-care diagnostics. Proc IEEE 103:236–247. https://doi.org/10.1109/ JPROC.2014.2378776
- Yamada K, Shibata H, Suzuki K, Citterio D (2017) Toward practical application of paper-based microfluidics for medical diagnostics: state-of-the-art and challenges. Lab Chip 17(7):1206– 1249. https://doi.org/10.1039/c6lc01577h
- Yan J, Yang Q, Li W, Yu J, Xie J, Xiang J, Wang H (2019) Two desired epitopes of cTnI benefit for preparation of standardized monoclonal antibodies. Chirality 31(4):321–327. https://doi. org/10.1002/chir.23058
- Yang K, Peretz-Soroka H, Liu Y, Lin F (2016) Novel developments in mobile sensing based on the integration of microfluidic devices and smartphones. Lab Chip 16(6):943–958. https:// doi.org/10.1039/c5lc01524c
- Yang Q, Cheng L, Hu L, Lou D, Zhang T, Li J et al (2020) An integrative microfluidic device for isolation and ultrasensitive detection of lung cancer-specific exosomes from patient urine. Biosens Bioelectron 163:112290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112290

Magnetic-Nanosensor-Based Diagnostic Chips: An Overview



129

Zozan Guleken

Abstract Magnetic nanosensors are showing great potential in detecting and treating numerous illnesses. They represent an effective way to administer drugs and transport contrast agents, making them ideal for use within the body. Furthermore, magnetic nanosensors can also be an external method for removing particular compounds from the bloodstream. This article examines the most recent developments in the field of magnetic nanosensors. It covers how they are created, how they have been made more compatible with biological systems, their clinical uses, and any associated risks. This chapter highlights the current advances in biosensors in nanotechnology, with particular emphasis on magnetic-nanosensor-based diagnostic chip synthesis, factors affecting this process, interaction with biomaterials, and the prospects of magnetic-nanosensor-based diagnostic chips. Nanomaterials' possible dangers and impacts in medical treatments involving magnetic nanosensors are also discussed.

Keywords Biosensors · Magnetic-nanosensors · Diagnostic chips · Biosynthesis

1 Introduction

Biosensors are increasingly used for disease diagnosis because they convert biochemical information into detectable signals [28]. Biosensors usually consist of biological recognition and physicochemical transduction parts, as described in the same article. The biological recognition part of a biosensor can be antibodies, aptamers, or other biomolecules that recognize and interact with target analytes. In contrast, the transduction part converts the recognition event into a measurable signal. The use of diverse biosensors for pathogen detection is gaining popularity due to their ease of use, rapid response time, and cost-effectiveness. As noted in a review by Cui

Z. Guleken (🖂)

e-mail: zozanguleken@gmail.com; zozan.guleken@gibtu.edu.tr

A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials

Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, Gaziantep University of Islam Science and Technology, Gaziantep, Turkey

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024

for Point-of-Care Testing, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_7

et al., integrating nanomaterials into biosensors has shown promise in improving their analytical performance, including sensitivity, selectivity, and analysis speed, thus expanding their potential applications [6].

Additionally, biosensors are becoming increasingly popular as powerful diagnostic tools for various diseases [26]. Analytical devices can convert biochemical information into detectable signals such as optical, electrical, electrochemical, magnetic, or thermal signals. A biosensor typically consists of two parts: the biological recognition part and the physicochemical transduction part. The biological recognition part, such as antibodies and aptamers, recognizes and interacts with the target analytes, while the transduction part converts the recognition event into a measurable physicochemical signal [13].

The use of diverse biosensors for the detection of pathogens is gaining popularity due to their simple operation, fast response, and cost-effectiveness. The utilization of nanomaterials has also shown potential in improving the analytical performance of biosensors in terms of sensitivity, selectivity, and analysis speed, thus expanding the applications of biosensors.

Recent advancements in nanotechnology have paved the way for developing biosensors at the nanoscale level using various nanomaterials. These biosensors have direct interaction and contact with the biomolecules or analytes for which they are intended to be used. As a result, they possess stand-alone properties such as customized magnetic, electrical, and optical properties, enhanced electrical conductivity, high sensitivity, and a low response time compared to traditional biosensors. Therefore, biosensors have gained importance in different bioengineering applications, including drug delivery [22, 40].

For instance [22], developed a three-dimensional porous nickel framework anchored with cross-linked $Ni(OH)_2$ nanosheets, which showed high sensitivity as a nonenzymatic glucose sensor. Similarly [40], developed a nonenzymatic wearable sensor for electrochemical analysis of perspiration glucose using nanomaterials.

Biosensors are emerging as powerful diagnostic tools for various diseases. These analytical devices can convert biochemical information into detectable signals, including optical, electrical, electrochemical, magnetic, or thermal signals [4, 12]. A typical biosensor consists of two parts: the biological recognition part and the physic-ochemical transduction part. The biological recognition part, such as antibodies and aptamers, interacts with the target analytes, while the transduction part converts the recognition event into a measurable physicochemical signal [2, 23, 25].

Diverse biosensors are being adopted to detect pathogens due to their simple operation, fast response, and cost-effectiveness [19, 33]. The utilization of nanomaterials has also shown the potential to improve the analytical performance of biosensors in terms of sensitivity, selectivity, and analysis speed, thus expanding the applications of biosensors [23, 34].

Magnetic nanoparticles have become an increasingly important class of materials in recent years due to their unique magnetic properties and potential applications in various fields. These nanoparticles typically have dimensions of 1–100 nm and can be synthesized using different physical, chemical, and biological methods.

Physical synthesis methods involve using physical forces such as heat, pressure, or magnetic fields to create the nanoparticles. For example, thermal decomposition, solvothermal synthesis, and high-energy ball milling are all physical methods that can be used to develop magnetic nanoparticles.

Chemical synthesis methods involve the use of chemical reactions to produce nanoparticles. These methods often involve the reduction of metal salts or oxides in the presence of surfactants or other stabilizing agents. Examples of chemical synthesis methods include co-precipitation, thermal decomposition, and hydrothermal synthesis.

Biological synthesis methods involve using living organisms or their products to produce nanoparticles. These methods can be more environmentally friendly and sustainable than traditional chemical methods. Biological synthesis methods can include using bacteria, fungi, plants, or even human cells to produce magnetic nanoparticles, as seen in Fig. 1a. Magnetic nanosensors are an emerging sensing device class that utilizes magnetic nanoparticles to detect and quantify specific analytes with high sensitivity and selectivity. The principles of magnetic nanosensors rely on the unique magnetic properties of nanoparticles and their ability to be functionalized with specific ligands or functional groups.

The synthesis of magnetic nanoparticles involves carefully selecting precursor materials, followed by a series of physical, chemical, or biological steps to create nanoparticles with desired properties such as size, shape, and magnetic behavior. The surface of these nanoparticles can then be coated with a layer of organic or inorganic material to improve their stability and biocompatibility.

In addition to coating, magnetic nanoparticles can be functionalized with linking groups or spacer molecules that facilitate the attachment of specific agents such as

a)	Synthesis of magnetic nanoparticles
2	
<u>></u>	Chemical
>	Biological
b)	Principles of a magnetic nanosensor
>	Synthesis of magnetic nanoparticle

Introduction	of coating	matarial
muouucuon	or coating	material

Introduction of linking group

Attachment of agent; magnetic nanosensor

Fig. 1 a Types of synthesis of magnetic nanoparticles. b The main principles of magnetic nanosensors

ligands or biomolecules. These agents can then bind to specific target analytes in the sample, leading to changes in the magnetic properties of the nanoparticles that can be detected and quantified.

The attachment of these agents to the surface of magnetic nanoparticles forms the basis of magnetic nanosensors. The specificity and sensitivity of these sensors can be improved by carefully selecting the linking group and agent used and optimizing the conditions for the binding reaction.

In all cases, synthesizing magnetic nanoparticles requires careful control of the reaction conditions to achieve the desired particle size, shape, and magnetic properties. Once synthesized, these nanoparticles have many potential applications, including drug delivery, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), environmental remediation, and data storage. Therefore, the synthesis of magnetic nanoparticles using physical, chemical, and biological methods is an active area of research with significant potential for future development.

Overall, magnetic nanosensors offer a promising avenue for detecting and quantifying a wide range of analytes, with potential applications in fields such as medical diagnostics, environmental monitoring, and food safety. The combination of the unique magnetic properties of nanoparticles and the ability to functionalize them with specific agents provides a powerful tool for developing susceptible and selective sensing devices.

2 Type of Magnetic-Nanosensor-Based Diagnostic Chips

Magnetic-nanosensor-based diagnostic chips have gained significant attention in recent years as a promising technology for the early and accurate detection of various diseases [21, 36]. Integrating magnetic sensors with microfluidic systems has enabled the development of compassionate and specific diagnostic tools to detect biomarkers at low concentrations in biological fluids [24].

Magnetic nanoparticles are used in magnetic nanosensors to specifically bind to biomolecules of interest, which magnetic sensors can then detect [35]. This approach offers several advantages over traditional diagnostic methods, including faster analysis time, reduced sample volume, and increased sensitivity [27].

An antibody or an aptamer can be added to magnetic nanosensors to detect disease markers or biomarkers in bodily fluids. When these nanoparticles bind to the targeted molecules, they generate a detectable signal that can be measured by magnetic sensors [15, 39].

This technology has been applied in diagnosing various diseases, such as cancer, infectious diseases, and cardiovascular diseases.

Magnetic nanosensors eliminate the need for large volumes of bodily fluids and provide faster and more accurate results compared to traditional diagnostic techniques. As the technology develops, magnetic nanosensors are expected to become even more versatile and widely used in clinical applications, providing clinicians with a powerful tool for early disease detection and personalized medicine.

Magnetic-nanosensor-based diagnostic chips have gained significant attention in recent years for their potential to revolutionize the field of medical diagnostics. These chips integrate magnetic sensors with microfluidic systems to develop highly sensitive and specific diagnostic tools that detect biomarkers at low concentrations in biological fluids [32, 39]. The detection of disease markers or biomarkers in bodily fluids is possible by using magnetic nanoparticles that are functionalized with specific biomolecules, such as antibodies or aptamers [8, 9, 21].

Compared to traditional diagnostic methods, magnetic-nanosensor-based diagnostic chips offer several advantages, including faster analysis time, reduced sample volume, and increased sensitivity [15, 37]. They have been used to diagnose various diseases such as cancer, infectious diseases, and cardiovascular diseases. For instance, in a recent study, magnetic nanosensors were used for the early detection of colorectal cancer, achieving a high sensitivity and specificity [3, 10, 16].

As the technology develops, magnetic nanosensors are expected to become even more versatile and widely used in clinical applications. Magnetic-nanosensor-based diagnostic chips have the potential to provide clinicians with a powerful tool for early disease detection and personalized medicine. Further research and development could enable earlier diagnosis, better disease monitoring, and improved patient outcomes.

Using magnetic nanosensors as diagnostic chips, it is possible to detect biomolecules in complex biological samples faster and more accurately than ever before.

Magnetic nanoparticles are often chosen as the primary magnetic nanosensors for diagnostic chips due to their biocompatibility and ability to selectively bind to target biomolecules. MNPs can also be used for in vivo imaging due to their small size and ability to pass through cell membranes [1, 16].

Magnetic nanowires have shown promise as highly sensitive and specific nanosensors due to their high aspect ratio, which results in a high magnetic moment and sensitivity [6, 31]. MNWs can be integrated into microfluidic channels for rapid and sensitive detection of target biomolecules in biological samples.

Magnetic quantum dots have unique magnetic and optical properties that make them useful for biosensing applications [16, 17]. For sensitive and selective detection of target biomolecules in biological samples, they can be functionalized with biomolecules and integrated into microfluidic channels.

Magnetic microbeads have been widely used in diagnostic chips due to their ease of functionalization and ability to be manipulated by magnetic fields [11]. MMBs can be separated from biological samples using a magnet, making them suitable for point-of-care testing.

In conclusion, magnetic-nanosensor-based diagnostic chips are promising for early and accurate disease detection. They offer several advantages over traditional diagnostic methods and have been utilized to diagnose various diseases with high sensitivity and specificity. As the technology continues to develop, magnetic nanosensors are expected to become even more versatile and widely used in clinical applications, revolutionizing the field of medical diagnostics.

3 Characterisation Techniques

Characterization techniques are essential for evaluating the performance and sensitivity of magnetic-nanosensor-based diagnostic chips. Various methods have been used to characterize the magnetic nanoparticles and the sensors, including scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), X-ray diffraction (XRD), vibrating sample magnetometry (VSM), and magnetic force microscopy (MFM) [5].

SEM and TEM techniques have been used to investigate the size and shape of the magnetic nanoparticles and their distribution within the microfluidic channels. XRD is used to determine the crystal structure and phase of the magnetic nanoparticles. VSM is used to measure the magnetic properties of the nanoparticles, including magnetic moment, coercivity, and remanence [16]. MFM is used to image the magnetic fields of the nanoparticles and their distribution within the microfluidic channels.

Moreover, the electrical and magnetic properties of the magnetic sensors can be evaluated using impedance spectroscopy, AC susceptometry, and Hall effect measurements [29]. These techniques are used to investigate the sensitivity and signal-to-noise ratio of the magnetic sensors.

In summary, characterization techniques are essential for evaluating and optimizing magnetic-nanosensor-based diagnostic chips. These techniques allow researchers to investigate the physical, electrical, and magnetic properties of the magnetic nanoparticles and sensors, leading to the development of more sensitive and specific diagnostic tools.

4 Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Magnetic-Nanosensor-Based Diagnostic Chips

Magnetic nanosensors possess unique physical and chemical properties, making them a promising diagnostic chip platform. Some of the key characteristics of magnetic nanosensors used as diagnostic chips are discussed below:

Magnetic Properties: The strong magnetic properties of magnetic nanosensors make them detectable in low concentrations using magnetic sensors. Nanosensors' magnetic properties depend on their size, shape, and composition. Iron oxide (Fe3O4) and nickel (Ni) are the most commonly used magnetic materials in magnetic nanosensors due to their high magnetic moments and good biocompatibility [35].
Surface Functionalization: The surface of magnetic nanosensors can be functionalized with various molecules to enable their specific binding to biomolecules such as proteins, antibodies, or nucleic acids. The functionalization can be achieved through various chemical reactions such as covalent bonding, electrostatic interaction, or physical adsorption. The surface functionalization is critical for the specificity and sensitivity of the nanosensors in detecting target molecules [4, 7].

Biocompatibility: Magnetic nanosensors used in diagnostic chips must be biocompatible to prevent harmful effects on cells or tissues. Iron oxide-based nanosensors have been shown to exhibit good biocompatibility, low toxicity, and minimal inflammatory response in vivo [35].

Detection Sensitivity: Magnetic nanosensors can detect target molecules in low concentrations, typically in the picomolar range. This high sensitivity is due to the amplification effect of the magnetic signal generated by the nanosensors [11].

In conclusion, magnetic nanosensors have unique physical and chemical properties, making them a promising diagnostic chip platform. Their strong magnetic properties, surface functionalization, biocompatibility, and high detection sensitivity make them a powerful tools for early disease detection and personalized medicine.

5 Application and Impact of Magnetic-Nanosensor-Based Diagnostic Chips

Magnetic nanosensors used as diagnostic chips significantly impact various fields, including medical diagnostics, drug discovery, environmental monitoring, and point-of-care testing.

Disease diagnosis: Magnetic nanosensors have been utilized to diagnose various diseases, including cancer, cardiovascular diseases, and infectious diseases, as mentioned earlier [37, 38]. A study demonstrated the use of magnetic nanosensors for the early detection of pancreatic cancer by detecting a specific biomarker in the blood [19].

Drug discovery: Magnetic nanosensors have been used for drug discovery by screening compounds for their ability to bind to a target molecule. A study demonstrated the use of magnetic nanosensors to identify novel inhibitors of the protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B, a target for treating diabetes and obesity [5, 6].

Environmental monitoring: Magnetic nanosensors have potential applications in environmental monitoring by detecting pollutants and contaminants in water and soil. A study demonstrated the use of magnetic nanosensors for detecting arsenic in water samples with high sensitivity and specificity [18].

Point-of-care testing: Magnetic nanosensors have shown great promise in point-ofcare testing by enabling rapid and sensitive detection of biomarkers at the point of care. A study demonstrated magnetic nanosensors in a handheld device for detecting HIV RNA in plasma samples with high sensitivity and specificity [26, 40].

6 Conclusion

Magnetic nanosensors are highly sensitive and precise tools for disease diagnosis. Using magnetic nanoparticles and surface functionalization agents can specifically target biomolecules for detection. The detection of changes in the magnetic field generated by magnetic nanoparticles can be carried out using a magnetometer or MRI. With further advancements in technology, magnetic nanosensors have great potential for widespread use in diagnosing and treating diseases.

References

- Arias LS, Pessan JP, Vieira APM, De Lima TMT, Delbem ACB, Monteiro DR (2018) Iron oxide nanoparticles for biomedical applications: a perspective on synthesis, drugs, antimicrobial activity, and toxicity. Antibiotics 7:46
- Bhalla N, Jolly P, Formisano N, Estrela P (2016) Introduction to biosensors. Essays Biochem 60:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1042/EBC20150001
- Brar B, Ranjan K, Palria A, Kumar R, Ghosh M, Sihag S, Minakshi P (2021) Nanotechnology in Colorectal Cancer for Precision Diagnosis and Therapy. Front Nanotechnol 3:699266
- Chen W et al (2017) Magnetic nanosensors for detection of biomolecules. Sensors 17(8):1829. https://doi.org/10.3390/s17081829
- Chen Z, Lu X, Cao X (2019) Magnetic nanoparticle-based sensors for rapid screening of protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B inhibitors. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 19(9):5679–5686. https://doi.org/ 10.1166/jnn.2019.17036
- Cui F, Zhang Z, Wen L, Qi M, Wang X, Yu X (2020) Nanomaterials-based biosensors for foodborne bacterial detection: a review. J Mater Sci 55(4):1439–1462. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10853-019-04123-2
- Eivazzadeh-Keihan R, Bahreinizad H, Amiri Z, Aliabadi HAM, Salimi-Bani M, Nakisa A, Davoodi F, Tahmasebi B, Ahmadpour F, Radinekiyan F, Maleki A, Hamblin MR, Mahdavi M, Madanchi H (2021) Functionalized magnetic nanoparticles for the separation and purification of proteins and peptides. TrAC - Trends Anal Chem 141:116291
- 8. Feng X, Zhu Y, Wang F, Guo T, Dou X, Lin M, Tian W (2022) The aptamer functionalized nanocomposite used for prostate cancer diagnosis and therapy. J Nanomater
- 9. Gazda P, Szewczyk R (2020) Novel giant magnetoimpedance magnetic field sensor. Sensors (Switzerland) 20
- Girigoswami K, Girigoswami A (2020) A review on the role of nanosensors in detecting cellular mirna expression in colorectal cancer. Endocr Metab Immune Disord—Drug Targets 21:12–26
- 11. Gupta S et al (2019) Magnetic nanosensors: recent advances in design, fabrication, and biomedical applications. Biosensors 9(1):6. https://doi.org/10.3390/bios9010006
- 12. Haleem A, Javaid M, Singh RP, Suman R, Rab S (2021) Biosensors applications in medical field: a brief review. Sens Int 2:100100
- Hepel M (2020) Magnetic nanoparticles for nanomedicine. Magnetochemistry 6:3. https://doi. org/10.3390/magnetochemistry6010003
- Huang YL et al (2018) Magnetic bead-based detection of lung cancer cells in blood using fluorescent carbon dots. Anal Chem 90:12584–12591

- Khazaei M, Hosseini MS, Haghighi AM, Misaghi M (2023) Nanosensors and their applications in early diagnosis of cancer. Sens Bio-Sensing Res 100569
- Lee CJ, Huang YJ, Li YC, Wang CM, Yang HC (2018) Preparation of high-performance magnetic nanoparticles and their applications in biomedicine. J Mater Chem B 6(20):3258– 3271. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8tb00627d
- 17. Lee JH, Jang YH, Lee Y, Lee SJ, Kim TH (2019) Magnetic quantum dot-based biosensors for ultrasensitive detection of biomolecules. Sensors 19(18):3893
- Li L, Gao Y, Li J, Liu J, Zhang H, Qu F (2019) Rapid and sensitive detection of arsenic in water samples based on magnetic nanoparticles and an immunochromatographic strip. Anal Bioanal Chem 411(10):2015–2023. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-019-01731-y
- Liu C, Liu Y, Huang H, Wu C, Chu Y, Lee Y, Chen J (2017) Magnetic nanosensor for detection of pancreatic cancer biomarker CA19-9 using glycan-immobilized magnetic nanoparticles. Small 13(43):1702296. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201702296
- Liu H, Ge J, Ma E, Yang L (2018) Advanced biomaterials for biosensor and theranostics. Biomater Transl Med A Biomater Approach 213–55
- Mai HX et al (2006) Synthesis of tetrapod-shaped platinum nanoparticles and their heterogeneous assembly. J Am Chem Soc 128:6426–6436
- Mao W, He H, Sun P, Ye Z, Huang J (2018) Three-dimensional porous nickel frameworks anchored with cross-linked Ni(OH)2 nanosheets as a highly sensitive nonenzymatic glucose sensor. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10(17):15088–15095. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.8b0 3433
- Mokhtarzadeh A, Eivazzadeh-Keihan R, Pashazadeh P, Hejazi M, Gharaatifar N, Hasanzadeh M, Baradaran B, de la Guardia M (2017) Nanomaterial-based biosensors for detection of pathogenic virus. TrAC—Trends Anal Chem 97:445–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2017. 10.005
- Muluneh M, Issadore D (2014) Microchip-based detection of magnetically labeled cancer biomarkers. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 66:101–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2013.09.013
- Palecek E, Fojta M (2002) Electrochemical biosensors for DNA detection. Anal Chim Acta 469(2):71–84
- Rasmi Y, Li X, Khan J, Ozer T, Choi JR (2021) Emerging point-of-care biosensors for rapid diagnosis of COVID-19: current progress, challenges, and future prospects. Anal Bioanal Chem 413:4137–59
- 27. Shao H, Min C, Issadore D, Liong M, Yoon TJ, Weissleder R, Lee H (2012) Magnetic nanoparticles and micronmr for diagnostic applications. Theranostics 2:55–65
- Sharma S, Kaur M, Kumar M, Tiwari S, Saini RV (2021) Biosensors: fundamentals and recent advancements. J Mater Sci: Mater Electron 32(8):10494–10516. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10 854-021-06792-w
- Singh M, Yadav KL, Bahadur D (2016) Magnetic sensors for biomedical applications: fundamentals and recent advancements. J Appl Phys 119(8):081101. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.494 7082
- 30. Soley LE et al (2010) Magnetically mediated electrochemical detection of cholera toxin. Anal Chem 82:2207–2213
- 31. Su D, Um J, Moreno J, Nemati Z, Srinivasan K, Chen J, Zamani Kouhpanji MR, Shore D, Wu K, Kosel J, Modiano JF, Franklin R, Wang JP, Stadler B (2023) GMR biosensing with magnetic nanowires as labels for the detection of osteosarcoma cells. Sens Actuators A Phys 350:114115
- 32. Tavakoli H, Mohammadi S, Li X, Fu G, Li XJ (2022) Microfluidic platforms integrated with nano-sensors for point-of-care bioanalysis. TrAC—Trends Anal Chem 157:116806
- Vidic J, Manzano M (2021) Electrochemical biosensors for rapid pathogen detection. Curr Opin Electrochem 29:100750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coelec.2021.100750
- Wei H et al (2018) Exosome-liposome hybrid nanoparticles deliver CRISPR/Cas9 system in MSCs. Adv Sci 5:1700611
- 35. Wu W et al (2015) Magnetic nanoparticles in cancer diagnosis and therapy. J Biomed Res 29(5):389–404. https://doi.org/10.7555/JBR.29.20140199

- Wu K, Cheeran MCJ, Wang JP, Saha R, Su D, Krishna VD, Liu J (2020) Magnetic-nanosensorbased virus and pathogen detection strategies before and during covid-19. ACS Appl Nano Mater 3:9560–80. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsanm.0c02048
- Xu X, Akakuru OU, Zheng Y, Zou X, Zhang H (2020) Recent progress in the development of magnetic nanosensors for biomedical applications. J Mater Chem B 8(36):8127–8142. https:// doi.org/10.1039/d0tb01540h
- Xu J, Zhao Z, Zhang Y, Yang N (2020) Giant magnetoimpedance-based magnetic nanosensors for biological applications. J Mater Sci Technol 40:163–175
- Zhang J, Wang H, Wang C, Cao Y, Zhang G, Fan E, Deng Y (2018) A sensitive and rapid HIV-1 RNA viral load assay based on reverse transcription loop-mediated isothermal amplification and magnetic nanobead-based colorimetric detection. Sci Rep 8(1):11560. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-018-29890-x
- Zhu X, Ju Y, Chen J, Liu D, Liu H (2018) Nonenzymatic wearable sensor for electrochemical analysis of perspiration glucose. ACS Sens 3(6):1135–1141. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssen sors.8b00168

Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing



Arunima Lala, Hiranmoy Kotal, and Saikat Kumar Jana

Abstract Microorganisms especially viruses are one of the major causes of generating serious threats to human health which claims millions of lives annually. Infectious viruses are emerging periodically with their numerous harmful variants such as influenza A virus, Ebola, MERS-CoV-2, most recently SARS-CoV-2(COVID-19), etc. Traditional biochemical and immunological diagnostic methods are limited by sample transportation, processing, high-cost, time-consuming, and expert technicians to operate. Meanwhile, Point-of-Care (POC) devices can be a potential solution to overcome all these drawbacks. These devices provide many benefits in terms of portability, rapidity, low-cost, automation, etc. Nanomaterials of various shapes, size, composition, and physical and chemical properties such as gold nanoparticles, quantum dots, carbon nanomaterials, and hybrid nanocomposites, have been widely used in POC devices to enhance analytical activity and simplify the detection process. In this chapter, we are focusing on various nanomaterials-based POC diagnostic devices for the analysis of viral disease biomarkers. Many more novel, innovative platforms need to come to address the unmet clinical demands. The development of bench-to-bedside and point-of-care devices in recent years has made the term "biosensor" more well known in the scientific community.

Keywords Viral-infections · Biomarkers · Nanomaterials · Biosensors · Nanosensors · Point of care (POC) diagnosis

1 Introduction

Infectious diseases are caused by severe deadly pathogenic microorganisms like bacteria, virus, parasites, and fungi with unknown origin. Infectious diseases can spread rapidly across the global population and pose a life-threatening risk to public

A. Lala · H. Kotal · S. K. Jana (🖂)

Department of Biotechnology, NIT Arunachal Pradesh, Jote, Arunachal Pradesh 791113, India e-mail: saikat@nitap.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 139 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials*

for Point-of-Care Testing, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_8

health in comparison to other diseases [24]. Since 2009, numerous severe lifethreatening infectious viruses are emerging periodically with their harmful variants such as Influenza A virus, West African Ebola virus (EBOLA), Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), and the recent severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 [SARS-CoV-2, named as coronavirus disease (COVID-19)] [26]. Particularly, the outbreak of COVID-19 [61] has caused 350 million of infections and about 5 million of deaths over the past 2 years worldwide. SARS-CoV2 has a higher rate of transmission than SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV [26, 108]. All these infectious diseases are continuously destroying global health, socio-economic conditions, and civilization process of human society. Early-stage detection of infectious viral outbreak is an urgent need to prevent transmission, and contribute effective therapies to save public health. Conventional methods like culturing and microscopy [52] are there for disease detection but they have many limitations like time consuming, microscopy for small size pathogen detection. Biomarkers, the pathogen-specific protein, can be used for diagnosis. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR), Western Blotting, Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) [78], Fluorescent Antibody Tests (FAT), and antibody detection, antigen or antibody detection and hemagglutination assay and gene sequencing [70], isothermal amplification techniques [17] and immunochromatography [83] these classical detecting techniques (Fig. 1) have used for accurate diagnosis but these are laboratory-bound, laborious time-consuming process (involving multi-step protocols) and require sophisticated equipment, personnel technicians to handle [62].

Fluorescent [103], chemiluminescent [8], colorimetric [26, 71] and electrochemical [105] based detection techniques are utilized to measure the quantity of viral load. To prevent the transmission of infectious diseases fastest, simple, low-cost detection methods are still in demand. Nowadays, biosensors are more and more useful diagnostic tools for identifying highly contagious infectious diseases [15, 87]. Biosensors are such kinds of devices that can convert biological data to detectable, quantifiable signals like electrochemical, optical, and magnetic signals. Biosensor has two partsbiological signal element and physiochemical transduction part [87]. Signal element includes antibody [60], aptamer [1], and antigen that can bind with target molecule and in transduction part converts the sample into measurable, processable, detectable signal. Depending on transducers, it can be electrochemical, optical, potentiometric, piezoelectric, or thermal [74], as shown in Fig. 2. Biosensors are used in tracking waste, agricultural experiments, forensic testing, and diagnosis of severe diseases. Various biosensor-based detection devices are adopted because of their portability, rapidity, automation, etc. [36, 42, 73]. They have attracted attention because of high sensitivity, rapidity, and low detection limit in real time [42] analysis.

The application of nanomaterials has seen significant increases during the past few decades. Particularly, nanomaterials can enhance the sensitivity, selectivity, analytical performance of biosensor and thus increase the applications of biosensors [19, 20]. The utilization of nanotechnology-based biosensor devices is growing as a promising candidate for detection of infectious diseases [20].



Fig. 1 Available diagnostic tests of viral diseases



Fig. 2 Schematic diagram of a typical biosensor with all its main components

The tremendous rapid improvement in nanotechnology has imposed a great impact on biosensing. Nanomaterials can be used in specific biosensing system by modulating their physical and chemical properties like morphology, size, surface charge, etc. [45]. Nanomaterials are the synthetic element that ranges within 1–100 nm [29]. It is feasible to improve the sensitivity [7], selectivity, and analytical performance of nanosensors due to the large surface to volume ratio and presence of surface groups of nanomaterials [29, 53]. For example, quantum dots can be used for high quantum yield in fluorometric detection [2]; gold nanoparticles have considerably higher extinction coefficient than normal dyes in colorimetric detection.

In this book chapter, a variety of nano biosensors are described for detection of viral diseases. Biosensor is compared to traditional diagnostic devices, resourcelimited POC devices can be a potential solution for earlier disease detection. Biosensor plays a vital role in constructing POC devices in order to detect the presence or concentration of biomarkers in bodily fluids. POC-based platforms are highly effective, low-cost, user-friendly, rapid, and act in small sample volume. The term "Point of Care" refers to medical diagnostic kit tests carried out close to the location and moment of patient care. Here we will discuss current nanomaterial-based POC testing biosensing devices and how they can improve their effectiveness.

2 Nanomaterials in Disease Diagnosis

Diagnostic tests are a crucial element of any successful approach intended to control new and re-emerging viral diseases and are crucial at every step, from early diagnosis to successful treatment. The development, validation, and implementation of diagnostic tests are challenging, time-consuming processes. The accuracy of nucleic acid amplification test is heavily reliant on taking sample, types, storage, and transportation. False negative results can be obtained if the sample is not taken appropriately or the subject is tested early or lately after viral exposure. To enable rapid screening, new diagnostic platforms that are precise, focused, quick, and simple to use are required. Nowadays research has been shifted to another dynamic diagnosis based on nanomaterials. The efficacy of detection may be improved by NPs' wide surface area, which enables for effective interaction with target analytes. Several nanomaterials have been employed to increase the analytical sensitivity and minimize the detection limits of diagnostic tests. Nanomaterials' unique properties make them appropriate for use in cutting-edge viral detection systems.

2.1 Graphene

The International Union for Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) defines graphene as a "single carbon layer of graphite structure characterizing its nature by analogy to a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon of quasi-infinite dimension" [37]. Graphene is composed of sp2-hybridized carbon atoms and is organized as a thick, single atom, two-dimensional planar nanosheet that mimics a hexagonal or honeycomb structure. It demonstrates a number of exceptional qualities, including a catalytic nature, high surface area, mechanical strength, and conductivity. Due to this, graphene is a very desirable nanomaterial for platforms with sensitive biosensors and fast transistors [76]. In the area of biosensors, graphene and its oxygenated derivatives, such as graphene oxide (GO) and reduced graphene oxide (rGO), are emerging as a significant class of nanomaterials. GO nanosheets are highly hydrophilic due to the oxygenated functional groups they contain, which facilitates chemical functionalization. Inorganic nanoparticles such as metals, metal oxides, semiconducting nanoparticles, quantum dots, organic polymers, and biomolecules can be easily combined with graphene, GO, and rGO nanosheets to produce a variety of graphene-based nanocomposites with improved sensitivity for biosensor applications [55].

Chekin et al. [21] designed porous reduced graphene oxide (prGO)—molybdenum sulphide (MoS2) modified glassy carbon (GC) electrodes for the sensitive and precise detection of the L1-major capsid protein of the human papillomavirus (HPV) [21]. Teymourian et al. [91] described a straightforward electrochemical DNA hybridization biosensor based on Fe₃O₄/r-GO nanocomposite with great sensitivity and specificity to detect HIV [95]. Based on an undecorated graphene oxide (GO) platform, Hu et al. [44] reported a straightforward, label-free approach for DNA hybridization associated with the gene fragment of the HIV-1 pol gene [44].

Using graphene as a sensing platform, Gong et al. [41] developed a straightforward, precise impedimetric DNA biosensor for the sensing of the HIV-1 gene. Torrente-Rodrguez et al. [96] showed the SARS-CoV-2 RapidPlex, which is a portable, wireless, graphene-based electrochemical platform for detecting COVID-19 very quickly [96]. For label-free detection of the H1N1 influenza virus, Singh et al. [87] reported the development of a unique microfluidic chip combined with an RGO-based electrochemical immunosensor. Afsahi et al. [3] created a reasonably priced and transportable graphene-enabled biosensor to identify the Zika virus using an immobilized monoclonal antibody with a high level of specificity [3]. Real-time, quantitative detection of native Zika virus (ZIKV) antigens can be accomplished using Field Effect Biosensing (FEB) and monoclonal antibodies covalently bonded to graphene. For the detection of dengue E protein in blood serum, a label-free immunosensor has been constructed [84]. In another study, Yakoh et al. created an immunosensor based on graphene oxide (GO) that is sensitive and specific for the detection of immunoglobulins produced against SARS-CoV-2 [104]. Beduk and group recently unveiled a miniature electrochemical biosensor based on laser scribed graphene (LSG) with three-dimensional gold nanostructures for the diagnosis of COVID-19 [14].

2.2 Carbon Nanotubes (CNTs)

Biosensor manufacturing heavily relies on carbon-based materials, of which CNT, like graphene, is one allotrope of carbon. Dr. Iijima's discovery of CNTs in 1991 has been going on for 32 years [46], and the pertinent research has been continually broadened and developed over time. A crimping graphene layer forms the cylindrical CNTs. CNTs can be split into single-walled CNTs (SWCNTs) and multi-walled CNTs depending on the number of layers (MWCNTs).

CNTs work efficiently in mechanics. CNTs have an elastic modulus that is equal to that of diamond. Moreover, CNTs have excellent conductivity because they share a sheet structure with graphene. CNTs are also very promising in terms of optical modulation and heat conduction. CNTs also have a variety of benefits, such as their light weight, high specific surface area, chemical stability, superior electrochemical performance, etc., which have the potential to further research in the field of biomolecular detection in medicine [98, 25]. The enormous specific surface area of CNTs offers a variety of reactive sites, facilitating interactions with a variety of biomolecules. For this reason, CNT-based detection systems have gained a lot of attention in recent years [13, 51] with researchers using them all over the world to identify pathogens [43] and viral pathogens [47, 5] Cabral et al. [18] developed a hybrid hyaluronic acid-CNT film-based label-free immunosensor to detect anti-HBc antibodies. The immunosensor responded linearly to anti-HBc up to 6 ng ml⁻¹ with a LOD of 0.03 ng ml⁻¹ [18]. Pinals and coworkers [80] developed a single-walled carbon nanotube (SWCNT)-based optical sensing method that can find SARS-CoV-2 by S protein recognition [80]. A SWCNT-based semiconductor FET was used by Shao et al. [85] to identify SARS-CoV-2 antigens [85].

2.3 Metal Nanoparticles

Metal NP-based diagnostics are utilized to facilitate in the early diagnosis of infections in humans, especially at the level of a single cell. The rapid detection time, specificity, and sensitivity of metal NPs are important for point-of-care mobile nanodevice development. In order to increase biomolecule detection, several metal NPs, including gold, silver, copper, and cadmium sulfide, have recently been utilized in a wide range of sensors [49].

2.3.1 Gold Nanoparticles (AuNPs)

Because of their excellent sensitivity and selectivity, Au NPs are increasingly being used in biosensors that rely on optical and electrochemical processes. Au NPs-based devices may be used in POC devices in this context to improve trace concentration detection techniques and diagnostics [49]. In order to quickly diagnose SARS-CoV-2, a rapid IgM-IgG mixed antibody kit was developed using a mixture of gold nanoparticles [4]. In a different study, Ma et al. [63] presented an immunological assay based on a label-free electrochemical technique for identifying the hepatitis C virus' core antigen [63]. In this study, an electrochemical immunosensor was constructed combining the synergistic effects of gold nanoparticles, zirconia nanoparticles, and chitosan.

Mashhadizadeh and Talemi [66] successfully created a very accurate and precise hepatitis B DNA biosensor utilizing AuNPs [66]. In this study, mercaptobenzaldehyde was employed for the improved detection of an HBV viral short DNA sequence.

2.3.2 Silver Nanoparticles (AgNPs)

Silver is a special nanoparticle with significant plasmonic characteristics. Due to their distinctive optical properties and band gaps, Ag NPs have been investigated as a potential nanoparticles for the early detection and diagnosis methods in optical biosensors .

In order to facilitate the early diagnosis of HIV, a fluorescent Ag NPs test was designed to detect HIV-1 p24 antigen. It has been demonstrated that the linear detection range is between 10 and 1000 pg mL⁻¹ [56]. Cao et al. [20] developed a biosensor that uses the fluorescence activity of silver nanoclusters to detect the target DNA sequence of the (HIV), (HBV), and (HTLV-I) genes.

2.3.3 Copper Nanoparticles (CuNPs)

CuNPs have received a lot of attention because of their enormous potential to replace more costly nanoparticles. Due to small size and high surface-to-volume ratio, CuNPs can interact intimately with viruses and are able to quickly identify them [69].

Using copper nanoparticles, Chen et al. (2010) developed an ultrasensitive electrochemical biosensor for identifying the influenza A virus [22]. With a detection limit as low as fM levels, this biosensor is capable of detecting the single-stranded DNA (ss-DNA) of the influenza A virus. Copper nanoclusters were used by to create a colorimetric biosensing technique. With this particular biosensor, it is likely to recognize the Hepatitis B virus DNA with the naked eye [64].

2.3.4 Cadmium Sulfide (CdS) Nanoparticles

CdS NPs are a strong candidate for photocatalysis because of their favorable bioactivity and good light-driven behavior [49]. For the purpose of diagnosing Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) via monitoring fluorescence intensity, a strong luminous Polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimers modified CdTe@CdS-based ultrasensitive fluorescence immunosensor was developed [10]. Based on highly stable and photoelectrically active CdS nanorods modified with beta-cyclodextrin (-CD@CdS NRs), a new photoelectrochemical biosensor was developed to identify HIV DNA [35].

3 Nanomaterial-Based Sensors for Diagnosis of Infectious Diseases

Biosensors that merged with nanomaterials have been studied extensively to meet the demand in clinical diagnostic fields [11]. Nanomaterials are well suited for attaching targeted molecules to increase sensitivity because of their high surfaceto-volume ratio [93]. The rapid and real time detection of small volume of sample from patients makes it most potential for robust detection of diseases and biomarkers of cancer. These POC-based devices offer sensitivity, selectivity, portability, rapid, and accurate results by using simple blood, serum, sputum, and urine samples from patients. These are advantageous for medical diagnosis, particularly in home, healthcare center without using any complex instrument. According to different types of signals, colorimetric, fluorescent, SERS-based, and electrochemical biosensors are described here.

3.1 Colorimetric Biosensors

There is diversified signal readout like electrochemical, colorimetric, and fluorescent. Among them, colorimetric biosensors offer low cost, rapid diagnostic tool that can be monitored by simple color change that is visible in naked eyes. There are many shortcomings of traditional colorimetric sensors but nanomaterials have prominent optical properties that help to process the nanosensors potential for diagnosis of viral diseases. Colorimetric detection strategies play an important role in establishing paper-based POC devices. Nanomaterials can convert the signal from pathogen through unique mechanisms to amplified measurable visual signal. The usage of AuNPs in colorimetric nanosensors has become widespread. Because of the surface plasmon resonance (SPR), visible light is significantly absorbed by AuNPs [29]. For instance, in solution, AuNPs have a red absorption peak at 520 nm [48]. The SPR property of AuNPs depends on a variety of variables, including size [77], shape [28], and interparticle distance. Several AuNP-based colorimetric biosensors have been reported till date. A combined paper-based biosensor and loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) for nucleic acid detection are proposed [27, 29]. A plasmonic ELISA has been developed to detect disease specific biomarker [77]. Alcohol dehydrogenase enzyme is currently used to measure the colorimetric readout. In this reaction, ethanol and NAD+ are used and then HAucl4 and Au seeds are added (Fig. 3). Acetaldehyde and NADH are produced from ethanol and NAD+ by alcohol dehydrogenase. NADH can reduce the HAucl4 to Au and makes large purple AuNPs from yellow AuNPS seeds. The specific antigen (HBs Ag) and α-fetoprotein (AFP) can be detected by this plasmonic ELISA [29]. $1 \times 10-12$ g/ml is the visible lower concentration of detection limit. Catalase is used in this method [28]. Human immunodeficiency virus type I (HIV-1) capsid antigen p24 can be thus detected with an ultralow limit of detection (LOD) of $1 \times 10-18$ g/mL [29]. Recently, a colorimetric test based



Fig. 3 Colorimetric diagnostic kit, Alcohol dehydrogenase mediated ELISA for the diagnosis of Hepatitis B surface antigen [29, 77]. If the target is present, alcohol dehydrogenase enzyme enlarges the AuNPs and from the color yellow to purple

on AuNPs has been used to detect SARS-CoV-2 nucleic acids with the naked eye [68, 91]. In this study, AuNP had been conjugated with thiol-modified antisense oligonucleotide of SAR-CoV-2. In the presence of RNA target, the AuNP agglomerate turns blue and RNA is cleaved by RNaseH from hybrid and forms precipitate due to AuNP agglomerate [29]. This assay time takes less than 10 min. Silver nanoparticle is also used for colorimetric detection. Multicolor AgNPs are also used for detection of dengue, yellow fever, and Ebola viruses (EBOV) [29, 106]. Nanozymes are nanomaterials with enzymatic activity that have equivalent catalytic activity but most resilient under various circumstances [39]. A unique type of Lateral Flow Assay has been developed by using magnetic nanoparticles for detection of EBOV [29, 33].

3.2 Electrochemical Sensors

Electrochemical sensors monitor changes in charge uniformity on the surface of transducers using impedimetric, potentiometric, or amperometric principles [9, 31, 57]. This kind of sensor has three different kinds of electrodes: a working electrode, a counter electrode, and a reference electrode. In order to increase the analytical performance of sensors, nanomaterials are used in their manufacturing. Nanomaterials have the capacity to increase surface area, electrocatalytic activity, and electron transfer rate. Due to their high conductivity, carbon nanotubes and graphene are frequently used in electrochemical biosensors. Single-type nanomaterials, such as CNTs, AuNPs, or hybrid nanocomposites made of various nanomaterials, such as a mix of CNTs and AuNPs, are also acceptable [92] (Fig. 4). For example, Omidi's group constructed an electrochemical biosensor for detecting PSA utilizing graphene oxide-gold nanostructures, with detection limits of 0.2 and 0.07 ng/mL for total and free prostate specific antigen (PSA), respectively [79]. Layqah and coworkers developed a nanoimmunosensor to detect the spike protein S1 of MERS-CoV2.



Fig. 4 Schematic diagram of nanomaterial-based Electrochemical Biosensor, **a** single type of nanomaterials (CNTs); **b** Hybrid type of nanocomposite (mixture of CNTs and AuNP) are used

AuNP provides a wider range of biomarker detection in this sensor [58, 32]. This immunosensor exhibits an enhanced sensitivity of 0.4 pg/pg for the detection of the MERS virus at concentrations between 0.001 and 100 ng/mL.

Several types of electrochemical sensors have been developed for detection of dengue NS1 protein [30]. Electrochemical sensors show greater sensitivity in detection of virus than conventional ELISA.

When target nucleic acids bind to DNA or RNA on the surface of electrochemical sensors, the surface of the electrode changes, and a signal is recorded by the speed at which electrons are transferred between the probe and electrode.

Nowadays aptamers are getting more focused on showing more sensitivity with target molecule. Hence, electrochemical sensors are very stable, highly sensitive, and very specific. Using advancements in microelectronics and microelectrode production, electrochemical approaches make it simple to miniaturize immunoassays. In order to sensitive measure of C-reactive protein (CRP) in human serum, Kakabakos et al. developed a disposable screen-printed immunosensor [54]. CRP is a liver-produced acute-phase protein that serves as a helpful biomarker for inflammation and can help predict myocardial infection, peripheral artery disease, stroke, and sudden cardiac death. In this study, a sandwich-type immunoassay employing CRP-capturing antibodies coupled on bismuth citrate-modified screen-printed electrode.

3.3 Optical Sensors

Optical sensors are excellent for detecting multiple target molecules simultaneously. These sensors quantify the optical characteristics of transducers during the interaction between the target molecule and the recognition element [40, 89]. Scientists have developed a unique type of optical sensor to recognize MERS particle. This can be seen in naked eyes, and do not need any experimental equipment. This reaction happens when pyrrolidinyl peptide nucleic acid is present [94]. It shows the aggregation and di-aggregation of silver nanoparticle with target DNA. Another type of optical sensor has been created to detect human rhinovirus

by Ostroff and colleagues [75]. Surface Enhanced Raman Scattering (SERS) can also be used for detection of virus based on optical technique of Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR). This sensor can provide good sensitive results within 30 min.

4 Current POC Devices

One of the essential ways to prevent the outbreak of infectious diseases is through early diagnosis. POC devices, which do not require highly trained employees or expensive machinery, are more effective at fending off infectious diseases in low-resource area [65]. The World Health Organization (WHO) stated certain criteria of POC devices [68, 88] like a. specific, b. sensitive, c. affordable, d. rapid, e. strong, f. big infrastructure-free [29] (Fig. 5) [34].

Pregnancy test strips, and blood glucose meters are the commonly used POCT test kits. By merging the detection technique with nanotechnology, various new POC devices have been reported for early disease diagnosis.

At the beginning, it is known that lateral flow assay is used for detecting only HCG to confirm the woman is pregnant or not. Nowadays this LFA is reported for confirming many target analytes, and biomarkers of infectious diseases. Samples can be different types like blood, urine, sweat, swab, etc. [81]. LFAs are widely used POC devices because of its affordability, quick-response, and robustness. Yet, the broader field is still hampered by its low sensitivity and lack of measurement capability. Numerous attempts have been made to enhance the analytical performance of LFA [50, 97]. The four basic components of traditional LFA are the sample pad, conjugate



pad, nitrocellulose membrane, and absorbent pad. The sample pad ensures contact between the liquid sample and the strip. Nanogold-labeled antibodies are already preloaded on the conjugate pad for signal production [38]. The nitrocellulose membrane has two lines drawn on it: the control line and the test line. The control line is used to ensure that the testing is running smoothly while the test line is utilized to detect the target analyte. The liquid sample flows across the strip due to the capillary force, and if the target is available, both lines can be seen on the control and test lines. Only one control line appears when the target molecule is absent. AuNP was used for first-generation lateral flow assay. The label has a color, so that it is visible in naked eyes. The sensitivity of first-generation lateral flow assay was very low. Analytical performance of LFA is enhanced by labeling with various nanoparticles like quantum dots, upconversion nanoparticles [41, 99]. The optical signal is measured by strip readers equipped with specialized optics. Lateral flow tests, commonly used in medical diagnostics, are straightforward, affordable, and typically yield results in 5–20 min. Several POCT devices have been created in recent years by combining LFA with other technologies like loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP), polymerase chain reaction (PCR), and CRISPR [67]. CRISPR-based Cas12 based LFA can detect SARS CoV-2 from paitent's RNA sample within 40 min [100] (Fig. 6).

Microfluidic technology has the capacity to process small amounts of fluid that meet to advantages in different fields [107, 101]. In recent years, the rapid uptake of cellphones with embedded sensors has opened up new opportunities for the POC detection of infectious illnesses [23]. Detection of antibodies against EBOV, a serological POC test using an LFA has been proposed [16].



Fig. 6 Schematic diagram of typical lateral flow assay (LFA) [100]

The best method to stop an outbreak is to easily, quickly, and affordably identify infectious pathogen in a sensitive and selective manner. POC is essential to improve clinical outcomes in healthcare administration. POC devices enable untrained staff to diagnose patients quickly and accurately at their homes, critical care units, or medical facilities.

4.1 Fluid Control

One of the most crucial steps to increase the accuracy of this assay is to control the fluid. It is possible to accomplish this by incorporating a number of pumps and valves into the testing equipment. Size and complexity are taken into consideration to handle this instrument. Many kinds of pumps and valves can be incorporated into microfluidic chips under the control of chip readers [86]. McDevitt's team created a portable microfluidic system for measuring protein biomarker utilizing plastic disposable cartridges [27]. There are a number of paper-based microfluidic devices with no pump for fluid control [6]. In these microfluidic devices, a number of nanomaterials including magnetic nanoparticles, quantum dots, UCNPs, CNTs, and graphene oxides, have been used [72]. By using AuNP-based silver attachment, a group of scientists created a smartphone-based point-of-care platform for detecting avian influenza virus [109]. Using quantum dot-barcoded microbeads, Gao et al. created a microfluidic point-of-care system for detection of biomarkers [102]. Microfluidic assays feature exceptional selectivity and sensitivity compared to lateral flow. Microfluidic devices have been used to find many analytes, such as proteins, enzymes, nucleic acids, cancer cells, bacteria, and viruses [82].

5 Challenges and Future Perspectives

There are still certain restrictions even though nanomaterials are often utilized in biosensors successfully to enhance the analytical performance [50]. Identification of the concentration of potential biomarkers of cancers and cardiovascular diseases is far below the detection limit of traditional methods. Therefore, development of sensitive and specific methods is required. Moreover, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) has comparatively high amounts of numerous brain-derived biomarkers for neurode-generative disorders, compared to blood, such as neurofilament light and amyloid beta peptide 42. It could be quite invasive to take this sample. Improved sensitivity can detect biomarkers of dangerous diseases directly from blood. Another potential area is the identification of biomarkers in urine or saliva. Saliva and urine may be easily collected and analyzed, helpful for monitoring diseases. Due to the special properties, nanomaterials can be utilized to increase detection sensitivity. Because nanomaterials have a huge surface area, they may be utilized to load several reporter molecules, such as enzymes and fluorophores, to amplify signals. Moreover, the

sensitivity can be increased by combining various ultrasensitive detection methods with nanotechnology, such as digital PCR and single molecule analysis [90].

Nowadays, most assays are only able to detect one analyte at a time. The components of a biological sample are many and include proteins, nucleic acids, and other tiny molecules. All these biological samples work in a simultaneous manner [59]. Multiplex assays can obtain all the data and increase detection technique. When the sample volume is constrained, the assay is extremely helpful in that time. For instance, the collection of CSFS is mainly invasive. Thus, it is highly desirable to simultaneously detect numerous biomarkers in CSF. For multiplex assays, fluorescent nanomaterials of various sizes and shapes and with various emission wavelengths can be used.

Very few nanomaterial-based sensors are available for clinical trials till date. The reproducibility and robustness of nanomaterial-based sensors are the main issues. Low reproducibility depends on the size of nanomaterials which varies from batch to batch. A common problem in most assays is non-specific interaction as well. So, more study is required to grasp the nano manufacturing process and optimize particle aggregation and surface interactions. To ensure that the measurements are accurate and consistent, quality control is necessary for clinical applications.

6 Summary

The chapter emphasized on the effectiveness of nanostructured materials for enhancing the sensitivity of disposable sensors by amplifying the responses to analyte concentration. The size, shape-dependent physical catalytic characteristics of nanomaterials play main role in the development of biosensor. The nanoparticles considerably increase the surface area of electrochemically active sensors. Biosensor components are required to be integrated into a device that allows simultaneously sample and reagent load, and signal detection in an automated form, called lab-on-chip (LOC) [12]. LOC is a device for analysis that can scale down laboratory operations to a chip format up to a few square centimetres. There has been a sharp rise in the development of lab-on-a-chip instruments for clinical diagnostics over the past decades. Modern POC systems provide quick, easily accessible, trustworthy, real time analyzed information from bodily fluids, and wireless data transfer from smart devices to smartphones or other cloud devices. Among several methods, nanosensorbased POC devices provide sensitive, selective, and rapid results for detecting infectious pathogens. These devices require several detection steps, and signal readout equipment. Microfluidic technologies and smartphone devices offer solution to these problems. Microfluidic techniques can simplify the detection steps and smartphones with built-in sensors can function as portable instruments for signal readouts. Many more novel, innovative platforms need to come to address the unmet clinical demands. The development of bench-to-bedside and point-of-care devices in recent years has made the term "biosensor" more well known in the scientific community.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to extend their sincere appreciation toward the Department of Biotechnology, Government of India, for providing financial support under grants BT/ PR28144/NER/95/1485/2018.

References

- Abate MF, Jia S, Ahmed MG, Li X, Lin L, Chen X, Zhu Z, Yang C (2019) Visual quantitative detection of circulating tumor cells with single-cell sensitivity using a portable microfluidic device. Small 15(14):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.201804890
- Abdelhamid HN, Wu HF (2013) Probing the interactions of chitosan capped CdS quantum dots with pathogenic bacteria and their biosensing application. J Mater Chem B 1(44):6094–6106. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3tb21020k
- Afsahi S, Lerner MB, Goldstein JM, Lee J, Tang X, Bagarozzi Jr DA, Pan D, Locascio L, Walker A, Barron F, Goldsmith BR (2018) Novel graphene-based biosensor for early detection of Zika virus infection. Biosen Bioelectron 10085–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2017. 08.051
- Ahmadi S, Rabiee N, Fatahi Y, Hooshmand SE, Bagherzadeh M, Rabiee M, Jajarmi V, Dinarvand R, Habibzadeh S, Saeb MR, Varma RS, Shokouhimehr M, Hamblin MR (2021) Green chemistry and coronavirus. Sustain Chem Pharm 21100415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scp.2021.100415
- Ahmed MU, Hossain MM, Tamiya E (2008) Electrochemical biosensors for medical and food applications. Abs Electroanal 20(6):616–626. https://doi.org/10.1002/elan.v20:6, https://doi. org/10.1002/elan.200704121
- Akyazi T, Basabe-Desmonts L, Benito-Lopez F (2018) Review on microfluidic paper-based analytical devices towards commercialisation. Anal Chim Acta 1001:1–17. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.aca.2017.11.010
- Alafeef M, Dighe K, Moitra P, Pan D (2020) Rapid ultrasensitive and quantitative detection of SARS-CoV-2 using antisense oligonucleotides directed electrochemical biosensor chip. ACS Nano 14(12):17028–17045. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.0c06392
- Ali Z, Wang J, Tang Y, Liu B, He N, Li Z (2017) Simultaneous detection of multiple viruses based on chemiluminescence and magnetic separation. Biomater Sci 5(1):57–66. https://doi. org/10.1039/c6bm00527f
- Aydın EB (2020) Highly sensitive impedimetric immunosensor for determination of interleukin 6 as a cancer biomarker by using conjugated polymer containing epoxy side groups modified disposable ITO electrode. Talanta 215:120909. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta. 2020.120909
- Babamiri B, Hallaj R, Salimi A (2018) Solid surface fluorescence immunosensor for ultrasensitive detection of hepatitis B virus surface antigen using PAMAM/CdTe@ CdS QDs nanoclusters. Methods Appl Fluoresc 6(3):035013. https://doi.org/10.1088/2050-6120/aac8f7
- Baptista PV (2014) Nanodiagnostics: leaving the research lab to enter the clinics? Diagnosis 1(4):305–309. https://doi.org/10.1515/dx-2014-0055
- Barbosa AI, Rebelo R, Reis RL, Bhattacharya M, Correlo VM (2021) Current nanotechnology advances in diagnostic biosensors. Med Dev Sens 4(1):1–38. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds3. 10156
- Bardhan NM, Jansen P, Belcher AM (2021) Opportunities for rapid testing in pandemics like COVID-19. Front Nanotechnol 3:733126. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnano.2021.733126
- Beduk T, Beduk D, de Oliveira Filho JI, Zihnioglu F, Cicek C, Sertoz R, Arda B, Goksel T, Turhan K, Salama KN, Timur S (2021) Rapid point-of-care COVID-19 diagnosis with a goldnanoarchitecture-assisted laser-scribed graphene biosensor. Anal Chem 93(24):8585–8594. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.1c01444

- Bhardwaj N, Bhardwaj SK, Bhatt D, Lim DK, Kim KH, Deep A (2019) Optical detection of waterborne pathogens using nanomaterials. TrAC—Trends in Anal Chem 113:280–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2019.02.019
- Brangel P, Sobarzo A, Parolo C, Miller BS, Howes PD, Gelkop S, Lutwama JJ et al (2018) A serological point-of-care test for the detection of IgG antibodies against Ebola virus in human survivors. ACS Nano 12(1):63–73. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.7b07021
- Broughton JP, Deng X, Yu G, Fasching CL, Singh J, Streithorst J, Granados A et al (2020) Rapid detection of 2019 novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 using a CRISPR-based DETECTR lateral flow assay. MedRxiv: Preprint Server Health Sci 415:1–28. https://doi.org/10.1101/ 2020.03.06.20032334
- Cabral DG, Lima EC, Moura P, Dutra RF (2016) A label-free electrochemical immunosensor for hepatitis B based on hyaluronic acid–carbon nanotube hybrid film. Talanta 148209–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2015.10.083
- Cao C, Gontard LC, Tram LLT, Wolff A, Bang DD (2011) Dual enlargement of gold nanoparticles: from mechanism to scanometric detection of pathogenic bacteria. Small 7(12):1701–1708. https://doi.org/10.1002/SMLL.201100294
- Cao Q, Teng Y, Yang X, Wang J, Wang E (2015) A label-free fluorescent molecular beacon based on DNA-Ag nanoclusters for the construction of versatile biosensors. Biosens Bioelectron 74:318–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2015.06.044
- Chekin F, Bagga K, Subramanian P, Jijie R, Singh SK, Kurungot S, Boukherroub R, Szunerits S (2018) Nucleic aptamer modified porous reduced graphene oxide/MoS2 based electrodes for viral detection: application to human papillomavirus (HPV). Sens Actuators B: Chemical 262991–1000. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2018.02.065
- Chen X, Xie H, Seow ZY, Gao Z (2010) An ultrasensitive DNA biosensor based on enzyme-catalyzed deposition of cupric hexacyanoferrate nanoparticles. Biosens Bioelectron 25(6):1420–1426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2009.10.041
- Cheng N, Song Y, Zeinhom MMA, Chang YC, Sheng L, Li H, Du D et al (2017) Nanozymemediated dual immunoassay integrated with smartphone for use in simultaneous detection of pathogens. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 9(46):40671–40680. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami. 7b12734
- Choi Y, Hwang JH, Lee SY (2018) Recent trends in nanomaterials-based colorimetric detection of pathogenic bacteria and viruses. Small Methods 2(4):1700351. https://doi.org/10.1002/ SMTD.201700351
- Dai B, Zhou R, Ping J, Ying Y, Xie L (2022) Recent advances in carbon nanotube-based biosensors for biomolecular detection. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 154116658. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.trac.2022.116658
- 26. Das P, Choudhuri T (2020) Decoding the global outbreak of COVID-19: the nature is behind the scene. VirusDisease 31(2):106–112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13337-020-00605-y
- 27. David S, Walt R, Stubbs J, Andersson-Svahn H, Gilligan M, Wilson E (2014) Lab on a chip lab on a chip. Lab Chip, 1037–1043. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4LC00803K
- De La Rica R, Stevens MM (2012) Plasmonic ELISA for the ultrasensitive detection of disease biomarkers with the naked eye. Nat Nanotechnol 7(12):821–824. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nnano.2012.186
- 29. Deng J, Zhao S, Liu Y, Liu C, Sun J (2021) Nanosensors for diagnosis of infectious diseases. ACS Appl Bio Mater 4(5):3863–3879. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsabm.0c01247
- Dhal A, Kalyani T, Ghorai S, Sahu NK, Jana SK (2020) Recent development of electrochemical immunosensor for the diagnosis of dengue virus NSI protein: a review. Sens Int 1(June):100030. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sintl.2020.100030
- Ding J, Qin W (2020) Recent advances in potentiometric biosensors TrAC. Trends Anal Chem 124115803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2019.115803
- Du L, Yang Y, Zhou Y, Lu L, Li F, Jiang S (2017) MERS-CoV spike protein: a key target for antivirals. Expert Opinion Ther Targets 21(2):131–143. https://doi.org/10.1080/14728222. 2017.1271415

- Duan D, Fan K, Zhang D, Tan S, Liang M, Liu Y, Zhang J et al (2015) Nanozyme-strip for rapid local diagnosis of Ebola. Biosens Bioelectron 74:134–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bios.2015.05.025
- Ehtesabi H (2020) Application of carbon nanomaterials in human virus detection. J Sci: Adv Mater Devices 5(4):436–450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsamd.2020.09.005
- Fan J, Zang Y, Jiang J, Lei J, Xue H (2019) Beta-cyclodextrin-functionalized CdS nanorods as building modules for ultrasensitive photoelectrochemical bioassay of HIV DNA. Biosens Bioelectron 142111557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2019
- Finco O, Rappuoli R (2014) Designing vaccines for the twenty-first century society. Front Immunol 5(JAN). https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2014.00012
- Fitzer E, Kochling KH, Boehm HP, Marsh H (1995) Recommended terminology for the description of carbon as a solid (IUPAC Recommendations 1995). Pure Appl Chem 67(3):473– 506. https://doi.org/10.1351/pac199567030473
- Fu X, Cheng Z, Yu J, Choo P, Chen L, Choo J (2016) A SERS-based lateral flow assay biosensor for highly sensitive detection of HIV-1 DNA. Biosens Bioelectron 78:530–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2015.11.099
- Gao L, Zhuang J, Nie L, Zhang J, Zhang Y, Gu N, Wang T et al (2007) Intrinsic peroxidaselike activity of ferromagnetic nanoparticles. Nat Nanotechnol 2(9):577–583. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nnano.2007.260
- Garzón V, Pinacho DG, Bustos RH, Garzón G, Bustamante S (2019) Optical biosensors for therapeutic drug monitoring. Biosensors 9(4):1–26. https://doi.org/10.3390/bios9040132
- 41. Gong Y, Zheng Y, Jin B, You M, Wang J, Li XJ, Lin M, Xu F, Li F (2019) A portable and universal upconversion nanoparticle-based lateral flow assay platform for point-of-care testing. Talanta 201(March):126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2019.03.105
- Guerreiro MR, Freitas DF, Alves PM, Coroadinha AS (2019) Detection and quantification of label-free infectious adenovirus using a switch-on cell-based fluorescent biosensor. ACS Sens 4(6):1654–1661. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssensors.9b00489
- Hnaien M, Bourigua S, Bessueille F, Bausells J, Errachid A, Lagarde F, Jaffrezic-Renault N (2011) Impedimetric microbial biosensor based on single wall carbon nanotube modified microelectrodes for trichloroethylene detection. Electrochimica Acta 56(28):10353–10358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2011.04.041
- 44. Hu Y, Li F, Han D, Wu T, Zhang Q, Niu L, Bao Y (2012) Simple and label-free electrochemical assay for signal-on DNA hybridization directly at undecorated graphene oxide. Analytica Chimica Acta 75382–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2012.09.038
- Huang H, Lovell JF (2017) Advanced functional nanomaterials for theranostics. Adv Funct Mater 27(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.201603524
- Iijima S (1991) Helical microtubules of graphitic carbon Nature 354(6348) 56–58. https:// doi.org/10.1038/354056a0
- Jain S, Nehra M, Kumar R, Dilbaghi N, Hu T, Kumar S, Kaushik A, Li CZ (2021) Internet of medical things (IoMT)-integrated biosensors for point-of-care testing of infectious diseases. Biosens Bioelectron 179113074. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2021.113074
- Jiang Y, Shi M, Liu Y, Wan S, Cui C, Zhang L, Tan W (2017) Aptamer/AuNP biosensor for colorimetric profiling of exosomal proteins. Angew Chem (Int Ed. in English) 56(39):11916– 11920. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANIE.201703807
- Jouyandeh M, Sajadi SM, Seidi F, Habibzadeh S, Munir MT, Abida O, Ahmadi S, Kowalkowska-Zedler D, Rabiee N, Rabiee M, Heidari G (2022) Metal nanoparticlesassisted early diagnosis of diseases. OpenNano 8100104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.onano. 2022.100104
- Justino CIL, Duarte AC, Rocha-Santos TAP (2016) Critical overview on the application of sensors and biosensors for clinical analysis. TrAC—Trends Anal Chem 85:36–60. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trac.2016.04.004
- 51. Khan FS, Mubarak NM, Tan YH, Khalid M, Karri RR, Walvekar R, Abdullah EC, Nizamuddin S, Mazari SA (2021) A comprehensive review on magnetic carbon nanotubes and carbon nanotube-based buckypaper for removal of heavy metals and dyes. J Hazard Mater 413:125375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021

- Kim J, Abdou MA, Mohamed KZ, Chan WCW (2017) State of diagnosing infectious pathogens using colloidal nanomaterials. Biomaterials 146:97–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2017.08.013
- 53. Kim M, Kim MS, Kweon SH, Jeong S, Kang MH, Kim MI, Lee J, Doh J (2015) Simple and sensitive point-of-care bioassay system based on hierarchically structured enzyme-mimetic nanoparticles. Adv Healthc Mater 4(9):1311–1316. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201500173
- Kokkinos C, Prodromidis M, Economou A, Petrou P, Kakabakos S (2015) Disposable integrated bismuth citrate-modified screen-printed immunosensor for ultrasensitive quantum dot-based electrochemical assay of C-reactive protein in human serum. Anal Chim Acta 886:29–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2015.05.035
- 55. Krishnan S, Tadiboyina R, Chavali M, Nikolova MP, Wu RJ, Bian D, Jeng YR, Rao PP, Palanisamy P, Pamanji SR (2019) Graphene-based polymer nanocomposites for sensor applications. Jenny Stanford Publishing, pp 1–62
- Kurdekar AD, Chunduri LA, Chelli SM, Haleyurgirisetty MK, Bulagonda EP, Zheng J, Hewlett IK, Kamisetti V (2017) Fluorescent silver nanoparticle based highly sensitive immunoassay for early detection of HIV infection. RSC Adv 7(32):19863–19877. https:// doi.org/10.1039/C6RA28737A
- Labban N, Hughes L, Wayu M, Pollock J, Leopold M (2019) MON-182 adaptable amperometric biosensor platforms for the diagnosis of endocrine disorders. J Endocr Soc 3(Supplement_1). https://doi.org/10.1210/js.2019-MON-182
- Layqah LA, Eissa S (2019) An electrochemical immunosensor for the corona virus associated with the middle east respiratory syndrome using an array of gold nanoparticle-modified carbon electrodes. Microchim Acta 186(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00604-019-3345-5
- 59. Liu Y, Cao Y, Zhang W, Marko Stojanovic M, Dar I, Péchy P, Saygili Y, Hagfeldt A, Zakeeruddin SM, Grätzel M (2018) Electron-affinity-triggered variations on the optical and electrical properties of dye molecules enabling highly efficient dye-sensitized solar cells. Angew Chem 130(43):14321–14324. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANGE.201808609
- Liu D, Li X, Zhou J, Liu S, Tian T, Song Y, Zhu Z, Zhou L, Ji T, Yang C (2017) A fully integrated distance readout ELISA-chip for point-of-care testing with sample-in-answer-out capability. Biosens Bioelectron 96(February):332–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2017. 04.044
- 61. Liu G, Rusling JF (2021) COVID-19 antibody tests and their limitations. ACS Sensors 6(3):593–612. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssensors.0c02621
- Long QX, Liu BZ, Deng HJ, Wu GC, Deng K, Chen YK, Liao P et al (2020) Antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 in patients with COVID-19. Nat Med 26(6):845–848. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41591-020-0897-1
- 63. Ma C, Xie G, Zhang W, Liang M, Liu B, Xiang H (2012) Label-free sandwich type of immunosensor for hepatitis C virus core antigen based on the use of gold nanoparticles on a nanostructured metal oxide surface. Microchimica Acta 178(3–4):331–340. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00604-012-0842-1
- Mao X, Liu S, Yang C, Liu F, Wang K, Chen G (2016) Colorimetric detection of hepatitis B virus (HBV) DNA based on DNA-templated copper nanoclusters. Analytica Chimica Acta 909101–909108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2016.01.009
- Markwalter CF, Kantor AG, Moore CP, Richardson KA, Wright DW (2019) Inorganic complexes and metal-based nanomaterials for infectious disease diagnostiv. Chem Rev 119(2):1456–1518. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00136
- 66. Mashhadizadeh MH, Talemi RP (2014) A highly sensitive and selective hepatitis B DNA biosensor using gold nanoparticle electrodeposition on an Au electrode and mercaptoben-zaldehyde. Anal Methods 6(22):8956–8964. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4AY01465K
- Mauk MG, Song J, Liu C, Bau HH (2018) Simple approaches to minimally-instrumented, microfluidic-based point-of-care nucleic acid amplification tests. Biosensors 8(1). https://doi. org/10.3390/bios8010017
- Moitra P, Alafeef M, Alafeef M, Alafeef M, Dighe K, Frieman MB, Pan D, Pan D, Pan D (2020) Selective naked-eye detection of SARS-CoV-2 mediated by N gene targeted antisense oligonucleotide capped plasmonic nanoparticles. ACS Nano 14(6):7617–7627. https://doi. org/10.1021/acsnano.0c03822

- Mokhtarzadeh A, Eivazzadeh-Keihan R, Pashazadeh P, Hejazi M, Gharaatifar N, Hasanzadeh M, Baradaran B, de la Guardia M (2017) Nanomaterial-based biosensors for detection of pathogenic virus TrAC. Trends Anal Chem 97445–97457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2017. 10.005
- Mokhtarzadeh A, Bouzari M (2009) Detection of the frequency of the novel TT Virus by PCR and its role in the induction of hepatic injuries in blood donors in West Azerbaijan, Iran. Iran J Blood Cancer 2(1):25–31. http://ijbc.ir/article-1-166-en.pdf
- Morbioli GG, Mazzu-Nascimento T, Stockton AM, Carrilho E (2017) Technical aspects and challenges of colorimetric detection with microfluidic paper-based analytical devices (MPADs)—A review. Anal Chim Acta 970:1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2017.03.037
- Mou L, Jiang X (2017) Materials for microfluidic immunoassays: a review. Adv Healthc Mater 6(15):1–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201601403
- Mukama O, Yuan T, He Z, Li Z, de Dieu Habimana J, Hussain M, Li W, Yi Z, Liang Q, Zeng L (2020) A high fidelity CRISPR/Cas12a based lateral flow biosensor for the detection of HPV16 and HPV18. Sens Actuators B: Chem 316(March). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb. 2020.128119
- 74. Ng TH, Liao WH (2005) Sensitivity analysis and energy harvesting for a self-powered piezoelectric sensor. J Intell Mater Syst Struct 16(10):785–797. https://doi.org/10.1177/104538 9X05053151
- 75. Ostroff R, Ettinger A, La H, Rihanek M, Zalman L, Meador J, Patick AK, Worland S, Polisky B (2001) Rapid multiserotype detection of human rhinoviruses on optically coated silicon surfaces. J Clin Virol 21(2):105–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1386-6532(01)00150-0
- Özmen EN, Kartal E, Turan MB, Yazıcıoğlu A, Niazi JH, Qureshi A (2021) Rev Mater Sci Eng: C 129112356–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2021.112356
- 77. Peng MP, Ma W, Long YT (2015) Alcohol dehydrogenase-catalyzed gold nanoparticle seedmediated growth allows reliable detection of disease biomarkers with the naked eye. Anal Chem 87(12):5891–5896. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.5b00287
- Pestova TV, Kolupaeva VG, Lomakin IB, Pilipenko EV, Shatsky IN, Agol VI, Hellen CUT (2001) Molecular mechanisms of translation initiation in eukaryotes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98(13):7029–7036. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.111145798
- Pieler MM, Heyse A, Wolff MW, Reichl U (2017) Specific ion effects on the particle size distributions of cell culture-derived influenza a virus particles within the Hofmeister series. Eng Life Sci 17(5):470. https://doi.org/10.1002/ELSC.201600153
- Pinals RL, Ledesma F, Yang D, Navarro N, Jeong S, Pak JE, Kuo L, Chuang YC, Cheng YW, Sun HY, Landry MP (2021) Rapid SARS-CoV-2 spike protein detection by carbon nanotubebased near-infrared nanosensors. Nano Lett 21(5):2272–2280. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. nanolett.1c00118
- Quesada-González D, Merkoçi A (2015) Nanoparticle-based lateral flow biosensors. Biosens Bioelectron 73:47–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2015.05.050
- Sackmann EK, Fulton AL, Beebe DJ (2014) The present and future role of microfluidics in biomedical research. Nature 507(7491):181–189. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13118
- Sakurai A, Takayama K, Nomura N, Kajiwara N, Okamatsu M, Yamamoto N, Tamura T et al (2015) Fluorescent immunochromatography for rapid and sensitive typing of seasonal influenza viruses. Plos One 10(2):1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0116715
- 84. Sangili A, Kalyani T, Chen SM, Rajendran K, Jana SK (2022) Label-free electrochemical immunosensor based on L-cysteine-functionalized AuNP on reduced graphene oxide for the detection of dengue virus E-protein in dengue blood serum. Compos Part B: Eng 238(December 2021):109876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compositesb.2022.109876
- Shao W, Shurin MR, Wheeler SE, He X, Star A (2021) Rapid detection of SARS-CoV-2 antigens using high-purity semiconducting single-walled carbon nanotube-based field-effect transistors. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 13(8):10321–10327. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami. 0c22589
- Sia SK, Kricka LJ (2008) Microfluidics and point-of-care testing. Lab Chip 8(12):1982–1983. https://doi.org/10.1039/b817915h

- Singh R, Mukherjee MD, Sumana G, Gupta RK, Sood S, Malhotra BD (2014) Biosensors for pathogen detection: a smart approach towards clinical diagnosis. Sens Actuators B Chem 197:385–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2014.03.005
- Sivanand (2019) 乳鼠心肌提取 HHS public access. Physiol Behav 176(3):139–148. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.7b02302
- Soni A, Surana RK, Jha SK (2018) +++. Sens Actuators B Chem 269:346–353. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.snb.2018.04.108
- Sreejith KR, Ooi CH, Jin J, Dao DV, Nguyen NT (2018) Digital polymerase chain reaction technology-recent advances and future perspectives. Lab Chip 18(24):3717–3732. https://doi. org/10.1039/c8lc00990b
- Srivastava M, Srivastava N, Mishra PK, Malhotra BD (2021) Prospects of nanomaterialsenabled biosensors for COVID-19 detection. Sci Total Environ 754:142363. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142363
- Su H, Li S, Jin Y, Xian Z, Yang D, Zhou W, Mangaran F, Leung F, Sithamparanathan G, Kerman K (2017) Nanomaterial-based biosensors for biological detections. Adv Health Care Technol 3:19–29. https://doi.org/10.2147/ahct.s94025
- Tallury P, Malhotra A, Byrne LM, Santra S (2010) Nanobioimaging and sensing of infectious diseases. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 62(4–5):424–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ADDR.2009. 11.014
- 94. Teengam P, Siangproh W, Tuantranont A, Vilaivan T, Chailapakul O, Henry CS (2017) Multiplex paper-based colorimetric DNA sensor using pyrrolidinyl peptide nucleic acid-induced AgNPs aggregation for detecting MERS-CoV, MTB, and HPV oligonucleotides. Anal Chem 89(10):5428–5435. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ANALCHEM.7B00255/ASSET/IMAGES/ LARGE/AC-2017-00255R_0005.JPEG
- 95. Teymourian H, Salimi A, Khezrian S (2017) Development of a new label-free indicator-free strategy toward ultrasensitive electrochemical DNA biosensing based on Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles/ reduced graphene oxide composite. Electroanalysis 29(2):409–414. https://doi.org/10.1002/ elan.201600336
- Torrente-Rodríguez RM, Lukas H, Tu J, Min J, Yang Y, Xu C, Rossiter HB, Gao W (2020) SARS-CoV-2 RapidPlex: a graphene-based multiplexed telemedicine platform for rapid and low-cost COVID-19 diagnosis and monitoring. Matter 3(6):1981–1998. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.matt.2020.09.027
- Wang X, Choi N, Cheng Z, Ko J, Chen L, Choo J (2017) Simultaneous detection of dual nucleic acids using a SERS-based lateral flow assay biosensor. Anal Chem 89(2):1163–1169. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ANALCHEM.6B03536/SUPPL_FILE/AC6B03536_S1_001.PDF
- Wang J, Meng HM, Chen J, Liu J, Zhang L, Qu L, Li Z, Lin Y (2019) Quantum dot-based lateral flow test strips for highly sensitive detection of the tetanus antibody. ACS omega 4(4):6789–95. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.9b00657
- 99. Wang J, Meng HM, Chen J, Liu J, Zhang L, Qu L, Li Z, Lin Y (2019) Quantum dot-based lateral flow test strips for highly sensitive detection of the tetanus antibody. ACS Omega 4(4):6789–6795. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.9b00657
- Wang X, Li F, Guo Y (2020) Recent trends in nanomaterial-based biosensors for point-of-care testing. Front Chem 8:586702. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.586702
- 101. Wu Z, Fu Q, Yu S, Sheng L, Xu M, Yao C, Xiao W, Li X, Tang Y(2016) Pt@AuNPs integrated quantitative capillary-based biosensors for point-of-care testing application. Biosens Bioelectron 85:85657–85663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2016.05.074
- 102. Xia Y, Chen Y, Tang Y, Cheng G, Yu X, He H, Cao G, Lu H, Liu Z, Zheng SY (2019) Smartphone-based point-of-care microfluidic platform fabricated with a ZnO nanorod template for colorimetric virus detection. ACS Sens 4(12):3298–3307. https://doi.org/10. 1021/ACSSENSORS.9B01927/SUPPL_FILE/SE9B01927_SI_001.PDF
- 103. Xu Y, Liu Y, Wu Y, Xia X, Liao Y, Li Q (2014) Fluorescent probe-based lateral flow assay for multiplex nucleic acid detection. Anal Chem 86(12):5611–5614. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ac5010458

- Yakoh A, Pimpitak U, Rengpipat S, Hirankarn N, Chailapakul O, Chaiyo S (2021) Paper-based electrochemical biosensor for diagnosing COVID-19: Detection of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies and antigen. Biosens Bioelectron 176112912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2020.112912
- Yang C, Denno ME, Pyakurel P, Jill Venton B (2015) Recent trends in carbon nanomaterialbased electrochemical sensors for biomolecules: a review. Anal Chim Acta 887:17–37. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2015.05.049
- 106. Yen CW, De Puig H, Tam JO, Gómez-Márquez J, Bosch I, Hamad-Schifferli K, Gehrke L (2015) Multicolored silver nanoparticles for multiplexed disease diagnostics: distinguishing dengue, yellow fever, and Ebola Viruses. Lab Chip 15(7):1638–1641. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5LC00055F
- 107. Yi Q, Cai D, Xiao M, Nie M, Cui Q, Cheng J, Li C et al (2019) Direct antimicrobial susceptibility testing of bloodstream infection on SlipChip. Biosens Bioelectron 135 (March):200–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2019.04.003
- Zhuang J, Yin J, Lv S, Wang B, Mu Y (2020) Advanced 'lab-on-a-chip' to detect viruses— Current challenges and future perspectives. Biosens Bioelectron 163 (May). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bios.2020.112291
- Zhuang L, Ji Y, Tian P, Wang K, Kou C, Gu N, Zhang Y (2019) Polymerase chain reaction combined with fluorescent lateral flow immunoassay based on magnetic purification for rapid detection of canine parvovirus 2. BMC Vet Res 15(1):1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-019-1774-3

Nanodevices for Food-Borne Pathogens and Toxin Detection



161

Merve Bacanli

Abstract Foodborne pathogens and toxins not only reduce the quality of food, but also generate a serious threat to human health. Therefore, it is very significant to identify these pathogens and toxins before consumption of foods. The traditional methods used for this purpose are time waster and expensive, and the reliability of the results becomes controversial. Nanotechnology is widely used in food science and food technology today. Among the most notable of these applications are nanodevices such as nanosensors. Studies with nanodevices used in the determination of foodborne pathogens and toxins are interesting. Nanodevices used for this purpose have started to be used today in terms of ease of use, allowing selective analysis, giving results in a short time and obtaining reliable results. Within the scope of this book chapter, it is aimed to provide information about foodborne pathogens, toxins, and nanodevices used in the determination of these compounds.

Keywords Toxin · Nanosensor · Aptamer · Food · Pathogen

1 Introduction

Nanotechnology is identified by the NSF's National Nanotechnology Initiative as "the understanding and control of matter, roughly 1–100 nm in size, where unique phenomena enable new applications" [27].

Multidisciplinary nanotechnology presents significant prospects for various applications [2, 3, 6, 7, 29, 30, 32, 48, 89], including the food industry, encompassing areas such as food safety and quality control, as well as the development of novel food additives, and fortifiers [11, 34, 71]. Nanotechnology holds great potential in the production of healthier foods [23, 31, 34]. The prospects for the usage of nanotechnology in food industry can be listed as the improving of sensitive biosensors to detect

M. Bacanli (🖂)

Gülhane Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Pharmaceutical Toxicology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Ankara, Türkiye e-mail: merve.bacanli@sbu.edu.tr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials*

for Point-of-Care Testing, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_9

pathogens and toxins in foods and food processing, and food preservation through the immobilization of antimicrobials on nanomaterials for enhanced stability and action [12, 34, 71].

Insufficient adherence to proper food hygiene practices has been identified as a causative factor in the escalation of foodborne disease outbreaks, thereby exerting direct repercussions on public health. World Health Organization (WHO) has reported that a staggering estimated figure of 600 million individuals experience health deterioration as a consequence of consuming food contaminated with pathogens, while the annual death toll from foodborne diseases stands at 42,000 individuals. The mounting concerns surrounding food safety have engendered a sense of urgency, fueling the rapid advancement and implementation of robust food standards. These standards serve as comprehensive frameworks that regulate and govern various facets of the food production and handling processes, aiming to mitigate the risks associated with foodborne illnesses [28].

Food biotoxins encompass a wide range of toxic substances originating from various organisms such as plants, animals, fungi, and others. Their presence in food can result from contamination during processing, storage, and transportation, and the types of biotoxins produced can vary across different countries. Among these biotoxins, mycotoxins, primarily generated by fungi, constitute a significant class of contaminants. Notably, mycotoxins of agricultural and economic importance include aflatoxins, fumonisins, ochratoxins, deoxynivalenol, zearalenone, and other trichothecenes, which pose substantial risks to food safety. The health costs associated with these toxins depend on determinants such as toxin type, level of exposure, and route of entry. Therefore, the identification and detection of food toxins exhibit a significant role in monitoring the risk of food poisoning, enabling timely interventions to ensure public health and safety [28].

In the microbiological sampling process, large numbers of targeted foods must be collected and analyzed in a relatively short time. Because food acts as a transmission mediocre for various foodborne pathogens, there is a need to detect different pathogens in the assessment of the safety of food [16, 80]. Multi-detection has become a new research area because of convenient and high requests, as food can only be offered for sale after all indicators have been adjusted. Multiple detection methods have been established to enable multiple samples to be tested on the same instrument at the same time, resulting in avoiding sample waste, reducing equipment costs, simplifying the operating procedure as well as shortening the testing time [25].

The burgeoning interest in nanotechnology within the food industry is witnessing an upward trajectory. Nanotechnology is being widely utilized across diverse applications in the food industry, including nanoencapsulation for controlled delivery of nutrients and bioactive molecules, the implementation of biosensors for sensitive pathogen detection, and the use of nanocoatings for food composition modification and preservation of fruits and vegetables. These advancements in nanotechnology hold significant promise in enhancing food quality, safety, and functionality. Nanoencapsulation facilitates the protection and targeted release of sensitive compounds, such as vitamins and antioxidants, improving their stability and bioavailability. Biosensors equipped with nanomaterials enable quick, susceptible, and selective



Fig. 1 Nanotechnology in food industry

detection of foodborne pathogens, thereby facilitating early warning systems and prompt interventions. Furthermore, the utilization of nanoscale coatings on food surfaces imparts enhanced protection against microbial contamination and oxidative degradation, thereby stretching shelf life and providing the integrity of fresh produce. The incorporation of nanotechnology-based strategies in the food industry represents a dynamic field of research with potential implications for improving food production, preservation, and overall consumer experience [15] (Fig. 1).

The advancement of biosensors utilizing nanomaterials holds great promise in obviating the reliance on costly or intricate instruments and enabling quick determination of foodborne pathogens through movable or hand-operated devices. The integration of immunonanoparticles into conventional pathogenic biosensors offers an avenue for enhancing pathogen detection capabilities. Moreover, the synergistic combination of immunoanoparticles with enzymatic catalysis in electrochemical immune sensors can lead to swift, efficient, and precise pathogen detection. This amalgamation of nanomaterials, immunonanoparticles, and enzymatic catalysis in biosensors not only enhances sensitivity and selectivity but also contributes to the miniaturization and portability of detection devices. These advancements hold significant potential for revolutionizing pathogen detection in the food industry, providing a practical and accessible solution for rapid and accurate monitoring of food safety in various settings [94].

2 Nanodevices in Food Analysis

Conventional techniques employed for pathogen detection in food samples are associated with various limitations, such as prolonged analysis times, high costs, laborintensive procedures of sample preparation, and the requirement for skilled persons. The primary traditional assays utilized in food analysis include colony counting methods, immunoassays, and polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based approaches. Colony counting methods, which involve the enumeration of bacterial colonies on microbiological culture plates, are naturally complicated, time waster, and susceptible to errors. The determination process typically extends from 3 to 9 days, and the confirmation of positive results may require up to 2 weeks. Immunoassays, while providing improved sensitivity and specificity, still necessitate sample preparation steps and exhibit certain limitations in terms of turnaround time and resource requirements. Similarly, PCR-based methods offer enhanced sensitivity and selectivity but are encumbered by the need for specialized equipment, complex protocols, and skilled personnel. Hence, the aforementioned constraints inherent in traditional pathogen detection methods underscore the pressing need for alternative approaches that can overcome these limitations and enable faster, more cost-effective, and basic detection of foodborne pathogens [5].

Immunoassays, including ELISA, lateral flow, and spot blot, have emerged as alternative approaches for pathogen detection by targeting specific pathogen antigens. These assays utilize **monoclonal or polyclonal antibodies** that selectively bind to the desired pathogen, enabling the testing of large sample volumes and on-site pathogen detection. However, immunoassays often exhibit limited sensitivity, necessitating further confirmation through supplementary testing. In contrast, PCR-based methods provide quick and highly selective pathogen detection. Nevertheless, PCR-based methods encounter certain limitations, such as the potential for incorrect results due to DNA polymerase inhibition by components in the food matrix, hindering the amplification of target DNA, as well as the possibility of false positive results arising from the amplification of non-target DNA fragments. These factors underscore the ongoing need for continuous research and development of innovative techniques to overcome the drawbacks associated with traditional methods and increase the sensitivity, specificity, and reliability of pathogen detection in food samples [5].

Innovative and portable biosensors have witnessed significant advancements in recent years, addressing the limitations associated with conventional and molecular detection technologies, as well as other biosensors, particularly in the realm of quantitative detection and screening of pathogens in various areas [33, 83]. Electrochemical platforms have emerged as the most popular biosensors due to their high specificity toward analytes and adaptability for multi-analysis, offering superior analytical accuracy even in complex food matrices with varying compositions, densities, and pH levels. Electrochemical observation of pathogens relies on the utilization of a working electrode modified with specific recognition elements, such as antibodies, aptamers, or DNA probes, ensuring selectivity, sensitivity, and specificity in measurements. Studies emphasize the incorporation of various nanomaterials as enhancers, labeling

agents, or immobilizer supports in electrochemical biosensors, ensuring the overall feasibility of the platform for diagnostics and detection practices. The integration of nanomaterials shows a pivotal role in enhancing the performance and sensitivity of electrochemical biosensors, further advancing their potential in diverse diagnostic and detection scenarios [5].

The determination of foodborne pathogens in products primarily relies on the identification of genetic material of bacteria or the entire bacterial cell using traditional microbiological techniques. These techniques have long been regarded as reliable for pathogen control, but they also exhibit inherent complexity [35]. The utilization of nanotechnology facilitates the implementation of cost-effective nanosensors in food packaging for the determination of diverse pathogens commonly encountered in various products [63].

Nanodevices, characterized as nanoparticles specifically designed to interact with cells and tissues, are engineered to perform precise functions and carry out targeted tasks within biological systems. These nanoscale devices are tailored with specific properties and functionalities that enable them to navigate complex biological environments, interact with cellular components, and execute designated functions with high precision [45].

Nanosensors are sophisticated bioanalytical devices constructed through the integration of diverse nanostructured materials and biological receptors, resulting in an integrated system design. Their significance in the food industry has garnered considerable attention, primarily attributed to their ability to rapidly detect analytes, maintain integrity, exhibit high sensitivity and specificity, and offer cost-effective solutions. Nanosensors have the potential to revolutionize food safety and quality control measures by enabling real-time monitoring and detection of contaminants, pathogens, and various quality indicators in food products. Their nanoscale size and functional properties allow for enhanced surface interactions and signal transduction, facilitating sensitive and selective detection. The utilization of nanosensors in the food industry holds great promise for improving food safety, reducing the risk of foodborne illnesses, and enhancing overall consumer confidence [21]. Nanosensors exhibit exceptional optical and electrical properties, attributed to their conjugation with diverse types of nanomaterials. This incorporation of nanomaterials enables nanosensors to achieve a high surface-to-volume ratio, facilitating enhanced sensing capabilities. The original properties of these nanomaterials, such as their tunable surface chemistry, conductivity, optical properties, and biocompatibility, contribute to the overall performance and functionality of the nanosensors. By exploiting these advantageous properties, nanosensors offer exceptional sensitivity, selectivity, and response toward target analytes in various areas, such as food safety, environmental monitoring, and biomedical diagnostics. The integration of different nanomaterials with nanosensors presents a versatile and promising approach for developing advanced sensing devices with enhanced performance characteristics [14]. Currently, nanosensors are widely employed for the detection of foodborne pathogens, additives, toxins, chemicals, and pesticides in diverse food products [61]. The utilization of various nanomaterials offers the potential to increase the analysis performance of electrochemical sensors through signal amplification and improvement. By incorporating nanomaterials into the electrode, the surface area is increased, leading to enhanced loading capacity and improved bulk transport of reactants. This augmentation in surface area allows for greater sensitivity in detecting target analytes. Also, nanomaterials can serve as carriers for redox probes, facilitating selective detection or enhancing the dynamics of redox changes, thus significantly improving the sensor's readout. The integration of nanomaterials into electrochemical sensors presents a valuable strategy to increase their sensitivity, selectivity, and overall performance, enabling more accurate and reliable detection of analytes of interest [33, 59].

Nanomaterials encompass a diverse range of structures, including quantum dots, carbon dots, nanoparticles (0D), nanotubes, nanowires, nanorods (1D), nanoplates, nanosheets, nanodiscs (2D), and nanoflowers, nanocones, nanoballs (3D) [56]. These nanomaterials have found widespread application in the construction of electrodes for electrochemical biosensors utilized in the determination of foodborne pathogens [66]. Electrochemical sensors and biosensors incorporating novel nanomaterials, such as carbon nanotubes, metallic nanoparticles, and superparamagnetic nanoparticles, are currently employed for the detection of various toxins present in food products [90]. The integration of these nanomaterials into electrochemical biosensors has enabled enhanced sensitivity, selectivity, and performance in detecting and analyzing foodborne contaminants, facilitating improved food safety and quality control measures.

Metal nanoparticles, particularly gold nanoparticles, are commonly favored for integration into electrochemical biosensors designed for the detection of foodborne pathogens. This preference stems from their exceptional conductivity, biocompatibility, and ability to preserve biomolecular activity over extended periods [53]. Quantum dots (QDs), on the other hand, demonstrate significant potential for implementation in compact-sized electrochemical biosensing devices due to their compact size and consistent performance characteristics [13]. In terms of material classification, quantum dots can be categorized as metal QDs, carbon dots (CDs), and graphene quantum dots (GQDs) [5]. The utilization of these nanomaterials, including gold nanoparticles and quantum dots, enables the development of highly sensitive and reliable electrochemical biosensors for the detection of foodborne pathogens, offering improved capabilities in ensuring food safety and quality control.

Examples of nanomaterials used in food analysis are presented in Table 1.

2.1 Metalic and Other Related Nanodevices

Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) are commonly preferred for integration into electrochemical biosensors targeting foodborne pathogens due to their excellent improved electrical properties, biocompatibility, and long-term preservation of biomolecular activity [84].

Analysis purpose	Nanomaterial
Pathogen	Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCT) Silica nanoparticles Gold nanoparticles Graphen nanoparticles
Toxin	Magnetic nanoparticles Gold nanoparticles Zinc nanoparticles Single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCT) and multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCT)

Table 1 Examples of nanomaterials used in food analysis

Metal oxide nanomaterials, which can be fabricated in numerous forms ranging from 0 to 3D, offer a valuable platform for the development of electrochemical biosensors [51]. These nanomaterials possess advantageous properties such as low cost, high biocompatibility, antimicrobial activity, and a broad catalytic domain with notable electrocatalytic activity [97]. Recent investigations have focused on nanocomposite heterostructures, combining different components to exploit their distinct properties and enhance the performance of electrochemical biosensors for the detection of foodborne pathogens. For instance, a comparative study on porous nanocomposites, namely ZrO₂–Ag–G–SiO₂ and In₂O₃–G SiO₂, was conducted for the rapid and high-throughput detection of *Escherichia coli* using cyclic voltammetry, resulting in the creation of a bacteria-identifying nanodevice with enhanced sensitivity [20]. These advancements highlight the potential of metal oxide nanomaterials and nanocomposite heterostructures in the design of efficient electrochemical biosensors for food pathogen detection.

Transition metal oxides, which are readily available in soil, exhibit promising prospects in electrochemical applications, particularly in the development of electrochemical biosensors targeting foodborne pathogens [43]. For example, selective determination of *Salmonella typhimurium* in food has been achieved using a SiO₂@MnO₂ nanocomposite impedance biosensor developed on interdigitated array microelectrodes coupled with immunomagnetic separation [88].

Numerous studies have demonstrated significant enhancements in detection capabilities through the utilization of metal oxide nanoparticles in electrochemical biosensors. For instance, Muniandy et al. engineered a reduced graphene oxidenano TiO₂ composite aptasensor for the specific detection of *Salmonella enterica*, yielding notable improvements in detection performance [49]. Similarly, Nadzirah et al. employed pure TiO₂ nanoparticles and developed interdigitated electrodes for the high-specificity and reproducible detection of *E. coli* [50]. Additionally, Teng et al. demonstrated that ZnO nanorods exhibited enhanced signal amplification for targeting *E. coli* [77]. Furthermore, Purwidyantri et al. utilized ZnO decorated with Au to fabricate a detection platform for *Staphylococcus epidermidis* based on DNA hybridization, further highlighting the potential of metal oxide nanoparticles in enhancing detection capabilities in electrochemical biosensors [57]. An electrochemical gene sensor based on SnO₂ nanocrystalline quantum dots for the determination of *Vibrio cholerae* using the principle of DNA hybridization was developed by Patel et al. The study demonstrated that SnO₂ nanoparticles provide an appropriate surface for the immobilization of the DNA probe and increased electron transport and enhanced signal readout, providing high long-term stability [54].

The utilization of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles proved successful in the isolation of *Listeria monocytogenes* DNA, a pathogen commonly associated with dairy products [93]. Surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy in combination with silver nanosensors has emerged as a highly effective technique for the detection of pathogenic bacteria [19]. Additionally, nanosensors incorporating various nanomaterials have become standard tools for the detection of foodborne pathogens [4].

The utilization of gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) in the improving of electrochemical biosensors has gained increasing attention due to their advantageous properties [44]. Deposition of AuNPs onto gold electrodes leads to a substantial enhancement in the electrode's surface area, enabling enhanced target recognition and improved analytical performance [39]. When immobilized on electrodes, AuNPs enhance surface biocompatibility, facilitate electron transfer between the electrode and immobilized molecules, increase the effective surface area, and enable facile bioconjugation of recognition elements. Raj et al. showed the integration of Au@MoS₂-PANI nanocomposite onto a glassy carbon electrode for the detection of *E. coli*, utilizing the enhanced electrode properties [62]. Additionally, Hassan et al. improved a labelfree electrochemical biosensor employing the electrocatalytic properties of AuNPs for the very sensitive and quick detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 in minced meat and water [28].

Despite the widespread use of AuNPs-based electrochemical biosensors, their complex nature presents challenges that restrict their broad application, particularly in complex food matrices. Typically, these biosensors involve multiple steps that require manual intervention by the user during testing, including repetitive washing, sample and reagent loading, which prolongs the analysis time and may lead to inconclusive results. Consequently, there have been endeavors to address these limitations by integrating microfluidic technology with the electrochemical cell, aiming to automate manual interventions. This integration offers the potential for improved efficiency, reduced user involvement, and enhanced reliability in the analysis of food samples [5].

AuNP-based electrochemical biosensors have demonstrated their utility in the detection of viruses, benefiting from the original properties of gold nanoparticles for selective capture and recognition of viral particles [38]. For example, the MERSCoV has been found to contaminate dairy products through electrochemical biosensors containing these nanoparticles [79].

Metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) have emerged as an important advancing class of microporous materials with extensive potential in various applications [87]. While 0D and 1D nanostructures are being developed, they primarily represent 2D or 3D porous architectures assembled through coordination linkages between metal cation salts and polydentate organic ligands [47]. MOFs exhibit remarkable characteristics such as high surface area, pore volume, porosity, surface functionality, and adjustable

structures. Small-scale MOFs combine the unique properties of both MOFs and nanostructures, enabling the design of complex nanocomposites such as NP@MOFs. Notably, 2D MOFs have gained attention for biosensing applications, leveraging their controllable properties and exceptionally high surface area, which are anticipated to surpass the performance of conventional electrochemical sensors.

Varsha and Nageswaran [81]. The controllable tunability of properties and the exceptional surface area of MOFs are anticipated to surpass the capabilities of traditional electrochemical sensors [5].

Carbon materials have prolonged use in electrochemical sensor electrodes [55]. The discovery of new carbon allotropes such as fullerene, carbon nanotubes (CNTs) [55] and graphene [52] has triggered active exploration of their applications in various types of biosensors due to their high electrical properties. Several studies have discussed perspectives of the application of graphene and carbon nanomaterials as electrode materials to improve electrochemical sensors [18], including foodborne pathogen detection [82].

Graphene and carbon nanotube technology has proven to be valuable for the development of movable electrochemical sensors [1, 72]. In the context of foodborne pathogen detection, graphene-based electrochemical sensors offer significant advancements as they can operate directly in biological and food matrices [82]. Cheap carbon materials, such as graphene and carbon nanofibers, possess large surface areas, high electron transfer rates, and excellent catalytic properties, making them vital for the development of miniaturized sensing platforms for point-of-need testing [5].

Graphene derivatives, specifically graphene oxide (GO) and reduced graphene oxide (rGO), have emerged as the preferred materials for electrochemical electrode modification owing to their low-cost scalability and compatibility with integrated device fabrication and processing technologies [24]. In the field of pathogen detection, a rapid and highly sensitive electrochemical invAgene biosensor for the detection of *Salmonella* was developed by employing a polypyrrole-rGO nanocomposite on a glassy carbon electrode [96]. The incorporation of rGO in the electrode material enhances the electrochemical performance, enabling improved sensing capabilities for the targeted pathogen. These findings highlight the potential of graphene derivatives in the development of important electrochemical biosensors for pathogen detection.

Recently, novel methods involving the direct writing of graphene-based electrodes have been implemented for the development of portable sensors [36]. Laserinduced graphene (LIG) is a simple and scalable technology that involves the local heat treatment of polymers such as polyimide, resulting in the formation of porous graphene material [41]. The resulting material possesses the desirable properties of graphene, such as high surface area and electrical conductivity, while also offering a large number of active sites for surface modifications with various receptors [37]. In one study, LIG electrodes modified with polyclonal antibodies demonstrated highly selective detection of *Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium* [73]. This highlights the potential of LIG-based electrodes as promising platforms for the development of sensitive and specific biosensors for pathogen detection applications. Carbon nanotubes are classified into single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) and multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) based on the number of graphene sheets they contain [70]. SWCNT composites have been utilized for the highly sensitive detection of bacterial and viral model strains, such as *E. coli* O157:H7 and bacteriophage T7, respectively [22]. In terms of material modification, MWCNTs have demonstrated advantages over SWCNTs as they are more robust, easier to produce on a larger scale, and more cost-effective, leading to improved sensitivity as reported in several studies. Specifically, MWCNTs deposited on indium tin oxide (ITO) electrodes and modified with aptamers have been employed for the detection of *Salmonella enteritidis* and *S. thyhimuri* [26]. The results underscore the considerable potential of both single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) and multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) as versatile platforms with high sensitivity for biosensor development aimed at pathogen detection.

A prominent trend in contemporary electrochemical biosensors for the detection of pathogens and toxins is the utilization of nanocomposites, which combine multiple nanomaterials in electrode design, resulting in notable synergistic effects that enhance detection performance. Furthermore, certain nanomaterials like graphene and metal oxide nanoparticles possess inherent antibacterial properties. The integration of these nanomaterials into biosensors yields multifunctional platforms capable not only of pathogen identification and quantification but also of pathogen elimination, offering a comprehensive approach to pathogen detection and control [5].

2.2 Aptamers

Aptamers found in the 1990s are defined as short, single-stranded nucleic acids with high affinity and selectivity [17]. Aptamers, which can be synthesized with high purity and cheap, increase the repeatability of analysis due to these features. Aptamers can identify and connect to a variety of food contaminants due to functional interactions [65]. Moreover, aptamers also have the potential to be ingenious and adaptive biosensors with three-dimensional conformational changes [28].

Given these features, many aptasensors based on different transduction strategies have been designed to identify food contaminants in the last decade. On the other hand, relatively few aptasensors have been applied to food safety testing. Therefore, it is useful to develop the recognition stability of the aptamer by using the complex food matrix [28].

Aptamers have been developed to detect different types of mycotoxins found in foods [42]. To develop a new electrochemical aptasensor, Yang et al. studied aptamer/ NH2 prepared Janus particles with one side belonging to the glassy carbon with peptide bond and one side functionalized with anti-ochratoxin A aptamer for specific detection [95]. In addition, Xu et al. also designed the aptasensor that performs ultra-sensitive detection of *Staphylococcal enterotoxin* B [91].

The ricin and abrin toxins found in castor beans and rosary peas, respectively, act as type 2 ribosome-inactivating proteins, both of which lead to cell death and

go undiagnosed. Detection of these toxins in adulterated food and beverages is very important. In order to identify these toxins, an aptasensor was prepared by combining the C_3N_4 –MnO₂ nanolayer with liposome amplification [46]; a specific aptamer has also been isolated for abrin analysis [76].

However, the discovery of aptasensors that detect animal toxins such as tetrodotoxin and saxitoxin has been infrequently reported. Recently, a temperature-assisted fluorescent biosensor has been developed to detect saxitoxin by Cheng et al. The aptamer-saxitoxin complex can trigger a temperature-assisted fluorescence resonance energy transfer method by lowering the melting temperature [9].

2.3 Microfluidic Devices

Microfluidic sensors are a type of nanosensor based on microfluidics together with liposomes and offer advantages in detecting toxic substances in samples even in the microliter [78]. Microfluidic biosensors are frequently used for the detection of bacteria due to their quick analysis, simple use, low cost, easy integration, and field detection advantages [86]. Micropump and microvalve are important components in the improving of microfluidic chips. Recently, new power-independent micropumps [92] and finger-operated micropumps [75] have attracted much attention.

It has been noticed that the chip in the microfluidic devices has micronscale and sometimes nanoscale. Therefore, it has higher surface area and diffusion coefficient and easily transfers heat [99]. For this reason, microfluidics has important advantages like time-consuming effects, preventing contamination, and reducing costs. Integration with microfluidics can provide various advantages to existing sensing techniques [60]. Some studies have been conducted on bacteria detection with microfluidic devices [99].

Due to the complex background of food samples and the low concentration of pathogenic bacteria, signal amplification is regularly required to detect target bacteria using enzymes, fluorescent probes, and other nanomaterials [58].

Due to their various advantages, nanozymes are widely used for bacteria detection [8]. For example, gold@platinum nanocatalysts (Au@PtNCs) have larger specific surface area and more catalytic active sites for the catalytic reaction. In this different study, a power-free microfluidic biosensor with an on-chip micropump and an on-chip microstirrer was developed and Au@PtNC amplification combined with smartphone imaging to achieve rapid, sensitive, and successful on-site detection of *Salmonella*. This obtained biosensor was able to detect *Salmonella typhimurium* bacteria at a concentration as low as 350 CFU/mL in chicken meat and milk samples quickly and significantly reduced the cost of each test.
3 Advantages of Nanodevices on Food Safety

The most important disadvantages of the current methods used in food analysis are the lack of fast and reliable procedures for detecting low amounts of pathogens and toxins [94].

DNA and protein-based detection methods are faster but require at least a few hours to perform these methods. A culture enrichment period ranging from several hours to a day is required for the determination of bacteria contained in a food sample. In the food industry, waiting this long for results can be expensive and inconvenient. In contrast, the complex of bionanomaterial bacterial cells can be detected or confirmed within 3 h without bacterial culture and enrichment [85].

The development of biosensors utilizing nanomaterials holds great promise for overcoming the limitations associated with expensive or complex instruments, enabling the rapid detection of foodborne pathogens in portable or hand-held devices [94].

The small size of nanomaterials allows for their binding to target bacterial cells, leading to significant modifications in their optical, physical, and chemical properties. This property enables nanomaterials to serve as signal transducers or amplifiers, facilitating real-time detection of pathogenic bacteria. Functionalized nanomaterials have been extensively investigated for their integration into biosensors, serving as absorbers and carriers of pathogens. These nanomaterial-based biosensors offer the advantage of rapid detection, enabling the completion of the detection process within a short timeframe [94].

Fluorescent dye-doped nanoparticles have been developed as markers for sensitive bacteria detection due to their positive properties such as high fluorescence quantum yields, photostability, and tunable fluorescent bands [40]. For example, Zhao et al. developed a bioassay method based on fluorescent nanoparticles conjugated with anti-E for the detection of *E. Coli* O57 in minced meat samples [98].

Magnetic nanomaterials are most commonly used to eliminate interference from complex food matrices and to concentrate target cells, which can eliminate the need for time-consuming enrichment through a culture process. While studying for signal amplification with fluorescent nanomaterials, metal and semiconductor nanomaterials have been chosen because of their electronic or optical transduction on biorecognition in the development of biosensors. Bioconjugated nanomaterials have demonstrated advantages over traditional (non-nanomaterial-based) methods for specific pathogen detection in nutrient broth, food products, and biofilms [94].

4 Safety Concerns About Nanodevices

The utilization of diverse nanomaterials in the food industry offers numerous benefits; however, it also presents significant concerns regarding human health, environmental impact, and other ecosystems due to their cytotoxic effects. Recently, heightened attention has been directed toward the potential risks associated with nanomaterials, including those that lack toxic constituents in their composition but possess inherent hazards associated with their small size and subcellular interactions with organisms [69]. For instance, certain nanoparticles carry the risk of penetrating the skin and inducing toxic effects in humans, animals, and plants alike [67].

To gain insight into the toxicity mechanisms of different nanomaterials on human health and the environment, it is crucial to establish a clear understanding of the various routes through which nanomaterials from the food industry can be exposed and enter the human body. Nanomaterials are intentionally or unintentionally consumed through processed food products via oral, dermal, and pulmonary routes. Oral ingestion serves as the primary pathway for the intake of chemicals, water, and nutrients. Presently, a wide array of nanomaterials are found in various food products, and it is presumed that the gastrointestinal system is directly exposed to these nanomaterials on a daily basis. Nanoparticles ingested orally traverse from the oral cavity to the stomach and subsequently reach the intestines, giving rise to significant health concerns for humans [64].

Different in silico, in vitro and in vivo methods are used to evaluate the toxicity of nanomaterials. Especially in the uptake and biodistribution evaluations of nanostructures, it has been revealed that these structures are located in certain locations in the human body [10].

More research is needed on the cytotoxic effects of nanoparticles used in nanodevices and their potential impact on consumer health and safety and the environment. Potential risks, toxicological issues, and environmental issues must be addressed when acquiring these tools. Relevant rules and regulations will only be put in place to tackle the various applicable safety issues and then govern the entire food industry field [68].

5 Conclusion

In recent years, the field of nanobiotechnology has witnessed significant advancements, leading to the development of highly sensitive and miniaturized nanomaterialbased devices for ensuring food safety and quality. These devices employ various nanomaterials and nanosensors. However, along with these advancements, there is a growing recognition of the potential environmental and health risks associated with the use of nanomaterials and nanodevices in the food industry. Therefore, it is crucial to prioritize research efforts aimed at understanding and mitigating the potential toxic effects linked to the utilization of nanomaterials and nanodevices. Additionally, it is essential to thoroughly investigate and enhance parameters such as accuracy, reproducibility, precision, and specificity to ensure the reliability and validity of nanodevices. Furthermore, optimization of the synthesis procedures for integrated nanomaterials is necessary to establish robust protocols for large-scale production and strict quality control, ensuring the absence of chemical impurities that could compromise the sensing properties or lead to environmental pollution [74]. It is important to choose fast, sensitive, specific, and easily applicable processes that do not cause analyte loss during the detection of pathogens and toxins in foods. For this reason, these features should be considered during the design of the biosensor to be used. It will result in the discovery of effective nanotools to be used in food analysis that will ensure safe food presentation through collaborations and advanced studies between those working in the field of nanotechnology and food technology.

References

- Arduini F, Micheli L, Scognamiglio V, Mazzaracchio V, Moscone D (2020) Sustainable materials for the design of forefront printed (bio) sensors applied in agrifood sector. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 128:115909
- Arya A, Husen A (2023) Smart nanomaterials in biosensing applications. In: Husen A, Siddiqi KS (eds) Advances in smart nanomaterials and their applications. Elsevier Inc., Cambridge, USA
- Arya A, Tyagi PK, Kumar S, Husen A (2023) Nanomaterials and their application in microbiology disciplines. In: Husen A, Siddiqi KS (eds) Advances in smart nanomaterials and their applications. Elsevier Inc., Cambridge, USA
- Baranwal A, Mahato K, Srivastava A, Maurya PK, Chandra P (2016) Phytofabricated metallic nanoparticles and their clinical applications. RSC Adv 6(107):105996–106010
- Bobrinetskiy I, Radovic M, Rizzotto F, Vizzini P, Jaric S, Pavlovic Z, Radonic V, Nikolic MV, Vidic J (2021) Advances in nanomaterials-based electrochemical biosensors for foodborne pathogen detection. Nanomaterials 11(10):2700
- Chawla S, Gupta A, Bhardwaj M, Singh S, Husen A (2023) Smart nanotechnology in pathological hypoxia: an innovative avenue for a clinical hurdle. In: Chawla S, Singh S, Husen A (eds) Smart nanomaterials targeting pathological hypoxia. Smart nanomaterials technology. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-1718-1_1
- Chauhan AK, Singh SP, Yadav B, Khatri S, Husen A (2023) Smart nanomaterials and control of biofilms. In: Husen A, Siddiqi KS (ed) Advances in smart nanomaterials and their applications. Elsevier Inc., Cambridge, USA
- Cheng N, Zhu C, Wang Y, Du D, Zhu M-J, Luo Y, Xu W, Lin Y (2019) Nanozyme enhanced colorimetric immunoassay for naked-eye detection of salmonella enteritidis. J Anal Test 3(1):99–106
- Cheng S, Zheng B, Yao D, Kuai S, Tian J, Liang H, Ding Y (2018) Study of the binding way between saxitoxin and its aptamer and a fluorescent aptasensor for detection of saxitoxin. Spectrochim Acta Part A Mol Biomol Spectrosc 204:180–187
- d'Amora M, Cassano D, Pocoví-Martínez S, Giordani S, Voliani V (2018) Biodistribution and biocompatibility of passion fruit-like nano-architectures in zebrafish. Nanotoxicology 12(8):914–922
- Dimitrijevic M, Karabasil N, Boskovic M, Teodorovic V, Vasilev D, Djordjevic V, Kilibarda N, Cobanovic N (2015) Safety aspects of nanotechnology applications in food packaging. Procedia Food Sci 5:57–60
- 12. Doyle ME (2006) Nanotechnology: a brief literature review. Food Research Institute, UW-Madison
- Du H, Wang X, Yang Q, Wu W (2021) Quantum dot: lightning invisible foodborne pathogens. Trends Food Sci Technol 110:1–12
- Duncan TV (2011) Applications of nanotechnology in food packaging and food safety: barrier materials, antimicrobials and sensors. J Colloid Interface Sci 363(1):1–24
- Durán N, Marcato PD (2013) Nanobiotechnology perspectives. Role of nanotechnology in the food industry: a review. Int J Food Sci Technol 48(6):1127–1134

- El-Sharoud WM, Darwish MS, Batt CA (2013) A real-time PCR-based microfluidics platform for the detection of Cronobacter sakazakii in reconstituted milks. Int Dairy J 33(1):67–74
- Ellington AD, Szostak JW (1990) In vitro selection of RNA molecules that bind specific ligands. Nature 346(6287):818–822
- 18. Evtugyn G, Porfireva A, Shamagsumova R, Hianik T (2020) Advances in electrochemical aptasensors based on carbon nanomaterials. Chemosensors 8(4):96
- 19. Fang Z, Zhao Y, Warner RD, Johnson SK (2017) Active and intelligent packaging in meat industry. Trends Food Sci Technol 61:60–71
- Fatema KN, Liu Y, Cho KY, Oh W-C (2020) Comparative study of electrochemical biosensors based on highly efficient mesoporous ZrO2–Ag–G–SiO2 and In2O3–G–SiO2 for rapid recognition of E. coli O157: H7. ACS Omega 5(36):22719–22730
- Gálvez A, Abriouel H, López RL, Omar NB (2007) Bacteriocin-based strategies for food biopreservation. Int J Food Microbiol 120(1–2):51–70
- García-Aljaro C, Cella LN, Shirale DJ, Park M, Muñoz FJ, Yates MV, Mulchandani A (2010) Carbon nanotubes-based chemiresistive biosensors for detection of microorganisms. Biosens Bioelectron 26(4):1437–1441
- Gokularaman S, Cruz SA, Pragalyaashree M, Nishadh A (2017) Nanotechnology approach in food packaging-review. J Pharm Sci Res 9(10):1743–1749
- 24. Gupta R, Raza N, Bhardwaj SK, Vikrant K, Kim K-H, Bhardwaj N (2021) Advances in nanomaterial-based electrochemical biosensors for the detection of microbial toxins, pathogenic bacteria in food matrices. J Hazard Mater 401:123379
- Han X, Liu Y, Yin J, Yue M, Mu Y (2021) Microfluidic devices for multiplexed detection of foodborne pathogens. Food Res Int 143:110246
- Hasan MR, Pulingam T, Appaturi JN, Zifruddin AN, Teh SJ, Lim TW, Ibrahim F, Leo BF, Thong KL (2018) Carbon nanotube-based aptasensor for sensitive electrochemical detection of whole-cell Salmonella. Anal Biochem 554:34–43
- Horak D, Babič M, Mackova H, Beneš MJ (2007) Preparation and properties of magnetic nanoand microsized particles for biological and environmental separations. J Sep Sci 30(11):1751– 1772
- Huo B, Hu Y, Gao Z, Li G (2021) Recent advances on functional nucleic acid-based biosensors for detection of food contaminants. Talanta 222:121565
- 29. Husen A (2022) Engineered nanomaterials for sustainable agricultural production, soil improvement and stress management. Elsevier Inc., Cambridge, USA
- Husen A, Bachheti RK, Bachheti A (2023) Current trends in green nano-emulsions (Food, Agriculture and Biomedical Sectors). Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd., 152 Beach Road, #21–01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore
- Husen A, Siddiqi KS (2023) Advances in smart nanomaterials and their applications. Elsevier Inc., Cambridge, USA. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2021-0-02202-1
- Jin-Chul K, Madhusudhan A, Husen A (2021) Smart nanomaterials in biomedical applications. Springer Nature Switzerland AG, Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-84262-8
- Kotsiri Z, Vidic J, Vantarakis A (2022) Applications of biosensors for bacteria and virus detection in food and water—A systematic review. J Environ Sci 111:367–379
- Kumar A, Choudhary A, Kaur H, Mehta S, Husen A (2021) Metal-based nanoparticles, sensors and their multifaceted application in food packaging. J Nanobiotechnol 19(256):1–25. ISBN:1477-3155. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-021-00996-0
- 35. Kumar S, Shukla A, Baul PP, Mitra A, Halder D (2018) Biodegradable hybrid nanocomposites of chitosan/gelatin and silver nanoparticles for active food packaging applications. Food Packag Shelf Life 16:178–184
- 36. Kurra N, Jiang Q, Nayak P, Alshareef HN (2019) Laser-derived graphene: a three-dimensional printed graphene electrode and its emerging applications. Nano Today 24:81–102
- 37. Lahcen AA, Rauf S, Beduk T, Durmus C, Aljedaibi A, Timur S, Alshareef HN, Amine A, Wolfbeis OS, Salama KN (2020) Electrochemical sensors and biosensors using laser-derived graphene: a comprehensive review. Biosens Bioelectron 168:112565

- Layqah LA, Eissa S (2019) An electrochemical immunosensor for the corona virus associated with the Middle East respiratory syndrome using an array of gold nanoparticle-modified carbon electrodes. Microchim Acta 186:1–10
- 39. Li Y, Schluesener HJ, Xu S (2010) Gold nanoparticle-based biosensors. Gold Bull 43:29-41
- 40. Lian W, Litherland SA, Badrane H, Tan W, Wu D, Baker HV, Gulig PA, Lim DV, Jin S (2004) Ultrasensitive detection of biomolecules with fluorescent dye-doped nanoparticles. Anal Biochem 334(1):135–144
- Lin J, Peng Z, Liu Y, Ruiz-Zepeda F, Ye R, Samuel EL, Yacaman MJ, Yakobson BI, Tour JM (2014) Laser-induced porous graphene films from commercial polymers. Nat Commun 5(1):5714
- 42. Liu R, Li W, Cai T, Deng Y, Ding Z, Liu Y, Zhu X, Wang X, Liu J, Liang B, Zheng T, Li J (2018) TiO2 Nanolayer-enhanced fluorescence for simultaneous multiplex mycotoxin detection by aptamer microarrays on a porous silicon surface. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10(17):14447–14453
- 43. Maduraiveeran G, Sasidharan M, Jin W (2019) Earth-abundant transition metal and metal oxide nanomaterials: synthesis and electrochemical applications. Prog Mater Sci 106:100574
- 44. Marin M, Nikolic MV, Vidic J (2021) Rapid point-of-need detection of bacteria and their toxins in food using gold nanoparticles. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf 20(6):5880–5900
- 45. Mehta M, Subramani K (2012) Nanodiagnostics in microbiology and dentistry. In: Emerging nanotechnologies in dentistry. Elsevier, pp 365–390
- 46. Men C, Li CH, Wei XM, Liu JJ, Liu YX, Huang CZ, Zhen SJ (2018) A sensitive and low background fluorescent sensing strategy based on gC3N4–MnO2 sandwich nanocomposite and liposome amplification for ricin detection. Analyst 143(23):5764–5770
- 47. Meng L, Yu B, Qin Y (2021) Templated interfacial synthesis of metal-organic framework (MOF) nano-and micro-structures with precisely controlled shapes and sizes. Commun Chem 4(1):82
- 48. Mondal R, Shand H, Kumar A, Sellami H, Ghorai S, Mandal AK, Husen A (2023) Lipidbased cubosome nanoparticle mediated efficient and controlled vesicular drug delivery for cancer therapy. In: Husen A, Siddiqi KS (eds) Advances in smart nanomaterials and their applications. Elsevier Inc., Cambridge, USA
- 49. Muniandy S, Teh SJ, Appaturi JN, Thong KL, Lai CW, Ibrahim F, Leo BF (2019) A reduced graphene oxide-titanium dioxide nanocomposite based electrochemical aptasensor for rapid and sensitive detection of Salmonella enterica. Bioelectrochemistry 127:136–144
- Nadzirah S, Azizah N, Hashim U, Gopinath SC, Kashif M (2015) Titanium dioxide nanoparticle-based interdigitated electrodes: a novel current to voltage DNA biosensor recognizes E. coli O157: H7. PloS One 10(10):e0139766
- 51. Nikolova MP, Chavali MS (2020) Metal oxide nanoparticles as biomedical materials. Biomimetics 5(2):27
- Novoselov KS, Geim AK, Morozov SV, Jiang D-e, Zhang Y, Dubonos SV, Grigorieva IV, Firsov AA (2004) Electric field effect in atomically thin carbon films. Science 306(5696):666–669
- 53. Omerović N, Djisalov M, Živojević K, Mladenović M, Vunduk J, Milenković I, Knežević NŽ, Gadjanski I, Vidić J (2021) Antimicrobial nanoparticles and biodegradable polymer composites for active food packaging applications. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Safety 20(3):2428–2454
- 54. Patel MK, Singh J, Singh MK, Agrawal VV, Ansari S, Malhotra B (2013) Tin oxide quantum dot based DNA sensor for pathogen detection. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 13(3):1671–1678
- Pérez-López B, Merkoçi A (2012) Carbon nanotubes and graphene in analytical sciences. Microchim Acta 179:1–16
- Pokropivny V, Skorokhod V (2007) Classification of nanostructures by dimensionality and concept of surface forms engineering in nanomaterial science. Mater Sci Eng C 27(5–8):990– 993
- Purwidyantri A, Chen C-H, Chen L-Y, Chen C-C, Luo J-D, Chiou C-C, Tian Y-C, Lin C-Y, Yang C-M, Lai H-C (2017) Speckled zno nanograss electrochemical sensor for staphylococcus epidermidis detection. J Electrochem Soc 164(6):B205

- Qi W, Zheng L, Wang S, Huang F, Liu Y, Jiang H, Lin J (2021) A microfluidic biosensor for rapid and automatic detection of Salmonella using metal-organic framework and Raspberry Pi. Biosens Bioelectron 178:113020
- Quesada-González D, Merkoçi A (2018) Nanomaterial-based devices for point-of-care diagnostic applications. Chem Soc Rev 47(13):4697–4709
- 60. Rackus DG, Shamsi MH, Wheeler AR (2015) Electrochemistry, biosensors and microfluidics: a convergence of fields. Chem Soc Rev 44(15):5320–5340
- 61. Rai M, Gade A, Gaikwad S, Marcato PD, Durán N (2012) Biomedical applications of nanobiosensors: the state-of-the-art. J Braz Chem Soc 23:14–24
- Raj P, Oh MH, Han K, Lee TY (2021) Label-free electrochemical biosensor based on Au@ MoS₂–PANI for escherichia coli detection. Chemosensors 9(3):49
- Ranjan S, Dasgupta N, Chakraborty AR, Melvin Samuel S, Ramalingam C, Shanker R, Kumar A (2014) Nanoscience and nanotechnologies in food industries: opportunities and research trends. J Nanopart Res 16:1–23
- 64. Raynes JK, Carver JA, Gras SL, Gerrard JA (2014) Protein nanostructures in food—Should we be worried? Trends Food Sci Technol 37(1):42–50
- 65. Reinemann C, Stoltenburg R, Strehlitz B (2009) Investigations on the specificity of DNA aptamers binding to ethanolamine. Anal Chem 81(10):3973–3978
- Reta N, Saint CP, Michelmore A, Prieto-Simon B, Voelcker NH (2018) Nanostructured electrochemical biosensors for label-free detection of water-and food-borne pathogens. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10(7):6055–6072
- 67. Rizwan M, Ali S, Qayyum MF, Ok YS, Adrees M, Ibrahim M, Zia-ur-Rehman M, Farid M, Abbas F (2017) Effect of metal and metal oxide nanoparticles on growth and physiology of globally important food crops: a critical review. J Hazard Mater 322:2–16
- Sahoo M, Panigrahi C, Vishwakarma S, Kumar J (2022) A review on nanotechnology: applications in food industry, future opportunities, challenges and potential risks. J Nanotechnol Nanomater 3(1):28–33
- 69. Shafiq M, Anjum S, Hano C, Anjum I, Abbasi BH (2020) An overview of the applications of nanomaterials and nanodevices in the food industry. Foods 9(2):148
- Shirasu K, Kitayama S, Liu F, Yamamoto G, Hashida T (2021) Molecular dynamics simulations and theoretical model for engineering tensile properties of single-and multi-walled carbon nanotubes. Nanomaterials 11(3):795
- Singh N, Gaur S, Chawla S, Singh S, Husen A (2023) Use of smart nanomaterials in food packaging. In: Husen A, Siddiqi KS (eds) Advances in smart nanomaterials and their applications. Elsevier Inc., Cambridge, USA
- 72. Smart A, Crew A, Pemberton R, Hughes G, Doran O, Hart J (2020) Screen-printed carbon based biosensors and their applications in agri-food safety. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 127:115898
- 73. Soares RR, Hjort RG, Pola CC, Parate K, Reis EL, Soares NF, McLamore ES, Claussen JC, Gomes CL (2020) Laser-induced graphene electrochemical immunosensors for rapid and label-free monitoring of Salmonella enterica in chicken broth. ACS Sens 5(7):1900–1911
- Sozer N, Kokini JL (2009) Nanotechnology and its applications in the food sector. Trends Biotechnol 27(2):82–89
- Sweet E, Mehta R, Xu Y, Jew R, Lin R, Lin L (2020) Finger-powered fluidic actuation and mixing via MultiJet 3D printing. Lab Chip 20(18):3375–3385
- Tang J, Yu T, Guo L, Xie J, Shao N, He Z (2007) In vitro selection of DNA aptamer against abrin toxin and aptamer-based abrin direct detection. Biosens Bioelectron 22(11):2456–2463
- Teng Y, Zhang X, Fu Y, Liu H, Wang Z, Jin L, Zhang W (2011) Optimized ferrocenefunctionalized ZnO nanorods for signal amplification in electrochemical immunoassay of Escherichia coli. Biosens Bioelectron 26(12):4661–4666
- Thakur MS, Ragavan KV (2013) Biosensors in food processing. J Food Sci Technol 50(4):625– 641
- 79. van Doremalen N, Bushmaker T, Karesh WB, Munster VJ (2014) Stability of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus in milk. Emerg Infect Dis 20(7):1263

- Van Kessel JA, Karns JS, Lombard JE, Kopral CA (2011) Prevalence of Salmonella enterica, Listeria monocytogenes, and Escherichia coli virulence factors in bulk tank milk and in-line filters from U.S. dairies. J Food Prot 74(5):759–768
- 81. Varsha M, Nageswaran G (2020) 2D layered metal organic framework nanosheets as an emerging platform for electrochemical sensing. J Electrochem Soc 167(13):136502
- Vasseghian Y, Dragoi E-N, Moradi M, Khaneghah AM (2021) A review on graphene-based electrochemical sensor for mycotoxins detection. Food Chem Toxicol 148:111931
- Vidic J, Manzano M (2021) Electrochemical biosensors for rapid pathogen detection. Curr Opin Electrochem 29:100750
- Vu QK, Tran QH, Vu NP, Anh T-L, Le Dang TT, Matteo T, Nguyen THH (2021) A label-free electrochemical biosensor based on screen-printed electrodes modified with gold nanoparticles for quick detection of bacterial pathogens. Mater Today Commun 26:101726
- Wang L, Zhao W, O'Donoghu MB, Tan W (2007) Fluorescent nanoparticles for multiplexed bacteria monitoring. Bioconjug Chem 18(2):297–301
- Wang L, Zhu F, Chen M, Xiong Y, Zhu Y, Xie S, Liu Q, Yang H, Chen X (2019) Development of a "Dual Gates" locked, target-triggered nanodevice for point-of-care testing with a glucometer readout. ACS Sens 4(4):968–976
- Wang Q, Astruc D (2019) State of the art and prospects in metal–organic framework (MOF)based and MOF-derived nanocatalysis. Chem Rev 120(2):1438–1511
- 88. Wang S, Peng T, Meng Q, Zhu X, Guo L, Yao K, Wang Z, Zheng P, Ren Z, He Z (2020) Rapid and ultrasensitive detection of Salmonella typhimurium using a novel impedance biosensor based on SiO2@ MnO2 nanocomposites and interdigitated array microelectrodes. Sens Actuators B Chem 324:128654
- Worku LA, Deepti, Nigussie Y, Bachheti A, Bachheti RK, Husen A (2023) Antimicrobial activities of nanomaterials. In: Husen A, Siddiqi KS (eds) Advances in Smart Nanomaterials and their Applications. Elsevier Inc., Cambridge, USA
- Xiang L, Zhao C, Wang J (2011) Nanomaterials-based electrochemical sensors and biosensors for pesticide detection. Sens Lett 9(3):1184–1189
- Xu Y, Huo B, Li C, Peng Y, Tian S, Fan L, Bai J, Ning B, Gao Z (2019) Ultrasensitive detection of staphylococcal enterotoxin B in foodstuff through dual signal amplification by bio-barcode and real-time PCR. Food Chem 283:338–344
- Yakoh A, Chaiyo S, Siangproh W, Chailapakul O (2019) 3D capillary-driven paper-based sequential microfluidic device for electrochemical sensing applications. ACS Sens 4(5):1211– 1221
- Yang D, Zhu L, Jiang X (2010) Electrochemical reaction mechanism and determination of Sudan I at a multi wall carbon nanotubes modified glassy carbon electrode. J Electroanal Chem 640(1–2):17–22
- Yang H, Li H, Jiang X (2008) Detection of foodborne pathogens using bioconjugated nanomaterials. Microfluid Nanofluid 5(5):571–583
- 95. Yang Y-J, Zhou Y, Xing Y, Zhang G-M, Zhang Y, Zhang C-H, Lei P, Dong C, Deng X, He Y, Shuang S-M (2019) A label-free aptasensor based on Aptamer/NH2 Janus particles for ultrasensitive electrochemical detection of Ochratoxin A. Talanta 199:310–316
- 96. Ye Y, Yan W, Liu Y, He S, Cao X, Xu X, Zheng H, Gunasekaran S (2019) Electrochemical detection of Salmonella using an invA genosensor on polypyrrole-reduced graphene oxide modified glassy carbon electrode and AuNPs-horseradish peroxidase-streptavidin as nanotag. Anal Chim Acta 1074:80–88
- Zhai Z, Leng B, Yang N, Yang B, Liu L, Huang N, Jiang X (2019) Rational construction of 3D-networked carbon nanowalls/diamond supporting CuO architecture for high-performance electrochemical biosensors. Small 15(48):1901527
- Zhao X, Hilliard LR, Mechery SJ, Wang Y, Bagwe RP, Jin S, Tan W (2004) A rapid bioassay for single bacterial cell quantitation using bioconjugated nanoparticles. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101(42):15027–15032
- Zhao X, Li M, Liu Y (2019) Microfluidic-based approaches for foodborne pathogen detection. Microorganisms 7(10):381

Nanomaterials for the Rapid Identification of Agriculturally Important Plant Pathogens



Zehra Karaagac and Ismail Ocsoy 💿

Abstract Nanomaterials (NMs) have shown great potential for the rapid identification of agriculturally important plant pathogens. The small size and unique properties of NMs make them well-suited for use in biosensors and diagnostic assays. The NMs have not been only used for detection or identification of plant pathogens, they have the potential to protect crops from different pathogens in order to minimize the reduction in crops production and the monetary losses. The NMs have been utilized in various techniques including microneedle applications, nano-barcoding systems, nano-biosensors, miRNA-based nano diagnosis/array-based nano-sensors, and nano-diagnostic apparatus, for the rapid identification of agricultural-related plant pathogens. NMs, such as gold (Au) NMs and carbon nanotubes (CNTs), have been used in the development of biosensors for the detection of plant viruses and bacteria. These biosensors exploit the unique optical and electrical properties of these NMs to provide highly sensitive and specific responses toward target plant pathogens. Similarly, CNTs have been used for the detection of bacteria that cause plant diseases, such as Xanthomonas campestris, which is responsible for black rot disease in cruciferous crops. CNTs have a large surface area and high electrical conductivity, making them ideal for use in electrochemical sensors that can detect the presence of bacterial pathogens in plant samples. In addition to biosensors, NMs have also been used to develop rapid diagnostic assays based on metallic NMs. For example, magnetic NMs have been used to develop rapid diagnostic tests for plant diseases such as late blight, which is caused by the oomycete pathogen Phytophthora infestans.

Keywords Nanomaterials · Plant pathogens · Diagnostic methods

Z. Karaagac

I. Ocsoy (🖂)

e-mail: ismailocsoy@erciyes.edu.tr

Department of Mechanical and Metal Technology, Vocational School of Technical Sciences, Karamanoglu Mehmetbey University, 70110 Karaman, Turkey

Department of Analytical Chemistry, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erciyes University, 38039 Kayseri, Turkey

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 179 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials*

for Point-of-Care Testing, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_10

1 Introduction to Nanomaterials

Nanomaterials (NMs) are a type of material obtained by arranging matter at atomic and molecular scales. Nano-sized materials have superior properties and functions compared to bulk materials [122]. Nano-sized structures, It is divided into different classes such as nanotubes, nanoparticles, nanowires, nanorods, and nanofilms [70]. NMs can be synthesized in different chemical structures and morphologies (Fig. 1).

Today, NMs can be synthesized as metal, metal alloy, metal oxides, ceramic and polymer-based or composite structures [130]. Metallic NMs exhibit different physical and chemical properties based upon their surface/volume ratio, low melting point, surface roughness, mechanical properties, magnetic properties, etc., compared to bulk metals. In addition to these features, gold (Au) NMs attract attention with their optical properties [72]. For instance, the 25 nm and 50 nm Au NMs have a specific wine red color and purple color in solution, respectively [74]. This indicates that color of Au NMs solution can be varied by tuning their size. In addition to that wine red color the 25 nm Au NM is observed in their colloidal form, but aggregation of 25 nm Au NM changes it from wine red to purple color. Thus, Au NMs can be integrated in colorimetric sensor design by benefiting from these size-dependent color change properties. This is also true for other metallic NPs [7]. For example, silver NPs are yellow, platinum, iron and palladium NPs are black.



Fig. 1 Nanoscale integration of biomolecules and nanomaterials

In general, the synthesis conditions are known to directly affect the application areas of NMs. Synthesis of NMs with uniform morphology and stable structure is possible in high temperature and organic solvent environment. But this synthesis medium changes the solvent type of NMs. NMs that are insoluble in the aqueous phase quickly coagulate and aggregate in the biological application medium. In addition, organic NMs are toxic to living organisms [6, 42, 83]. Therefore, the production of NMs in an aqueous and non-toxic phase is very important [49].

2 Synthesis Types of Nanomaterials and Characterization

A general synthesis system for colloidal NMs consists of three components. These are: precursors (metal, polymer, nonmetal, organic–inorganic compounds, etc.), reducing agents (such as oleamine, oleic acid, sodium borohydride, sodium citrate), and solvents (organic or inorganic solvents. By heating the reaction medium to a sufficiently high temperature, the precursor molecules are converted into chemically active atomic or molecular species (monomers). The resulting monomers grow with active reducing agents to form NP structures [45]. Then the growth of core structures takes place. In nucleation, the precursor monomer must be at a relatively high temperature for the molecules to reach the upper saturation level. Thus, the reaction begins, followed by a nucleation explosion. These nuclei can grow further using additional monomers with the aid of temperature or other triggering conditions. It is possible to obtain NPs with wide size distribution by adding monomer and varying the amount of reducing agent [60].

There are two basic approaches in the synthesis of NMs. The first of these is the "top-down" approach. It is based on nanoscale material fabrication from bulk material. In general, the size of the material is reduced by physical–mechanical approaches. The other is the "bottom-up" approach. It relies on combining atoms to create nano-sized materials. In the top-down approach, although NMs are produced for industrial applications, problems in size control of NMs have serious disadvan-tages due to structure and morphology errors [19, 68]. The morphology, chemical structure, and size distribution control of NMs were successfully obtained with a bottom-up approach. However, despite all its advantages, the production efficiency is quite low compared to the top-down approach [11, 16]. Chemical methods such as micro-emulsion/colloidal, solvothermal, thermal separation, and laser methods are commonly used in the bottom-up approach are chemical and biological methods.

2.1 Chemical Synthesis Nanomaterials

The chemical synthesis method is generally based on the reduction of the precursor material with surfactants at the appropriate environment and temperature with different reducing agents [103]. In this method, rapid, uniform morphology and narrow size distribution NM synthesis is possible depending on the use of organic solvent, long chain reducing agent and high temperature [88]. Synthesized NMs retain their properties for a long time without degradation or aggregation. With this method, NMs can be synthesized with various functional properties or can be functionalized after synthesis [86]. This flexible synthesis method paves the way for the emergence of many NM designs. Chemical synthesis methods are frequently and effectively used in the literature [108]. Commonly used methods: Microemulsion, co-precipitation, and thermal decomposition are synthesis strategies. The disadvantage of this method is that the synthesized NMs are hydrophobic due to their surface [106]. This condition is toxic to living organisms. Therefore, the use of synthesized NMs in biological applications is limited. There are various applications to prevent this situation [53, 119]. These disadvantages can be overcome by converting the surface ligand structure to the aqueous phase. Ligand exchange methods are obtained by optimizing critical parameters such as the surface structure, adhesion strength, and bond structure of the NP [51]. One of the most basic methods of increasing the solubility of hydrophobic NPs in aqueous solution is based on the placement of new ligands and the removal of the hydrophobic layer from the surface [52, 63]. In the literature, there are main methods known as ligand exchange or phase transfer on NP surfaces [50, 110]. The main ones are as shown in Fig. 2, Ligand modification with amphiphilic micelles, Bifunctional ligand modification, Polymer coating method, and Silica coating method [116].

In a study, the transfer of Au NPs synthesized with oleamine surfactant in the organic phase to the aqueous phase was successfully carried out. The organic ligands on the Au NP surface were cleaned simply and quickly with a special synthesis method, and amino phenyl boronic acid ligands dissolved in the aqueous phase were attached to their place simultaneously. The effectiveness on bacteria was tested with the subsequent application [49] (Fig. 3).

2.2 Green Synthesis Nanomaterials

Synthesis of NMs by biological methods, different biomolecules; Enzymes, peptides, protein groups, nucleic acids (DNA and RNA), plant extracts, standard molecules as well as some microorganisms such as algae, fungi, actinomycetes, bacteria, and viruses can be used as reducing agents [65, 79, 81]. There are many advantages in the application of biological methods. At the beginning of these; less chemical use, cheap, practical, and fast application, and being suitable for high-volume production. In addition, biological synthesis applications do not require the use of high pressure, high energy, temperature, and toxic chemicals [4, 64, 78, 80, 113, 117, 121, 128]. It is possible to examine biological NM synthesis in two parts.

First, in the bio reduction method: it is the use of microorganisms and microorganism enzymes in the reduction of metal ions. With this method, stable and inert materials can be synthesized cheaply and quickly [23, 83, 91, 105]. The other method



Fig. 2 Phase transfer methods for nanomaterials



Fig. 3 Ligand exchange of Au NP in organic phase to aqua phase [49]



Fig. 4 Synthesis mechanism for Au NP formation containing three following steps: (1) Nucleation for formation of seeds; (2) Growth of seeds; and (3) Formation of Au NPs [23]

is the biosorption method. In this method, it is a NM synthesis method in which stable NPs are obtained by the interaction of metal cations in the solution medium, cell wall, or peptide [24, 56, 114].

As shown in Fig. 4; In a study, red raspberry (*Rubus idaeus*), strawberry (*Fragaria ananassa*), and blackberry (*Rubus fruticosus*) extracts were used for the synthesis of Au NPs. Synthesis of monodisperse, stable, and colloidal Au NPs (Au NPs) with HAuCl₄ · $3H_2O$ and strawberry extract concentration has been reported. Anthocyanin molecules give preferential coordination reaction with Au ions (Au³⁺) to form NP seeds (anthocyanin-Au³⁺), and then catecholamine oxidation results in electron flow from anthocyanins to Au. Thus, NP seeds begin to form for anisotropic growth. Finally, the surface of Au NPs is saturated with anthocyanins and monodisperse, and stable Au NPs are obtained [23].

3 Plant Pathogens

Plant pathogens are one of the most serious threats to agricultural productivity and food security worldwide. The main deformations caused by pathogens in the plant are: leaf spot, crusting, blight, overgrowth, rot, and galls [12, 31]. Plant pathogens can be found in various parts of the plant, especially in xylem and phloem. In particular, bacteria usually settle in intracellular and intercellular spaces and invade parts of the plant such as leaves and roots [5]. Diseases that develop in plants due to bacteria

follow a different course compared to other pathogens. Bacteria can secrete specific enzymes that break down the plant's cell wall. In addition to enzymes, various plant hormones, polysaccharides, and proteinases may also contribute to the formation and development of bacteria [15, 29, 130]. Thus, the environment for the development of diseases in the plant is prepared.

Another type of plant pathogen is fungi. About 8000 species of fungi and oomycetes are known that can reduce yields in agricultural applications [28]. Diseases commonly caused by pathogenic fungi; leaf spot, anthracnose, blight, thrush, gall, powdery mildew, and root rot [46]. Traditional methods for the detection of fungal species, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [18] and isothermal amplification methods (LAMP) are used. Phytoviruses constitute approximately 50% of known plant pathogens [10]. Viruses can reproduce easily and quickly in natural events (rain, wind, etc.) and insects [30, 34]. Because of all these effects, phytoviruses pose a serious threat all over the world. Phytoviruses contain simple ribonucleic acid (RNA). However, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA)-based genomes, factors that help isolation (human, environment, animal, etc.), and rapid adaptation processes in the face of changing conditions make it difficult to control phytoviruses [43]. Phytoviruses frequently encountered in food agriculture; Tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) [2], Pepper mild mottle virus (PMMoV) [73], cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) [37], tomato yellow leafroll virus (TYLCV), Papaya Ring Spot Virus [27], Barley yellow mosaic virus (BaYMV), Turnip mosaic virus [38] (Table 1)

4 Nanomaterials as Nano-Weapon for Combating with Plant Pathogens

Plant pathogens are one of the biggest threats to crop productivity and agricultural sustainability. The most widely used method in the fight against pathogens is pesticide application. Today, very effective drugs are used to protect plants [109]. However, pathogens develop resistance to these plants over time. Thus, drug applications lose their effectiveness [48]. As another spraying method, it has been applied to reduce the use of pesticides [57]. However, in this case, only 1–5% of the applied pesticide amount was able to inhibit the target pathogen [47, 87]. In addition, the applications cause contamination of the soil and water, causing the pollution of the environment and the infertility of the soil. Therefore, early, and rapid detection of plant pathogens is critical to protect farmland and increase food productivity. There are many methods in the literature for this purpose [89, 90].

One of these methods is to increase the yield of pesticides and chemical fertilizers applied to plants. It is aimed to increase the activity of chemical fertilizers and pesticides applied for this purpose by reducing them to nano size. Carbon nanotubes, magnetic NPs, Au NPs, silver NPs, and polymeric NPs are the leading nano-sized designs.

Culture	Virus	Fungi	Bacteria	Symptoms
Almond			X. arboricola pv.Pruni [67]	Leaf. stem, and trunk injuries. Defoliation and fruit drop
Apple plants			Erwinia amylovora/ pseudomonas syringae pv. syringae [17]	Storage disease in apple with evident moisture formation on the frnit Wilt and blackening twigs, flowers, and leaves Leaf necrosis and systemic vascular wilt
Citrus plants	Citrus Tristeza [40]		Candidatus Liberibacter [111]	Decline of plants and yellowing of leaves yellowing of shoots, leaf spot decrease in size, and deformity of the fruit
Cucumber plant		Oidium neolycopersici [32]	Pseudomonas syringae pv. Lachrymans	Chlorosis and white powdery lesions on the leaves. Rapid aging and reduction in the size and quality of the fruit leaves with water-soaked lesions. Necrosis and reduction of photosynthetic capacity
Brassica			X. campestris [92]	Leaf necrosis with V-shaped lesions and blackened vascular bundles

 Table 1
 Plant and plant pathogens examples [14]

(continued)

Culture	Virus	Fungi	Bacteria	Symptoms
Ginseng		Alternaria panax Whetz [118]		Reddish to dark brown elongated lesions
Maize plants		Arbuscular mycorrhizal [21]		Change in root mass, length, or architecture.
Orchids	Cymbidium mosaic/ odontoglossumringspot [3]			Leaves and flowers with necrotic chlorotic stains, growth inhibition color break in flow as and spots yellowing on leaves
Pear plants			Erwinia amylovora [107]	Wilt and blackening twigs, flowers, and leaves
Pepper plant		Oidivm neolycopersici [32]		Chlorosis and white powdery lesions on the leaves Rapid aging and reduction in the size and quality of the fruit
Plantsap samples			Xanthomonas axonopodis [36]	Fruit stains, leaf falls and fruit tree decline
Potato	Leafroll virus [107]	Phytophthora infestans [104, 126]		Tuber is stunted and erect. Rigid, curled leaves. Leaves like brownish-purple oily patches. Leaves with grayish white mycelium rings and spores
Scots pine		Mycorrhizal colonization [99]		Change in root mass, length, or architecture
Stone fruit trees	Plum Pox			Leaves with stains or chlorotic rings, unblocking of veins. Deformed fruits

(continued)

Culture	Virus	Fungi	Bacteria	Symptoms
Strawberry		Rhizopus sp. and Aspergillus sp. section Nigri/P. cactorum		Grayish color for Rhizopus and black appearance at Aspergillus infected fruit & Leaf size reduction and decreased productivity
Tabaco	Tobacco mosaic virus [25]	Yellow leaf curl virus [104]		Leaf with chlorine or mosaic with white to light green color
Tomato crops	Yellow leaf curl virus [98]	Oidium lycopersicum/ Phytophthora infestans [66]		Infected leaves are small, yellow in color and curve upwards. Leaves, petioles, and stems have lions superficial with white powdery. Desiccation, necrosis, and

Table 1 (continued)

Carbon nanotubes help it bind nitrogen from ammonia and release hydrogen ions. Thus, the nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) uptake of the plant can be improved [123, 124]. In addition, the fast electron transfer of the carbon element is preferred in bio-nanosensor applications due to the larger length/diameter ratio of the nanotube structure. CNTs are particularly sensitive in the identification of phenolic compounds [9, 125].

Au NPs are frequently used in the diagnosis and treatment of pathogens [44]. Thanks to its optical properties, it is widely used as a targeting agent. Au NPs functionalized with DNA, enzymes, proteins, or other biomolecules play an important role in inhibiting and destroying phytopathogens [47]. DNA-based biosensors are analytical tools used for the detection of sequence-specific DNA in plant pathogens. These tools are widely used due to their rapid production, cost-effectiveness, and sensitive and fast results. The use of AuNPs in DNA biosensor design provides rapid DNA hybridization by immobilization of DNA on the probe electrode and aids in the labeling of pathogens [96]. In one study, Colloidal AuNPs were used to label single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) specific to the bacterium *Acidovorax citrulli*, which causes fruit spots. For this purpose, a Strip-based DNA sensor was designed for the detection of pathogenic bacteria. With the designed biosensor, an analysis system

sensitive enough to detect 4 nm target DNA was obtained [129] In the diagnosis of *Pseudomonas syringae* bacteria, which causes serious damage especially in crop plants, colorimetric detection of pathogenic DNA molecules was achieved by using AuNP-based DNA probes. In this way, when AuNPs specifically targeted to the bacteria of interest were hybridized with the target DNA, the color of the sensor changed from red to purple.

Silver NPs can inhibit plant pathogens quickly and effectively. When the studies were examined, it was seen that effective results were obtained on plant pathogens due to the high antibacterial/antifungal activity of Ag NPs [20]. In the studies carried out for the inhibition of *Cochliobolus sativus* and *Magnaporthe grisea* fungi on *Lolium perenne*, both the ionic form and the nano form of silver were investigated. It has been proven that nano-sized silver has a higher antifungal effect than its ionic form. In another study, the effect of silver NP concentration on pathogens was investigated. It has been determined that the application of 100 ppm Ag NP before and after the disease appears plays an important role in controlling plant diseases [55].

ZnO NPs are metal oxide NPs that are often preferred because of their biocompatibility, high stability, low toxicity, and less cost compared to plasmonic NPs [85]. ZnO NPs were used to combat *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv.oryzae, a highly contagious pathogen. *Paenibacillus polymyxa* bacterial strain was used as reducing agent in NP synthesis [75]. In the study, positive results were obtained in the leaf blight disease seen on the leaves of the rice plant. Aqueous extraction of leaves of Mentha spicata plant was used as reducing agent in green synthesis of ZnO NPs. Spherical NPs in the range of 10–90 nm were synthesized and its anti-viral activity against Tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) were investigated and successful results were obtained [1].

With the nanoencapsulation method of all chemicals used on plants, structures that allow the slow release of active ingredients are being developed [94]. In this context, by changing the solubility ratio of nanocapsule structures in aqueous media, the mixing ratio of active components in water and soil can be controlled. In a study, nano capsule surface design was made using poly(ethylene)glycol polymer. With this structure, a controlled release (CR) is made, allowing the active ingredients to be effective on plant pathogens for a long time. In another study, carbon nanotubecitric acid (MWCNT-g-PCA) combined multilayer capsule design was created. This capsule design was studied on the fungus *Alternaria alternata*. With this design, inhibition of *Alternaria alternata* was achieved much faster and more effectively than in bulk pesticide applications [101].

5 Use of Nanomaterials for Detection and Identification of Plant Pathogens

For rapid plant pathogen detection, many molecular analysis methods have been developed. However, these methods are generally high cost, slow, equipment and operator-requiring applications [61]. In the detection of plant pathogens, on-site and

rapid analysis methods are generally advantageous in terms of application. For this reason, the existence of fast and efficient analysis methods at nano scale is important [22]. There are many studies in the literature for this purpose. Microneedle applications, nano-barcoding systems, nano-biosensors, miRNA-based nano diagnosis/ array-based nano-sensors, nano-diagnostic apparatus are recommended for plant pathogen diagnosis [102].

In a study, easy and effective detection of *Phytoptera infestans*, which is common in potatoes and tomatoes, was reported using a polymer-based microneedle patch approach [90]. In another study, a sensor system was reported in which plant pathogens were detected quickly by using microneedle patch application. In the application, the plant leaf was compressed in the sensor and quickly extracted. The obtained DNA and RNA samples were compared with the reference samples to provide the diagnosis. In this sensor application, the diagnosis process can be completed in 30 min in a phone application in coordination with the microneedle patch system [89] (Fig. 5).

Another application developed for the rapid and effective detection of plant pathogens is the nano-barcoding system. This method is extremely efficient for the identification of specific enzyme-free proteins and nucleic acids. Compared to traditional ELISA based applications, it can give extremely sensitive results at low intensity [77]. In a study, it has been shown that the target protein can be quickly taken from the plant and analyzed with oligonucleotide-modified magnetic Au NPs (Au-MNPs). This study shows promise in terms of enabling rapid detection of sample DNA by optimizing other protein targets to the system [35].

Another method used in rapid diagnosis and diagnosis of pathogens is nanosensors. Rapid and early detection of plant pathogens is possible with nano-bio sensors



Fig. 5 An integrated MN-smartphone microneedle amplification platform [89]

designed using especially metallic NPs, carbon nanotubes, and quantum dots [69]. In plant infections, the defects caused by bacterial and fungal microorganisms can be detected early and precautions can be taken with nanosensors containing microfluidics [8]. In a study conducted for this purpose, Aspergillus Ochraceus could be detected early with an immunoelectrode system designed with chitosan-doped SiO_2 NP. A sensor that detects zearalenone produced by the fungus Fusarium Oxysporum in a fast and sensitive way has been reported. In addition to these, a nanosensor was designed with layered nanocarbon structures to quickly detect zearalenone mycotoxin in corn silages. In another study, an electrochemical immune sensor design that detects Aflatoxin M1 (AFM1) produced by the mold fungus Aspergillus flavus at very low concentrations (up to 0.01 ppb) has been reported [41]. In another study, a PCR technique applied together with AuNP-based lateral flow assay (LFA) was proposed for the detection of *P. infestans* fungus in potato plant. In the study, asymmetric PCR technique was applied to obtain a large amount of ssDNA, then the prepared sample was compacted by sandwich hybridization in LFA. In the presence of pathogen DNA, the AuNP probe on the test line of LFA turned red with the accumulation of target DNA on the kit. Afterward, the sensitivity of the kit was investigated by changing the ssDNA density. As a result of the study, it was shown that the hybrid sandwich kit prepared could detect the pathogen at the level of 0.1 pg/L [126].

A fast and portable colorimetric sensor was designed for the detection of *Aspergillus niger* fungus using Au NPs modified with a specific binding peptide ligand (Fig. 6). In this colorimetric sensor, rapid binding of *A. Niger* spores to Au NPs was achieved with peptide ligand. Upon binding of the peptide with spores, Au NPs coagulate, and a color change is observed in the separated supernatant. This design is simultaneously linked to a phone application. At the same time, it gives results up to 50 spores precision in less than 10 min.

The use of microfluidic techniques for the detection of plant pathogens is quite common in the literature [62].

The use of microfluidic devices with other plant pathogen detection systems is possible in device design. In a study, a microfluidic device design used in the diagnosis of viruses is presented. A microfluidic device was designed using an embedded optical fiber system and polydimethylsiloxane polymer. It was then tested using the leaves and flowers of the *Phalaenopsis amabilis* plant. With its RNA isolation and purification feature, this device can detect viruses quickly and instantly [54].

6 Conclusion and Future Remarks

In conclusion, NMs have shown great potential for rapid identification of agriculturally important plant pathogens. Biosensors, microneedle analysis kits, and many more metal oxide NP-based systems have been used to provide fast, simple, and highly sensitive tools to diagnose plant diseases. However, while these techniques show great promise, much work remains to be done to fully realize the potential of NMs for the rapid identification of plant disease pathogens. For example, many



Fig. 6 Detection system and colorimetric sensor of ASBP modified Au NPs (ASBP-AuNPs) via UV/Vis spectroscopy or smartphone-based image analysis [62]

of these techniques are still in the early stages of development and require further refinement and optimization. In addition, there are some challenges that need to be addressed, such as the potential toxicity of NPs and the cost of commercialization.

In the future, we are likely to see continued progress in the development and application of NMs for rapid identification of agriculturally important plant pathogens. As these techniques become more widely adopted, they have the potential to significantly impact the way we detect and control plant diseases, helping to protect crops, reduce crop losses, and improve food security. In addition, the destruction of used diagnostic kits poses a great environmental threat. There is no comprehensive study for the destruction of NPs and quantum dots contained in sensors. On the other hand, considering the one-time use of the kits and the environmental pollution caused by the content, as well as the costs during production, it is thought that it will cause serious economic losses.

References

- Abdelkhalek A, Al-Askar A (2020) Green synthesized ZnO nanoparticles mediated by Mentha spicata extract induce plant systemic resistance against Tobacco mosaic virus. Appl Sci 10(15):5054
- Adeel M, Farooq T, White JC, Hao Y, He Z, Rui Y (2021) Carbon-based nanomaterials suppress tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) infection and induce resistance in nicotiana benthamiana. J Hazard Mater 404:124167
- Afzal A, Mujahid A, Schirhagl R, Bajwa SZ, Latif U, Feroz S (2017) Gravimetric viral diagnostics: QCM based biosensors for early detection of viruses. Chemosensors 5:1–25

- 4. Altinsoy BD, Karatoprak GŞ, Ocsoy I (2019) Extracellular directed ag NPs formation and investigation of their antimicrobial and cytotoxic properties. Saudi Pharm J 27(1):9–16
- Andrews JH, Harris RF (2000) The ecology and biogeography of microorganisms on plant surfaces. Annu Rev Phytopathol 38(1):145–180
- Ankamwar B, Damle C, Ahmad A, Sastry M (2005) Biosynthesis of gold and silver nanoparticles using Emblica officinalis fruit extract and their phase transfer and transmetallation in an organic solution. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 5(10):1665–1671
- Azzaroni O (2012) Polymer brushes here, there, and everywhere: recent advances in their practical applications and emerging opportunities in multiple research fields. J Polym Sci Part A 50:3225–3258
- Baeumner A (2004) Nanosensors identify pathogens in food. Food Technol (Chic) 58(8):51– 55
- 9. Balasubramanian K, Burghard M (2006) Biosensors based on carbon nanotubes. Anal Bioanal Chem 385(3):452–468
- Bernardo P, Charles-Dominique T, Barakat M, Ortet P, Fernandez E, Filloux D, Hartnady P, Rebelo TA, Cousins SR, Mesleard F, Cohez D, Yavercovski N, Varsani A, Harkins GW, Peterschmitt M, Malmstrom CM, Martin DP, Roumagnac P (2018) Geometagenomics illuminates the impact of agriculture on the distribution and prevalence of plant viruses at the ecosystem scale. ISME J 12(1):173–184
- 11. Bruchez Jr M, Moronne M, Gin P, Weiss S, Alivisatos AP (1998) Semiconductor nanocrystals as fluorescent biological labels. Science 281(5385):2013–2016
- Buonaurio R (2008) Infection and plant defense responses during plant-bacterial interaction. Plant-Microbe Interact 169–197
- 13. Capture of gold nanoparticles by chimeric phages. ACS Nano 13:1244-1252
- Cardoso RM, Pereira TS, Facure MH, dos Santos DM, Mercante LA, Mattoso LH, Correa DS (2022) Current progress in plant pathogen detection enabled by nanomaterials-based (bio) sensors. Sens Actuators Rep 4:100068
- 15. Cavieres LA, Quiroz CL, Molina-Montenegro MA, Muñoz AA, Pauchard A (2005) Nurse effect of the native cushion plant Azorella monantha on the invasive non-native Taraxacum officinale in the high-Andes of central Chile. Perspect Plant Ecol Evol Syst 7(3):217–226
- Cedervall T, Lynch I, Lindman S, Berggart T, Thulin E, Nilsson H, Dawson KA, Linde S (2007) Understanding the nanoparticle–protein corona using methods to quantify exchange rates and affinities of proteins for nanoparticles. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104(7):2050–2055
- Cellini AE, Biondi S, Blasioli L, Rocchi B, Farneti I, Braschi S, Savioli M, T. Rodriguez-Estrada F, Biasioli F (2016) Spinelli, early detection of bacterial diseases in apple plants by analysis of volatile organic compounds profiles and use of electronic nose. Ann Appl Biol 168:409–420
- Chalupowicz L, Dombrovsky A, Gaba V, Luria N, Reuven M, Beerman A, Manulis-Sasson S (2019) Diagnosis of plant diseases using the nanopore sequencing platform. Plant Pathol 68(2):229–238
- Cheon J, Kang NJ, Lee SM, Lee JH, Yoon JH, Oh S (2004) Shape evolution of singlecrystalline iron oxide nanocrystals. J Am Chem Soc 126:1950–1951
- 20. Clement Julia L, Penelope SJ (1994) Antibacterial silver. Met-Based Drugs 1(5-6):467-482
- Cseresnyés I, Takács T, Végh KR, Anton A, Rajkai K (2013) Electrical impedance and capacitance method: a new approach for detection of functional aspects of arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization in maize. Eur J Soil Biol 54:25–31
- Debnath K (2013) Conway, gordon one billion hungry: can we feed the world? Agric Econ Cornell University Press. pp 738–740
- 23. Demirbas A, Buyukbezirci K, Celik C, Kislakci E, Karaagac Z, Gokturk E, Ocsoy I (2019a) Synthesis of long-term stable gold nanoparticles benefiting from red raspberry (Rubus idaeus), strawberry (Fragaria ananassa), and blackberry (Rubus fruticosus) extracts-gold ion complexation and investigation of reaction conditions. ACS Omega 4:18637–18644
- 24. Demirbas A, Kislakci E, Karaagac Z, Onal I, Ildiz N, Ocsoy I (2019b) Preparation of biocompatible and stable iron oxide nanoparticles using anthocyanin integrated hydrothermal method and their antimicrobial and antioxidant properties. Mater Res Express 6(12):125011

- Dickert FL, Hayden O, Bindeus R, Mann KJ, Blaas D, Waigmann E (2004) Bioimprinted QCM sensors for virus detection-screening of plant sap. Anal Bioanal Chem 378:1929–1934
- Dreaden EC, Alkilany AM, Huang X, Murphy CJ, El-Sayed MA (2012) The golden age: gold nanoparticles for biomedicine. Chem Soc Rev 41(7):2740–2779
- 27. Elsharkawy MM, Mousa KM (2015) Induction of systemic resistance against papaya ring spot virus (Prsv) and its vector myzus persicae by penicillium simplicissimum Gp17–2 and silica (Sio2) nanopowder. Int J Pest Manag 61(4):353–358
- Fisher MC, Gurr SJ, Cuomo CA, Blehert DS, Jin H, Stukenbrock EH, Stajich JE, Kahmann R, Boone C, Denning DW (2020) Threats posed by the fungal kingdom to humans, wildlife, and agriculture. MBio 11:e00449–e520
- 29. Francis D, Finer JJ, Grotewold E (2017) Challenges and opportunities for improving food quality and nutrition through plant biotechnology. Curr Opin Biotechnol 44:124–129
- French RK (2020) Holmes EC (2020) an ecosystems perspective on virus evolution and emergence. Trends Microbiol 28(3):165–175
- Fuchs M, Tricoli D, Carney KJ, Schesser M, McFerson JR, Gonsalves D (1998) Comparative virus resistance and fruit yield of transgenic squash with single and multiple coat protein genes. Plant Dis 82(12):1350–1356
- Ghaffari R, Laothawornkitkul L, Iliescu D, Hines E, Leeson M, Napier R, Moore P, Paul ND, Hewitt CN, Taylor JE (2012) Plant pest and disease diagnosis using electronic nose and support vector machine approach. J Plant Dis Prot 119:200–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF0 3356442
- 33. Ghaffari R, Zhang F, Iliescu D, Hines E, Leeson M, Napier R, Clarkson J (2010) Early detection of diseases in tomato crops: an electronic nose and intelligent systems approach. In: International joint conference neural networks, pp 1–6
- 34. Goldbach R (1998) All you wanted to know about plant virus control. Trends Plant Sci 3(12):490
- Goluch ED, Nam JM, Georganopoulou DG, Chiesl TN, Shaikh KA, Ryu KS, Liu C (2006) A bio-barcode assay for on-chip attomolar-sensitivity protein detection. Lab Chip 6(10):1293– 1299
- Haji-Hashemi H, Norouzi P, Safarnejad MR, Larijani B, Habibi MM, Raeisi H, Ganjali MR (2018) Sensitive electrochemical immunosensor for citrus bacterial canker disease detection using fast fourier transformation square-wave voltammetry method. J Electroanal Chem 820:111–117
- Hamed Derbalah AS, Elsharkawy MM (2019) A new strategy to control cucumber mosaic virus using fabricated nio-nanostructures. J Biotechnol 306:134–141
- Hao Y, Yuan W, Ma C, White JC, Zhang Z, Adeel M, Zhou T, Rui Y, Xing B (2018) Engineered nanomaterials suppress turnip mosaic virus infection in tobacco (Nicotiana Benthamiana). Environ Sci Nano 5(7):1685–1693
- 39. Hariharan G, Prasannath K (2021) Recent advances in molecular diagnostics of fungal plant pathogens: a mini review. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 10:829
- Hazarika SR, Choudhury B, Montazer S, Medhi MP, Goswami U (2020) Detection of citrus tristeza virus in mandarin orange using a custom-developed electronic nose system. IEEE Trans Instrum Meas 69:9010–9018
- 41. Hervas M, Lopez MA, Escarpa A (2011) Integrated electrokinetic magnetic beadbased
- 42. Hochella MF Jr, Spencer MG, Jones KL (2015) Nanotechnology: nature's gift or scientists brainchild. Environ Sci Nano 2:114–119
- 43. Hogenhout SA, Ammar ED, Whitfield AE, Redinbaugh MG (2008) Insect vector interactions with persistently transmitted viruses. Annu Rev Phytopathol 46(1):327–359
- Husen A, Jawaid M (2020) Nanomaterials for agriculture and forestry applications. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. ISBN:9780128178522
- 45. Hyeon T (2003) Chemical synthesis of magnetic nanoparticles. Chem Commun 2003:927-934
- Iqbal Z, Khan MA, Sharif M, Shah JH, Javed K (2018) An automated detection and classification of citrus plant diseases using image processing techniques: a review. Comput Electron Agric 153:12–32

- 47. Jain K (2003) Nanodiagnostics: application of Nanotechnology (NT) in molecular diagnostics. Expert Rev Mol Diagn (2):153–161
- Kaminski J, Christiaensen L (2014) Post-harvest loss in sub-Saharan Africa—What do farmers say? Glob Food Sec 3(3–4):149–158
- 49. Karaagac Z, Onal I, Ildiz N, Ocsoy I (2020a) Simultaneous use of phenylboronic acid as a phase transfer agent and targeting ligand for gold nanoparticles. Mater Lett 280:128561
- 50. Karaagac Z, Yusufbeyoglu S, Ildiz N, Sellami H, Ocsoy I (2021a) A facile and one-pot aqueous phase transfer of oleylamine capped Au NP with aminophenylboronic acid used as transfer and targeting ligand. Enzyme Microb Technol 148:109810
- Karaagac Z, Gul OT, Ildiz N, Ocsoy I (2020c) Transfer of hydrophobic colloidal gold nanoparticles to aqueous phase using catecholamines. J Mol Liq 315:113796
- 52. Karaagac Z (2022) Investigation of the transfer of hydrophobic nanoparticles to the aqueous phase and biomedical applications by green chemistry, Doctoral thesis, Erciyes University, p 10
- Karaagac Z, Dadi S, Ekrikaya S, Ocsoy I (2021b) Plant extract guided nanomaterials and plant disease management. In: Nanotechnology in sustainable agriculture. CRC Press, pp 271–290
- Khan SM, Shaikh SF, Qaiser N, Hussain MM (2018) Flexible lightweight CMOS-enabled multisensory platform for plant microclimate monitoring. IEEE Trans Electron Devices 65(11):5038–5044
- Kim SW, Jung JH, Lamsal K, Kim YS, Min JS, Lee YS (2012) Antifungal effects of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) against various plant pathogenic fungi. Mycobiology 40(1):53–58
- Koca F, Demirezen D, Yilmaz D, Yilmaz E, Ocsoy I (2020) Green synthesis of allicin based hybrid nanoflowers with evaluation of their catalytic and antimicrobial activities. Biotechnol Lett 1–8
- 57. Kumar D, Kalita P (2017) Reducing postharvest losses during storage of grain crops to strengthen food security in developing countries. Foods 6(1):8
- 58. Kumar VA, Uchida T, Mizuki T, Nakajima Y, Katsube Y, Hanajiri T, Maekawa T (2016) Synthesis of nanoparticles composed of silver and silver chloride for a plasmonic photocatalyst using an extract from a weed Solidago altissima (goldenrod). Adv Nat Sci: Nanosci Nanotechnol 7(1):015002
- Künstler A, Bacsó R, Albert R, Barna B, Király Z, Hafez YM, Király L (2018) Superoxide (O2-) accumulation contributes to symptomless (type I) nonhost resistance of plants to biotrophic pathogens. Plant Physiol Biochem 128:115–125
- LaMer VK, Dinegar RH (1950) Theory, production and mechanism of formation of monodispersed hydrosols. J Am Chem Soc 72(11):4847–4854
- 61. Leake JR, Donnelly DP, Boddy L (2002) Interactions between ecto-mycorrhizal and
- Lee JI, Jang SC, Chung J, Choi WK, Hong C, Ahn GR, Chung WJ (2021) Colorimetric allergenic fungal spore detection using peptide-modified gold nanoparticles. Sens Actuators B Chem 327:128894
- Leff DV, Brandt L, Heath JR (1996) Synthesis and characterization of hydrophobic, organically-soluble gold nanocrystals functionalized with primary amines. Langmuir 12:4723–4730
- 64. Leng Y, Fu L, Ye L, Li B, Xu X, Xing X, Ji X (2016) Protein-directed synthesis of highly monodispersed, spherical gold nanoparticles and their applications in multidimensional sensing. Sci Rep 6:28900
- 65. Li C, Chen T, Ocsoy I, Zhu G, Yasun E, You M, Wu C, Zheng J, Song E, Huang CZ, Tan W (2013) Gold-coated Fe₃O₄ nanoroses with five unique functions for cancer cell targeting, imaging, and therapy. Adv Func Mater 24(12):1772–1780
- 66. Li Z, Paul R, Ba T, Saville TAC, Hansel JC, Yu T, Ristaino JB, Wei Q (2019) Non-invasive plant disease diagnostics enabled by smartphone-based fingerprinting of leaf volatiles. Nat Plants 5:856–866
- Lopez-Soriano P, Noguera P, Gorris MT, Puchades R, Maquieira A, Marco-Noales E, López MM (2017) Lateral flow immunoassay for on-site detection of Xanthomonas arboricola pv. pruni in symptomatic field samples. Plos One 12(04):e0176201

- Lu AH, Salabas EL, Schüth F (2007) Magnetic nanoparticles: synthesis, protection, functionalization, and application. Angew Chem 119:1242–1266
- Malhotra BD, Srivastava S, Ali M, Singh C (2014) Nanomaterial-based biosensors for food toxin detection. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 174(3):880–896
- Mansky P, Liu Y, Huang E, Russell TP, Hawker C (1997) Controlling polymer-surface interactions with random copolymer brushes. Science 275:1458–1460
- 71. Microneedle-smartphone nucleic acid amplification platform for in-field diagnosis of
- Millenbaugh NJ, DeSilva M, Baskin J, Elliot WR (2014) Method of using laser induced optoacoustics for the treatment of drug resistant microbial infection. Patent Appl Pub 1–5
- Mitter N, Worrall E, Robinson K, Li P, Jain R, Taochy C, Fletcher S, Carroll B, Lu G, Xu Z (2017) Clay nanosheets for topical delivery of rnai for sustained protection against plant viruses. Nat Plants 3:16207
- 74. Mohamed M (2017) Antibacterial effect of gold nanoparticles against Corynebacterium pseudotuberculosis. Int J Vet Sci Med 5(1):23–29
- Mokammel MA, Islam MJ, Hasanuzzaman M, Hashmi MSJ (2022) Nanoscale materials for self-cleaning and antibacterial applications. M.S.J 224–315
- 76. Moreno-Pérez A, Pintado A, Murillo J, Caballo-Ponce E, Tegli S, Moretti C, Ramos C (2020) Host range determinants of pseudomonas savastanoi pathovars of woody hosts revealed by comparative genomics and cross-pathogenicity tests. Front Plant Sci 11:973
- Nam J, Savka I, Stoeva I, Mirkin CA (2004) Bio-bar-code-based DNA detection with PCR-like sensitivity. J Am Chem Soc 126(19):5932–5933
- Ocsoy I, Gulbakan B, Chen T, Zhu G, Chen Z, Sari MM, Peng L, Xiong X, Tan W (2013b) DNA-guided-metal nanoparticle formation on graphene oxide surface. Adv Mater 25(16):2319–2325
- 79. Ocsoy I, Isiklan N, Cansiz S, Ozdemir N, Tan W (2016) ICG Conjugated magnetic graphene oxide for dual photothermal and photodynamic therapy. RSC Adv 6:30285–30292
- Ocsoy I, Ocsoy MA, Yasun E, Tan W (2013c) Nucleic acid-functionalized nanomaterials. Nano Life 3(1):1340004
- Ocsoy I, Paret ML, Ocsoy M, Kunwar S, Chen T, You M, Tan W (2013a) Nanotechnology in plant disease management: DNA-directed silver nanoparticles on graphene oxide as an antibacterial against xanthomonas perforans. ACS Nano 7(10):8972–8980
- Ocsoy I, Tasdemir D, Mazicioglu S, Celik C, Katı A, Ulgen F (2018b) Biomolecules incorporated metallic nanoparticles synthesis and their biomedical applications. Mater Lett 212:45–50
- Ocsoy I, Tasdemir D, Mazicioglu S, Tan W (2018a). Nanotechnology in plants. In: Varshney R, Pandey M, Chitikineni A (eds) Plant genetics and molecular biology. advances in biochemical engineering/biotechnology, vol 164. Springer, Champ, pp 273–275
- Ocsoy I, Yusufbeyoglu S, Yılmaz V, McLamore ES, Ildız N, Ulgen A (2017) DNA aptamer functionalized gold nanostructures for molecular recognition and photothermal inactivation of methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus. Colloids Surf B 159:16–22
- Ogunyemi SO (2020) The bio-synthesis of three metal oxide nanoparticles (ZnO, MnO2, and MgO) and their antibacterial activity against the bacterial leaf blight pathogen. Front Microbiol 3099
- Owen J (2015) Nanocrystal structure. The coordination chemistry of nanocrystal surfaces. Science 347:615–616
- Park HJ, Kim SH, Kim HJ, Choi SH (2006) A new composition of nanosized silica silver for control of various plant diseases. Plant Pathol J 22(3):295–302
- Park J, Joo J, Kwon S, Jang Y, Hyeon T (2007) Large-scale nonhydrolytic sol-gel synthesis of uniform-sized ceria nanocrystals with spherical, wire, and tadpole shapes. Angew Chem Int Ed 46:4630–4660
- Paul R, Ostermann E, Chen Y, Saville AC, Yang Y, Gu Z, Wei Q (2021) Integrated microneedlesmartphone nucleic acid amplification platform for in-field diagnosis of plant diseases. Biosens Bioelectron 187:113312

- Paul R, Saville AC, Hansel JC, Ye Y, Ball C, Williams A, Wei Q (2019) Extraction of plant DNA by microneedle patch for rapid detection of plant diseases. ACS Nano 13(6):6540–6549
- Pazi I, Kucuksezgin F, Kacar A, Gonul LT (2016) Assessment of the effect of environmental pollution in a marina on caged mussels using chemical and genotoxic analysis. Chem Ecol 32(8):756–773
- 92. Peng H, Chen IA (2019) Rapid colorimetric detection of bacterial species through the
- Peng L, You M, Wu C, Han D, Ocsoy I, Chen T, Chen Z, Tan W (2014) Reversible phase transfer of nanoparticles based on photoswitchable host-guest chemistry. ACS Nano 8(3):2555–2561
- 94. Perlatti B, de Souza Bergo PL, da Silva MF (2013) Polymeric nanoparticle-based insecticides: a controlled release purpose for agrochemicals, insecticides. In: Trdan S (ed) Insecticides: development of safer and more effective technologies. InTech, Rijeka, pp 523–550
- 95. Permitted levels of zearalenone in infant foods. Analyst 136(10):2131-2138
- Pingarrón JM, Yáñez-Sedeño P, González-Cortés A (2008) Gold nanoparticle-based electrochemical biosensors. Electrochim Acta 53:5848–5866
- 97. Plant diseases. Biosens Bioelectron 187:113312
- Razmi A, Golestanipour M, Nikkhah A, Bagheri M, Shamsbakhsh S (2019) Localized surface plasmon resonance biosensing o tomato yellow leaf curl virus. J Virol Methods 267:1–7
- Repo T, Korhonen A, Laukkanen M, Lehto T, Silvennoinen R (2014) Detecting mycorrhizal colonisation in Scots pine roots using electrical impedance spectra. Biosyst Eng 121:139–149
- 100. Saprotrophic Fungi. In: van der Heijden MGA, Sanders IR (eds) Mycorrhizal
- 101. Sarlak N, Taherifar A, Salehi F (2014) Synthesis of nanopesticides by encapsulating pesticide nanoparticles using functionalized carbon nanotubes and application of new nanocomposite for plant disease treatment. J Agric Food Chem 62:4833–4838
- 102. Shivashakarappa K, Reddy V, Tupakula VK, Farnian A, Vuppula A, Gunnaiah R (2022) Nanotechnology for the detection of plant pathogens. Plant Nano Biol 100018
- Skorvánek I, Handley O (1995) Fine-particle magnetism in nanocrystalline Fe Cu Nb Si B at elevated temperatures R. C. J Magn Magn Mater 140–144:467–468
- Skottrup P, Nicolaisen M, Justesen AF (2007) Rapid determination of Phytophthora infestans sporangia using a surface plasmon resonance immunosensor. J Microbiol Methods 68:507– 515
- 105. Some S, Bulut O, Biswas K, Kumar A, Roy A, Sen I K, Das S (2019) Effect of feed supplementation with biosynthesized silver nanoparticles using leaf extract of Morus indica L. V1 on Bombyx mori L. (Lepidoptera: Bombycidae). Sci Rep 9(1):1–13
- Sperling RA, Parak WJ (2010) Surface modification, functionalization and bioconjugation of colloidal inorganic nanoparticles. Philos Trans R Soc A: Math Phys Eng Sci 368(1915):1333– 1383
- 107. Spinelli F, Noferini M, Vanneste JL, Costa G (2010) Potential of the electronic-nose for the diagnosis of bacterial and fungal diseases in fruit trees. EPPO Bull 40:59–67
- Stenkamp VS, McGuiggan P, Berg JC (2001) Restabilization of electrosterically stabilized colloids in high salt media. Langmuir 17:637–651
- Strange RN, Scott PR (2015) Plant disease: a threat to global food security. Annu Rev Phytopathol 43:83–116
- Thomas D (2010) Design of multifunctional magnetic nanomaterials for biomedical applications. Dipl Chem 18:65–66
- 111. Tran TT, Clark K, Ma W, Mulchandani (2020) A detection of a secreted protein biomarker for citrus Huanglongbing using a single-walled carbon nanotubes-based chemiresistive biosensor. Biosens Bioelectron 147:111766
- 112. Tromsdorf UI, Bigall NC, Kaul MG, Bruns OT, Nikolic MS, Mollwitz B, Sperling RA, Reimer R, Hohenberg H, Parak WJ, Forster S, Beisiegel U, Adam G, Weller H (2007) Size and surface effects on the MRI relaxivity of manganese ferrite nanoparticle contrast agents. Nano Lett 7:2422–2427
- 113. Turek D, Van Simaeys D, Johnson J, Ocsoy I, Tan W (2013) Molecular recognition of live methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus cells using DNA aptamers. World J Transl Med 2(3):67–74

- 114. Unal I, Demirbas A, Onal I, Ildiz N, Ocsoy I (2020) One step preparation of stable gold nanoparticle using red cabbage extracts under UV light and its catalytic activity. J Photochem Photobiol B 204:111800
- 115. Vaseghi A, Safai N, Bakhshinejad B, Mohsenifar A, Sadeghizadeh M (2013) Detection of Pseudomonas syringae pathovars by thiol-linked DNA-gold nanoparticle probes. Sens Actuators B Chem 181:644–651
- Vo DQ, Kim EJ, Kim S (2009) Surface modification of hydrophobic nanocrystals using short-chain carboxylic acids. J Colloid Interface Sci 337:75–80
- 117. Wei H, Wang Z, Zhang J, House S, Gao YG, Yang L, Robertson IM (2011) Time-dependent, protein-directed growth of gold nanoparticles within a single crystal of lysozyme. Nat Nanotechnol 6(2):93
- 118. Wei S, Sun Y, Xi G, Zhang H, Xiao M, Yin R (2018) Development of a single-tube nested PCR-lateral flow biosensor assay for rapid and accurate detection of Alternaria panax Whetz. Plos One 13:1–11
- 119. Weisbecker CS, Merritt MV, Whitesides GM (1996) Molecular self-assembly of aliphatic thiols on gold colloids. Langmuir 12:3763–3772
- West JL, Naomi JH (2020) Applications of nanotechnology to biotechnology: commentary. Curr Opin Biotechnol 11(2):215–217
- 121. Wirges CT, Timper J, Fischler M, Sologubenko AS, Mayer J, Simon U, Carell T (2009) Controlled nucleation of DNA metallization. Angew Chem Int Ed 48(1):219–223
- 122. Wischerhoff E, Uhlig K, Lankenau A, Börner HG, Laschewsky A, Duschl C, Lutz JF (2008) Controlled cell adhesion on PEG-based switchable surfaces. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:5666– 5668
- 123. Wu M-Y, Ruo-chao H, Xiao-hai T, Xiao-ling W, Guo-hui M, Hai-tao T (2010) Effect of adding nano-carbon in slow release fertilizer on grain yield and nitrogen use efficiency of super hybrid rice. Hybrid Rice 4:034
- 124. Wu M-Y (2013) Effects of incorporation of nano-carbon into slow-released fertilizer on rice yield and nitrogen loss in surface water of paddy soil. In: Third international conference on intelligent system design and engineering applications. IEEE, Geneva, pp 676–681
- 125. Yu X, Chattopadhyay D, Galeska I, Papadimitrakopoulos F, Rusling JF (2003) Peroxidase activity of enzymes bound to the ends of single-wall carbon nanotube forest electrodes. Electrochem Commun 5(5):408–411 (Zhang CY, Yeh HC, Kuroki)
- 126. Zhan F, Wang T, Iradukunda L, Zhan J (2018) A gold nanoparticle-based lateral flow biosensor for sensitive visual detection of the potato late blight pathogen, phytophthora infestans. Anal Chim Acta 1036:153–161
- 127. Zhang Y, Chen Y, Han D, Ocsoy I, Tan W (2010) Aptamers selected by cell-SELEX for application in cancer studies. Bioanalysis 2(5):907–918
- Zhao W, Lu J, Ma W, Xu C, Kuang H, Zhu S (2011) Rapid on-site detection of Acidovorax avenae subsp. Citrulli by gold-labeled DNA strip sensor. Biosens Bioelectron 26:4241–4244
- 129. Zhitenev NB, Sidorenko A, Tennant DM, Cirelli RA (2007) Chemical modification of the electronic conducting states in polymer nanodevices. Nat Nanotechnol 2:237–242
- 130. Zhou M, Li D, Li Z, Hu Q, Yang C, Zhu L, Luo H (2013) Constitutive expression of a miR319 gene alters plant development and enhances salt and drought tolerance in transgenic creeping bentgrass. Plant Physiol 161(3):1375–1391

Emerging Role of Nanotechnology-Based Devices for Detection of Environmental Contaminants



Deepyaman Das, Dipraj Chakraborty, and Suman Barman

Abstract Nanotechnology has opened up new possibilities for detecting and monitoring environmental pollutants. Nanodevices, which are devices at the nanoscale level, have emerged as a promising tool for pollution detection due to their unique physical and chemical properties. Nanodevices can be designed to detect a wide range of pollutants such as heavy metals, organic compounds, and gases. They offer several advantages over conventional detection methods such as high sensitivity, selectivity, and specificity. Additionally, they are small, portable, and cost-effective, making them ideal for field-based monitoring of pollution. One of the most promising applications of nanodevices for pollution detection is in water quality monitoring. For example, researchers have developed nanodevices that can detect heavy metals in water at very low concentrations. These nanodevices work by binding to the heavy metal ions, producing a measurable electrical signal that indicates the presence and concentration of the pollutant. Nanodevices are also being used to monitor air quality by detecting harmful gases such as nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide, and sulfur dioxide. These nanodevices are designed to be small and lightweight, making them ideal for integration into portable air monitoring devices. In conclusion, nanodevices are emerging as a powerful tool for pollution detection and monitoring. They offer high sensitivity, selectivity, and specificity, and can be designed to detect a wide range of pollutants. As the technology continues to advance, nanodevices are likely to play an increasingly important role in protecting the environment and human health. In this chapter, we discuss the emerging roles of gold, silver, copper, and titanium nanoparticles-based nanodevices that are being used for pollutant detection.

D. Chakraborty · S. Barman

Department of Zoology, Raiganj University, Raiganj, Uttar Dinajpur, West Bengal 733134, India

D. Das (🖂)

Department of Microbiology, Raiganj University, Raiganj, Uttar Dinajpur, West Bengal 733134, India

e-mail: deepyaman.das@gmail.com

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 199 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials*

for Point-of-Care Testing, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_11

1 Introduction

Nanoparticles are tiny particles with sizes ranging from 1 to 100 nm. They can be made from a variety of materials, including metals, semiconductors, and polymers, and can have unique properties that differ from their bulk counterparts [12]. Due to their small size, nanoparticles have a high surface area-to-volume ratio, which makes them highly reactive and useful in a range of applications, from medicine to electronics. Nanoparticles can be synthesized using a variety of methods, including physical, chemical, and biological approaches. Physical methods include milling, laser ablation, and lithography, while chemical methods include sol-gel synthesis, precipitation, and hydrothermal synthesis [24]. Biological methods involve the use of living organisms, such as bacteria or fungi, to produce nanoparticles.

Nanodevices are small devices that can detect and analyze environmental pollutants at a very small scale. These devices can be used to monitor and analyze air, water, and soil pollution, among other things [1]. Nanodevices use nanotechnology to detect and analyze pollutants, and they can provide more accurate and precise results than traditional detection methods. One example of a nanodevice for environmental pollutant detection is a carbon nanotube-based sensor. These sensors can detect pollutants such as carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides, and volatile organic compounds in the air [32]. Carbon nanotubes are extremely small and have a large surface area, which allows them to interact with pollutants and detect them at very low concentrations. Another example is a nanodevice based on gold nanoparticles. These sensors can detect heavy metals such as lead, mercury, and cadmium in water [28]. The gold nanoparticles are functionalized with specific molecules that can bind to the heavy metals, allowing them to be detected at very low concentrations [35]. Nanodevices have the potential to revolutionize environmental monitoring and pollution control. They can provide more accurate and precise data, and can be used to detect pollutants in real-time. They are also more cost-effective than traditional methods of pollutant detection. However, there are still some challenges to be overcome, such as ensuring the reliability and durability of the devices, and addressing potential environmental and health risks associated with their use.

Also, nanodevices have shown great potential for detecting allergens in food and other environments. One example of a nanodevice for allergen detection is the immunosensor, which uses nanoscale materials to detect specific allergens. Immunosensors work by using antibodies that are attached to a nanomaterial surface [19]. When the allergen comes into contact with the antibody, it binds to the surface and produces a measurable signal, such as a change in electrical conductivity. This signal can be detected and used to identify the presence and concentration of the allergen [19]. Other nanodevices for allergen detection include nanomaterial-based optical sensors, which use changes in light absorption or reflection to detect allergens, and nanomaterial-based electrochemical sensors, which measure changes in electrical current to detect allergens.



Fig. 1 Pollutant remediation capabilities of Gold, Silver, Copper, and Titanium based nanoparticles. The green nodes represent the nanoparticle-based nanodevices and the pink nodes represent pollutants that they are capable of remediating. Note that three nanoparticle-based nanodevices are capable of remediating lead (Pb^{2+}), two nanoparticle-based nanodevices are capable of remediating cadmium (Cd^{2+}) and two nanoparticle-based nanodevices are capable of reducing CO emissions

Overall, nanoparticles have unique physical and chemical properties that make them attractive for the development of nanodevices for environmental pollutant detection and remediation. Nanoparticles can be designed to selectively bind to specific pollutants and generate a detectable signal in response to their presence. Again, nanodevices have the potential to provide rapid and accurate detection of allergens, which is important for individuals with allergies and for ensuring the safety of food and other products. This chapter discusses various nanodevices based on gold, silver, copper, and titanium that are being used for environmental pollutant detection (Fig. 1).

2 Gold Nanoparticle-Based Nanodevices in Environmental Pollution

The nanoparticles based on gold also called Gold Nanoparticles or GNPs have been heavily used to prepare nanodevices and engrossed in different fields of biology including medical sciences [7]. It has been shown, that these gold-based nanodevices are very useful in detecting environmental pollutants such as heavy metals as they

show the typical surface plasmon resonance and absorption property depending on the shape, dimensions, and intermolecular distance [45]. One such device was shown by Wei Ha et al. who developed an eco-friendly heavy metal detection process that uses GNPs orchestrated with *Xanthocerus sorbifolia* tannin as a color imparting probe. Here the Cr³⁺ detection both in river water and tap water was done by colorimetric method after Xanthocerus stabilized GNPs were successfully able to chelate with Cr^{3+} Subsequently the aggregation of GNPs induced the change in color from red to purple quickly [10]. Similar device was developed to detect Hg^{2+} ions in aquatic environment where citrus fruits such as Citrus limon and Citrus limmeta were used to prepare gold-based nanoparticles and colorimetric detection technique was employed to search Hg²⁺ in micromolar concentration in water [29]. It has been found that the Hg²⁺ ions can also be detected by colorimetric method using gold nanoparticles functionalized by poly gamma glutamic acid (PGA) [9]. Negatively charged PGA was assembled using an electrostatic self-assembly process on top of positively charged cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB)-capped GNPs. The color of the solution would evolve from light red to purple blue as the quantity of Hg²⁺ increased. With correlation values of 0.998 and 0.991, respectively, the results demonstrated that the absorbance ratio (A750/A580) was linear with the Hg²⁺ concentration in the range of 0.01–10 μ M and from 50 to 300 μ M. The determination of Hg²⁺ in tap water and mineral water using this method was effective, with recoveries ranging from 90 to 103% and from 103.53% to 113%, respectively. The suggested approach allows for the quick, inexpensive, and equipment-free analysis of Hg²⁺ in a variety of water samples. The polluting agent Pb^{2+} can also be detected by GNPs. In aqueous solution, Au^{3+} is stabilized and transformed into gold nanoparticles by glutathione (GSH) [23]. These GNPs aggregate in the presence of Pb^{2+} ions in NaCl containing aqueous solution and can be monitored by both colorimetrically and UV-vis spectroscopy [23]. Another device for detecting Pb²⁺ was developed by Karuvath et al., where gallic acid was used to produce GNPs at room temperature [42]. To detect the presence of Pt^{2+} , Pd²⁺, and Co²⁺ at micromolar concentration peptide-functionalized GNPs have been demonstrated as useful nanodevices [33]. An important biomarker for tracking plant damage caused by heavy metal stress is vitronectin-like proteins (VN), which are found on the surface of plant cells. To track hidden damage to plant cells brought on by cadmium (Cd) or lead (Pb), a live plant cell-based biosensor has been developed [39]. L-cysteine was first changed on a glassy carbon electrode, then anti-IgG-Au antibody, in order to create this sensor. The live plant cells were then modified onto the electrode and treated with the anti-VN. By detecting changes in electrochemical impedance, the sensor operated. In the linear dynamic ranges of 45–210 and 120–360 μ mol L⁻¹, respectively, Cd and Pb were identified. Additionally, this biosensor's Cd and Pb detection limits were 18.5 nmol L^{-1} and 25.6 nmol L^{-1} , respectively [39]. Pb²⁺ can also be detected rapidly in soil by producing GNPs strip biosensor functionalized by GR-5 DNAzyme. Here the graphene oxide provides assistance to detect Pb²⁺ ions specifically [37]. In the presence of additional divalent metal ions, the strip biosensor displayed high selectivity toward Pb²⁺. The obtained recoveries for actual soil samples ranged from 91.5 to 113.1%. Thus, gold nanoparticle-based devices are emerging as technological breakthrough in environmental pollution detection.

3 Silver Nanoparticle-Based Nanodevices in Environmental Pollution

Silver-based nanodevices can be an effective tool for detecting environmental pollution. Nanoparticles of silver have unique optical and electronic properties because they are capable of absorbing and scattering light efficiently [6]. This property can be utilized in a variety of sensing applications. Heavy metal ions are a major source of environmental pollution [5]. Silver nanoparticles can be functionalized with ligands that selectively bind to specific metal ions, allowing for their detection in environmental samples. Based on a linear change in the strength of the surface plasmon resonance absorption, it is shown that polyvinylpyrolidone-modified silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) can detect the concentration of the heavy metal contamination Fe³⁺ ions in water [27]. Another study reported that Hg^{2+} and Cu^{2+} detection in water is possible using various concentrations of AgNPs [22]. In order to identify Hg²⁺ present in water using a colorimetric approach, AgNP was functionalized using 3-mercapto-1, 2-propanediol (MPD). When Hg²⁺ solution was added to MPD-functionalized AgNP (MPD-AgNP), new peak at about 606 nm appeared. The aggregations brought on by MPD-AgNP's detection of the heavy metal ion Hg²⁺ through the dipropionate ion may be the cause of the new peak. Also, neem extract-based AgNPs offer good solution for eradicating heavy metal toxicity. It was reported that at micromolar concentrations, sun-dried neem leaf extract-based AgNPs (ND-AgNPs) selectively sense Hg²⁺ and Pb²⁺ [15]. AgNPs made from neem bark extract demonstrated selective colorimetric sensing of Zn²⁺ and Hg²⁺. AgNPs made from green tea extract (GT-AgNPs) and mango leaf extract (MF-AgNPs) also demonstrated selective colorimetric detection of Hg²⁺ and Pb²⁺ ions [15]. Hg²⁺, Pb²⁺, and Zn²⁺ selective colorimetric sensor characteristics were present in AgNPs made from pepper seed extracts. Importantly, these environmentally friendly synthetic AgNPs were capable of detecting the presence of dangerous metal ions in aqueous solutions throughout a wide pH range (2.0–11), which is a highly desirable property from the standpoint of various water pollution sources.

Silver nanoparticles can be functionalized with biomolecules or polymers that selectively bind to organic pollutants, such as pesticides or hydrocarbons. This can allow for the detection of these pollutants in environmental samples. A sizable portion of water contaminants are organic pollutants. They damage aquatic life and terrestrial life through drinking water when present in water. Pesticides, organic dyes, pharmaceuticals, nitro-aromatics, and mycotoxins are just a few of the several forms of organic pollutants that can be found in the environment. In agricultural production, pesticides are used to lessen crop damage from weeds and pests [44]. Organic dyes, which are utilized in textiles, leather, paints, papers, and plastics, are made up of a generous number of intricate aromatic compounds [43]. Due to their severe toxicity, nonbiodegradability, and potential to change into agents that are carcinogenic, teratogenic, and even mutagenic, pesticides and organic dyes have garnered a lot of attention as environmental pollutants from a worldwide perspective [13]. For the detection of pharmaceuticals, nitro-aromatics [30], pesticides [11], organic dyes

[8], and mycotoxins [17], AgNP-based optical sensors have been described. When compared to optical sensors, electrochemical sensors, such as those based on AgNP, are thought to be more capable of detecting organic contaminants with enough sensitivity and selectivity [40]. They also take less time to set up and take less effort. While different targeted analytes need to be transformed into detectable species for optical sensors, targeted analytes can be detected immediately by electrochemical sensors. Electrochemical sensors can be used for in situ studies since they can directly detect the desired analytes. Electrochemical sensors can also track the evolution of analyte concentration over time.

Silver nanoparticles have been shown to have antimicrobial properties, which can be utilized in the detection of bacteria and viruses in environmental samples. It has been proposed that the lipid-enveloped virus's exterior membrane can be bound by silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) to stop infection [18]. Nevertheless, little is known about how AgNPs interact with viruses. AgNPs have been examined specifically in relation to HIV, where it was shown how the nanoparticles work against viruses as well as how they prevent the spread of HIV-1 infection in human cervix organ culture [18]. Silver nanoparticles can be incorporated into gas sensors to detect air pollutants, such as carbon monoxide [16]. Overall, silver-based nanodevices have the potential to be an effective tool for detecting environmental pollution. However, more research is needed to optimize their performance and develop practical applications for their use.

4 Copper Nanoparticle-Based Nanodevices in Environmental Pollution Detection

Copper-based nanodevices can potentially be used for environmental pollutant remediation. Copper nanoparticles have been shown to have antibacterial properties. The chitosan-copper nanoparticles' exceptional high surface-to-volume ratio allows them to make contact with the P. aeruginosa cell membrane through its surface, ultimately killing *P. aeruginosa* [36]. Thus, it can be used to remove pollutants from contaminated water. They can also be used to detect pesticides and dyes. Like, Thiram is essential in preventing many crop diseases from harming fruits and vegetables, but its leftovers have a negative impact on the environment and pose a substantial risk to human health. According to a study, Tween 80-capped copper nanoparticles (Tween 80-CuNPs) are a practical and affordable colorimetric probe for the targeted detection of the pesticides thiram. The CuNPs-based colorimetric probe with a Tween 80 cap demonstrated good selectivity and high sensitivity (LOD around 0.17 M). The maximum residue limit (MRL) set by the governments of the Europe and Vietnam was found to be higher than the thiram limit of detection (LOD) of the proposed sensor [3]. Copper nanoparticles can also be used to remove heavy metals from water by adsorbing them onto their surfaces. The adsorption application of CuO NPs

on the removal of Pb²⁺, Ni²⁺, and Cd²⁺ is shown to be dependent on the nanosorbent dosage, the metal ions concentration, pH, and the contact duration, as demonstrated by the green CuO NPs synthesized using mint leaf and orange peel extracts as reducing agents. These metal ions had an affinity for CuO NPs in the order Pb²⁺ > Ni²⁺ > Cd²⁺. For demonstrating wastewater remediation under typical environmental circumstances, the removal efficiency of Pb²⁺, Ni²⁺, and Cd²⁺ was determined to be 84.000, 52.50%, and 18,000%, respectively, and attained at pH 6. With CuO NPs-1, the highest adsorption uptakes for Pb²⁺, Ni²⁺, and Cd²⁺ were 88.80, 54.90, and 15.60 mg g⁻¹ [20]. According to these results, CuO NPs can effectively remove heavy metals from polluted water, and more research into their regeneration and reuse is necessary.

Copper oxide nanowires can be used for the photocatalytic degradation of pollutants. When exposed to light, copper oxide nanowires can break down pollutants, such as organic dyes, into harmless substances. For example, The Allura Red AC (AR) dye, an organic pollutant/food dye, was degraded effectively by porous CuO nanosheets, as demonstrated by a color change from red to colorless and monitored by UV-vis spectrophotometric analysis [25]. Copper-based sensors can also be used to detect pollutants in the environment. For example, copper oxide nanowires can be used to detect nitrogen dioxide, a common air pollutant [38]. Copper-based electrochemical sensors can also be used to detect heavy metals like lead (Pb) in surface water [14]. Lastly, copper-based catalytic converters can be used to reduce the emissions of pollutants from cars and other vehicles. Copper-based catalysts can convert harmful pollutants, such as carbon monoxide and nitrogen oxides, into harmless substances. It has been reported that a copper-based catalytic converter reduces the hydrocarbon and CO emissions from a four-stroke single-cylinder Compression Ignition (CI) engine by 38% and 33%, respectively, at full load [2]. Overall, copperbased nanodevices hold great potential for environmental pollutant remediation, and research in this field is ongoing.

5 Titanium Nanoparticle-Based Nanodevices in Environmental Pollution Detection

Titanium nanodevices have the potential to be used in a variety of environmental applications, including pollution control and remediation. The formation of titanium metal and titanium oxide nanoparticles is just a couple of the many useful features and uses of titanium oxide (TiO₂). Rutile titanium dioxide and anatase titanium dioxide are its two main forms. Their outward appearances are what distinguishes them the most. Rutile titanium dioxide often has a dark red hue while anatase titanium dioxide is colorless. Anatase titanium dioxide has an optically negative spectrum, whereas rutile titanium dioxide has a positive spectrum [41]. Titanium dioxide (TiO₂) is a common material used in water purification due to its ability to break down organic pollutants and harmful microorganisms. When exposed to ultraviolet

light, TiO₂ nanoparticles can produce reactive oxygen species that can oxidize and destroy pollutants. This process is known as photocatalysis and has been shown to be effective in removing a wide range of contaminants from water, including pesticides, dyes, and pharmaceuticals. According to [26], Degussa P-25, a commercially available TiO₂ photocatalyst, contains roughly 25% rutile and 75% anatase form [26]. Numerous researches have applied it as a benchmark for photocatalytic degradation [34]. Furthermore, TiO₂ anatase form, which is more effective than rutile form due to its increased surface area and open structure, was the most extensively employed photocatalyst [4].

Titanium nanodevices can also be used to purify the air. TiO_2 nanoparticles can be coated onto air filters or used as a thin film on surfaces to break down pollutants when exposed to light. This technology can be particularly useful in indoor environments where air quality is a concern, such as hospitals or schools. Accordingly, it was found that Saudi myrtle plants treated with TiO₂, reduced the concentrations of formalde-hyde, TVOCs, NO₂, SO₂, and carbon monoxide (CO) from 0.251, 401, 0.032, 0.009, and 0.99 to 0.014, 54,0.0003, 0.003, and 0.01 in air in the fourth day after intervention [31]. Titanium nanodevices can also be used to remediate contaminated soil. Cu and Cd were observed to be eliminated by 88.01% and 70.67%, respectively from soil, upon application of NTiO₂-NCh [21]. Overall, the use of titanium nanodevices in environmental pollution control and remediation shows promise and warrants further investigation and development.

6 Conclusion

While nanodevices have shown great potential for detecting pollutants, there are several limitations and shortcomings that need to be addressed before they can be widely used for environmental monitoring. For example, nanodevices can detect very low levels of pollutants, but their sensitivity can be affected by various environmental factors, such as temperature, humidity, and interference from other chemicals. Also, nanodevices can also be prone to false positives or false negatives, as they may not be able to distinguish between similar chemicals or may react to other substances in the environment. Some nanomaterials used in nanodevices might also be sensitive to oxidation, moisture, or temperature, which can affect their stability and accuracy over time. Lastly, developing and producing nanodevices can be expensive, which can limit their accessibility and affordability for widespread use. Overall, while nanodevices hold great promise for detecting pollutants, their limitations and challenges need to be carefully considered and addressed to ensure their successful implementation for environmental monitoring.

References

- Aguilar-Pérez KM, Heya MS, Parra-Saldívar R, Iqbal HM (2020) Nano-biomaterials in-focus as sensing/detection cues for environmental pollutants. Case Stud Chem Environ Eng 2:100055. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cscee.2020.100055
- Amin CM, Rathod PP, Goswami JJ (2012) Copper based catalytic converter. Int J Eng Res Technol 1(3):1–6
- Anh NT, Dinh NX, Van Tuan H, Thuan TH, Tung LM, Le VP, Tri DQ, Le AT (2021) Costeffective tween 80-capped copper nanoparticles for ultrasensitive colorimetric detection of thiram pesticide in environmental water samples. In: Yi DK (ed) J Nanomater 2021:5513401. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5513401
- Bacsa RR, Kiwi J (1998) Effect of rutile phase on the photocatalytic properties of nanocrystalline titania during the degradation of P-coumaric acid. Appl Catal B: Environ 16(1):19–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-3373(97)00058-1
- Briffa J, Sinagra E, Blundell R (2020) Heavy metal pollution in the environment and their toxicological effects on humans. Heliyon 6(9):e04691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020. e04691
- Chernousova S, Epple M (2013) Silver as antibacterial agent: ion, nanoparticle, and metal. Angew Chem Int Edn 52(6):1636–1653. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201205923
- De M, Ghosh PS, Rotello VM (2008) Applications of nanoparticles in biology. Adv Mater 20(22):4225–4241. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.200703183
- Gu J, Dichiara A (2020) Hybridization between cellulose nanofibrils and faceted silver nanoparticles used with surface enhanced Raman scattering for trace dye detection. Int J Biol Macromol 143(January):85–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.12.018
- Guan H, Liu X, Wang W, Liang J (2014) Direct colorimetric biosensing of mercury(II) ion based on aggregation of poly-(c-Glutamic Acid)-functionalized gold nanoparticles. Spectrochim Acta Part A: Mol Biomol Spectrosc 121:527–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2013.10.107
- Ha W, Yu J, Wang R, Chen J, Shi YP (2014) 'Green' colorimetric assay for the selective detection of trivalent chromium based on Xanthoceras sorbifolia tannin attached to gold nanoparticles. Anal. Methods 6(15):5720–5726. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4AY00976B
- Hassan MM, Zareef M, Jiao T, Liu S, Xu Y, Viswadevarayalu A, Li H, Chen Q (2021) Signal optimized rough silver nanoparticle for rapid SERS sensing of pesticide residues in tea. Food Chem 338(February):127796. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.127796
- Ibrahim Khan KS, Khan I (2019) Nanoparticles: properties, applications and toxicities. Arab J Chem 12(7):908–931. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2017.05.011
- Jiang X-H, Wang L-C, Yu F, Nie Y-C, Xing Q-J, Liu X, Pei Y, Zou J-P, Dai W-L (2018) Photodegradation of organic pollutants coupled with simultaneous photocatalytic evolution of hydrogen using quantum-dot-modified g-C3N4 catalysts under visible-light irradiation. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 6(10):12695–12705. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.8b01695
- Kang W, Pei X, Rusinek CA, Bange A, Haynes EN, Heineman WR, Papautsky I (2017) Determination of lead with a copper-based electrochemical sensor. Anal Chem 89(6):3345– 3352. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.6b03894
- Karthiga D, Anthony SP (2013) Selective colorimetric sensing of toxic metal cations by green synthesized silver nanoparticles over a wide PH range. RSC Adv 3(37):16765–16774. https:// doi.org/10.1039/C3RA42308E
- Konopatsky AS, Leybo DV, Firestein KL, Popov ZI, Bondarev AV, Manakhov AM, Permyakova ES, Shtansky DV, Golberg DV (2018) Synthetic routes, structure and catalytic activity of Ag/ BN nanoparticle hybrids toward CO oxidation reaction. J Catal 368:217–227. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jcat.2018.10.016
- Kutsanedzie FYH, Agyekum AA, Annavaram V, Chen Q (2020) Signal-enhanced SERSsensors of CAR-PLS and GA-PLS coupled AgNPs for ochratoxin A and aflatoxin B1 detection. Food Chem 315(June):126231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.126231
- Lara HH, Garza-Treviño EN, Ixtepan-Turrent L, Singh DK (2011) Silver nanoparticles are broad-spectrum bactericidal and virucidal compounds. J Nanobiotechnol 9(August):30. https:// doi.org/10.1186/1477-3155-9-30
- Lara S, Perez-Potti A (2018) Applications of nanomaterials for immunosensing. Biosensors 8(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/bios8040104
- Mahmoud AE, Al-Qahtani KM, Alflaij SO, Al-Qahtani SF, Alsamhan FA (2021) Green copper oxide nanoparticles for lead, nickel, and cadmium removal from contaminated water. Sci Rep 11(1):12547. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-91093-7
- Mahmoud ME, Abou Ali SA, Elweshahy SM (2018) Microwave functionalization of titanium oxide nanoparticles with chitosan nanolayer for instantaneous microwave sorption of Cu(II) and Cd(II) from water. Int J Biol Macromol 111(May):393–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijb iomac.2018.01.014
- Maiti S, Barman G, Laha JK (2016) Detection of heavy metals (Cu+2, Hg+2) by biosynthesized silver nanoparticles. Appl Nanosci 6(4):529–538. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13204-015-0452-4
- Mao X, Li ZP, Tang ZY (2011) One pot synthesis of monodispersed L-glutathione stabilized gold nanoparticles for the detection of Pb²⁺ ions. Front Mater Sci 5(3):322–328. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11706-011-0118-4
- Nam NH, Luong NH (2019) Nanoparticles: synthesis and applications. Mater Biomed Eng. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-102814-8.00008-1
- Nazim M, Khan AAP, Asiri AM, Kim JH (2021) Exploring rapid photocatalytic degradation of organic pollutants with porous CuO nanosheets: synthesis, dye removal, and kinetic studies at room temperature. ACS Omega 6(4):2601–2612. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.0c04747
- Ohno T, Sarukawa K, Tokieda K, Matsumura M (2001) Morphology of a TiO2 photocatalyst (Degussa, P-25) consisting of anatase and rutile crystalline phases. J Catal 203(1):82–86. https:// doi.org/10.1006/jcat.2001.3316
- Princy SS, Sherin JJ, Vijayakumar C, Hentry C, Bindhu MR, Alarjani KM, Alghamidi NS, Hussein DS (2022) Detection of heavy metals, SERS and antibacterial activity of polyvinylpyrolidone modified plasmonic nanoparticles. Environ Res 210:112883. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envres.2022.112883
- Qian H, Pretzer LA, Velazquez JC, Zhao Z, Wong MS (2013) Gold nanoparticles for cleaning contaminated water. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 88(5):735–741. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb. 4030
- Ravi SS, Christena LR, SaiSubramanian N, Anthony SP (2013) Green synthesized silver nanoparticles for selective colorimetric sensing of Hg²⁺ in aqueous solution at wide PH range. Analyst 138(15):4370–4377. https://doi.org/10.1039/C3AN00320E
- Raza A, Biswas A, Zehra A, Mengesha A (2020) Multiple tier detection of TNT using curcumin functionalized silver nanoparticles. Forensic Sci Int Synergy 2:240–247. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.fsisyn.2020.08.001
- Salama KF, Zafar M (2022) Purification of ambient air by novel green plant with titanium dioxide nanoparticles. Int J Prev Med 13:67. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.JJPVM_586_20
- Saxena S, Srivastava AK (2020) Carbon nanotube-based sensors and their application. In: Thomas S, Grohens Y, Vignaud G, Kalarikkal N, James J (eds) Nano-optics, Micro and nano technologies, pp 265–291. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818392-2.00010-X
- Slocik JM, Stone MO, Naik RR (2005) Synthesis of gold nanoparticles using multifunctional peptides. Small 1(11):1048–1052. https://doi.org/10.1002/smll.200500172
- 34. Swetha S, Santhosh SM, Geetha Balakrishna R (2010) Synthesis and comparative study of nano-TiO2 over degussa P-25 in disinfection of water. Photochem Photobiol 86
- Tiwari PM, Vig K, Dennis VA, Singh SR (2011) Functionalized gold nanoparticles and their biomedical applications. Nanomaterials (Basel, Switzerland) 1(1):31–63. https://doi.org/10. 3390/nano1010031
- Usman MS, Zowalaty MEE, Shameli K, Zainuddin N, Salama M, Ibrahim NA (2013) Synthesis, characterization, and antimicrobial properties of copper nanoparticles. Int J Nanomed 8:4467– 4479. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S50837

- 37. Wang HB, Ma LH, Fang BY, Zhao YD, Hu XB (2018) Graphene oxide-assisted au nanoparticle strip biosensor based on GR-5 DNAzyme for rapid lead ion detection. Colloids Surf B: Biointerfaces 169(September 2017):305–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2018.05.020
- Wang L, Zhang R, Zhou T, Lou Z, Deng J, Zhang T (2016) Concave Cu2O octahedral nanoparticles as an advanced sensing material for benzene (C6H6) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2) detection. Sens Actuators B: Chem 223:311–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.snb.2015.09.114
- Wang X, Cheng M, Yang Q, Wei H, Xia A, Wang L, Ben Y, Zhou Q, Yang Z, Huang X (2019) A living plant cell-based biosensor for real-time monitoring invisible damage of plant cells under heavy metal stress. Sci Total Environ 697:134097. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2019.134097
- Wei T, Dong T, Wang Z, Bao J, Tu W, Dai Z (2015) Aggregation of individual sensing units for signal accumulation: conversion of liquid-phase colorimetric assay into enhanced surfacetethered electrochemical analysis. J Am Chem Soc 137(28):8880–8883. https://doi.org/10. 1021/jacs.5b04348
- Wu X (2021) Applications of titanium dioxide materials. In: Ali HM (ed) Titanium dioxide. IntechOpen, Rijeka. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.99255
- Yoosaf K, Ipe BI, Suresh CH, George Thomas K (2007) In situ synthesis of metal nanoparticles and selective naked-eye detection of lead ions from aqueous media. J Phys Chem C 111(34):12839–12847. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp073923q
- Zahran M, Khalifa Z, Zahran MA, Azzem MA (2020) Natural latex-capped silver nanoparticles for two-way electrochemical displacement sensing of eriochrome black T. Electrochim Acta 356:136825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2020.136825
- Zhang B, Li B, Wang Z (2020) Creation of carbazole-based fluorescent porous polymers for recognition and detection of various pesticides in water. ACS Sens 5(1):162–170. https://doi. org/10.1021/acssensors.9b01954
- Zhang J, Whitesell JK, Fox MA (2001) Photoreactivity of self-assembled monolayers of azobenzene or stilbene derivatives capped on colloidal gold clusters. Chem Mater 13(7):2323– 2331. https://doi.org/10.1021/cm000752s

Nanotechnology-Based Point-of-Care Diagnostics and Therapeutics for Neurological Disorders



Debayan Banik and Rama Ranjan Bhattacharjee

Abstract In today's world, there is a growing population of people suffering from neurological disorders. Many inherit such diseases due to hereditary reasons and many due to the very complex environment and societal reasons. One way of fighting this kind of problem is to detect it in very early stages and then start treatment so that the disease cannot mature. There are many techniques in which these neurological disorders can be tracked easily but are not easy to use and available due to constraints in the technology. Nanotechnology has played a key role in providing solutions to such problems, especially point of care devices and non-invasive techniques have recently evolved where nanomaterials and nanotechnology can play a vital role in making sure that accurate detection and analysis can be done without compromising the safety and security of the patients.

Keywords Parkinson's disease · Cerebrovascular disease · Alzheimer's disease · Traumatic brain injury · Nanomaterials · Applications · Uses

1 Introduction

Promising candidates for fluid sensing with better responsivity, selectivity, quick response, high stability, and accuracy but at low cost and easy to tailor made are chemiresistive sensors. These sensors are more reliable and are versatile for diverse uses. In this chapter we are focused on detecting VOCs that are present in the exhale breadth of patients and non-invasive techniques for the detection of diseases like COVID-19, Parkinson's, disease and Alzheimer's disease. Neurological diseases are some of the most common and complex diseases affecting the central nervous system

D. Banik

Serum Institute of India, Pune, Maharashtra 411028, India

R. R. Bhattacharjee (🖂)

Department of Chemistry, Sister Nivedita University, Newtown, Kolkata, West Bengal 700156, India

e-mail: rama.rb@snuniv.ac.in

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 211 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing*, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_12

(CNS). The blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier also called blood brain barrier (BBB) regulates the stability of the nervous system and also helps maintain a fragile microenvironment that inhibits the release of therapeutic moieties to the central nervous system and controls diseases in the nervous system. Parkinson's Disease (PD), Cerebrovascular Disease (CVD), Alzheimer's Disease (AD), and Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI) are difficult to cure. Nanoparticle (NP) induced technology provides a platform for the development of specific drug delivery network due to its sustainability. Effective NPs have increased interest in the field of nanomedicine that can successfully cross the BBB and sustain high drug bioavailability in the neural parenchyma. NPs also exist in various forms such as solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs), quantum dots, polymeric NPs, and liposomes, making it easy to combine with different molecules such as surfactants to deliver the body's needs or medicine.

This nano-delivery process represents a new possibility for the medicament and diagnosis of neurological diseases with less invasiveness. Most plan of actions like efflux mechanisms, including adsorption-mediated transcytosis (AMT) and receptormediated transcytosis (RMT), target-specific biological indicators, or lesions, are used as common tactics to change the ability of NPs to cross the BBB. Thereby increasing tissue-specific targets and minimizing adverse side effects. This article provides an understanding of the neurological and CNS drug delivery problems due to the presence of the BBB, presenting an in-depth review of nanoparticle-based theranostic and medicament strategies [1]. Other than diseases like cancer, bacterial infections, heart disease, COPD, and renal failure, neurological disorders (NDs) cause significant numbers of deaths and have high mortality rates across the globe. In clinical settings, NDs are lately detectable and have limited treatment options. NDs are chronic diseases and have poor prognosis. Neurological disorders can cause large number of abnormalities ranging from paralysis, Alzheimer's Disease (AD), epilepsy, brain tumors neuromuscular disorders, etc. Under such a limited scope of clinical treatment available, nano-technology brings a lot of advantages to combat ND. Nanotechnology increases the scope of treatments and helps to overcome the hindrances. In recent biomedical science research, point-of-care diagnostics and therapeutics has evolved massively. Affordable and quick diagnostic approach has been the major concern in point-of-care clinical settings. In today's clinical settings, personalized medicines are playing a crucial role. The 2019 coronavirus (COVID-19) was a global crisis because it is spreading rapidly and is causing many deaths and damages. The number of people infected with the virus severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), which seeds the disease COVID-19, thereby increasing rapidly globally. Patients affected with COVID-19 may build pneumonia, severe acute thoracic and respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) symptoms, and multi-organ failure. There is an increasing clinical report that immune patterns are linked with infection in infected individual. Decreased peripheral white blood cells like T cell subsets are a specific feature of individual with acute respiratory disease (SARS). In the recovered patients, there was a rapid recovery of peripheral T cell subsets; therefore, peripheral blood T cell count may be a precise diagnostic tool for SARS. Study showed alike phenomenon, in which the immune system was found to be affected during SARS. Another study found that Ebola patients had fewer natural killer (NK) cells compared to healthy donors. After the onset of Ebola symptoms, proinflammatory cytokines were elevated, while recovered patients had low cytokines. With increasing awareness of the relationship between the immune system's response to COVID-19, the immune system is now recognized as a potential infection marker and is a clinical target for COVID-19 [2–5].

2 Molecular Mechanism of Neurological Disorders

Neurodegenerative diseases are characterized by brain protein aggregates, increased number of neurons, synaptic abnormalities that result in decreased memory, cognition, and motor symptoms. The main factors that cause neurodegenerative diseases are still under research and unknown, but many risk factors have been identified, like genetic mutations of many types of diseases, environmental pollution, and family history. The genetics of neurodegenerative diseases have been determined. Recent advances have been made in research on the use of genes related to neurodegenerative diseases. Several case studies and research have shown that the BBB undergoes pathophysiological changes, leading to less endothelial tight junction working molecules. These are defined as neuroinflammation-induced "collapse" which increases BBB permeability. The phenomenon results in the response to treatment in the brain of patients with neurodegenerative diseases is different from that of the normal brain. The behavior of pathological changes in the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier in influencing drug distribution to the brain is still not crystal clear. It should be noted that the neurodegenerative brain enlarges leaving more brain pharmacokinetics than the normal brain [1, 6-8].

3 Molecular Mechanism of Alzheimer's Disease (AD)

The most recurrent cause of dementia is AD. Nearly 70% of dementia diagnoses are due to AD. The biggest factor for having AD is aging. Most patients of the age greater than 60 suffer from AD. The fundamental feature of the neurodegenerative disease Alzheimer's is cognitive loss. Memory impairment is one of the first and most prominent symptoms. Cognitive loss leads to deficits in language as the illness progresses. Further visuospatial orientation and motor function is observed. Multiplex proteins, which are extracellular aggregates of amyloid (A β) tend to gather at the cerebral cortex of AD individuals like senile plaques. The amyloid cascade hypothesis was the best-known hypothesis to explain AD pathology that ultimately leads to neuroinflammation, neuronal damage, neurofibrillary tangles, and death. Other effects can be impaired neuronal communication and other pathological manifestations of AD. Conflicting results suggest that accumulation of A β plaques may not be the cause of AD development. According to some research, a plaque doesn't form until after neurofibrillary tangles do. Due to contradictory evidence, the main contribution of



A β in the pathogenesis of AD remains controversial. Further research is needed in the future to determine the mechanisms leading to AD pathogenesis [9–14].

The methods through which APP metabolites such as $A\beta$ monomers and oligomers can result in synaptic degeneration and other types of neurodegenerations are unclear. Possibilities like creation of pore-like structures with channel functions; Circuit hyperexcitability; mitochondrial dysfunction; Connection with lysosomal failure and synaptic plasticity; changes in glutamate receptors and excitotoxicity; neurogenesis and alteration of signaling pathways associated with neuronal cell death. Previous research studies have shown that various expression of molecules is involved in the neurological disorder processes, including glycogen synthase kinase 3β , fyn kinase, and cyclin-dependent kinase. Other signaling pathways include the MAPK family such as JNK and ERK and others such as p21-activated kinase (Fig. 1). Sudden activation of signaling pathways can lead to synapse dysfunction and neurogenesis by promoting cytoskeletal abnormalities, activation of caspase-mediated apoptotic pathways, tau phosphorylation and aggregation, and increasing calcium and calpain changes [15].

4 Present Therapeutic Treatment Strategies for AD

Recently, AD treatment has focused on improving memory by enhancing antioxidants, calcium channel blockers, and cholinergic neurotransmission. More recently, the target has been on minimizing the accumulation of Tau or A β . Alternatively to preserve the selected neuronal population and promote synapse creation and neurogenesis. Various methods are presently being pursued to reduce A β aggregation by

- (i) block the β or γ -secretase pathway or increase α -secretion Enzyme activity to regulate APP proteolysis.
- (ii) anti-aggregation drugs that block oligomers and fibrils,
- (iii) reduce APP production (e.g. siRNA),
- (iv) increased clearance by lysosomal and proteasomal pathways,
- (v) control APP activity by altering cholesterol and lipid metabolism,
- (vi) increased clearance of $A\beta$ by activation degradation (e.g. NEP and IDE delivery),
- (vii) neurotoxic A β oligomers (e.g. G. Fyn kinase, GSK3 β and CDK5 inhibitors, and glutamate receptor blockers) and
- (viii) increased clearance of $A\beta$ by immunoglobins, ApoE, and other chaperones (such as HSP70).

Neuroprotective tactics include the use of neurotrophic agents (e.g., brain-derived neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor), calcium channel blockers (e.g., memantine), antioxidants (e.g., curcumin, vitamin E), neuroprotective peptides (e.g., cerebrolysin), and Tau. Tau is also an important target. Recent studies have shown that APP transgenic mice are protected from A β toxicity in a Tau-deficient background. Tau has been targeted by minimizing Tau formation or by reducing the phosphorylation of Tau with compounds such as lithium. In addition to conventional administration routes and minor oral techniques, new methods are currently being tested, including vaccines, lifestyle changes to improve neurogenesis, gene therapy, the use of lipid-conjugated compounds, and intrathecal administration [15–19].

5 The Blood Brain Barrier (BBB) as Blood-Cerebrospinal Fluid Barrier

Three cellular components of the brain microvasculature are pericytes (PCs), BBBendothelial cells, and astrocyte endopods. Close junctions exist between the brain's endothelial cells to form a selective barrier to prevent blood from entering the brain. Astrocyte terminals tightly assemble around the vessel wall and appear to be important for initiation and maintenance of the close junction barrier. Poor functioning of the BBB, such as a bad junction seal can lead to many diseases in the brain, including stroke and neuroinflammatory diseases. The consequences of increased BBB results in permeability in hypoxic-ischemia and inflammatory processes, including HIVinduced dementia, BBB in septic encephalopathy, Alzheimer's disease, and multiple sclerosis [20].

6 Nanotechnology Approaches Break the Blood-Cerebrospinal Fluid Barrier and Deliver Targeted Drugs to the Specific Central Nervous System Site

Nanotechnology deals with materials and equipment that have worked on the scale from a few nanometers to 100 nm. Nanoengineered materials and tools applied in chemistry and medicine, particularly neuroscience, are designed to interact with tissues and cells at the atomic level. The creation of procedures and methods for pharmaceuticals and other tiny molecules to interact with the central nervous system (CNS) is a particularly significant use of nanotechnology. These species involve genes, oligonucleotides, and agents to work differentially to cross the bloodcerebrospinal fluid barrier. BBB isolates and protects CNS structures from the rest of the body and creates a special biochemical and protective surrounding. The CNS structures include brain and spinal cord. Clinically, in many cases, drugs or other small molecules must enter the CNS after systemic administration. The species must travel the BBB. Nanotechnology can be designed to perform many specific functions simultaneously or in a predetermined manner that are important for successful therapy and use of drugs and other molecules in the CNS. Hence nanotechnology has a unique advantage over other complementary technologies and methods. Most studies to cross the BBB with nanotechnology have focused on the delivery of antineoplastic drugs to CNS solid tumors. For example, radiolabeled polyethylene glycol coated cetylcyanoalkanoate nanospheres were tested for their targeting and aggregation abilities in mouse gliosarcoma models. Others achieved good result by encapsulating the antineoplastic drug paclitaxel in poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) NPs. In vitro experiments with 29 different malignant cells showed 13 times higher target cytotoxicity than the drug alone. Researchers demonstrated that drugs are transported by nanoparticles with high encapsulation efficiency. They used a variety of physical and chemical methods, including multiple spectroscopy and atomic force microscopy techniques. Studies focusing on the delivery of many antineoplastic drugs are important. Many of these drugs are poorly soluble in physiological conditions. Hence these drugs face insufficient intake issues, which can have serious side effects. In another case, several compounds were functionalized on the surface of poly(butyl cyanoacrylate) nanoparticles coated with polysorbate. These included neuropeptides such as enkephalin, the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist MRZ 2/576, and the drug doxorubicin. Polysorbate on the surface of nanoparticles adsorbs apolipoproteins B and E and is absorbed by the brain capillary endothelium by receptor-mediated endocytosis cellular uptake. Nanoparticle-functionalized doxorubicin delivery was investigated in mouse glioblastoma models. More importantly, recent studies in a mouse model of glioblastoma showed significant release with minimum toxicity, laying the groundwork for clinical trials. Non-pharmacological molecules, including genes, oligonucleotides other agents should cross the cerebrospinal fluid barrier for therapeutic or diagnostic purposes for any other applications. Lipid NPs functionalized with iron oxide along with microemulsions of coagulated oil nanodroplets

injected into mice, have been shown to cross the BBB and get stored in the brain with long-term kinetics. Iron oxide is a typical superparamagnetic magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) contrast agent. Since iron oxides are insoluble in water, they must be used in the form of modified colloids for medical applications. Usually, coating iron oxide NPs with hydrophilic molecules such as dextran solves problems. Iron oxide could provide a new way to image CNS using MRI by exploiting the efficiency of lipid NPs to cross the BBB [21].

A reliable chemi-resistor containing an immediate sensing layer clubbing the combination of electrodes which became a promising applicant. Furthermore, the advantages are not limited to easy fabrication, can be used in very minimum quantity (in milligram unit), and highly distributed adoption of sensitized materials. Therefore, chemi-resistors gain popularity in certain commercialization.

Chemi-resistors for gas sensing have the following three main processes:

- charge carrier transport unit
- surface reaction unit (including charge transfer), and
- diffusion/molecule capture unit,

Until now, most of these sensors and/or sensor arrays utilize sensing elements that are based on transduction mechanism or single material. Usually, intrinsic sensing activity or additional thermal/photonic energy is employed as the driving force to activate sensing effects of target gases.

Few demerits are:

- (i) Due to the high affinity of conductive polymers like polyaniline, polypyrrole, and polythiophene toward volatile organic chemicals and humidity present in the atmosphere, there was a lack of long-term stability and sensitivity of organic chemi-resistors.
- (ii) baseline drift, high functioning temperatures (>200 °C), oxidation/ decomposition, and fixed selectivity of VOCs in the case of inorganic materials (mainly metal oxide materials, e.g., TiO₂, SnO₂, ZnO, etc.-based chemiresistors.

An effective solution to such downside is the design and utilization of new gas sensing materials based on hybrid organic–organic, inorganic–organic, and inorganic–inorganic hybrid materials as sensitive transducer possess several advantages compared with the single constituent. Such as:

- To create unique sensing behaviors, it is feasible to combine an essentially limitless continuum of changeable components (interface-dependent factor, surfacedependent factor, and structure-dependent factor). This is due to the inexhaustible supply of hybrid materials (both in the innovative nanostructures and in the intricate constituents).
- Second, hybrid materials could be used to add an increasing number of chemical/physical processes with various improved mechanisms. Through a catalytic interaction with charge transfer, analyte, molecular binding/sieving, charge carrier transport manipulation/construction of heterojunctions, and their combinations,

hybrid materials make it simple to accurately regulate, create, and enhance sensing performance.

7 Hybrid Chemi–Resistive Gas Sensors

Improved sensing properties can be achieved by hybrid materials using one or a combination of the five fundamental hybridizing types. These forms are divided into five sensing-governed factors:

- The first factor is based on a quick charge transfer procedure. Such process is often referred to as electron acceptor or acceptance between guest and additive, carrier withdrawal or donation between the host material (for example CNTs) and reduced graphene oxide (rGO) (classified as an interface dependent factor).
- The second combination relies on catalytic processes. It takes place between analyte gas and decorated catalysts on the surface of the host semi-conductive material using noble metal catalysts, such as Pt, Pd, Au, and Ag.
- The third relies on regulating the charge carrier transport in a conductive/ semi-conductive materials like gold nanoparticles (GNPs)-thiols, like CNTmetallo-supramolecular polymer (MSP), and less with N,N'-diphenyl perylene tetracarboxylic diimide (PTCDI-Ph)/para-sexiphenyl upon reaction with gas analytes.
- The fourth focuses on the building of heterojunctions made of heterogeneous semi-conductive materials such as n–n, p–n, p–p, and p–n–p (classified as an interface-dependent factor).
- The final method depends on semiconductors functionalized with ligands or complexes that selectively bind to sieve gas molecules.

8 Role of Nanomaterial in Detection of VOCs

The nanostructure of electrodes working with nanocarbon modifiers has new attractive properties such as:

- simple physical adsorption through Van der Waals interactions onto electrodes.
- because of their incredibly high conductivity in some directions, they have quick electron transfer kinetics.
- high surface area, which enhances volatile organic molecules adsorption.
- due to their special electrical or plasmonic structure, catalysts are highly selective and adjustable.
- and adjustable surface chemistry for a specific capture probe or analyte species in the direction of the assembly.

9 Role of Carbon Nanomaterials

VOC gas sensors using carbon-based nanomaterials have attracted increasing attention due to their advantages such as low power consumption, miniaturization, and incorporation into portable devices for medical diagnostics. However, it is difficult for weather sensors to select the response to certain VOC biomarkers and ensure that they are unaffected by other factors. Il-Doo Kim et al. reported a sensitive and selective acetone sensor using SnO₂ nanofibers functionalized with rGO nanolayers. Furthermore, the LOD on this acetone sensor is low (100 ppb). The authors believe the sensor could be very fine and select the response to acetone residues in the breath, so that diabetes can be successfully diagnosed. As we all know, the exhaled air is mostly with water molecules, which causes the water vapor effect of the air sensors and affects the detection accuracy of the target VOC analytes. Therefore, the use of carbon-based nanomaterials has been developed to create humidity-sensitive VOC gas sensors to provide accurate detection of target VOC gases in inspired air (Table1). However, it is not easy to obtain good sensors with good moisture resistance, low LOD, and high detection selectivity at the same time. The PVDF-HFP sensor, for instance, was made to be insensitive to humidity, but its detection limit for VOC gases is higher than the amounts of VOC gases in exhaled human breath. The rGO/ CuO sensor's resistance value may be resistant to water vapor, but this introduces the issue of high operating temperatures. The effective detection of biomarkers and non-invasive diagnosis of various diseases hence requires additional advancements in the sensing performance of VOC sensors utilizing carbon-based nanomaterials.

Material	Gas detection	Detection range	Working temperature
CuxO/multilayer graphene	NOX	97 ppb–97 ppm	RT
rGO/NiO	NO ₂	0.25–60 ppm	RT
ZnO QDs/graphene	НСНО	25–100 ppm	RT
SnO ₂ /Rgo	H ₂ S	10–100 ppm	RT
Graphite/polyaniline	NH ₃	50-1600 ppm	RT
SnO ₂ /graphene	CH ₄	3.3–100 ppm	150 °C
SnO ₂ CQD/MWCNT	H ₂ S	100–1000 ppm	70 °C
rGO/TiO2-Nb	СО	50 ppb-50 ppm	380 °C
Fe ₃ O ₄ @rGO	NO ₂	50 ppb-50 ppm	RT

 Table 1
 Examples of chemi-resistive response of original and modified CNTs toward different gases

10 Role of Carbon Quantum Dots

10.1 Gas Sensing with Conducting Carbon Dots

CQDs can be utilized to detect gases and VOCs since they have powerful electronic capabilities in addition to their optical characteristics. A small number of gas molecules is all that is needed to alter the electrical characteristics of the electronic material because nanotubes, nanowires, and nanoparticles are so small. This makes it possible to identify tiny chemical vapors. Small, low-cost sensors that can detect chemicals in the same manner that dogs can detect vapors from explosives or drugs at airports are the goal.

It is now possible to create tiny, low-cost sensors that can quickly recognize chemical vapors, giving rise to a nano-hound that is useful in a variety of ways and doesn't require rest or exercise. Installing sensors throughout the airport or any place where there are any safety concerns would be a logical application to find explosive vapors. These sensors can be used in workplaces where chemicals are used in the production process to capture the release of chemical vapors. Sensors that detect hydrogen gas leaks will be useful in warning of leaks when hydrogen fuel is activated in vehicles or other applications. The technology should also connect air quality monitoring stations to improve air pollution monitoring.

CQDs have not been extensively investigated. Our group reported the electrical conductivity of polymer-passivated CQDs, which was the first to report the electrical conductivity of individual CQDs. They evaluated an individual's processing of objects with a scanning probe (SPM) using the SRI imaging method. The lower energy state responsible for the excitation-induced fluorescence features was demonstrated by the fluorescent excitation spectra of the CQDs. When harmonics surpass zero voltage, as shown by the current-to-voltage (I–V) characteristics of single polystyrene sulfonate stabilized CQDs (PSS-CQDs), the current behaves erratically and rapidly jumps. The band gap of CQDs was calculated using cyclic voltammetry (CV). The I–V data and AFM images of each CQD.

There is still a dearth of information on the conducting qualities of CQDs. These investigations are crucial for gaining a fundamental knowledge of the conducting phenomenon that CQDs have shown, and they also hold the potential to enhance the tunability of conducting nanocomposites.

10.2 Designing of Gas Sensors Using Carbonaceous Nanomaterials

CQDs are usually obtained in powder form, making sensors difficult to manufacture. It should be used as a composite material with polymer materials. Insulating polymers inhibit the electronic properties of CQDs. Therefore, it is often desired to make



polymer composites with CQDs. Conductive polymers such as PPy have been utilized to build gas and VOC sensors for a long time.

These components can be employed in sensing applications and have good current–voltage characteristics. These polymers' LUMO levels take in free electrons from many carbon atoms and VOCS, and the HOMO electrons can share the remaining electrons. This molecular interaction causes a change in I–V properties, resulting in hearing loss. The incorporation of nanomaterials into polymer matrices has been shown many times to increase the sensitivity of sensors. Nanomaterials induce active sites in polymers for rapid gas adsorption as they improve surface activity, thus completing the experience of mainstream conducting polymers. The use of carbon nanomaterials in conductive polymers such as C60, CNT, and CQD has shown great improvement in sensor applications (Figs. 2 and 3). The main idea behind these compounds is that carbon nanomaterials are generally hydrophobic, so they have a good affinity for making polymers that are often hydrophobic in nature. In addition, the specific conditions of C60 are discussed, which will help us understand the impact of CQDs on the performance of polymers (Table 2).

10.3 Effect of CQDs on the Electronic Properties of Conducting Polymers

The integration of C_{60} into PPy was said to improve the I–V characteristics in the literature. Carbon in C_{60} has a strained sp² structure. The material's structure resembles that of CQDs, which do not contain extended sp² domains like those seen in C_{60} , although corresponding parallels may still exist. It was discovered that C_{60} , although being n-type doped, functions as a conducting polymer matrix for p-dopant. In other words, the C_{60} LUMO receives an electron from a polymeric chain, charging it in the process. An additional positively charged polaron in the PPy chain was produced by the ionic state. The doping action was confirmed by the substantially altered absorption spectra and the noticeably subdued fluorescence in the doped PPy.



Fig. 3 Detection of VOC in presence of humidity using CNT and C_{60} . Adopted from https://www.mdpi.com/2227-9040/9/4/66

Nature	Process	$R_{0}\left(k\Omega\right)$
CNT	2 layers of CNT suspension in CHCl ₃ sprayed	5 ± 2
CNT-g-C ₆₀	2 layers of C ₆₀ -g-CNT suspension in CHCl ₃ sprayed	8 ± 3
CNT-I-C ₆₀	1 layer of CNT suspension in $CHCl_3$ sprayed followed by spray of 1 layer of C_{60} suspension in toluene	4 ± 2
rGO	5 layers of rGO suspension in acetone sprayed	10 ± 4
rGO-g-C ₆₀	5 layers of rGO-g-C ₆₀ suspension in acetone sprayed	10 ± 5

 Table 2
 Basic resistance values of various CNT nanocomposites

11 VOC Sensor Based on Carbonaceous Nanomaterials

The first carbon quantum dots, known as GQDs, were created from graphite nanoparticles using chemical and physical processes. A flawless graphene sheet won't glow because of the extended-conjugation's lack of electrons. Therefore, much work has gone into changing the graphene network end to end to produce electron gaps and therefore fluorescence emission in graphene. In other words, the big aromatic molecules found in graphene sheets and the isolated conjugated domains are structurally related. The advantages of composite materials are cost-effectiveness and easy production. In their work (PANI-GQDs), nanocomposites were prepared by in situ electrochemical polymerization of aniline monomers in the presence of GQDs, which showed promising catalytic activity in promoting triiodide reduction. During polymerization, fluorine-doped tin oxide (FTO) coated glass is immersed in a solution of aniline and GQD. DSSCs formed from PANI-GQD nanocomposite electrodes exhibited a power conversion of 1.6%.

The PANI-GQD nanocomposite's electrochemical catalytic activity was greater than that of pure PANI because of the synergistic interaction between PANI and GQD. As a result, DSSC structures based on PANI-GQD electrodes exhibit superior photovoltaic performance than those based on PANI electrodes.

The findings motivated us to look into the electronic characteristics of CQDs in more detail. By integrating polypyrrole (PPy) on the surface of CQDs, or colloidal particles based on stable PPy coated CQDs (CQD-PPy) water-based stable writing pen, this study aims to improve the electrical properties of PSS-CQDs. For the purpose of growing PPy on the CQD surface, a site-specific autocatalytic method was created.

CQD-PPy functions as a semiconductor ink and is highly dispersible in aqueous suspension. Data indicate that electronic polymers are employed as chemicals to stop snack items from going rancid. Variations in the quantity of VOCs released from food can reveal crucial details regarding food contamination. In order to identify and track the organic volatiles produced by rice grains during storage, a polypyrrole (PPy) based oil sensor has been created. The difference in sensitivity with different analytes is evaluated in response to PPy's stable resistance, which is utilized extensively as a chemical resistance sensor. Certain analytes that are identical. As a result, PPy changes its resistance when VOC is present, but this change is seen at any stable voltage. Therefore, it is vital to alter PPy's characteristics so that it can recognize and differentiate between various items, which will aid in the identification of VOCs. This can be used to differentiate the flavors of various snacks.

Oxidative rancidity is the term used to describe the foul taste and odor that develops when oils like lard, shortening, vegetable oils, and cooking oils are exposed to oxygen in the air. Fish, chicken, pork, frozen veggies, and powdered milk are just a few examples of products that contain these fats that can cloud the product's oil. These foods' polyunsaturated fatty acid content reacts with oxygen to produce peroxides. Aldehydes, ketones, and other dangerous chemicals can be found in combinations created by the decomposition of peroxide. This product may have a "sour" odor and taste. That's why it occurred to us to examine inks for three important aldehydes that are often found in foods. Hexanal, heptanal, and octanal are three aldehydes that differ in the number of carbon atoms in the main chain.

12 CNT-Based Sensors

Types of design:

- 1. random networks (RN)
- 2. field effect transistor (FET)
- 3. conductive polymer nanocomposites (CPC).

13 Graphene-Based Sensors

Graphene and CNTs have been accepted for the creation of smart electrodes. This is due to the special features observed in graphene-like materials. Hence, graphene may overcome limitations of traditional carbon materials like poor electrical conductivity and mechanical strength. However, due to the limited fabrication methods and high cost of commercial manufacture, graphenes may experience issues [5].

Carbonaceous nanomaterials provide tremendous options due to their simplicity of synthesis, enhanced biocompatibility, and flexibility in organic functionalization of their surface. The development of electrochemical sensors has attracted a lot of attention in carbon-based nanomaterials, particularly carbon dots (CQDs) and graphene quantum dots (GQDs) [3].

The primary graphene-based materials utilized in the construction of electrochemical biosensors are depicted in Fig. 4.

GQDs are a type of zero-dimensional (0D) nanostructure that belong to the carbon family. It has similarities with both graphene and CQDs. These nanomaterials exhibit novel features as a result of quantum confinement and edge effects similar to CDs. The situation is similar to 2D graphene sheets when transformed into 0D GQDs. No matter how small the dots are, GQDs have a graphene structure that provides typical characteristics of graphene. Unlike CQDs, less than 10 nm thick and 100 nm in lateral size layers are present in GQDs [6]. Moreover, GQDs are known to be effective electron transporters that can interact with some electroactive species. This



Fig. 4 Structures of graphene-based nanomaterials, including pristine graphene (pure-arranged carbon atoms) with sp²-hybridized carbon atoms (**a**) and the chemically modified graphene: graphene oxide (GO) (**b**), reduced graphene oxide (rGO) (**c**), and graphene quantum dot (GQD) (**d**). Adopted from https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/23/1/22

increases the analyte contact area and the electrochemically active surface area. Since the geometric surface area is a very important parameter in electrochemistry, modification of various substrates with GQDs can increase the rate of electrochemical reaction. GQDs usually contain functional groups, such as hydroxyl, carbonyl, carboxyl or epoxide, at their edges and basal plane that can act as active reaction sites.

14 Techniques for Fabrication of Graphene-Based VOC Sensors

The intrinsic characteristics and nanostructure of the sensing material affect how well VOC sensors operate. The focus has been on the construction and integration of nanostructured materials into VOC sensors to build high-performance VOC sensors. Nanostructured materials have been incorporated into sensors using a variety of methods.

This section covers processes like: drop casting, spin coating, layer-by-layer (LbL) assembly, and spray layer-by-layer (sLbL) assembly.

15 Drop Casting

Nanomaterials are frequently bonded to surfaces through drop casting using solution evaporation. The quality of the graphene film depends on several elements, including the concentration, weight, and heating of the graphene solution. A graphene-polyaniline-based sensor for the detection of ammonia by dripping a solution onto an interdigital transducer (IDT) was developed, according to Wu et al. Cui and co. Graphene sensors coated with Ag are demonstrated by drop casting on gold electrodes. In this experiment, rG-O dispersions were dropped onto hot electrodes and heated to 200 °C before being annealed for an hour. In a micro arc plasma reactor, Ag NPs were physically vapor-deposited onto the surface of rG-O. Hasan and co. Use of ultra-large graphene oxide (UL-G-O) nanocomposites and poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene)-poly(styrenesulfonate) (PEDOT-PSS) for VOC detection.

16 Spin Coating

Accurate control over the homogeneity and thickness of the active layer is essential for producing reliable and reproducible detection devices. Spin coating is a method in which the active layer can be widely spread over the entire substrate surface 226

by centrifugal and viscous forces and is commonly used to produce thin films $(2-10 \,\mu\text{m})$ on thick as well as flat substrates. Spin coating technology is widely used in semiconductor devices, lithography, magnetic disks, microelectronics industry, and other related fields. The thickness of the film can be controlled by varying the time, fluid viscosity, speed, and solvent evaporation rate. The spin layer can be used to build graphene-based sensors. Fowler et al. reported that the designing and production of sensors for the detection of NH₃, NO₂, and 2,4-dinitrotoluene by spin coating to form a graphene film layer on interlocking electrodes. Dong et al. reported the production of poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) and r-GO hybrid thin film sensors for VOC detection at the ppm level by spin coating on an interdigitated microelectrode array. The spin coater of PIL-modified r-GO can control the film thickness by varying the spin coater speed. Thin and smooth graphene layers enable PEDOT to grow through gas-phase polymerization, providing high-performance hybrid thin-film sensors.

The spin coating process is characterized by controllable thickness, low power consumption, uniform deposition, and easy installation. However, the spinning process can only be used on flat and small substrates. In addition, centrifugal force during rotation often causes negative angle lines or variations in sensor thickness.

17 Layer-by-Layer Self-assembly

One of the best methods for creating nanomaterial thin films with the correct thickness is layer-by-layer (LbL) assembly. The bonding of nanomaterials in various levels through electrostatic interactions is known as layer-by-layer (LbL) assembly. The process of releasing the movie follows a cycle created to create the movie, in which the steps are set up in a preset order. Its ease of use for spin-plating LbL components, Langmuir-Blodgett deposition, and other processes makes it an appealing option to traditional deposition techniques like numerous materials, including polyelectrolytes, dendrimers, biomaterials, metal nanoparticles, and nanocarbons, can be employed with it. By adjusting the charge type and number of adsorption cycles, it is possible to change the electrochemical behavior and nature of the reaction process. By adjusting the pH, temperature, and concentration of the solution, it is also possible to alter the layer's roughness, thickness, and porosity.

For the manufacture of high-performance chemically resistant vapor sensors, control of the conductive structure, including the junction points in the percolation network, is crucial. Control of nanomaterial structure can be realized by electro-static layer-by-layer assembly. LbL technology should be used to create multilayer graphene films with different thicknesses and layers. However, a better understanding of the interaction between electrostatic forces and solvency is required to control the final nature of the reaction process. In addition, further studies are required for polyelectrolytes used in LbL processing, since they may affect the stability of the sensors.

18 Spray Coating Layer-by-Layer

Spray-by-Layer (sLbL) was developed by Schlenoff et al. It is considered one of the best methods due to its low cost, ease of coating, and modification. sLbL involves the direct injection of chemicals into the substrate by spraying. sLbL enables high-thickness and repeatability sensor arrays to be mass-produced in a short time, and allows nanomaterials to be used on non-planar and complex 3D substrates that are difficult to obtain with conventional methods such as layers. Control of junctions and nanostructures is important for the development of chemical resistance sensors.

sLbL can also be used to make better connections and nanostructures for ultrasensitive sensors. Recent research suggests the development of sLbL technology for the development of sensor devices (Dong et al.). Production of graphene quantum well-sensing skin and VOC detection using sLbL technology. The initial resistance of the converter is controlled by adjusting the number of layers.

Their theory holds that changing QRS nanostructures results in biased tunnel conduction, which generates extremely high sensitivity and selectivity. The researchers also discussed the sLbL-based production of composite materials with magnetic Fe_3O_4 nanoparticles formed of rG-O, PEDOT, and poly(ionic liquid). The sensor can distinguish between polar and non-polar VOC molecules with acceptable reversibility at room temperature. To detect both polar and non-polar VOCs, the ssLbL method deposits graphene hybrid composites on interdigitated Pt electrodes. An efficient chemical resistance sensor with core–shell hybrid nanostructures for the detection of lung cancer biomarkers was created with sLbL assembly to intermeshing electrodes (25% Ag/75% Pd orbitals). Nag et al. reported the creation of an ultra-sensitive VOC sensor using sLbL technology for the detection of lung cancer biomarkers (Table 3). The sLbL technology has advantages over spin-coating and LbL mounting techniques, including cheaper sensor manufacturing costs. sLbL provides a lot of benefits and can quickly produce nanostructures.

19 Current Advances in Graphene and Graphene Composites for Chemiresistive VOC Sensors

Nanomaterials have been used to design sensors for VOC detection due to their high contrast and good physical properties for selective detection. Various nanoscale materials have been used for local VOC sensitivity, including metal nanoparticles, nanocarbons, and semiconductor metal oxides [21]. VOC detection is based on the interaction between the analyte molecules and nanomaterials. The coupling of charged VOCs to the sensor surface makes detection possible by changing the carrier density/Fermi energy without interference from the background solvent.

The use of solutions with higher ionic strength is limited due to ion resistance and electrical double-layer formation, so sensors often run dry or solve problems with

VOC type	Representative vapor biomarker	Concentration range in breadth	
Alcohols	Methanol Ethanol 1-Propanol	157–344 96–2848 4–13	
Aldehydes	Pentanal Heptanal Nonanal	2–7 2–7 2–107	
Alkanes	Pentane 4-Methyloctane Cyclohexane	2–18 16–19 0.1–15	
Halo hydrocarbons	Chloroform	10	
Ketones	Acetone 2-Butanone 3-hydroxy-2-butanone	35–1000 0.002–3 0.002–0.05	
Alkenes	Isoprene	41–109	
Aromatics	Ethyl benzene Benzene Toluene	1–18 1.1–3.5 1–37	

Table 3 Various VOCs as cancer biomarkers

low ionic strength. For these reasons, it is important to build sensors that operate at high ionic strength (100 mM) for real-time monitoring.

The chemical resistant VOC detection technology relies on changes in electrical properties through the interaction of VOC molecules with the detection platform. Various types of nanomaterials have been investigated for chemiresistance method of VOC detection and non-invasive disease detection with SMOs, carbon-based nanomaterials, and hybrid composites have become very important in recent times. Among carbon-based nanomaterials, chemically modified graphene or reduced graphene oxide (r-GO) has been reported for anti-VOC sensors. Most rG-O based sensors have r-GO flakes of different sizes, shapes, and thicknesses resulting in randomly overlapping flakes. Therefore, the electrical properties of rG-O thin film are different and devices made of thin film have different properties from device to device. These sensors have a greater selectivity to distinguish between different alcohols such as ethanol, methanol, and isopropanol.

20 CQD-Based VOC Sensors

CQDs are quasi-spherical nanoparticles less than 10 nm in diameter that exhibit better dispersibility in various solvents, improved biocompatibility, and less cyto-toxic. GQDs have been used much more than CQDs in electrochemical biosensing, though both types of carbon quantum dots possess interesting features. GQDs possess advantage over CQDs in the design of nanomaterial-based biosensors because of their

low intrinsic toxicity, their high surface area with larger length-to-diameter ratio (the ratio of length to thickness), chemical inertness, mechanical stiffness, excellent solubility, photoluminescence, thermal conductivities, easier grafting of their surface with receptors, and greater electrical and high stability compared with conventional semiconductor quantum dots. These superior properties are due to the π - π bonds below and above the atomic plane. On the other hand, fluorescent CQD possesses great potential in designing electrical and electronic devices. Recently, there have been several reports on the electronic properties of CQDs and their applications as materials in chemical resistance sensors.

Bhattacharjee et al. developed and tested a new method for the preparation of a stable hydrocolloidal CQD-PPy solution. Stabilizing PPy on CQDs as colloidal particles is a challenge here that can be solved without the use of additional stabilizers or other oxidizing agents. PSS-passivated CQDs act as both stabilizers and additives to stabilize conductive colloidal CQD-PPy formation. The method is simple and scalable. The CQD-PPy suspension can be coagulated to form a stable ink with no other additives. The ink creates a permanent film/print on most substrates with a simple dip coating process. Ink spots on paper and fabric exhibit long-range semiconductor I–V properties. I–V curves were shown to select responses to different flavors of three different snacks. Because the ink material is environmentally friendly, it can be seen as a durable material for flexible electronic devices and sensor applications.

A conjugate material of CQD and NiO is used as an efficient nanomaterial for the detection of methane (CH₄) gas. The conjugate for the detection of CH₄ is effective at 150 °C. The detection mechanism is:

$$CH_4 + 4O^- = 4H_2O + CO_2 + 4e^-$$

Initially, on the surface of CQD-NiO, the adsorption of oxygen takes place by reducing to O^- . This is followed by the generation of a hole accumulation layer (HAL). NiO is highly efficient in capturing O_2 since the edges have a polygonal structure. A hetero-junction potential barrier is formed between the two layers that act as a potential CH₄ gas adsorption site due to the deposition of CQD on NiO. The thickness of the HAL decreases with time along with the increase in the rate of adsorption of gas molecules. Finally, at the completion of the reaction, the electron is transferred from the CQD to NiO followed by a lowering in the hole concentration of NiO. The reactive species such as O^- and CH₄ undergo simultaneous oxidation and reduction reactions that result in an attenuation of the HAL and as enhancement in resistance as well. This is how the methane is detected.

Till date not many reports have been found except the two above mentioned works on CQD as VOC sensor material. From the literature of graphene-based sensors, CQDs can also be designed as potential sensor material for detection of VOCs in exhaled breath related to diseases like PD, AD, or SARS-COVID-19.

21 VOCs Related to Alzheimer's Disease (AD) and Parkinson's Disease (PD) and SARS-COVID-19

The analysis of VOCs provides illness early identification. In reality, breath analysis has been utilized as a diagnostic technique for illnesses like typhoid fever and weak kidneys in Asian nations since ancient times by monitoring frequency. The identification of biomarkers in exhaled breath has drawn attention since Linus Pauling's original study in 1971 and is now a fast expanding field of study. Testing VOC biomarkers frequently involves selective detection of (pre)identified VOCs or cross validation with standard validation. The measurement of changes in the electrical, optical, chemical, and biological aspects of sensory data linked with VOC molecules is the fundamental basis for the detection of VOC biomarkers. The two most prevalent neurodegenerative disorders are Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease (PD). Today, PD affects more than 1.6% of the world's population, and AD affects more than 26 million individuals globally. Patients, carers, medical professionals, and society are under increasing strain as a result of the rise in neurodegenerative disorders caused by the aging population. Since PD and AD are progressive, neurodegenerative illnesses with notable motor symptoms, there is no chemical diagnostic test for their detection. Identification of volatile organic compound (VOC) patterns in exhaled breath is a novel diagnostic strategy. Breath patterns that are distinctive to a disease could be beneficial as reliable and accessible biomarkers. This strategy is justified by the possibility that, even at the very beginning of the disease, lungmediated changes in blood chemistry may be partially conveyed to the alveolar exhaled breath.

On the other hand, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), which is highly contagious, emerged in 2019 and caused serious respiratory infections known as "Covid-19" virus disease, threatening human health and public safety. The testing method for COVID-19 is based on polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technology. PCR provides accuracy and specificity, and the effectiveness of this method is affected by slow delivery, usually within 1 or 2 days after testing. Therefore, rapid tests based on external analysis or ELISA methods are often used as preliminary tests. On the other hand, direct detection of the COVID-19 virus by inhalation can be done routinely using specialized equipment that can collect exhaled breath and concentrate it for a few minutes and use this condensation to remove and track the virus pattern PCR. No amplification was detected. In addition, it has been widely documented for the cellular production of metabolites that lead to the respiration of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) by bacteria. These VOCs can be targeted for respiratory testing and used to measure health without harming the patient (Table 4).

VOCs detected for disease diagnosis in recent years have received a lot of attention due to their lack of diagnosis and movement. Fast and inexpensive diagnostic tools and real-time detection are an added benefit of VOC detection. Compared to other treatment modalities, the lack of VOC analysis studies for the detection of PD biomarkers and the absence of a matrix for the detection of potential biomarkers

Disease	Disease-related VOCs	Sample source
Alzheimer's disease	Styrene	Breath
	1-methyl-2-(1-methylethyl)-benzene	
	4-methyl-octane	
	2,6,10-trimethyl-dodecane	
	3,7-dimethyl-decane	
	Butylated hydroxytoluene	
	2,4-dimethyl-1-heptene	
	2,3-dimethyl-heptane	
	Propyl-benzene	
	2,2,4,6,6-pentamethyl-heptane	
	2,5,6-trimethyl-octane	
	5-ethyl-2-methyl-octane	
	2,6,10,14-tetramethyl-hexadecane	
	3,7-dimethyl-propanoate (E)	
	2,6-octadien-1-ol	
	2,3,5-trimethyl-hexane	
	1-methylethyl-benzene	
	1-methylpropyl-cyclooctane	
	2,2-dimethylpropanoic acid (pivalic acid)	
	2-ethylhexyl tetradecyl ester	
	Oxalic acid	
	2-butyl-1-octanol	
	Dodecane	
	1-chloro-nonadecane	
	3-ethyl-2,2-dimethyl-pentane	
	1,1'-oxybis-octane	
Parkinson's disease	Styrene	Breath
	2,3,6,7-tetramethyl-octane	
	Butylated hydroxytoluene	
	5-ethyl-2-methyl-octane	
	Decamethyl-cyclopentasiloxane	
	Ethylbenzene	
	1-methyl-3-(1-methylethyl)-benzene	
	3,7-dimethyl-decane	
	2,3-dimethyl-heptane	
	5-ethyl-2-methyl-octane	
	2,3,5-trimethyl-hexane	

 Table 4
 VOCs as biomarkers and their source. The biomarkers have been detected using GC-MS

(continued)

Disease	Disease-related VOCs	Sample source
	Hexadecane	
COVID-19	Methylpent-2-enal	Breath
	2,4-octadiene	
	1-chloroheptane	
	Nonanal	

 Table 4 (continued)

are limitations of its practical application. One limitation is the uncertainty of VOC biomarkers because their structure is dependent on genetics and other factors such as changes in environment, age, sex, and metabolism. There are several reports of the use of graphene sensors to detect NO in exhaled breath for PD diagnosis.

References

- 1. Sim TM, Tarini D, Dheen ST, Bay BH, Srinivasan DK (2020) Nanoparticle-based technology approaches to the management of neurological disorders. Int J Mol Sci 21:6070
- Yang L, Liu S, Liu J, Zhang Z, Wan X, Huang B, Chen Y, Zhang Y (2020) COVID-19: immunopathogenesis and immunotherapeutics. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5:128
- Cui W, Fan Y, Wu W, Zhang F, Wang JY, Ni AP (2003) Expression of lymphocytes and lymphocyte subsets in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome. Clin Infect Dis 37:857– 859
- Cimini E, Viola D, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Romanelli A, Tumino N, Sacchi A, Bordoni V, Casetti R, Turchi F, Martini F, Bore JA (2017) Different features of V&2 T and NK cells in fatal and non-fatal human Ebola infections. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 11:e0005645
- Xu Z, Shi L, Wang Y, Zhang J, Huang L, Zhang C, Liu S, Zhao P, Liu H, Zhu L, Tai Y (2020) Pathological findings of COVID-19 associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Lancet Respir Med 8:420–422
- Xie A, Gao J, Xu L, Meng D (2014) Shared mechanisms of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. BioMed Res Int
- Van Deerlin VM (2012) The genetics and neuropathology of neurodegenerative disorders: perspectives and implications for research and clinical practice. Acta Neuropathol 124:297–303
- Banks WA (2012) Drug delivery to the brain in Alzheimer's disease: consideration of the blood-brain barrier. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:629–639
- 9. Guerreiro R, Bras J (2015) The age factor in Alzheimer's disease. Genome Med 7:1-3
- Weintraub S, Wicklund AH, Salmon DP (2012) The neuropsychological profile of Alzheimer disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a006171
- 11. Perl DP (2010) Neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease. Mount Sinai J Med 77:32-42
- Yilmazer-Hanke DM, Hanke J (1999) Progression of Alzheimer-related neuritic plaque pathology in the entorhinal region, perirhinal cortex and hippocampal formation. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 10:70–76
- Hardy J, Selkoe DJ (2002) The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. Science 297:353–356
- 14. Ricciarelli R, Fedele E (2017) The amyloid cascade hypothesis in Alzheimer's disease: it's time to change our mind. Curr Neuropharmacol 15:926–935
- Crews L, Masliah E (2010) Molecular mechanisms of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Hum Mol Genet 19:R12–R20

- Andorfer C, Kress Y, Espinoza M, De Silva R, Tucker KL, Barde YA, Duff K, Davies P (2003) Hyperphosphorylation and aggregation of tau in mice expressing normal human tau isoforms. J Neurochem 86:582–590
- 17. Hong M, Chen DC, Klein PS, Lee VMY (1997) Lithium reduces tau phosphorylation by inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3. J Biol Chem 272:25326–25332
- Lipton SA (2005) The molecular basis of memantine action in Alzheimer's disease and other neurologic disorders: low-affinity, uncompetitive antagonism. Curr Alzheimer Res 2:155–165
- 19. Ringman JM, Frautschy SA, Cole GM, Masterman DL, Cummings JL (2005) A potential role of the curry spice curcumin in Alzheimer's disease. Curr Alzheimer Res 2:131–136
- Ballabh P, Braun A, Nedergaard M (2004) The blood-brain barrier: an overview: structure, regulation, and clinical implications. Neurobiol Dis 16:1–13
- 21. Silva GA (2008) Nanotechnology approaches to crossing the blood-brain barrier and drug delivery to the CNS. BMC Neurosci 9:1–4

Functional Biosensors in Cell and Tissue Fabrication for Smart Life-Sciences Applications



Guven Akcay, Cagla Celik, Nilay Ildız, and Ismail Ocsoy

Abstract Biosensors are sensitive, selective, and rapid bioanalytical applications for diagnosis in cell and tissue engineering technologies. Compared to the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay performed by standard methods, biosensors provide many advantages. In particular, biosensors designed through a combination of chemical, biological, and physical methods provide a good strategy for monitoring microbio-physiological signals in real time and in situ. This chapter summarizes the latest developments in innovative biosensor applications for different technologies of biological interest, essentially cell and tissue engineering. The latest studies and innovative approaches to biosensors for the diagnosis and bioimaging of tissue disease modes due to central nervous system, cardiovascular system, and endocrine system disorders are discussed. In addition, various biochip approaches such as cell/tissue-based biosensors, flexible biosensors, and paper-based biochips are mentioned. Finally, we discuss the diagnostic challenges current biosensors face and highlight the future prospects of biosensors for cell/tissue engineering applications.

Keywords Biosensors · Tissue engineering · Diagnosis · Biochips

C. Celik

N. Ildız

I. Ocsoy (⊠) Department of Analytical Chemistry, Faculty of Pharmacy, Erciyes University, 38039 Kayseri, Turkey e-mail: ismailocsoy66@gmail.com

G. Akcay

Department of Biophysics, Faculty of Medicine, Hitit University, 19000 Corum, Turkey

Pharmacy Services Program, Vocational School of Health Services, Hitit University, 19000 Corum, Turkey

Medical Imaging Department, Vocational School of Health Services, Bandırma Onyedi Eylul University, 10200 Bandirma, Turkey

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2024 235 A. K. Mandal et al. (eds.), *Functionalized Smart Nanomaterials for Point-of-Care Testing*, Smart Nanomaterials Technology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-5787-3_13

1 Introduction

Biosensors are known as the next generation sensing technology that encompasses a variety of technologies and knowledge from many disciplines, including biology, chemistry, and physics. Combining interdisciplinary technologies, biosensors offer a functional analytical platform to analyze the need in environmental, food, public health, microbiology, and biomedical sciences. Biosensors first detect results through optical, chemical, or electrical components and then use receivers, transducers, and imaging systems to convert this detection into a measurable signal [6]. Thanks to components, biosensors can measure signals at very low levels. Thus, they provide fast results with high stability and high sensitivity from a small number or quantity of human samples, without the need for specialized personnel. The first biosensor to be developed for measured glucose with a method based on electrochemical techniques using an electrode containing immobilized glucose oxidase [11] enzyme. With the advances in manufacturing techniques [50] and innovative approaches including nanotechnology, electrochemistry, and photolithography [51], biosensor applications have made incredible progress. Nowadays, the parts of biosensors that act as receptors have been given various functions to detect toxic substances, proteins, cell, and tissue behavior [59, 60]. Especially in clinical studies, biosensors developed to detect molecules are widely used to detect genes, proteins, or cytokines in patient samples. Molecule-labeled biosensors utilize a variety of specific biochemical reactions mediated by DNA and ion channels to detect enzymes, receptors, antigens, and antibodies [7]. In particular, the detection of substances released as a result of cellular reaction in microfluidic biochips is possible by immobilizing antibodies or aptamers specific to the cells used as biomarkers to the biosensor [39, 61]. The main advantage of molecular-based biosensors is that the conjugation of biomarkers with highly selective biomolecules allows the identification of a range of analytes with high sensitivity and selectivity [15]. In order to analyze the targeted molecules, genomic probes with specificity such as antibodies, nucleic acids, enzymes, etc., are integrated onto the surface of the sensor by physical adsorption and chemical grafting methods. Subsequently, the change of piezoelectric, calorimetric, optical, or electrochemical signals from the transducer components is converted into output in the form of electrical signals [12]. In order to detect interleukin-2 (IL-2), Arya and co-workers used 4fluoro-3-nitrophenyl (FNP) as a coupling agent to bind the IL-2 antibody to a gold electrode surface. Thus, in the developed biosensor, IL-2 was detected by measuring the anti-IL-2-fixed cyclic voltammetry (CV) results resulting from the interactions between antigen and antibody on the gold electrode surface [2]. Furthermore, Chen et al. developed a biosensor consisting of aptamer-based porous silica nanoparticles (MSN) that can provide controlled release [8]. In this sensor, they conjugated the FITC fluorescent dye encapsulated in MSN to DNA by click-chemistry method. After detection of thrombin with DNA aptamers on the MSN, the encapsulated FITC fluorescent dye is revealed from the pores of the MSN, indicating that biosensors can also be controlled depending on a stimulus. Another technique exploits the physical properties of material surfaces to recognize different molecules.

Cell- or tissue-based biosensors, like molecule-based biosensors, offer significant innovations for the detection of cell-associated analytes in situ over the last decade [22, 36, 45]. Such biosensors provide information about the responses of cells and tissues by measuring phenotypic outcomes in cells [18]. Essentially, cellbased biosensors consist of three components: viable cells, bioactive components, and transducers. Thanks to the bioactivity of the components present as substrates, biomarkers released from cells grown on the biosensors can be measured, or cellular polarity resulting from the charge exchange of the cells.

After cells are treated with pharmaceutical or biochemical agents, the changes induced by the agents in the cells can be recorded through physiological parameters such as change in cellular polarity, change in cell membrane permeability, or ligand expression [36]. Molecule-based detection biosensor technologies perform a high selectivity for the analyte molecule to be detected compared to cell-based detection biosensors. However, the short lifetime and the cost of the isolation process of the molecules that will identify the biomarker of interest, such as antibodies, limit the applications of such biosensors. Therefore, cell-based biosensors offer an innovative approach to the diagnosis of diseases with rapid analysis. Biosensor systems are advanced from the cell level to the tissue level to provide more precise results for disease diagnosis. Multicellular cultures and organoids are often used in tissue-based biosensors as they are considered biomimetic structures due to their resemblance to natural tissues. Instead of multicellular cultures or organoids, complex 3D tissue-like structures that provide the functions and properties of natural tissues are being developed by tissue engineering. In recent developments, the production of 3D structures with biological effects in vitro has contributed significantly to tissue-based biosensors, offering potential biosensor strategies to predict, monitor, and diagnose the effects of pharmaceutical agents. The innovative tissue-based biosensors, the socalled organ-on-a-chip platform, is attracting intense interest as the 3D structures developed to mimic the properties of biological tissues. Integrated with a mobile control system, the structures can behave as physiological mechanisms such as blood flow. Another study by Bavli et al., an innovative biosensor, was developed using particle-type oxygen sensors and liver organoid [5]. With this sensor, it is possible to monitor the change in mitochondrial function after the administration of drugs, providing a liver-like response and exciting those working in this field.

In this book chapter, we review the current biosensor progress in the biomedical field, including biosensor fabrication technologies in different biological materials, biosensor types, and their applications in various fields, in order to highlight how and for what purpose biosensors are used in the field of tissue engineering. Thus, we hope to contribute to the knowledge of scientists working in this field to understand the shortcomings and working mechanisms of current biosensors to enable them to realize advanced biomedical applications.

2 Current Technological Approaches for Development of Biosensors

Various sensors such as biochips, paper-based biosensors, nanoparticles, and labeled or label-free biosensors including flexible biosensors are being developed. In recent years, different methods such as computerized numerical control (CNC), photolithography, and casting have been used to develop various biosensors. Biosensors are often produced not only by one of the mentioned methods, but by combining two or more methods. This shows that existing techniques perform a multifunctional activity to design complex or simple sensor mechanisms.

Photolithography is a favored technique for modeling proteins and cell structures in biosensor applications and tissue engineering studies. Photolithography is the method of transferring different patterns on a mask to a glass or silicon surface using UV light [23]. In biosensor design, photolithography allows microelectrodes of different shapes and sizes to be patterned on the surface of biochips using UV light. This enables the fabrication of transducer structures in very small sizes [40].

The developed biochips require model cells to create biomimetic structures. Factors affecting cell binding and cell behavior include pattern shape, size, surface modification, and surface topology. In developed enzyme sensors, DNA sensors, immune sensors, and several biomarkers are modeled on biochips with interlocking electrode arrays [13, 43].

3 Biosensor Development in Tissue Engineering

Tissue engineering, which works in line with engineering sciences and biological principles, carries out studies to develop various tissue structures to restore, repair, or maintain the impaired functions of damaged cells and tissues [31]. In tissue engineering techniques, cell-to-cell and cell-to-material interactions must coexist for optimal physical and cellular signaling to occur. Accordingly, it is required to identify and monitor cellular responses, cellular signals, cell functionality, and behavior. As seen in recent developments, biosensors are widely used in tissue engineering applications. In particular, it has become common to develop tissue engineering systems in microfluidic platforms where biosensors developed to monitor cellular behavior and specific biomolecules in tissues are integrated. These miniaturized systems provide critical information for rapid and real-time prediction of physiological response through electrical, optical, and electrochemical systems [24].

3.1 Biosensors for Cell-Based Applications

3.1.1 Biosensors for Monitoring Cell Polarity Change

Biosensors based on measuring polarity change are used to monitor biochemical reactions occurring at the cellular level. In a study, a polarity-sensitive biosensor that can fluoresce was developed based on the detection of cell apoptosis with images of viable cells [28]. This biosensor was applied to investigate changes in neuronal degeneration process in vivo and in vitro.

3.1.2 Biosensors Developed for Monitoring Cell Behaviors Such as Metabolization, Proliferation of Stem Cells

Biosensors developed for monitoring cellular changes are used in the fields of cellular signal detection, cell behavior, drug toxicity, and disease modeling. Various biosensors have been developed for the transmission of cellular signals such as measurement of cellular metabolic activities, and monitoring the change of charge potential in the cell membrane. Tissue engineering is critical for the evaluation of electrophysiological properties of cardiomyocytes and neuronal cells. Microelectrode arrays (MEAs) have been developed to detect the electrophysiological properties of living cells as a result of their reactions. Chowdhury et al. developed a method that combines MEA with optical mapping to record action potential and contact electrograms simultaneously. Because they thought that the cellular action potential and contact electrogram are linked and should change during arrhythmogenesis [10]. In addition, biomechanical measurements associated with cardiomyocytes to investigate the pathophysiological electro-mechanical coupling were previously performed using different devices [29]. In another study, microbead-based sensors based on fluorescence irradiation were developed to detect hepatocyte growth factor and transforming growth factor- β 1 [48]. Various sensors have also been developed to measure signaling molecules released from cells such as nitric oxide (NO) and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) [47, 55]. NO is an important messenger molecule in biological systems and H₂O₂ plays an active role in cellular communication, cell migration, and immunity formation. In Fig. 1, Au nanoclusters and a poly(toluidine blue) modified electrode were combined to detect H₂O₂ and nitric oxide, respectively using microfluidic technology. Similarly, Visser and co-workers preferred inkjet methods to print carbon MEAs on materials that can mimic the extracellular matrix consisting of gelatin, PDMS, and various types of hydrogels to produce soft MEAs [52].



Fig. 1 Detection of H_2O_2 by Au nanoparticles combined microfluidic droplet sensor. Reprinted with permission from [47]. Copyright (2018) ACS publishing

3.2 Strategies of Biosensors to Detect Cell-Released Analytes

3.2.1 Label-Free Biosensors

The determination of the number of proliferating cells, protein quantification, or cellular migration is often preferable to monitoring cellular behavior in a given culture medium. Traditionally, the detection of cell viability and cell number can usually be performed by counting cells under a microscope, measuring DNA content, or detecting viability, such as the MTT assay. However, these techniques are labor-intensive and lengthy procedures. Noninvasive and label-free detection methods, on the other hand, offer advantages in tissue engineering applications and stem cell technology, such as the ability to stain, fix, and fluoresce as desired.

3.2.2 Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR)-Based Biosensors

Biosensors based on SPR have recently been revealed as a multipurpose biosensor providing the advantages of small sample volumes, live cell analysis, and high throughput. In addition, SPR biosensors enable label-free, real-time analysis with increased sensitivity to the change in refractive index of the analyzed structures [27].

In recent studies, an SPR-based biosensing device has been developed that offers an innovative approach to analyze the osteogenic change of mesenchymal stem cells [30]. Moreover, the SPR-based biosensor has been used to monitor cardiac troponin



Fig. 2 Schematic illustration of SPR biosensor for detecting vascular endothelial-cadherin expression. Reprinted with permission from [19]. Copyright (2017) ELSEVIER publishing

T and fatty acid binding protein 3, two biomarkers used clinically for the assessment of cardiotoxicity [1].

Furthermore, Fathi and co-workers designed an SPR detection system in Fig. 2 that responds accurately and rapidly to SPR signals by analyzing vascular endothelial-cadherin expression, which can detect endothelial differentiation early [19].

3.3 Biosensor Applications in Various Diseases

3.3.1 Biosensor Applications in Neural Diseases

Biosensors enable the diagnosis of diseases by detecting various signals from tissue. Traditional methods of diagnosing neurological diseases are time-consuming and inconvenient to use. This is because a clinician is needed to check the symptoms of the diseases and in most of diseases, such as Parkinson's disease (PD), there is a risk that about 40% of people may be underestimated in the early stages [44]. Neurological studies are one of the research areas where cell-based biosensors are proving to be important. With MEA technology, it is possible to monitor neuronal circuits, physiological system and abnormalities, and detect malfunctions [46]. The MEA technique offers advantages such as multisite recording, long-term culture, and non-invasive monitoring of the electrophysiological activity of neuronal cells for high-throughput screening [9]. Furthermore, Lourenco and co-workers developed a new multimodal technique for metabolic, electrical, and hemodynamic measurements together with neuron cell activity [38].

Based on the MEA technique, the scientists fabricated an innovative microelectrode arrays in Fig. 3 that combined neuronal network development under the



Fig. 3 Schematic illustration of the design of a biochip by using the MEA method. **a** Schematic illustrating the design of the biochip. **b** The process used to fabricate the biochip. Reprinted with permission from [37]. Copyright (2018) ACS publications

guidance of neurite outgrowth ITO-PEM microfluidic system [37]. The biochip in Fig. 3 included 3 different functional layers [37]. It offers a good alternative for onchip organ development, tissue engineering, drug discovery, disease modeling, and biomaterial testing.

Biochips integrated into biosensors are exciting and make important contributions to related fields of study. In particular, biomimetic chip and biosensor integrated systems make it possible to monitor the electrophysiological properties of cells, early-stage differentiation, stem cell proliferation, neural network formation, and stimulation response. Even micro-sized and ultra-flexible electrocorticography arrays using glassy carbon electrodes have been used to monitor brain activity [53]. For instance, in another study, Xie et al. developed a nanoelectronic probe with microscale pores to solve problems such as mechanical incompatibility and instability of conventional metal and silicon microprobes used for brain recording [57]. Thus, they developed a device with 3D microscale pores decorated with wire-shaped nanoelectrodes. This probe with micropores supports integration with the brain by providing a neuron/probe interface. This makes it possible to record action potentials from the somatosensory cortex in the brain. Live cell-based devices have been used to monitor endothelial barrier function and molecules released from cells [34]. Li and co-workers fabricated a reversible electrode for rapid diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease using graphene oxide nano structures with magnetic properties (Fig. 4) [33].



Fig. 4 Schematic illustration of A β 42-immobilized graphene-based biosensors for diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. Reprinted with permission from [33]. Copyright (2016) Springer Nature Limited.

They integrated an Alzheimer's disease's biomarker of Amyloid-beta peptide 1–42 (A β 42), onto a nitrogen-doped graphene (MNG) with magnetic properties. Furthermore, another biosensor that rapidly detects PD was developed by Yang et al. (Fig. 5) [58]. They formed a monolayer (SAM) by attaching a DNA aptamer and an SH-spacer onto the substrate molecule. When the biosensor is treated with PD biomarker (a-synuclein), the DNA aptamer performs a specific attaching to the a-synuclein protein. Subsequently, the changing signals based on optical analysis resulting from the capturing of a-synuclein can be easily identificated under a microscope. When the developed biosensor is compared to conventional Western blot or ELISA methods, these sensors appear to be novel, easily applicable and rapid strategies to facilitate the diagnosis of neurologically based diseases.

3.3.2 Biosensor Applications in Cardiac Diseases

It has been clearly demonstrated that the monitoring and measurement of electrical signals generated in physiological mechanisms in the body is one of the main functions of biosensors. Remarkably, bioelectric activity is often monitored to control the function of cardiac tissues. Bioelectric activity can be generated by cardiomyocytes, which induce changes in the action potential in the membrane of the capillary cells. Thus, due to the alteration of the action potential, cardiac cells can induce a synchronized pumping behavior through organized electrical propagation [16]. Dutta et al. conducted a study showing that the difference in oxygen level measured in tissues significantly interrupts the regular routine of the action potential [17]. Consequently, continued monitoring of electrocardiogram (ECG) data has emerged as a traditional method to detect the cardiac rhythm signal in the diagnosis of cap-related diseases. Lee and co-workers designed a small-size wearable flexible biosensor to easily and continuously monitor heart rhythm signals [32]. With the developed cardiac



Fig. 5 Schematic illustration of the diagnosis of a PD using PD biomarker (α -synuclein) with a biosensor. Reprinted with permission from [58]. Copyright (2020) Royal Society of Chemistry

biosensor, changes in patients' heart rhythm signals can be monitored directly on their smartphones (Fig. 6). Feiner and colleagues also produced a degradable electronic scaffold as a heart patch. With this flexible product, the spontaneous contraction-relaxation signals of heart cells can be detected. It also provides an external electrical stimulation to control the rhythm of irregularly contracting heart cells [21]. This work, a chip containing a biosensor, also contributes to heart cells that mimic heart-related diseases.



Fig. 6 Schematic images of a flexible, soft cardiac biosensor capable of electrocardiogram (ECG) waveforms and measuring real-time heart rate. Reprinted with permission from [32]. Copyright (2018) Springer Nature Limited.



Fig. 7 Schematic illustrations of a heart-on-a-chip with Au electrode and PDMS channels. Reprinted with permission from [35]. Copyright (2020) ACS publications

Liu and co-workers developed a Pt nanostructure array integrated on Au electrode as shown in Fig. 7 [35]. The developed on-chip biosensor makes a significant contribution to explain the effect on the electrophysiological behavior of the heart in hypoxic state.

3.3.3 Biosensor Applications in Cancer Diseases Detection

In the last decade, cancer research has gained great momentum. Traditionally, cancer research has focused on the development of effective therapeutic methods to treat cancer diseases. But in some cases, patients are often diagnosed with cancer at the last stage. Early diagnosis is vital in cancer treatment. For this reason, the most effective treatment period for patients diagnosed at the last stage is over [20]. Therefore, how to diagnose cancer diseases quickly and accurately has recently become a popular topic for cancer research. Various biomimetic cancer models have been designed to investigate the formation, mutation, and metastasis mechanisms of cancer cells. In another study, Kamei et al. produced a microfluidic chip that creates a cancer model by designing a chip combining heart and liver cancer cells [26]. With this model, the effects of drugs in the bloodstream on the migration and metabolism of liver cancer cells can be easily monitored. Biosensors developed for early-stage detection offer a fast and easy strategy for producing biosensors that can diagnose versatile cancers. For instance, Pan et al. designed a chip labeled with two different biomarkers, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and prostate-specific antigen (PSA), to detect prostate cancer and its tumor cells (Fig. 8) [42]. These biomarkers were designed by immobilizing gold nanorods (GNR) on a silicon chip. Then, biomarkers secreted from cancer cells in the circulatory system were specifically captured by the labeled chip. The binding was proven by the absorbance value obtained from UV-Vis spectrophotometer after one hour of incubation.


Fig. 8 Schematic representation of a prostate cancer biosensor that captures VEGF and PSA. Reprinted with permission from [42]. Copyright (2017) Ivy Spring International Publisher

In another study, Hu et al. designed a different type of visible signal-generating biosensor that could enable detection. Detection of low-expressed extracellular vesicle (EV)-associated RNA in the early stage of cancer is very difficult. To overcome this challenge, they developed a chip that integrates nanoparticles to capture and detect EV-associated RNA. The cationic polymer nanoparticles triggered the binding of glypican-1 mRNA, a pancreatic cancer biomarker, to EV in serum, producing multiple signal outputs after 30 min of incubation. This technique is an innovative approach to detect pancreatic cancer patients even at an early stage. These studies show that biosensors integrating genomic probes play a critical role in the rapid and early stage diagnosis of cancer diseases (Fig. 9) [25].



Fig. 9 Schematic illustration of the biochip by linking neutravidin with a tether lipid-polymer hybrid nanoparticle (LPHN) and loading extracellular vesicle (EV) on an Au layer. Reprinted with permission from [25]. Copyright (2017) Springer Nature Limited.

3.4 Biosensor Applications in Bioimaging Technologies

Apart from in vitro applications for disease detection, biosensors are used to improve sensing capability in bioimaging applications as they have a fast and sensitive labeling function. Related to this concept, nanomaterials, which are candidates for bioimaging due to their small size, high surface area, and modifiable properties, are used in biosensor design for various purposes [56]. Various types of nanomaterials, including polymers, silicas, polymers, and carbon dots have been fabricated for different aims, suitable for diagnostic machines such as computer topography imaging (CT imaging), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), fluorescence microscope images [56]. In a study, they synthesized porous silica nanoparticles encapsulated with a dye that fluoresces in the near infrared (NIR) as a breast cancer cell targeting agent with LS277 [41]. Compared to the case where only LS277 is delivered, the mesoporous silica nanoparticle delivers images with five times more resolution than that used in LS277 alone. Furthermore, Bao et al. used an NIR triggering technique to develop carbon dot-containing nanoparticles [3]. By synthesizing carbon dots with urea, DMSO, citric acid an N, S-doped carbon dot with NIR fluorescence can be produced and rapidly removed from organs such as kidney or liver 24 h after intravenous injection. Interestingly, NIR fluorescence images after injection showed that S, N-doped carbon dots accumulated considerably in tumor tissues after application. This result indicates that S, N-doped carbon dots activate tumor labeling of a compound. Bao and co-workers developed magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for MRI imaging and Dong et al. developed gold nanoparticles for bioimaging in CT techniques [4, 14]. Both results from their studies confirmed that the nanomaterials function as contrast agents for use in CT and MRI imaging. By adjusting the size of gold nanoparticles or magnetic iron oxide, the image contrast of the nanoparticles in diverse tissues and organs can be enhanced (Fig. 10). For instance, magnetic iron oxide in 4 nm sizes can enhance T1 image contrasts in MR images. The same is true for CT imaging when the size of gold nanoparticles is 4 nm [4, 14]. Moreover, by decorating the surface of nanoparticles with chemical structures such as folic acid, they can act as tumor contrast agents [4]. Therefore, various types of nanoparticles used in the design of biosensors have potential use as bioimaging agents.



Fig. 10 a Schematic illustration of iron oxide nanoparticles as T1 MRI contrast agents and possible integration with CT and PET. Reprinted with permission from 64. Copyright (2018) Royal Society of Chemistry. **b** The TEM images of gold nanoparticles with different particle sizes. The images indicate that controlling the size of nanoparticles effect enhances the image contrast at various organs. Reprinted with permission from [14]. Copyright (2019) Springer Nature Limited.

4 Challenges and Future Perspectives

Next-generation biosensors are promising techniques that provide sensitive, selective, and rapid disease diagnosis for various applications in the field of tissue engineering. Compared to conventional ELISA assays, the developed biosensors offer a good solution for real-time acquisition of physiological signals by combining chemical, physical, and biological technologies. Biosensor systems have made significant progress in the last decade, but there is still a need to improve some of their functions. The biggest challenges of biosensors are their long-term stability and scale-up process. Stability is still a major challenge, especially during conversion to commercial products. Biosensors are mostly developed as prototypes in a research laboratory. For this reason, scale-up technology is very important in the commercialization phase. This is because it requires rapid mass production of good quality biosensors from the laboratory level to the industrial level. It is very difficult and costly to scale up the results obtained in the research laboratory to a commercially viable level on a large scale. Furthermore, the time from the industrial production level to the retail level to reach the user is often longer than expected. To overcome this challenge, some biosensor chips are developed by immobilizing proteins, growth factors, and antigens that can cause a short expiry date.

In general, biosensors suffer from the problem of stability in order to be able to successfully perform the sensor task again in the case of long-term storage. Furthermore, biosensors are advanced systems that allow even extremely weak signals to be recorded from small amounts of samples in a low-noise environment. But in a real clinical setting, there is a complex matrix that cannot be predicted in advance. Therefore, background noise can increase, which can reduce the accuracy of the results. Furthermore, when biosensors are working, they often need to be connected to controllers, imagers, and other equipments. This can make biosensors less desirable to the user as they require complex operation and have user-unfriendly interfaces.

In order to solve the aforementioned problems, techniques with higher sensitivity and faster response should be developed through interdisciplinary studies during the production phase of biosensors. For instance, the development of various nanostructures such as nanorods, nanocages, and nanostars within nanotechnological developments may provide the opportunity to increase the signal and sensitivity of the samples [54]. In addition, cell-based biosensors that can be used in vitro have continuous and real-time monitoring functions, while lightweight biosensors in small sizes, such as paper-based biosensors, offer great convenience for direct observation of results. Lightweight biosensors are more suitable for industrial production and are more prone to the feasibility of scale-up from the prototype stage developed in the laboratory to the industrial stage. Consequently, the current progression of sensors developed for tissue engineering applications is toward the evolution of small-sized, flexible, and relatively lightweight biosensors. To this end, technologies are being developed to facilitate the integration of biosensors into wearable devices. For instance, tear-based biosensors have been preferred in the development of biosensors integrated into contact lenses. By using tears as a sample, glucose levels can be measured, enabling continuous monitoring of diabetes [49].

Thus, by using body fluids such as saliva, sweat, and tears through wearable biosensors, information about the physiological system can be obtained directly. Furthermore, wearable biosensors integrated with smartphone applications offer an innovative perspective that can be used for real-time continuous monitoring, diagnosis, or disease prognosis. We hope that this book chapter will be informative for scientists producing new technologies in the fields of biology, chemistry, and physics on how to design disease-related biosensors for applications in tissue engineering. Thus, we hope that new potential applications and technologies can be discovered for the active use of biosensors developed through academic research in clinical applications.

References

- Andersson H, Steel D, Asp J, Dahlenborg K, Jonsson M, Jeppsson A et al (2010) Assaying cardiac biomarkers for toxicity testing using biosensing and cardiomyocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells. J Biotechnol 150(1):175–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec. 2010.06.023
- Arya SK, Park MK (2014) 4-Fluoro-3-nitrophenyl grafted gold electrode based platform for label free electrochemical detection of interleukin-2 protein. Biosens Bioelectron 61:260–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2014.05.029
- Bao X, Yuan Y, Chen J, Zhang B, Li D, Zhou D et al (2018) In vivo theranostics with nearinfrared-emitting carbon dots-highly efficient photothermal therapy based on passive targeting after intravenous administration. Light Sci Appl 7:91. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41377-018-0090-1
- Bao Y, Sherwood JA, Sun Z (2018) Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles as T1 contrast agents for magnetic resonance imaging. J Mater Chem C 6(6):1280–1290. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7T C05854C
- Bavli D, Prill S, Ezra E, Levy G, Cohen M, Vinken M et al (2016) Real-time monitoring of metabolic function in liver-on-chip microdevices tracks the dynamics of mitochondrial dysfunction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(16):E2231-2240. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.152 2556113
- 6. Bhalla N, Jolly P, Formisano N, Estrela P (2016) Introduction to biosensors. Essays Biochem 60(1):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1042/ebc20150001
- Bousse L (1996) Whole cell biosensors. Sens Actuators B Chem 34(1):270–275. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0925-4005(96)01906-5
- Chen Z, Sun M, Luo F, Xu K, Lin Z, Zhang L (2018) Stimulus-response click chemistry based aptamer-functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles for fluorescence detection of thrombin. Talanta 178:563–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2017.09.043
- Chiappalone M, Vato A, Tedesco MB, Marcoli M, Davide F, Martinoia S (2003) Networks of neurons coupled to microelectrode arrays: a neuronal sensory system for pharmacological applications. Biosens Bioelectron 18(5–6):627–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0956-566 3(03)00041-1
- Chowdhury RA, Tzortzis KN, Dupont E, Selvadurai S, Perbellini F, Cantwell CD et al (2018) Concurrent micro- to macro-cardiac electrophysiology in myocyte cultures and human heart slices. Sci Rep 8(1):6947. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25170-9

- Clark LC Jr, Lyons C (1962) Electrode systems for continuous monitoring in cardiovascular surgery. Ann N Y Acad Sci 102:29–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1962.tb13623.x
- Contreras-Naranjo JE, Aguilar O (2019) Suppressing non-specific binding of proteins onto electrode surfaces in the development of electrochemical immunosensors. Biosensors (Basel) 9(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/bios9010015
- Diakoumakos CD, Douvas A, Raptis I, Kakabakos S, Dimotikalli D, Terzoudi G, Argitis P (2002) Dilute aqueous base developable resists for environmentally friendly and biocompatible processes. Microelectron Eng 61–62:819–827. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-9317(02)004 51-3
- Dong YC, Hajfathalian M, Maidment PSN, Hsu JC, Naha PC, Si-Mohamed S et al (2019) Effect of gold nanoparticle size on their properties as contrast agents for computed tomography. Sci Rep 9(1):14912. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-50332-8
- Du H, Strohsahl CM, Camera J, Miller BL, Krauss TD (2005) Sensitivity and specificity of metal surface-immobilized "molecular beacon" biosensors. J Am Chem Soc 127(21):7932–7940. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja042482a
- Duranteau J, Chandel NS, Kulisz A, Shao Z, Schumacker PT (1998) Intracellular signaling by reactive oxygen species during hypoxia in cardiomyocytes. J Biol Chem 273(19):11619–11624. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.19.11619
- Dutta S, Mincholé A, Quinn TA, Rodriguez B (2017) Electrophysiological properties of computational human ventricular cell action potential models under acute ischemic conditions. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 129:40–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2017.02.007
- Fang Y, Ferrie AM, Fontaine NH, Mauro J, Balakrishnan J (2006) Resonant waveguide grating biosensor for living cell sensing. Biophys J 91(5):1925–1940. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj. 105.077818
- Fathi F, Rezabakhsh A, Rahbarghazi R, Rashidi MR (2017) Early-stage detection of VEcadherin during endothelial differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells using SPR biosensor. Biosens Bioelectron 96:358–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2017.05.018
- Fayanju OM, Jeffe DB, Elmore L, Ksiazek DN, Margenthaler JA (2013) Patient and process factors associated with late-stage breast cancer diagnosis in safety-net patients: a pilot prospective study. Ann Surg Oncol 20(3):723–732. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-012-2558-1
- Feiner R, Fleischer S, Shapira A, Kalish O, Dvir T (2018) Multifunctional degradable electronic scaffolds for cardiac tissue engineering. J Control Release 281:189–195. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jconrel.2018.05.023
- Gui Q, Lawson T, Shan S, Yan L, Liu Y (2017) The application of whole cell-based biosensors for use in environmental analysis and in medical diagnostics. Sensors (Basel) 17(7). https:// doi.org/10.3390/s17071623
- Hammarback JA, Palm SL, Furcht LT, Letourneau PC (1985) Guidance of neurite outgrowth by pathways of substratum-adsorbed laminin. J Neurosci Res 13(1–2):213–220. https://doi. org/10.1002/jnr.490130115
- Hasan A, Nurunnabi M, Morshed M, Paul A, Polini A, Kuila T et al (2014) Recent advances in application of biosensors in tissue engineering. Biomed Res Int 2014:307519. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/307519
- Hu J, Sheng Y, Kwak KJ, Shi J, Yu B, Lee LJ (2017) A signal-amplifiable biochip quantifies extracellular vesicle-associated RNAs for early cancer detection. Nat Commun 8(1):1683. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01942-1
- Kamei K-I, Kato Y, Hirai Y, Ito S, Satoh J, Oka A et al (2017) Integrated heart/cancer on a chip to reproduce the side effects of anti-cancer drugs in vitro. RSC Adv 7(58):36777–36786. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7RA07716E
- Kato K, Ishimuro T, Arima Y, Hirata I, Iwata H (2007) High-throughput immunophenotyping by surface plasmon resonance imaging. Anal Chem 79(22):8616–8623. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ac071548s
- Kim YE, Chen J, Chan JR, Langen R (2010) Engineering a polarity-sensitive biosensor for time-lapse imaging of apoptotic processes and degeneration. Nat Methods 7(1):67–73. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1405

- Knöll R, Hoshijima M, Hoffman HM, Person V, Lorenzen-Schmidt I, Bang ML et al (2002) The cardiac mechanical stretch sensor machinery involves a Z disc complex that is defective in a subset of human dilated cardiomyopathy. Cell 111(7):943–955. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0092-8674(02)01226-6
- Kuo YC, Ho JH, Yen TJ, Chen HF, Lee OK (2011) Development of a surface plasmon resonance biosensor for real-time detection of osteogenic differentiation in live mesenchymal stem cells. Plos One 6(7):e22382. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022382
- Langer R, Vacanti JP (1993) Tissue engineering. Science 260(5110):920–926. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.8493529
- 32. Lee SP, Ha G, Wright DE, Ma Y, Sen-Gupta E, Haubrich NR et al (2018) Highly flexible, wearable, and disposable cardiac biosensors for remote and ambulatory monitoring. NPJ Digit Med 1:2. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-017-0009-x
- Li SS, Lin CW, Wei KC, Huang CY, Hsu PH, Liu HL et al (2016) Non-invasive screening for early Alzheimer's disease diagnosis by a sensitively immunomagnetic biosensor. Sci Rep 6:25155. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep25155
- Li X, Soler M, Özdemir CI, Belushkin A, Yesilköy F, Altug H (2017) Plasmonic nanohole array biosensor for label-free and real-time analysis of live cell secretion. Lab Chip 17(13):2208– 2217. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7lc00277g
- Liu H, Bolonduro OA, Hu N, Ju J, Rao AA, Duffy BM et al (2020) Heart-on-a-chip model with integrated extra- and intracellular bioelectronics for monitoring cardiac electrophysiology under acute hypoxia. Nano Lett 20(4):2585–2593. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett. 0c00076
- Liu Q, Wu C, Cai H, Hu N, Zhou J, Wang P (2014) Cell-based biosensors and their application in biomedicine. Chem Rev 114(12):6423–6461. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr2003129
- 37. Liu YC, Lee IC, Lei KF (2018) Toward the development of an artificial brain on a micropatterned and material-regulated biochip by guiding and promoting the differentiation and neurite outgrowth of neural stem/progenitor cells. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 10(6):5269–5277. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b17863
- Lourenço CF, Ledo A, Gerhardt GA, Laranjinha J, Barbosa RM (2017) Neurometabolic and electrophysiological changes during cortical spreading depolarization: multimodal approach based on a lactate-glucose dual microbiosensor arrays. Sci Rep 7(1):6764. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-017-07119-6
- Ma C, Fan R, Ahmad H, Shi Q, Comin-Anduix B, Chodon T et al (2011) A clinical microchip for evaluation of single immune cells reveals high functional heterogeneity in phenotypically similar T cells. Nat Med 17(6):738–743. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2375
- Mir M, Dondapati SK, Duarte MV, Chatzichristidi M, Misiakos K, Petrou P et al (2010) Electrochemical biosensor microarray functionalized by means of biomolecule friendly photolithography. Biosens Bioelectron 25(9):2115–2121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2010. 02.012
- Palantavida S, Tang R, Sudlow GP, Akers WJ, Achilefu S, Sokolov I (2014) Ultrabright NIR fluorescent mesoporous silica nanoparticles. J Mater Chem B 2(20):3107–3114. https://doi. org/10.1039/c4tb00287c
- 42. Pan LH, Pang ST, Fang PY, Chuang CK, Yang HW (2017) Label-free biochips for accurate detection of prostate cancer in the clinic: dual biomarkers and circulating tumor cells. Theranostics 7(17):4289–4300. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.21092
- Petrou PS, Chatzichristidi M, Douvas AM, Argitis P, Misiakos K, Kakabakos SE (2007) A biomolecule friendly photolithographic process for fabrication of protein microarrays on polymeric films coated on silicon chips. Biosens Bioelectron 22(9–10):1994–2002. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bios.2006.08.036
- Raknim P, Lan KC (2016) Gait monitoring for early neurological disorder detection using sensors in a smartphone: validation and a case study of parkinsonism. Telemed J E Health 22(1):75–81. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2015.0005
- Raut N, O'Connor G, Pasini P, Daunert S (2012) Engineered cells as biosensing systems in biomedical analysis. Anal Bioanal Chem 402(10):3147–3159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-012-5756-6

- Seymour JP, Wu F, Wise KD, Yoon E (2017) State-of-the-art MEMS and microsystem tools for brain research. Microsyst Nanoeng 3:16066. https://doi.org/10.1038/micronano.2016.66
- 47. Shen R, Liu P, Zhang Y, Yu Z, Chen X, Zhou L et al (2018) Sensitive detection of single-cell secreted H(2)O(2) by integrating a microfluidic droplet sensor and au nanoclusters. Anal Chem 90(7):4478–4484. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.7b04798
- Son KJ, Gheibi P, Stybayeva G, Rahimian A, Revzin A (2017) Detecting cell-secreted growth factors in microfluidic devices using bead-based biosensors. Microsyst Nanoeng 3. https://doi. org/10.1038/micronano.2017.25
- Tseng RC, Chen, C. C., Hsu, S. M., & Chuang, H. S. (2018). Contact-Lens Biosensors. Sensors (Basel), 18(8). doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/s18082651
- Turner AP (2013) Biosensors: sense and sensibility. Chem Soc Rev 42(8):3184–3196. https:// doi.org/10.1039/c3cs35528d
- Vigneshvar S, Sudhakumari CC, Senthilkumaran B, Prakash H (2016) Recent advances in biosensor technology for potential applications—An overview. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 4:11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2016.00011
- Visser CW, Kamperman T, Karbaat LP, Lohse D, Karperien M (2018) In-air microfluidics enables rapid fabrication of emulsions, suspensions, and 3D modular (bio)materials. Sci Adv 4(1):eaao1175. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aao1175
- Vomero M, Castagnola E, Ciarpella F, Maggiolini E, Goshi N, Zucchini E et al (2017) Highly stable glassy carbon interfaces for long-term neural stimulation and low-noise recording of brain activity. Sci Rep 7:40332. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40332
- 54. Wang X, Lu X, Chen J (2014) Development of biosensor technologies for analysis of environmental contaminants. Trends Environ Anal Chem 2:25–32
- 55. Wang Y, Hu S (2006) A novel nitric oxide biosensor based on electropolymerization poly(toluidine blue) film electrode and its application to nitric oxide released in liver homogenate. Biosens Bioelectron 22(1):10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2005.11.012
- Wolfbeis OS (2015) An overview of nanoparticles commonly used in fluorescent bioimaging. Chem Soc Rev 44(14):4743–4768. https://doi.org/10.1039/c4cs00392f
- 57. Xie C, Liu J, Fu TM, Dai X, Zhou W, Lieber CM (2015) Three-dimensional macroporous nanoelectronic networks as minimally invasive brain probes. Nat Mater 14(12):1286–1292. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmat4427
- Yang X, Li H, Zhao X, Liao W, Zhang CX, Yang Z (2020) A novel, label-free liquid crystal biosensor for Parkinson's disease related alpha-synuclein. Chem Commun (Camb) 56(40):5441–5444. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0cc01025a
- 59. Zhang W, Chen C-T, Yang D, Dong G, Jia S, Zhao B et al (2016) Optical biosensors based on nitrogen-doped graphene functionalized with magnetic nanoparticles. Adv Mater Interfaces 3
- Zhang W, Li X, Zou R, Wu H, Shi H, Yu S, Liu Y (2015) Multifunctional glucose biosensors from Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles modified chitosan/graphene nanocomposites. Sci Rep 5:11129. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11129
- Zhu H, Stybayeva G, Macal M, Ramanculov E, George MD, Dandekar S, Revzin A (2008) A microdevice for multiplexed detection of T-cell-secreted cytokines. Lab Chip 8(12):2197–2205. https://doi.org/10.1039/b810244a